
 

 
PLAN COMMISSION / ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 

AGENDA 
  

Thursday, January 25, 2024                                                                              Frankfort Village Hall        
6:30 P.M.                                                                                               432 W. Nebraska Street (Board Room) 
 
1. Call to Order 

 
2. Roll Call 

 
3. Approval of Minutes of January 11, 2024 

 
4. Public Hearing: Undeveloped land - Dunkin’ Commercial Multi-Tenant Building (Ref# 108) 

Request:  Special Use Permit for a carry out restaurant; Special Use Permit for drive-up service windows 
associated with a permitted use; Special Use Permit for outdoor seating associated with a permitted 
restaurant; Special Use Permit for extended hours of operation (opening at 4:00 a.m.), and Variations from 
Section 151.041(B)(1)(h) and Section 151.041(B)(1)(i) of the Frankfort Municipal Code to allow a free-
standing sign to exceed the maximum permitted area of 15 square feet, and the minimum height of the text 
on a free-standing sign to be less than 12 inches, for undeveloped property located on the east side of La 
Grange Road, approximately one quarter mile south of St. Francis Road (PIN: 19-09-15-301-034-0000). 
 

5. Public Hearing: 39 and 49 E. Bowen Street - Chicago Title Land Trust Company Trust No. 
8002380636 (Ref# 109) 
Request: Variation from Article 6, Section B, Part 4(e) of the Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance to 
allow more than two (2) uninterrupted wall lengths of  thirty-five (35) feet or greater along any façade of a 
primary structure, and to exceed the required maximum 35-foot length of an uninterrupted wall facing a 
public right-of-way, for the property located in the R-2 Single Family Residential District at 39 and 49 E. 
Bowen Street, Frankfort, Illinois (PIN: 19-09-22-304-012-0000 and 19-09-22-304-013-0000). 
 

6. Workshop #2:  Abbey Woods North 
Future Public Hearing Request: Annexation, Rezoning, and Preliminary/Final Plat of Subdivision to create 
a proposed 26-lot single-family residential subdivision located on the south side of W. St. Francis Road, 
south of the intersection of W. St. Francis Road and Waterview Trail (PIN: 19-09-15-300-019-0000).    

 
7. Workshop:  219 Pacific Street – Lanigan Residence  

Future Public Hearing Request:  Variations from various sections of the Village of Frankfort Zoning 
Ordinance and Land Subdivision Regulations regarding first floor building materials (masonry required, 
mostly non-masonry proposed), reduced front yard Setback (Maple Street), reduced corner side yard setback 
(Pacific Street Street), increased maximum lot coverage, reduced lot width, and reduced lot depth, for the 
property located in the R-2 Single Family Residential District located at 219 Pacific Street (PIN: 19-09-28-
223-023-0000). 

 
8. Public Comments 
 
9. Village Board & Committee Updates  

 
10. Other Business 

 
11. Attendance Confirmation (February 8, 2024) 

 



Page 2 

12. Adjournment 
____________________________________________________________________________________________ 
All applicants are advised to be present when the meeting is called to order.  Agenda items are generally reviewed in the order 
shown on the agenda, however, the Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals reserves the right to amend the agenda and consider 
items in a different order. The Commission may adjourn its meeting to another day prior to consideration of all agenda items.  All 
persons interested in providing public testimony are encouraged to do so.  If you wish to provide public testimony, please come 
forward to the podium and state your name for the record and address your comments and questions to the Chairperson. 



Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 1/11/24 | Page 1 
 

 

MINUTES  

MEETING OF VILLAGE OF FRANKFORT PLAN 
COMMISSION / ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 

        January 11, 2024 –VILLAGE ADMINISTRATION BUILDING    

 432 W. NEBRASKA STREET 

Call to Order:   Chair Schaeffer called the meeting to order at 6:30 PM 

Commissioners Present: Nichole Schaeffer (Chair), Brian James, Johnny Morris, Jessica 
Jakubowski, Will Markunas 

Commissioners Absent: David Hogan, Dan Knieriem 

Staff Present: Planning & Economic Development Director Mike Schwarz, 
Senior Planner Christopher Gruba, Planner Amanda Martinez  

Elected Officials Present:  None  

A. Approval of the Minutes from December 14th, 2023 

Chair Schaeffer asked for questions or comments regarding the minutes.  There were none.  

Motion (#1):  To approve the minutes from December 14th, 2023, as presented. 

Motion by: James   Seconded by:  Morris 

Approved: (3-0, Jakubowski and Markunas abstained) 

B. Public Hearing: 20 S. White Street – Frankfort Arts Association 

Amanda Martinez presented the staff report.  

The cofounder and president of the Frankfort Arts Association, Christina Cooley, 
approached the podium.  She said that she has a signed lease for the space.  She said that 
they have over 100 artists participating who are not just from Frankfort but from the 
surrounding area as well.  They hope to one day move into a large studio space, but this 
smaller commercial space will work well for their current needs.  She said that the front 
end of the commercial space would have a retail store and that the back end would have a 
creative workspace.  They would create prints, pottery, woodworking among other art 
mediums.  The artists would also be able to hold their own classes.  The business would 



Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 1/11/24 | Page 2 
 

operate between 9 am – 9 pm when artists would work, but the retail shop would not be 
open that entire timespan.  

There were no initial questions from the Commission. Chair Schaeffer asked if anyone 
from the public wished to speak. There were none.  

Motion (#2):  To close the public hearing. 

Motion by: Jakubowski   Seconded by:  James 

Approved by voice vote: (5-0)   

Commissioner James said he thought the use would be great for the downtown.  

Amanda Martinez asked the Commission if they had any thoughts about the proposed 
conditions of approval.  Chair Schaeffer said that one possible condition would be to 
prohibit live performances, including the use of musical instruments.  Commissioner James 
said that the use of musical instruments was also discussed for the Studio C project (at 14 
Hickory Street) and supported the condition.  Commissioner Markunas asked the applicant 
if musical instruments were intended.  Ms. Cooley said that although their intended arts 
would be very broad, they would mostly focus on the visual arts, although it would be nice 
if an acoustical guitar could be played periodically.  Chair Schaeffer said that she didn’t 
want to prohibit musical instruments such as acoustical guitars.  Commissioner James 
asked if the building is audibly insulated, because he had been in the building and had not 
heard bowling balls being dropped on the second floor.  Commissioner Jakubowski said 
that she’s heard bowling ball noise while being on the first floor but said that she has no 
concerns about acoustical guitars or a singer.   

The Commission discussed the condition of requiring a 15-minute break between classes 
to accommodate parking space turnover.  All commissioners supported this condition.   

Motion (#3):  Recommend the Village Board approve a Special Use Permit for Indoor 
Entertainment for an art gallery with associated art classes for the property located at 20 S. 
White Street, in accordance with the submitted plans, public testimony, and Findings of 
Fact, subject to the following condition(s): 

1. The business shall implement a minimum 15-minute break in between classes to 
accommodate parking space turnover. 

Motion by: Markunas   Seconded by:  Morris 

Approved: (5-0)   



Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 1/11/24 | Page 3 
 

C. Public Hearing (continuation from December 14, 2023): 116 & 118 Kansas Street – 
Petite Patate  
 
Amanda Martinez presented the staff report.  

The applicant, Greg Baxtron, approached the podium.  He said that he was born and raised 
in Frankfort. He started his culinary career in Chicago but has been living and working in 
New York City for the past 20 years.  He said that he chose a French cuisine because it 
seemed to be missing in Frankfort.  He would do brunch on weekends.  He doesn’t foresee 
the restaurant disturbing the neighborhood.  

Chair Schaeffer asked if anyone from the public wished to speak.  There were none.  

Motion (#4):  To close the public hearing. 

Motion by: Jakubowski   Seconded by:  James 

Approved: (5-0)   

Chair Schaeffer asked the Commission for comments. She noted that the business would 
be open during normal business hours. She also asked about the requirements for the trash 
enclosure.  Amanda Martinez responded that the trash enclosure would be discussed during 
the following case, for the remodeling of the entire building involving several variations.  
Chair Schaeffer said that the impact on parking would be small.  Commissioner James 
agreed, noting that there is public parking near the property at the northwest corner of 
Hickory Street and Nebraska Street.  He noted that this would be the furthest west 
restaurant within the downtown, which helps spread out congestion from restaurant uses.  

Mike Schwarz noted that the building at 2 Smith Street will be demolished, and the parking 
lot would be expanded and resurfaced to increase the parking available at that location.   

Commissioner Jakubowski said that she’s very excited that this building could be 
refurbished for restaurant use.   

Motion (#5):  Recommend the Village Board approve a Special Use Permit to allow a 
restaurant full-service, with liquor sales located at 116 and 118 Kansas Street (PIN 19-09-
28-206-017-0000 and PIN 19-09-28-206-016-0000) in accordance with the reviewed 
plans, public testimony, and Findings of Fact. 
 
Motion by: James               Seconded by: Markunas 

Approved: (5-0)  

 



Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 1/11/24 | Page 4 
 

D. Public Hearing (continuation from December 14, 2023): 116 & 118 Kansas Street – 
Kevin Kreger  

Amanda Martinez presented the staff report.  

The project architect, Chris Tokarz, approached the podium and provided a brief 
explanation of the project. He said that the Tudor style non-masonry addition in the rear 
was falling apart, and their initial plan was to demolish this addition and replace it.  The 
owner instead decided to increase the footprint of the area beneath the rear addition very 
slightly with a masonry addition, to allow more usable space on the first floor.  The 2nd 
floor of the rear addition would have a wood deck and the remainder of the 2nd floor of the 
building would be used for 1 residential unit and a smaller, separate office use.  

Chris Tokarz said that a trash enclosure would be placed off of the back of the alley behind 
the building, measuring 16’x6’. It would be made of a composite fencing product.  Chair 
Schaeffer asked if the enclosure would contain the typical roll-off style dumpsters.  Chris 
Tokarz responded yes.  He noted that half of the trash enclosure would house a commercial 
dumpster and the other half would house residential-style trash containers.  Chair Schaeffer 
asked if the alley was improved.  Chris Tokarz responded that the alley is not improved but 
resembles cobblestone.   

Chair Schaeffer asked for clarification regarding the zoning.  Amanda Martinez replied 
that a rezoning is not required.  Rather, the trash enclosure will require variations, but not 
all the details have been received.  She noted that the PC/ZBA will review variations for 
the trash enclosure at a future meeting.   

Commissioner Markunas asked where the former commercial dumpster was located. 
Amanda Martinez responded that it was located on the existing concrete pad that is located 
completely within the existing 16’ wide public alley. Chris Tokarz said that the alley used 
to contain a lot of debris which has since been cleared.   

Chair Schaeffer first asked the commissioners for comments regarding the Special Use 
Permit for the vacation rental.  Commissioner Markunas asked why the applicant chose to 
make a portion of the 2nd floor a vacation rental instead of an apartment rental or a condo 
unit. Don Kreger, father of Kevin Kreger, approached the podium. Mr. Kreger said that his 
son lives out of town much of the time, so he would only be staying at the residential unit 
periodically throughout the year.  While out of town, he would rent out the unit on Airbnb 
and the remainder of the time it would be unoccupied.  Commissioner Markunas asked 
who would be available to check on the property while it was rented out.  Mr. Don Kreger 
said that he would be the main person keeping an eye on the property because he lives in 
Frankfort. He also said that there would be cameras outside of the building to allow him to 
monitor the number of guests coming and going.  He said that Frankfort is not known for 
being a “party town” and that their guests would be more low-key.  



Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 1/11/24 | Page 5 
 

Chair Schaeffer said that the rental would do very well during Bluegrass Festival.  

Commissioner Markunas asked Mr. Kreger if he’s reviewed and agreed to all the 
regulations for vacation rentals. Mr. Kreger responded yes. Commissioner Markunas said 
that the vacation rental appeared to be “higher end”, renting for approximately $250 per 
night and hosting a maximum of 4 people. Mr. Kreger concurred.   

Commissioner James said that the vacation rental passed in 2021 only permits a unit to be 
rented out for a total of 60 days within a calendar year.  He also said that the Village has 
the right to review the guest log as well.  As such, he feels comfortable with the use.  

Commissioner Morris also expressed comfort with the use.  

Chair Schaeffer then asked the commission for comments regarding the four variation 
requests. She noted that she felt comfortable with the variations for building setbacks, since 
the building is from the 1800s.  Commissioner Markunas noted that the building footprint 
would remain largely the same.  Commissioner Jakubowski said that the proposed uses are 
almost the same as they were before when Cactus Carrol’s was open as a restaurant on the 
ground floor and there were two residential units on the second floor.  

Chair Schaeffer asked for public comment.  

Resident Deborah Hardwick approached the podium.  She asked for clarification about the 
trash dumpster location and removal.  Chris Tokarz said that the trash enclosure would be 
made of the same fencing that is used for other enclosures within the downtown.  Ms. 
Hardwick said that some trash enclosures are maintained downtown, while others are not.  
Chris Tokarz said that the commercial dumpster would be steel and have a lid.  Ms. 
Hardwick said that sometimes commercial dumpsters are emptied at 3 am and she wants 
to avoid that happening here. She also noted that deliveries could be a problem if they also 
occur at 3 am. Commissioner Markunas asked that since the trash enclosure needs to return 
to the PC/ZBA in the future for variance(s), whether they could add conditions of approval 
at that future time.  Staff replied yes. Mike Schwarz said that the Municipal Code permits 
trash collection between 7:00 a.m. and 10:00 p.m.  

Motion (#6):  To close the public hearing. 

Motion by: Markunas   Seconded by:  Jakubowski 

Approved: (5-0)   

Motion (#7):  Recommend the Village Board approve a Special Use Permit to allow a 
vacation rental in the H-1 Historic District for the subject property located at 116 Kansas 
Street (PIN 19-09-28-206-017-0000) in accordance with the reviewed plans, public 
testimony, and Findings of Fact and subject to the following condition: 



Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 1/11/24 | Page 6 
 

1. Compliance with Chapter 123 of the Village of Frankfort Code of Ordinances. 

Motion by: James   Seconded by:  Morris 

Approved: (5-0)   

Motion (#8):  Recommend the Village Board approve the variation request to reduce the 
required rear yard setback (from the south property line) from 20 feet to 6 feet, on the 
property located at 116 Kansas Street (PIN 19-09-28-206-017-0000), in accordance with 
the reviewed plans, public testimony, and Findings of Fact. 

Motion by: Morris   Seconded by:  James 

Approved: (5-0)   

Motion (#9):  Recommend the Village Board approve the variation request to reduce the 
required interior side yard setback (from the east property line) from 5 feet to 1 foot, on the 
property located at 116 Kansas Street (PIN 19-09-28-206-017-0000), in accordance with 
the reviewed plans, public testimony and Findings of Fact. 

Motion by: Jakubowski   Seconded by:  Markunas 

Approved: (5-0)   

Motion (#10):  Recommend the Village Board approve the variation request to reduce the 
required interior side yard setback (from the west property line) from 5 feet to 3 feet, on 
the property located at 118 Kansas Street (PIN 19-09-28-206-016-0000), in accordance 
with the reviewed plans, public testimony, and Findings of Fact. 

Motion by: James   Seconded by:  Jakubowski 

Approved: (5-0)   

Motion (#11):  Recommend the Village Board approve the variation request to waive all 
required off-street parking for property located in the H-1 Historic District at 116 and 118 
Kansas Street (PIN 19-09-28-206-017-0000 and 19-09-28-206-016-0000), in accordance 
with the reviewed plans, public testimony, and Findings of Fact. 

Motion by: Markunas   Seconded by:  Morris 

Approved: (5-0)   

 

 



Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 1/11/24 | Page 7 
 

E. Public Hearing: 20500 S. La Grange Road, Unit 2S – Pamel Montalbano Massage 
Therapy 

Amanda Martinez presented the staff report.   

The applicant, Pamela Montalbano, approached the podium.  She said that she’s been 
practicing massage therapy for 13 years and has been sharing a space with an acupuncturist 
for the last 10 years.  She said that she specializes more in women’s health.  She offers a 
higher quality massage which is higher cost. She does occasionally see male clients, but 
only with a referral.  She doesn’t work evenings and is finished by 6:00 p.m.  She would 
have, at most, 6 appointments per day. She would have 30-40 minutes between clients to 
clean and disinfect. She does not have any employees, nor intends to in the future.  

Commissioner Morris asked how she planned to advertise her business with signage. Ms. 
Montalbano said that there would be no signage out front, only a small sign in the back, on 
the rear door. There would be no neon signs or anything of the sort.  She said that her 
business would be located upstairs and that she does not allow “walk-in” appointments.  
Commissioner Morris asked for an update regarding the shared parking agreement with the 
property owner to the south.  She responded that when the Dancing Marlin is open, their 
business is generally closed, and vice versa.  Amanda Martinez clarified that there is no 
formal parking agreement in place, only a recorded cross-access easement.  

Commissioner James said that he did not have any concerns about parking, but he did have 
questions regarding the use regulations for massage establishments listed in the Zoning 
Ordinance.  Per the code, he noted that a separate dressing room is required for each gender.  
Ms. Montalbano replied that clients would change separately in the 175 square-foot 
massage room, while she would wait outside in the waiting area and then enter with their 
permission.  Commissioner James said that the code also requires that no massage 
establishment may have any doors that have locks.  Ms. Montalbano said that the door to 
the 175 square-foot massage room would not have a lock, but that the main door into the 
shared waiting area would.  She said that there are only 3 other tenants on the 2nd floor, 
who do not see clients but only use their units as office space.  

Chair Schaeffer said that a business on the second floor could move out and a different one 
could move in that did see clients.  Commissioner Morris asked if the washroom area was 
shared.  The applicant responded yes.  She said that there is no direct access between the 
massage room and the washroom and the only path between the two was the shared waiting 
area.  

Commissioner James asked if there was a service sink, as required per the Zoning 
Ordinance.  The property owner, Harry D’Ercole, approached the podium. He said that he 
is one of the occupants of one of the office spaces on the 2nd floor.  He said that there is 
one sink in his unit and another sink in the common washroom, both of which would be 



Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 1/11/24 | Page 8 
 

available to Ms. Montalbano to use if needed.  He also noted that the proposed tenant space 
had been used for massage therapy in the past.   

Chair Schaeffer asked for public comment. There was none.  

Motion (#12):  To close the public hearing. 

Motion by: Jakubowski   Seconded by:  James 

Approved: (5-0)   

Motion (#13):  Approve an adjustment to the minimum number of required parking spaces 
to allow the existing 43 parking spaces on the property to serve the existing businesses and 
the proposed massage establishment.  

Motion by: Markunas    Seconded by:  James 

Approved: (5-0)   

Motion (#14):  Recommend the Village Board approve a Special Use Permit for a Massage 
Establishment to operate in the B-4 Office District for the property located at 20500 S. 
LaGrange Road, Unit 2S, Frankfort, Illinois 60423 (PIN 19-09-16-400-031-0000), in 
accordance with the submitted plans, public testimony, and Findings of Fact, subject to the 
following two conditions: 

1. The applicant shall comply with Zoning Ordinance Article 5, Section C, Part 11.1, Use 
Regulations for Massage Establishments; and 

2. The applicant shall obtain a Business License. 

Motion by: Morris   Seconded by:  Markunas 

Approved: (4-1, James voted no)   

Mike Schwarz asked Commissioner James to elaborate, for the record, on his reason(s) for 
voting no.  He replied that he was concerned about the safety of clients and that he was not 
comfortable with a massage therapy use that was accessible to a shared waiting area.  

F. Non-Public Hearing: Voorn Lawndale Plat of Subdivision 

Amanda Martinez presented the staff report.   

The applicant, Justin Ozinga, approached the podium. He said that he’s lived in Frankfort 
for 20 years and that he has 5 daughters.  He wants to subdivide the land to create Lot 2 for 
his house.  The smaller Lot 1 would be created for a separate homeowner, Mike Bilon, who 
also came to the podium.  



Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 1/11/24 | Page 9 
 

Mr. Ozinga said that he chose this property to stay in the school district for his children. 
Also, he has a disabled brother that uses a wheelchair and that the lot location would allow 
his brother to get to downtown Frankfort via sidewalks that are not along busy roads.  

Commissioner Markunas asked if the narrow part of the “flag lot” for Lot 2 abutting Bown 
Street would be paved or have a path of any kind.  Mr. Ozinga replied that the narrow part 
of Lot 2 would be all grass but would be treelined on either side.  The southernmost yard 
area of Lot 2 which has frontage along Bowen Street will be fenced with a gate.   

Commissioner Markunas asked staff why “flag lots” were undesirable.  Mike Schwarz 
replied that most communities, including the Village of Frankfort regulate the creation of 
“flag lots” via the Zoning Ordinance and/or Subdivision Regulations to avoid poorly 
designed neighborhoods that do not allow each lot to have an adequate amount of roadway 
frontage, which can be problematic for emergency access, school buses, refuse collection, 
etc.  He provided an example of a series of flag lots in another nearby community that 
resulted in houses being “triple stacked” one behind the other and sharing one driveway 
located within the “flag” portion of the lot.  In this case, there will be no vehicle access to 
Bowen Street from the proposed Lot 2.  The only purpose of the “flag” shape is to allow 
frontage onto Bowen Street for pedestrian access.  This may be a unique situation due to 
the surrounding street network.  Without the proposed Lot 2 frontage along Bowen Street, 
the residents of the proposed Lot 2 would need to walk a significant distance around other 
homes along Lawndale Court and Lawndale Boulevard to reach Bowen Street to access the 
Downtown area.  He added that if the subject property hypothetically was combined with 
the unincorporated parcels to the east and were to be subdivided into additional smaller 
lots, then there would likely be a new through street (extension of 95th Avenue) along with 
new public sidewalks.   

Commissioner Markunas asked the applicant if they intended to have a curb cut along 
Bowen Street.  Mr. Ozinga replied that there would be one driveway for Lot 2 along 
Lawndale Court and one driveway along Bowen Street for Lot 1.  He said that he wanted 
the flag lot to be able to have a quicker walking path to downtown, by walking from his 
house to Bowen Street.   

Commissioner James asked staff what the depth of the adjacent lots on either side are. Staff 
responded that the exact dimension for the depth of the adjacent lots is unknown at this 
time, but the north property line for Lot 1 closely aligns with the adjacent properties’ 
property lines.  

Chair Schaeffer and Commissioner Morris both said they were comfortable with the 
proposed Plat.  

Motion (#15):  Recommend the Village Board approve the proposed Preliminary and Final 
Plat of the Voorn Lawndale Subdivision, which consolidates 39 and 49 E. Bowen Street 



Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 1/11/24 | Page 10 
 

(PINS 19-09-22-304-012-0000 and 19-09-22-304-013-0000), subject to staff approval of 
any necessary technical revisions prior to recording.  

Motion by: Markunas    Seconded by:  Morris 

Approved: (5-0)   

Chair Schaeffer called for a short recess at 8:00 pm.  The meeting was reconvened at 8:05 
pm.  

G. Public Hearing: Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance Text Amendment, Accessory 
Structures 

 
Chris Gruba presented the staff report.  He noted that there was little discussion at the last 
workshop meeting on October 26th. He said that there seemed to be consensus that 
residential accessory structures, including pool cabanas and similar structures with at least 
one open side, could be a minimum size of 250 square feet and a maximum of 1.7% of the 
area of the lot, not to exceed 1,000 square feet.  
 
The commissioners generally agreed and there was little discussion.  
 
Motion (#16):  To close the public hearing. 

Motion by: James   Seconded by:  Jakubowski 

Approved: (5-0)   

Motion (#17):  Recommend the Village Board approve the proposed text amendment 
relating to Accessory Structures, as listed in Article 5, Section D of the Zoning Ordinance.  

Motion by: Morris    Seconded by:  Jakubowski 

Approved: (5-0)   

H. Public Hearing: Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance Text Amendment, Parking 
Regulations 

 
Chris Gruba presented the staff report. 
 
Chair Schaeffer said that she liked the rationale for the text amendment, supported by data.   
 
Commissioner Markunas asked staff how Frankfort compares to other nearby communities 
regarding being too strict or too lax.  Chris Gruba replied that Frankfort leans toward being 
more conservative, or strict, with parking requirements, compared to surrounding 
communities.  He added that he strived to maintain the current parking requirements for all 
uses, while making the switch from basing parking on employee counts to a calculation 
based upon gross floor area.   



Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 1/11/24 | Page 11 
 

 
Commissioner James asked how parking would be calculated for a new large commercial 
PUD, such as for the Silver Cross property.  Chris Gruba replied that parking would be 
calculated as normal, but that a PUD may provide relief from the parking requirements by 
granting a modification.   
 
Mike Schwarz said that the Zoning Ordinance mentions parking adjustments, eluding 
perhaps that parking requirements are more of an art than a science.  He agreed that 
calculating parking on gross floor area is much more common and a better method than 
using the anticipated number of employees.   
 
Motion (#18):  To close the public hearing. 

Motion by: Jakubowski   Seconded by:  James 

Approved: (5-0)   

Motion (#19):  Recommend the Village Board approve the proposed text amendment 
relating to Off-Street Parking & Loading, as listed in Article 7, Section B, and Article 6, 
Section C, Part 3(g) of the Zoning Ordinance.  

Motion by: Jakubowski    Seconded by:  James 

Approved: (5-0)   

I. Public Comments 

There were no public comments. 

J. Village Board & Committee Updates 

Mike Schwarz noted that there were no Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals matters 
on the December 18th Village Board agenda.  

K. Other Business 

Chris Gruba said he learned that Abri Credit Union was seeking to construct a new building 
along S. La Grange Road in Mokena but that the project did not go through.  As such, Abri 
would remain in Frankfort in their current location in the Vineyards of Frankfort plaza.  

L. Attendance Confirmation (January 25th, 2024) 

Chair Schaeffer asked Commissioners to please let staff know if someone cannot attend 
the next meeting.   

Motion (#20): Adjournment 8:47 P.M. 



Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 1/11/24 | Page 12 
 

The motion was unanimously approved by voice vote (5-0). 

Approved January 25th, 2024 

As Presented_____ As Amended_____ 

_____________________/s/ Nichole Schaeffer, Chair 

_____________________/s/ Secretary 



1 

                                          

Planning Commission / ZBA                                                                                                                             January 25, 2024 

 
Project: Dunkin’ Commercial Multi-Tenant Building  
Meeting Type:  Public Hearing  
Requests: (1) Special Use Permit for a carry out restaurant; (2) Special Use Permit for drive-up service 

windows associated with a permitted use; (3) Special Use Permit for outdoor seating 
associated with a permitted restaurant; (4) Special Use Permit for extended hours of 
operation (opening at 4:00 a.m.); (5) Variations from Section 151.041(B)(1)(h) and Section 
151.041(B)(1)(i) of the Frankfort Municipal Code to allow a free-standing sign to exceed the 
maximum permitted area of 15 square feet, and the minimum height of the text on a free-
standing sign to be less than 12 inches. 

Location: Vacant Land on the east side of La Grange Road, south of St. Francis Road   
Applicant:  Koru Group, PLLC 
Prop. Owner:  Krupa Shah  
Consultants:  Eric Carlson, AIA, Koru Group; Dave Kudwa, P.E., Koru Group  
Report By:  Michael J. Schwarz, AICP 
 

Site Details 
 

Parcel/Lot Size: 5.92 acres               Figure 1: Location Map  
PIN(s): 19-09-15-301-034-0000 
Existing Zoning:  B-2 Community Business District  
Prop.  Zoning: B-2 Community Business District     
Building(s) / Lot(s): 1 proposed building on 1 lot 
Adjacent Land Use Summary:  
 

 Land Use Comp. Plan Zoning 

Subject 
Property 

Undeveloped Commercial B-2 

North  Natural Area 
 

Environmental 
Conservation 

E-R 

South  Commercial Commercial     B-2 

East Natural Area Environmental 
Conservation 

 E-R 

West Commercial Commercial  B-2 

 
Project Summary  
 
The applicant, Koru Group, PLLC, representing the property owner, Krupa Shah, has filed an application requesting  
(1) Special Use Permit for a carry out restaurant; (2) Special Use Permit for drive-up service windows associated with 
a permitted use; (3) Special Use Permit for outdoor seating associated with a permitted restaurant; and (4) Special 
Use Permit for extended hours of operation (opening at 4:00 a.m.), in the B-2 Community Business District, for the 
undeveloped property known as Lot 2 in Powell Resubdivision, located on the east side of La Grange Road, south of 
St. Francis Road.  In conjunction with the requested Special Uses, the applicant desires to develop an approximately 
8,625 square-foot commercial multi-tenant building on the property (8,570 interior net square feet).  The proposed 
building would include five (previously four) tenant spaces.  The northern tenant space would include a 2,180 
(previously 2,030) square-foot Dunkin’ restaurant.   The other four tenants have not been disclosed at this time.   The 
PC/ZBA discussed this application at workshop on October 12, 2023 (refer to attached meeting minutes).     
 



2 

Summary of Plan Changes Since Workshop   
 

• The building size and footprint remains the same but the floor plan and building elevations now reflect 5 
tenant spaces (formerly 4 tenant spaces).  Additionally, the free-standing sign elevation, one of the tenant 
spaces is proposed to be occupied by Tropical Smoothie Café, which impacts the parking analysis and 
removes the 15 surplus parking spaces that were estimated based on the former floor plan (refer to 
additional discussion about parking under the Site Plan heading later in this report).  

• The west and north building elevations have changed significantly.  On the west elevation facing La 
Grange Road, the former 3 roof gables and associated pediments along with the rectangular pediment 
above the Dunkin’ space have been removed and a sloped roof with asphalt shingles has been added 
along much of the roofline.  The west building elevation now reflects 2 roof gables with associated 
triangular pediments at each end of the building facing La Grange Road.  Those new pediments now 
include brick material instead of the former fiber cement fascia material.  On the north building elevation, 
the fiber cement siding adjacent to and above the drive-through window has been removed.   These areas 
now reflect brick material to match the rest of the building.   

• Exterior wall signage has been revised so that all tenant wall signs are in the same horizontal alignment.  
The former plans reflected the Dunkin’ wall sign being slightly higher than the other wall signs. 

• The proposed free-standing sign has been revised to reflect a brick rather than an opaque background. 
• The proposed free-standing sign has increased in size.  The former plan reflected two options for the free-

standing sign, each of which exceeded the maximum allowable sign face area of 15 square feet.  Option 1 
included a proposed height of 7 feet and a total sign face area of 30 square feet.  Option 2 included a 
proposed height of 6 feet, 1 inch, and a total sign face area of 15 square feet.  The proposed free-standing 
sign is now 37.5 square feet and includes 4 rows of text (one for each of the tenants other than Dunkin’) 
that are only 7 inches in height.  Therefore, the applicant is seeking Variations from Section 151.041(B)(1)(h) 
and Section 151.041(B)(1)(i) of the Frankfort Municipal Code to allow a free-standing sign to exceed the 
maximum permitted area of 15 square feet, and the minimum height of the text on a free-standing sign to 
be less than 12 inches. 

• The Site Plan now depicts the proposed outdoor seating areas, including one area near the northwest 
corner of the building directly in front of the proposed Dunkin’ tenant space, and the other near the 
southwest corner of the building.  Both areas would be paved with brick pavers to complement the building 
and would be partially enclosed with a 3-foot high, black, aluminum decorative fence.  The proposed fence 
is labeled on the Site Plan (Sheet C1.0) and a detail is provided on the Site Plan Details (Sheet SP 1.2).  The 
details for patio furnishings have also been provided.  A total of 5 square tables with 4 chairs each and an 
associated umbrella are proposed.  Staff has informed the applicant that no advertising is allowed on the 
umbrellas as that would constitute additional signage.  Therefore, the optional “Dunkin’” umbrella shown 
on Patio Furniture Selection Sheet would not be permitted.  Only the solid color umbrella option would be 
permitted, subject to consideration by the Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals and Village Board.    

• An Exterior Lighting Plan Sheet has been provided which includes newly proposed rope-lighting which 
would be concealed behind the metal canopies that project from the wall above each storefront. 

• The Site Plan has been revised to include one larger stormwater management basin rather than two 
separate basins. 

• The 3 proposed site retaining walls have been revised as follows: 
  

 North Retaining Wall:    Previous Plan:  95 feet in length, 6 feet in height at tallest point 

     Current Plan:  105 feet in length, 6 feet in height at tallest point 

 South Lower Retaining Wall:   Previous Plan:  337 feet in length, 5 feet in height at tallest point 

     Current Plan:  304 feet in length, 7 feet in height at tallest point 

 South Upper Retaining Wall:   Previous Plan:  108 feet in length, 4.5 feet in height at tallest point   

    Current Plan:  227 feet in length, 9.5 feet in height at tallest point  



3 

• Site Plan Details (Sheets SP-1.1 and SP-1.2) have been provided and depict the proposed clearance bar, 
order canopy, digital preview board, and digital menu board for the proposed drive-through facility. 

• A pedestrian crosswalk has been added near the southwest corner of the building, to provide a connection 
to the existing public sidewalk along La Grange Road. 

• The eastern landscape peninsula located along the southern row of parking has been shifted to the east to 
align with the opposite brick-paved peninsula, thereby providing a more defined transition from the 2-way 
traffic circulation to the 1-way traffic circulation for the drive-through facility and rear parking area.  

 
Property Background  
 
The Village Board approved a donation agreement in October 2016 (Resolution No. 16-68) by which the Chicago 
Trust Company agreed to donate a ±21.3-acre tract of land to the Village, subject to conditions. The primary purpose 
of the donation was to allow the Village to expand its existing lift station along LaGrange Road as part of the 
wastewater treatment consolidation project, as well as the preservation of open space and potential recreational 
trail opportunities along Hickory Creek.  A closing on the property occurred in December 2016.  As part of the 
agreement, the Village agreed to resubdivide the property to simplify the description of the land transfer and fulfill 
the terms of the agreement. The Final Plat of Resubdivision for Powell Resubdivision (attached) was approved by 
the Village Board on January 17, 2017.  Lot 1 of the Powell Resubdivision is 21.268 acres and Lot 2 (the subject 
property) is 5.92 acres. 

  
Attachments 

1. 2020 Aerial Photograph from Will County GIS 
2. Final Plat of Powell Resubdivision 
3. ALTA NSPS Land Title Survey dated 5/30/23, received 9/1/23 
4. Site Photograph(s) taken 9/21/23  
5. Exterior Elevations / Monument Sign Detail Sheet A200 dated 1/25/24, received 1/12/24 
6. First Floor Plan Sheet A101 dated 1/25/24, received 12/26/23 
7. Canopy Detail, undated, received 1/11/24  
8. Dunkin’ Wall Sign Specifications, undated, received 1/16/24 
9. Monument Sign Specifications, undated, received 1/16/24   
10. Exterior Finishes Information Sheet, undated, received 9/1/23 
11. Exterior Lighting Plan Sheet E1 dated 1/25/24, received 1/22/24  
12. Exterior Lighting Details and Specifications received 12/26/23 
13. Patio Furniture Selection Sheet, undated, received 1/12/24   
14. Site Civil Plans 

o Cover Sheet Sheet C0.1 dated 9/1/23, last revised 1/12/24, received 1/19/24 
o Existing Conditions Sheet C0/2 dated 9/1/23, last revised 1/12/24, received 1/19/24 
o Site Plan Sheet C1.0, dated 9/1/23, last revised 1/12/24, received 1/19/24 
o Access Drive Sheet C1.1 (Fire Truck and Semi-Truck/Trailer Circulation) dated 9/1/23, last revised 

1/18/24, received 1/19/24 
o Stormwater Basin Sheet C2.1 dated 9/1/23, last revised 1/12/24, received 1/19/24 
o Grading Plan Sheet 2.0 dated 9/1/23, last revised 12/22/23, received 1/19/24 
o Utility Plan Sheet C3.0 dated 9/1/23, last revised 12/22/23, received 1/19/24 
o Landscape Plan Sheet L1.1 dated 8/24/23, last revised 1/12/24, received 1/12/24 
o Landscape Plan Sheet L1.2 dated 8/24/23, last revised 12/20/23, received 1/12/24 
o Tree Preservation Plan Sheet L1.4 dated 8/24/23, last revised 12/20/23, received 1/12/24 
o Photometric Plan and Light Fixture/Pole Details Sheet C5.0 dated 8/22/23, last revised 1/12/24, 

received 1/12/24 
o Site Plan Details Sheet SP-1.1 undated, received 1/12/24 
o Site Plan Details Sheet SP-1.2 undated, received 1/12/24 

15. Wetland Buffer Exhibit Sheet WBE undated, received 1/12/24 
16. Approved Meeting Minutes from 10/12/23 PC/ZBA Meeting 
17. PC/ZBA Evaluation Form for Special Use Permit Findings of Fact 



4 

18. PC/ZBA Evaluation Form for Variation Findings of Fact 
 
Analysis 
 

In consideration of the request, staff offers the following points of discussion: 
 
Land Use/Comprehensive Plan 
 
The applicant has desires to develop an approximately 8,625 square-foot commercial multi-tenant building (8,570 
net square feet) on Lot 2 in the Powell Resubdivision.   The proposed building would include 5 (previously 4) tenant 
spaces.  The northern tenant space would include a 2,180 square-foot Dunkin’ restaurant.   The other 4 tenants have 
not been disclosed at this time, although the free-standing sign elevation indicates that one of the tenant spaces is 
proposed to be occupied by Tropical Smoothie Café.  The proposed commercial use is consistent with the adopted 
Future Land Use Map which depicts the subject property as “General Commercial”.  

Hours of Operation 
 
The applicant has indicated that the proposed business hours of operation for the Dunkin’ restaurant are: 

 
• 4:00 a.m. to 8:00 p.m. seven days per week 

   
The proposed hours are outside of the Village’s normal hours of operation which are 7:00 a.m. to 11:00 p.m. per 
Article 6, Part 2(q) of the Zoning Ordinance.  Therefore, a Special Use Permit for extended hours of operation 
(opening at 4:00 a.m.) is being requested specifically for the proposed Dunkin’ restaurant.   
 
Zoning and Special Uses 
 

1. The subject property is zoned B-2 General Business District. 
2. The applicant has filed an application requesting:  

 
(1) Special Use Permit for a carry out restaurant (for the Dunkin’ restaurant);  
(2) Special Use Permit for drive-up service windows associated with a permitted use (for the Dunkin’ 
restaurant);  
(3) Special Use Permit for outdoor seating associated with a permitted restaurant (for the Dunkin’ 
restaurant); and  
(4) Special Use Permit for extended hours of operation (opening at 4:00 a.m.), in the B-2 General Business 
District (for the Dunkin’ restaurant). 

 
Site Plan 
 

1. The Site Plan depicts the proposed 8,625-square-foot building and surrounding parking lot. 
2. One (1) stormwater detention basin is proposed to the east of the building. 
3. A large portion of the overall property to the north of the proposed development site contains mapped 

floodplain.  
4. The proposed drive-through pick-up window for the proposed Dunkin’ restaurant is located at the north 

end of the building.  The drive-through lanes are located along the north and east sides of the building.  
There are dual drive-through lanes shown on the east side of the building which eventually merge near the 
northeast corner of the building.  The purpose of the dual lanes is to separate the traditional ordering lane 
from a mobile order lane.  The drive though facility complies with the required minimum of 8 stacking 
spaces behind the pick-up window.   

5. The Zoning Ordinance specifies the following parking ratios for the various uses of the building: 
 



5 

For the Dunkin’ (Restaurant, Fast-Food Category):  One (1) space per 75 square feet of gross floor area; plus 
one (1) space per two (2) employees for the work shift with the largest number of employees; plus on-site 
queuing for a minimum of eight (8) vehicles waiting at a drive-thru which has been approved as a Special 
Use.  The proposed 2,180 square-foot restaurant would require 30 spaces based on gross floor area, plus 
another 3 spaces would be required for the estimated 6 employees that would be working during the 
busiest shift.  A total of 36 spaces would be required for the proposed restaurant.  The proposed Site Plan 
reflects queuing for at least 8 vehicles from the pick-up window back.  The Site Plan reflects dual drive-
through lanes which merge near the pick-up window.  One lane is for traditional ordering from a menu-
board, the other lane is for mobile-pick-up only.    
 
For the potential Tropical Smoothie Café (Restaurant, Fast-Food Category):  One (1) space per 75 square 
feet of gross floor area; plus one (1) space per two (2) employees for the work shift with the largest number 
of employees.  For the square-footage component of the calculation, a total of 21 spaces would be required 
for the proposed 1,570 square-foot restaurant.   
 
For the presently unknown commercial uses in the 3 southern tenant spaces (Business Establishment 
Category): One (1) space per two hundred fifty (250) square feet of gross floor area; plus one (1) space per 
employee for the work shift with the largest number of employees.  The southern three tenant spaces total 
4,820 square feet, thereby requiring 20 spaces based on the square-footage component of the calculation, 
plus an additional number of spaces yet to be determined for employees. 
 
The Site Plan depicts a total of 71 parking spaces, including 3 handicap accessible spaces.  Based on the 
gross floor areas of the tenant spaces and known uses, a minimum of 72 spaces would be required based 
only the square-footage component of the calculation.  The additional employee parking requirements are 
not currently known for the 4 future commercial uses.   
 
Staff notes that the pending Text Amendment to the Zoning Ordinance pertaining to the parking regulations 
(removal of the employee count component of the calculation) was recommended for approval at the Plan 
Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals meeting on January 11, 2024, and will be scheduled for discussion at 
future Committee-of-the-Whole meeting prior to being considered by the Village Board.  In the meantime, 
given that the current parking regulations still include an employee count component, staff is 
recommending that the Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals either approve a parking adjustment as 
permitted by the Zoning Ordinance and/or add a condition to the Special Use Permit for a carry out 
restaurant (for the Dunkin’ restaurant) subject to the Village Board’s approval of the pending Text 
Amendment to the Zoning Ordinance pertaining to the parking regulations (removal of the employee count 
component of the calculation). 
 

6. The Site Plan depicts the required trash enclosure (6 feet tall by 14 feet deep by 26 feet wide) in the 
southeast corner of the site.  The Zoning Ordinance requires that trash enclosures be constructed of 
materials to match the exterior of the building (in this case brick).  The proposed trash enclosure would 
have a brick exterior to match the proposed building.  

7. The B-2 Community Business District allows a maximum impervious surface lot coverage of 75%.  According 
to the Site Analysis Table on the Site Plan (attached) the total development area, including the building and 
parking lot is approximately 2.2 acres out of the overall property area of 5.92 acres, or approximately 
37.16% impervious surface lot coverage, thereby complying with the requirement.  

8. A proposed free-standing multi-tenant panel sign is depicted on the Site Plan, adjacent to the west property 
line/right-of-way line, and south of the proposed vehicle entrance.  As mentioned in the previous staff 
report, the proposed sign does comply with the required minimum 25-foot setback for a free-standing sign 
and will need to be relocated on a revised Site Plan.  Staff suggests that the sign could be shifted to the area 
on the north side of the proposed vehicle entrance to comply with the Sign regulations.  

9. The proposed Site Plan depicts brick paver surfaces near the northwest and southwest corners of the 
building, which would be able to accommodate potential outdoor seating.  At this time, only the northwest 
area is proposed for outdoor seating associated with the proposed Dunkin’ Donuts.  Detailed plans for the 
outdoor seating area, including the proposed fencing, tables, chairs, umbrellas, and other fixtures, along 
with the number and arrangement of seating spaces, have not been provided at this time. 



6 

10. The Site Plan reflects two-way vehicle circulation on the west and south sides of the building and one-way 
vehicle circulation on the east and north sides of the building.  

11. The Site Plan reflects a proposed point of access on La Grange Road which is located slightly north of the 
existing driveway access for Terry’s RV Center across the street to the west.  According to the Project 
Architect, the Illinois Department of Transportation (IDOT) has provided preliminary comments on the 
proposed access location.  A southbound left-turn lane would be added within the existing median of La 
Grange Road.  A northbound deceleration lane would be added within the existing right-of-way on the east 
side of La Grange Road. 

12. During the pre-application phase, staff suggested that cross-access be explored with the shopping center 
to the south.  The Project Architect indicated that the two property owners have discussed potential cross 
access but that it is not feasible due to the significant grade differential between the two properties.  The 
applicant therefore is seeking a waiver of the required travel lane (cross-access with the adjacent property 
to the south) under Article 7, Part 4(c) of the Zoning Ordinance.  If the Plan Commission desires to approve 
such a waiver, this would be noted in the meeting minutes as part of the written record.  Staff has provided 
an affirmative motion for consideration.  

13. Three retaining walls are proposed on the Site Plan.  On the north edge of the site, a 105 (previously 95) 
foot-long wall, 6 feet at its maximum height is proposed.  On the south edge of the site, there are two 
proposed retaining walls, which would result in a terrace along the middle portion.  The longer inner wall is 
304 (previously 337) feet long and 7 (previously 5) feet at its maximum height.  The shorter outer wall is 
227 (previously 108) feet long and 9.5 (previously) 4.5 feet at its maximum height.  Sections 4.03E(13) and 
4.03E(15) of the 2008 Village of Frankfort Design Standards notes that the use of retaining walls is “strongly 
discouraged” and that any retaining walls over 50’ long or 2.5’ tall require review and approval by the Plan 
Commission. The Design Standards do not note this as a variation, but rather an approval from the Plan 
Commission. If the Plan Commission desires to accept the inclusion of the proposed retaining walls, this 
acceptance would be noted in the meeting minutes as part of the written record.  Staff has provided an 
affirmative motion for consideration.  

14. The Village Design Standards require a 7-foot minimum sidewalk width when a row of parking is located 
adjacent to the sidewalk to allow for 2 feet of vehicle overhang, thereby maintaining a minimum 5’ wide 
walkway.  The proposed sidewalks which are along the west and south sides of the building were previously 
6.5 feet wide and have now been widened to 7 feet. 

15. The proposed 2-way drive-aisles along the west and south sides of the building were previously depicted as 
24 feet in width, which complies with the minimum width require as required by the Zoning Ordinance.  
However, the 2008 Design Standards which were adopted by Village Ordinance No. 2392 require drive-
aisles to be a minimum of 26 feet in width when they have parking on both sides.  This revision has been 
made. 

16. The proposed drive-through lanes do not include a “bypass” or “escape” lane aside from a small break in 
the landscape median near the northeast corner of the building.  The Zoning Ordinance does not require 
such a lane, but it is common practice for drive-through facilities.  If such a lane is to be provided, the Site 
Plan would need to be revised.    

 
Outdoor Seating Plan 

1. The Site Plan depicts the proposed seating layout plan and perimeter fencing details for the proposed 
outdoor seating areas associated with a permitted restaurant. 

2. Two outdoor seating areas are shown on the Site Plan, including one area near the northwest corner of the 
building directly in front of the proposed Dunkin’ tenant space, and the other near the southwest corner of 
the building.  Both areas would be paved with brick pavers to complement the building and would be 
partially enclosed with a 3-foot high, black, aluminum decorative fence.  The proposed fence is labeled on 
the Site Plan (Sheet C1.0) and a detail is provided on the Site Plan Details (Sheet SP 1.2).  The details for 
patio furnishings have also been provided.  A total of 5 square tables with 4 chairs each and an associated 
umbrella are proposed.  Staff has informed the applicant that no advertising is allowed on the umbrellas as 
that would constitute additional signage.  Therefore, the optional “Dunkin’” umbrella shown on Patio 
Furniture Selection Sheet would not be permitted.  Only the solid color umbrella option would be 
permitted, subject to consideration by the Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals and Village Board.  



7 

Staff is recommending a condition that there shall be no advertising on the patio umbrellas or any other 
furniture. 

 
Tree Preservation Plan  
 

1. The applicant conducted a Tree Survey of approximately 324 trees that are located on and offsite from the 
5.92-acre overall property.  These trees were tagged and numbered.   

2. The applicant has submitted a Tree Preservation Plan which depicts the existing trees to be preserved and 
other trees to be removed due to their condition, structure or health reasons.  105 trees are labeled as 
being located offsite.  71 trees are labeled for removal.  148 trees are labeled for preservation. 

3. A total of 25 of the 71 existing trees that are labeled for removal are considered “Preservation Trees” per 
the Landscape Ordinance.  These trees require a replacement rate based on their caliper size (1 inch 
replaced per 1 inch removed).  A total of 380 inches of new trees are proposed to mitigate those trees which 
would be removed.   

 
Landscape Plan 

1. The applicant has submitted a Landscape Plan which depicts the proposed new trees and other plantings. 
2. Given the location of an adjacent roadway, the Landscape Ordinance requires a “Transition Yard” as a buffer 

along the roadway within a minimum 25-foot-wide landscape yard.  Per the Village’s Landscaping 
Regulations, the required landscaping in transitional yards shall be comprised of a combination of overstory 
trees, evergreen trees, ornamental trees, and large shrubs.  If shrubs are used, they shall be installed at a 
minimum height of five feet.  Additional small shrubs may be used but shall not count towards meeting the 
landscape requirements.  Also, a minimum of a 25-foot-wide landscaped screen consisting of a minimum 
of 125 plant units per 100 linear feet of frontage measured along the length of a common boundary 
between two units.  Forty percent of the plant material (by unit count) must be evergreen.  The landscape 
plan shall include a landscape berm of no less than 3 feet in height and shall be in a landscape easement.  
The regulations state that exceptions will be considered if the berm is determined to conflict with the 
natural or proposed drainage ways.  It should be noted that the existing public sidewalk is located within 
the western edge of the required 25-foot landscape yard.  Staff notes that there is adequate width within 
the landscape yard for the required plantings and berm.  However, due to the existing grade change 
between La Grange Road and the proposed parking lot, the proposed berm is less than 3 feet in height along 
most of the length of the parking lot but does comply with the minimum planting requirements.      

3. The Landscape Plan depicts interior and perimeter parking lot landscaping.   
4. The Landscape Plan depicts foundation plantings around the west, south and east sides of the building. 
5. The Landscape Plan depicts plantings with the required drive-through lane landscape buffer. 
6. The Landscape Plan does not depict parkway trees within the La Grange Road right-of-way, which is under 

the jurisdiction of the Illinois Department of Transportation (IDOT).  Typically, IDOT does not desire parkway 
trees within regional arterial right-of-way.  Therefore, staff is recommending a condition that the Landscape 
Plan be revised to include the required parkway trees (estimated to be 9 trees) elsewhere on the site.    

 
Engineering Plans 
 

1. The applicant has submitted Engineering Plans which are under review by the Village’s consulting engineer.   
 

Architecture 
 

1. Color Building Elevations have been submitted. 
2. The overall architectural style is reminiscent of other similar commercial buildings that have been built 

along La Grange Road over the past 20 years. 
3. The proposed building includes a gabled roof with architectural grade asphalt shingles.  The interior of the 

roof would be a flat roof for the placement of the rooftop mechanical units.  Staff is awaiting details on the 
height of the rooftop mechanical units, as the Frankfort Fire District has recently requested that parapet 
walls (in this case a gabled roof) be no higher more than 42 inches from the interior roof deck to provide a 



8 

measure of safety for firefighters who may need to transition from a ladder truck onto the interior roof 
deck and vice versa.   

4. The proposed single-story building includes four glass storefronts with pediments above the northern and 
southern tenant spaces. 

5. The previously proposed Dunkin’ pediment has been changed from a rectangular shape to a triangular 
shape to be consistent with the pediment above the southern tenant space.  

6. The primary exterior building material is full dimensional brick on all four elevations.   
7. Four rows of split-face concrete block are depicted for the wainscot material on all four elevations. 
8. The submitted building elevations depict metal beams that serve as quasi-canopies above each glass 

storefront.   
9. The applicant has agreed with staff’s suggestion and has added a horizontal accent band consisting of 

smooth stone to complement the wainscot color be provided near the upper portion of the four elevations, 
in line with the proposed metal canopies.  This provides another measure of relief to break up the large 
expanses of brick walls. 

10. The submitted trash enclosure and gate details reflect brick to match the building per the Municipal Code.    
 
Photometrics Plan 
 

1. A Photometrics Plan, along with the proposed building and parking lot light fixtures and light pole 
specifications, has been submitted.  The updated plans now reflect rope lighting above the storefronts that 
was not presented at the workshop meeting.  The Project Architect provided a detail which helps depict the 
placement of the rope lighting and how it will be recessed within the projecting storefront canopies to be 
hidden from view. 

2. The revised Photometrics Plan depicts 8 parking lot light poles, with modern LED fixtures mounted at 20 
feet.  The plan complies with the Zoning Ordinance which allows a maximum mounting height of 20 feet.   

3. The Photometric Plan is complaint with the maximum allowable 0.5 foot-candles of illumination at the 
property lines. 
   

Signage 
 

• The submitted exterior signage plans serve as the required Uniform Sign Plan pursuant to the Sign 
Regulations.  The proposed wall sign locations and dimensions are depicted on the Building Elevations sheet 
and on the Sign Details sheet for the Dunkin’ wall sign.   

• For the proposed Dunkin’ restaurant, which could be considered the anchor tenant, the submitted building 
elevations reflect one wall sign on the west elevation facing La Grange Road comprised of internally 
illuminated channel letters in the orange corporate color and an apostrophe in the pink corporate color.  
The proposed location and dimensions of the wall signs for the other four tenant spaces are noted on the 
Building Elevations.  Although the tenants for those spaces are not presently known, those future wall signs 
would be comprised of internally illuminated channel letters in white color for some measure of uniformity.  
Any future wall signs would need to be submitted for staff review prior to issuance of a Sign Permit to 
confirm that the overall sign area for each wall sign complies with the Sign Regulations, which allow 1 
square-foot or sign area for each linear foot of tenant space storefront wall width.  

• The submitted Building Elevations depict metal beams that serve as quasi-canopies above each glass 
storefront.  For the proposed Dunkin’ tenant space, the metal beam wraps around the corner along a 
portion of the north elevation and is depicted with a gray color to match the other tenant spaces.   

• One new freestanding tenant panel sign is proposed.  The applicant previously submitted two options for 
the workshop discussion.  The applicant has selected a slightly larger variation of Option 1 which includes a 
proposed height of 7 feet and a total sign face area of 37.5 square feet (the previous Option 1 presented at 
the workshop was 30 square feet).  The proposed area of 37.5 square feet exceeds and does not comply 
with the maximum 15 square feet for a multi-tenant sign for a building less than 9,999 square feet.  The 
proposed Dunkin’ tenant panel complies with the minimum 12-inch text height.  However, each of the other 
4 tenant panels reflect 7-inch text height.  Therefore, the applicant is seeking Variations from Section 
151.041(B)(1)(h) and Section 151.041(B)(1)(i) of the Frankfort Municipal Code to allow a free-standing sign 
to exceed the maximum permitted area of 15 square feet, and the minimum height of the text on a free-
standing sign to be less than 12 inches. 



9 

• The proposed free-standing sign includes a brick sign face background to match the brick on the building. 
The sign base would consist of split-face concrete masonry unit block to match the wainscot on the building. 

• For context, there are a variety of free-standing signs along La Grange Road, some of which predate the 
Sign Regulations.  The adjacent Vineyards Shopping Center to the south includes a freestanding sign that 
has internally illuminated sign panels.  Newer free-standing signs in the vicinity of the subject property such 
as at the Frankfort Commons (Aldi) Shopping Center, include free-standing signs that have a brick 
background with non-illuminated tenant panels.  For those types of signs, ground-mounted lighting is 
typically directed at each sign face.  The proposed freestanding sign includes non-illuminated sign panels 
which would only be illuminated by ground-mounted uplighting.  The Sign Regulations allow both internal 
and external sign illumination, but any internally illuminated signs must have an opaque background with 
only the letters and logo illuminated.  All sign illumination must comply with Section 151.101 of the Sign 
Regulations. 

• As stated under the Site Plan heading, a proposed free-standing multi-tenant panel sign is depicted on the 
Site Plan, adjacent to the west property line/right-of-way line, and south of the proposed vehicle entrance.  
As mentioned in the previous staff report, the proposed sign does comply with the required minimum 25-
foot setback for a free-standing sign and will need to be relocated on a revised Site Plan.  Staff is 
recommending a condition that the sign be shifted to the area on the north side of the proposed vehicle 
entrance to comply with the Sign regulations.  

• Site Plan Details (Sheets SP-1.1 and SP-1.2) have been provided and depict the proposed clearance bar, 
order canopy, digital preview board, and digital menu board for the proposed drive-through facility.  The 
aforementioned items comply with Village requirements. 

 
Adjustments to Required Parking  

 
For reference during the public hearing, Article 7, Part 5 of the Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance describes the 
circumstances in which the Plan Commission may adjust the minimum number of required parking spaces in the 
business and industrial districts on a case-by-case basis.  In this case, the proposed development reflects a shared 
parking lot for the use of 5 proposed tenant spaces.  Article 7, Part 5 is as follows:  

 
a.     Purpose. The purpose of this section is to allow adjustments to the minimum number of parking spaces 

required to avoid construction of unnecessary and excessive off-street parking facilities. Reducing the 
requirements for off-street parking facilities is intended to provide for more cost-efficient site 
development, to minimize impervious surface, to minimize storm water runoff, to avoid construction of 
unnecessarily large storm water management facilities, and to provide more landscape areas and open 
space on business and industrial sites. To achieve these purposes, the Plan Commission may reduce the 
minimum number of required off-street parking spaces in specific cases as described in this Part 5.  

 
b.     Adjustments. In all business and industrial districts, the minimum number of required parking spaces may 

be adjusted by the Plan Commission on a case-by-case basis. The petitioner for such an adjustment shall 
show to the satisfaction of the Plan Commission that adequate parking will be provided for customers, 
clients, visitors, and employees. The following provisions and factors shall be used as a basis to adjust 
parking requirements:  

 
1. Evidence That Actual Parking Demands will be Less Than Ordinance Requirements. The petitioner shall 

submit written documentation and data to the satisfaction of the Plan Commission that the operation 
will require less parking than the Ordinance requires.  

 
2. Availability of Joint, Shared or Off-Site Parking. The petitioner shall submit written documentation to 

the satisfaction of the Plan Commission that joint, shared or off-site parking spaces are available to 
satisfy the parking demand.  

 
a) Agreements shall be provided which demonstrate evidence that either parking lots are large 

enough to accommodate multiple users (joint parking) or that parking spaces will be shared at 
specific times of the day (shared parking, where one activity uses the spaces during daytime hours 
and another activity uses the spaces during evening hours.)  
 



10 

b) Off-site parking lots may account for not more than 50-percent of the required parking and shall 
be located not more than three-hundred (300) feet from the principal use that it is intended to 
serve. 

 
When a reduction of parking spaces attributable to shared parking or off-site parking is requested, the petitioner 
shall submit written verification that such parking is available and shall include copies of any contracts, joint lease 
agreements, purchase agreements, and other such documentation to show that shared parking can be 
accomplished. Off-site shared parking spaces shall be clearly posted for the joint use of employees, and/or tenants, 
or customers of each respective use sharing those spaces.  
 

3. Use of Alternative Transportation. Upon demonstration to the Plan Commission that effective 
alternative transportation to the automobile will occur, the Plan Commission may reduce parking 
requirements. Alternative transportation may include, but is not limited to, bus transit, van pool 
operations, car pool/ride sharing, and bicycles. Proposals for adjustments of parking under this 
section shall show how the alternative transportation modes will be implemented, the permanency of 
such modes, extent of the program, the number of vehicles the mode will replace, and other pertinent 
information.  

 
c.     Banked Parking Spaces. As a condition of a reduction in parking requirements, the Plan Commission may 

require banked parking spaces. In such cases, the site plan for the business or industrial use shall provide 
sufficient open space on the subject site to accommodate the additional parking space otherwise required 
by this Ordinance. Such open space shall be in addition to required yards, setbacks, driveways, private 
streets, loading and service areas. Sufficient open space shall be provided which, if converted to parking 
spaces, would:  

 
1. Provide off-street parking to meet the full requirements of this Ordinance at the time of application, 

and  
2. Ensure that the site shall not exceed the maximum impervious lot coverage as set forth in Article 6. 

 
Standards for Special Uses  

 
For reference during the workshop, Article 3, Section B, Part 6 of the Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance lists 
“findings” or “standards” that the Plan Commission must use to evaluate every special use request.  
 
The Plan Commission shall make written findings of fact and shall refer to any exhibits containing plans and 
specifications for the proposed special use, which shall remain a part of the permanent record of the Plan 
Commission. The Plan Commission shall submit same, together with its recommendation to the Village Board for 
final action. No special use shall be recommended by the Plan Commission, unless such Commission shall find:  
 

a. That the establishment, maintenance or operation of the special use will not be detrimental to, or endanger, 
the public health, safety, morals, comfort or general welfare.  

 
b. That the special use will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the immediate 

vicinity for the purposes already permitted, nor substantially diminish and impair property values within 
the neighborhood.  
 

c. That the establishment of the special use will not impede the normal and orderly development and 
improvement of the surrounding property for uses permitted in the district.  
 

d. That the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of any proposed structure will not be so at 
variance with either the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of the structures already 
constructed, or in the course of construction in the immediate neighborhood or the character of the 
applicable district, as to cause a substantial depreciation in the property values within the neighborhood.  
 

e. That the adequate utilities, access roads, drainage and/or necessary facilities have been or are being 
provided.  



11 

 
f. That adequate measures have been or will be taken to provide ingress and egress so designed as to 

minimize traffic congestion in the public streets.  
 

g. That the special use shall, in all other respects, conform to the applicable regulations of the district in which 
it is located, except as such regulations may, in each instance, be modified by the Village Board, pursuant 
to the recommendations of the Plan Commission.  

 
Standards for Variations  
 
For reference during the Public Hearing, Article 3, Section B, Part 3 of the Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance lists 
“findings” or “standards” that the Zoning Board of Appeals must use to evaluate every variation request.  
 

a. The Zoning Board of Appeals shall not vary the provisions of this Ordinance as authorized in this Article 3, 
Section B, unless they have made findings based upon the evidence presented to it in the following cases:  

 
1. That the property in question cannot yield a reasonable return if permitted to be used only under the 

conditions allowed by the regulations in that zone;  
 

2. That the plight of the owner is due to unique circumstances;  
 

3. That the variation, if granted, will not alter the essential character of the locality.  
 

b. For the purpose of supplementing the above standards, the Zoning Board of Appeals, in making this 
determination, whenever there are practical difficulties or hardships, shall also take into consideration the 
extent to which the following facts, favorable to the applicant, have been established by the evidence:  

 
1. That the particular physical surroundings, shape or topographical conditions of the specific property 

involved will bring a particular hardship upon the owner, as distinguished from a mere inconvenience, 
if the strict letter of the regulations was carried out;  

 
2. That the conditions upon which the petition for variation is based would not be applicable, generally, 

to other property within the same zoning classification;  
 

3. That the purpose of the variation is not based exclusively upon a desire to make more money out of 
the property;  
 

4. That the alleged difficulty or hardship has not been created by any person presently having an interest 
in the property;  
 

5. That the granting of the variation will not be detrimental to the public welfare or unduly injurious to 
other property or improvements in the neighborhood in which the property is located;  
 

6. That the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of any proposed structure will not be so at 
variance with either the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of the structures already 
constructed, or in the course of construction in the immediate neighborhood or the character of the 
applicable district, as to cause a substantial depreciation in the property values within the 
neighborhood;  
 

7. That the proposed variation will not impair an adequate supply of air to adjacent property, substantially 
increase the danger of fire, otherwise endanger the public safety or substantially diminish or impair 
property values within the neighborhood. 

 
Affirmative Motions   
    For the Commission’s consideration, staff provides the following potential affirmative motions: 



12 

1. Approve a waiver of the required travel lane (cross-access with the adjacent property to the south) under 
Article 7, Part 4(c) of the Zoning Ordinance.   
 

2. Approve three (3) retaining walls which exceed 50 feet in length and exceed 2.5 feet in height per the 
submitted plans, pursuant to Sections 4.03E(13) and 4.03E(15) of the Village of Frankfort Design Standards. 
 

3. Recommend that the Village Board approve the request for a Special Use Permit for a carry out restaurant 
(for the Dunkin’ restaurant) for a property located in the B-2 Community Business District located on the 
east side of La Grange Road, south of St. Francis Road (PIN 19-09-15-301-034-0000), in accordance with the 
submitted plans, public testimony, and Findings of Fact, and additionally subject to the following conditions: 
 

1. Subject to the Village Engineer’s approval of the Final Engineering Plans. 
2. Subject to the Village Board’s approval of the pending Text Amendment to the Zoning Ordinance 

pertaining to parking regulations (removal of the employee count component of the calculation). 
3. Prior to Village Board consideration, the Site Plan shall be revised to relocate the proposed free-

standing sign to the area on the north side of the proposed vehicle entrance to comply with the 
required minimum 25-foot setback requirement (Section 151.041(B)(1)(b) of the Village of 
Frankfort Municipal Code).  Additionally, the Landscape Plan shall be revised to reflect the required 
landscaping around the base of the free-standing sign (Section 151.041(B)(1)(b) of the Village of 
Frankfort Municipal Code).   

 
4. Recommend that the Village Board approve the request for a Special Use Permit for drive-up service 

windows associated with a permitted use (for the Dunkin’ restaurant), for a property located in the B-2 
Community Business District located on the east side of La Grange Road, south of St. Francis Road (PIN 19-
09-15-301-034-0000), in accordance with the submitted plans, public testimony, and Findings of Fact, and 
additionally subject to the following conditions: 

 
1. Subject to the Village Engineer’s approval of the Final Engineering Plans.  

 
5. Recommend that the Village Board approve the request for a Special Use Permit for outdoor seating 

associated with a permitted restaurant (for the Dunkin’ restaurant) for a property located in the B-2 
Community Business District located on the east side of La Grange Road, south of St. Francis Road (PIN 19-
09-15-301-034-0000), in accordance with the submitted plans, public testimony, and Findings of Fact, and 
additionally subject to the following conditions: 
 

1. Subject to the Village Engineer’s approval of the Final Engineering Plans.  
2. There shall be no advertising on the patio umbrellas or any other patio furniture. 
3. The Special Use Permit for outdoor seating is only valid for those areas depicted on the Site Plan 

and per the patio furniture details for the proposed Dunkin’ restaurant.  Any future restaurant on 
the subject property which may propose patio furniture which is different from the Dunkin’ patio 
furniture details, shall submit patio furniture details for review and approval by Village staff.   

 
6. Recommend that the Village Board approve the request for a Special Use Permit for extended hours of 

operation (for the Dunkin’ restaurant opening at 4:00 a.m.) for a property located in the B-2 Community 
Business District located on the east side of La Grange Road, south of St. Francis Road (PIN 19-09-15-301-
034-0000), in accordance with the submitted plans, public testimony, and Findings of Fact. 
 

7. Recommend that the Village Board approve the request for Variations from Section 151.041(B)(1)(h) and 
Section 151.041(B)(1)(i) of the Frankfort Municipal Code to allow a free-standing sign to exceed the 
maximum permitted area of 15 square feet (37.5 square feet proposed), and the minimum height of the 
text on a free-standing sign to be less than 12 inches (7 inches proposed), for a property located in the B-2 
Community Business District located on the east side of La Grange Road, south of St. Francis Road (PIN 19-
09-15-301-034-0000), in accordance with the submitted plans, public testimony, and Findings of Fact. 

 

 



Disclaimer of Warranties and Accuracy of Data: Although the data developed by Will County for its maps, websites, and Geographic 
Information System has been produced and processed from sources believed to be reliable, no warranty, expressed or implied, is made 
regarding accuracy, adequacy, completeness, legality, reliability or usefulness of any information. This disclaimer applies to both isolated and 
aggregate uses of the information. The County and elected officials provide this information on an "as is" basis. All warranties of any kind, 
express or implied, including but not limited to the implied warranties of merchantability, fitness for a particular purpose, freedom from 
contamination by computer viruses or hackers and non-infringement of proprietary rights are disclaimed. Changes may be periodically made 
to the information herein; these changes may or may not be incorporated in any new version of the publication. If you have obtained 
information from any of the County web pages from a source other than the County pages, be aware that electronic data can be altered 
subsequent to original distribution. Data can also quickly become out of date. It is recommended that careful attention be paid to the contents 
of any data, and that the originator of the data or information be contacted with any questions regarding appropriate use. Please direct any 
questions or issues via email to gis@willcountyillinois.com.

Notes

Legend

0.07

1: 2,257

0 Miles

Lot 2 in Powell's Resubdivision

WGS_1984_Web_Mercator_Auxiliary_Sphere

Projection

9/18/2023 Date:

0.04

Roadways

Federal

State

County

Local and Private

Parcels

Townships







Site Photos – Lot 2 in Powell Resubdivision 

 

Figure 1: Lot 2 in Powell Resubdivision, viewed looking east from La Grange Road (south end of site). 

 

Figure 2:  Lot 2 in Powell Resubdivision, viewed looking east from La Grange Road (north end of site). 

 

 

 

 

   



ARCHITECTURAL GRADE 
ASPHALT SHINGLE

8" FASCIA TRIM

METAL CANOPY, 
SW7019 "GAUNTLET GRAY"

PRECAST STONE SILL TO 
MATCH BLOCK

SPLIT FACE CMU, 
ECHELON "WHITE PINE"

METAL CANOPY, 
SW7019 GAUNTLET 
GRAY"

DIMENSIONAL BRICK 
VENEER, GLEN-
GERY GRANITE RED 
VELOUR MODULAR

22 SF WALL SIGN (28.8 
SF MAX), CHANNEL LIT, 
PIN MOUNT LETTERS

FIRST FLOOR

T/ WINDOW

T/ ROOF PEAK

T/ ROOF DECK

PROPOSED TENANT SIGN LOCATION: 
1. MAX. SQUARE FOOTAGE = 22
2. CHANNEL LIT, PIN MOUNT LETTERS
3. COLOR WHITE

PROPOSED TENANT SIGN LOCATION: 
1. MAX. SQUARE FOOTAGE = 20.2
2. CHANNEL LIT, PIN MOUNT LETTERS
3. COLOR WHITE

PRECAST STONE BAND 
TO MATCH BLOCK

PRECAST STONE 
INSERT PRECAST STONE PILASTER CAP

ALL WALL SIGNS ALIGNED ON 
ONE COMMON CENTERLINE℄

2'X2' LOUVERED VENT

11' - 0"

ARCHITECTURAL GRADE 
ASPHALT SHINGLE

8" FASCIA TRIM

PRECAST STONE SILL TO 
MATCH BLOCK

SPLIT FACE CMU, 
ECHELON "WHITE PINE"

METAL CANOPY,  SW7019 
"GAUNTLET GRAY"

DIMENSIONAL BRICK VENEER, 
GLEN-GERY GRANITE RED 
VELOUR MODULAR

PRECAST STONE BAND 
TO MATCH BLOCK

ARCHITECTURAL GRADE 
ASPHALT SHINGLE

PRECAST STONE SILL TO 
MATCH BLOCK

SPLIT FACE CMU, 
ECHELON "WHITE 
PINE"

DIMENSIONAL BRICK VENEER, 
GLEN-GERY GRANITE RED 
VELOUR MODULAR

METAL CANOPY, 
SW7019 "GAUNTLET 
GRAY"

8" FASCIA TRIM

PRECAST STONE BAND 
TO MATCH BLOCK

ARCHITECTURAL GRADE 
ASPHALT SHINGLE

8" FASCIA TRIM

PRECAST STONE SILL TO 
MATCH BLOCK

SPLIT FACE CMU, 
ECHELON "WHITE PINE"

DIMENSIONAL BRICK 
VENEER, GLEN-GERY 
GRANITE RED VELOUR 
MODULAR

PRECAST STONE BAND 
TO MATCH BLOCK

ACRYLIC & ALUM. 
CHANNEL LIT PIN 
MOUNT LETTERS,12" 
MIN. TEXT HEIGHT

CAST STONE SILL
SPLIT FACE CMU 
BASE TO MATCH 
BUILDING

ACRYLIC & ALUM. 
CHANNEL LIT WHITE 
PIN MOUNT LETTERS, 
7" MIN. TEXT HEIGHT

CAST STONE CAP

TROPICAL SMOOTHIE CAFE

9' - 6"

7' - 6"

TENANT 3
TENANT 4
TENANT 5

37.5 SF SIGN FACE 
AREA

ARCHITECTS | ENGINEERS | SURVEYORS

2135 CITY GATE LANE, SUITE 330
NAPERVILLE, IL  60563

PROFESSIONAL DESIGN FIRM
NO.  184.008901-0012

CLIENT:

SHEET NO.

SHEET TITLE:

FILE NAME:
DRAWN BY: REVIEWED BY:

REVISIONS:
# DESCRIPTION DATE

ZONING REVIEW

.

.

.

.

.

.

Koru Group, PLLC

ZONING REVIEW 11-10-23
08-31-23

ZONING REVIEW 12-22-23
ZONING REVIEW 01-25-24

LMB ERC

A200

EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS

3/16" = 1'-0"1 WEST ELEVATION

3/16" = 1'-0"
2 NORTH ELEVATION

3/16" = 1'-0"3 SOUTH ELEVATION

5 3D View 1

3/16" = 1'-0"
4 EAST ELEVATION 1/4" = 1'-0"

6 MONUMENT SIGN



A200 1

A200

3

A2004

A200

2

TENANT 1
FUTURE DUNKIN'

(±) 2,180 SF

TENANT 2
(±) 1,570 SF

TENANT 4
(±) 1,650 SF

TENANT 5
(±) 1,520 SF

VESTIBULE

TOILET
OFFICE

TOILET

WALK-IN
FREEZER

WALK-IN
COOLER

DRIVE
THRU

LANDLORD 
ROOM
WATER 

SERVICE & 
ELEC.

75' - 8"

76' - 4"

TENANT 3
(±) 1,650 SF

2' - 0" 17' - 8" 2' - 0" 16' - 8" 2' - 0" 16' - 0" 2' - 0" 16' - 0" 2' - 0"

ARCHITECTS | ENGINEERS | SURVEYORS

2135 CITY GATE LANE, SUITE 330
NAPERVILLE, IL  60563

PROFESSIONAL DESIGN FIRM
NO.  184.008901-0012

CLIENT:

SHEET NO.

SHEET TITLE:

FILE NAME:
DRAWN BY: REVIEWED BY:

REVISIONS:
# DESCRIPTION DATE

ZONING REVIEW

.

.

.

.

.

.

.

.

Koru Group, PLLC

ZONING REVIEW 11-10-23
08-31-23

ZONING REVIEW 12-22-23

LMB ERC

A101

FIRST FLOOR PLAN
1/8" = 1'-0"1 FLOOR PLAN

N

mschwarz
Received









 
 

1 
2135 City Gate Lane, suite 330 ● Naperville, Illinois 60563 ● Tel: 331-444-5678 

 
Franklin Multitenant Development  

Exterior Finishes 

 

Brick Veneer: 

Glen-Gery “Granite Red Velour” modular 
 

 
 

Split Face CMU: 

Echelon “White Pine” 
 

 
 

mschwarz
Received



 
 

2 
2135 City Gate Lane, suite 330 ● Naperville, Illinois 60563 ● Tel: 331-444-5678 

Asphalt Shingle Roof: 

Certain Teed Landmark “Weathered Wood” 
 

 
 
Fiber Cement Panels: 

Painted Sherwin Williams “Incredible White” SW7028 
 

 
 



LED-12

LED-12

LED-2

LED-2

LED-2

LED-2

LED-2

LED-2

LED-2

LED-2

LED-2 LED-2 LED-2

LED-2

LED-2

LED-2

LED-2

LED-2

LED-2LED-2

EWS-1

G

G

G

G

G

EWS-1

EWS-1

EWS-1

EWS-1EWS-1

LED-2

LED-2

LED-2

G

TENANT 1
FUTURE DUNKIN'

(±) 2,180 SF

TENANT 2
(±) 1,570 SF

TENANT 4
(±) 1,650 SF

TENANT 5
(±) 1,520 SF

LANDLORD 
ROOM
WATER 

SERVICE & 
ELEC.

TENANT 3
(±) 1,650 SF

ARCHITECTS | ENGINEERS | SURVEYORS

2135 CITY GATE LANE, SUITE 330
NAPERVILLE, IL  60563

PROFESSIONAL DESIGN FIRM
NO.  184.008901-0012

CLIENT:

SHEET NO.

SHEET TITLE:

FILE NAME:
DRAWN BY: REVIEWED BY:

REVISIONS:
# DESCRIPTION DATE

ZONING REVIEW

.

.

.

.

.

.

Koru Group, PLLC

ZONING REVIEW 11-10-23
08-31-23

ZONING REVIEW 12-22-23
ZONING REVIEW 01-25-24

LMB ERC

E1

EXTERIOR LIGHTING PLAN

1/8" = 1'-0"
1 EXTERIOR LIGHTING PLAN

mschwarz
Received



XTOR  
CROSSTOUR LED

 
APPLICATIONS:

WALL / SURFACE
POST / BOLLARD

LOW LEVEL
FLOODLIGHT

INVERTED
SITE LIGHTING

Lumark

SPECIFICATION FEATURES

Construction
Slim, low-profile LED design 
with rugged one-piece, die-cast 
aluminum hinged removable door 
and back box. Matching housing 
styles incorporate both a small 
and medium design. The small 
housing is available in 12W, 18W 
and 26W.  The medium housing 
is available in the 38W model. 
Patented secure lock hinge feature 
allows for safe and easy tool-less 
electrical connections with the 
supplied push-in connectors. Back 
box includes three half-inch, NPT 
threaded conduit entry points. The 
universal back box supports both 
the small and medium forms and 
mounts to standard 3-1/2” to 4” 
round and octagonal, 4” square, 
single gang and masonry junction 
boxes. Key hole gasket allows 
for adaptation to junction box or 
wall. External fin design extracts 
heat from the fixture surface. One-
piece silicone gasket seals door 
and back box. Minimum 5” wide 
pole for site lighting application. 
Not recommended for car wash 
applications.

Optical
Silicone sealed optical LED 
chamber incorporates a custom 
engineered mirrored anodized 
reflector providing high-efficiency 
illumination. Optical assembly 
includes impact-resistant 
tempered glass and meets IESNA 
requirements for full cutoff 
compliance. Available in seven 
lumen packages; 5000K, 4000K and 
3000K CCT.

Electrical
LED driver is mounted to the 
die-cast housing for optimal heat 
sinking. LED thermal management 
system incorporates both 
conduction and natural convection 
to transfer heat rapidly away from 
the LED source. 12W, 18W, 26W 
and 38W series operate in -40°C to 
40°C [-40°F to 104°F]. High ambient 
50°C models available. Crosstour 
luminaires maintain greater than 
89% of initial light output after 
72,000 hours of operation. Three 
half-inch NPT threaded conduit 
entry points allow for thru-branch 
wiring. Back box is an authorized 

electrical wiring compartment. 
Integral LED electronic driver 
incorporates surge protection. 120-
277V 50/60Hz or 347V 60Hz models.

Finish
Crosstour is protected with a 
Super durable TGIC carbon 
bronze or summit white polyester 
powder coat paint. Super durable 
TGIC powder coat paint finishes 
withstand extreme climate 
conditions while providing optimal 
color and gloss retention of the 
installed life.

Warranty
Five-year warranty.

The patented Lumark Crosstour™ LED Wall Pack Series of luminaries 
provides an architectural style with super bright, energy efficient LEDs. 
The low-profile, rugged die-cast aluminum construction, universal back 
box, stainless steel hardware along with a sealed and gasketed optical 
compartment make the Crosstour impervious to contaminants. The 
Crosstour wall luminaire is ideal for wall/surface, inverted mount for 
façade/canopy illumination, post/bollard, site lighting, floodlight and low 
level pathway illumination including stairs. Typical applications include 
building entrances, multi-use facilities, apartment buildings, institutions, 
schools, stairways and loading docks test.

DESCRIPTION

12W, 18W, 26W
5-3/4" [146mm]

38W
6-5/8" [168mm]

12W, 18W, 26W
6-3/4" [171mm]

38W
8" [203mm]

12W, 18W, 26W
3-5/8" [92mm]

38W
4" [102mm]

DIMENSIONS

C E R T I F I C A T I O N  D A T A
UL/cUL Wet Location Listed
LM79 / LM80 Compliant
ROHS Compliant
ADA Compliant
NOM Compliant Models
IP66 Ingressed Protection Rated
Title 24 Compliant
DesignLights Consortium® Qualified*

T E C H N I C A L  D A T A
40°C Maximum Ambient Temperature
External Supply Wiring 90°C Minimum

E P A
Effective Projected Area (Sq. Ft.):
XTOR1B, XT0R2B, XT0R3B=0.34
XTOR4B=0.45

S H I P P I N G  D A T A :
Approximate Net Weight:
3.7 – 5.25 lbs. [1.7 – 2.4 kgs.]

10" [254mm]

17-1/2" [445mm]

10"
[254mm]

17-1/2"
[445mm]

ESCUTCHEON PLATES

*www.designlights.org

Catalog # Type

Date

Project

Comments

Prepared by

TD514013EN
September 17, 2018 3:02 PM

anush.kazarian
Text Box
TYPE G



Specifications and 
dimensions subject to 
change without notice.

Eaton 
1121 Highway 74 South
Peachtree City, GA 30269
P: 770-486-4800
www.eaton.com/lighting

LUMEN MAINTENANCE

POWER AND LUMENS BY FIXTURE MODEL

CURRENT DRAW

XTOR  CROSSTOUR LED

100

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90 100
75

80

85

90

95

Hours (Thousands)

Lu
m

en
 M

ai
n

te
n

an
ce

 (
Pe

rc
en

t)

50°C
40°C
25°C

TD514013EN
September 17, 2018 3:02 PM

page 2

Voltage
Model Series

XTOR1B XTOR2B XTOR3B XTOR4B

120V 0.103A 0.15A 0.22A 0.34A

208V 0.060A 0.09A 0.13A 0.17A

240V 0.053A 0.08A 0.11A 0.17A

277V 0.048A 0.07A 0.10A 0.15A

347V 0.039A 0.06A 0.082A 0.12A

Ambient 
Temperature

TM-21 Lumen 
Maintenance 

(72,000 Hours)

Theoretical 
L70 

(Hours)

XTOR1B Model

25°C > 90% 255,000

40°C > 89% 234,000

50°C > 88% 215,000

XTOR2B Model

25°C > 89% 240,000

40°C > 88% 212,000

50°C > 87% 196,000

XTOR3B Model

25°C > 89% 240,000

40°C > 88% 212,000

50°C > 87% 196,000

XTOR4B Model

25°C > 89% 222,000

40°C > 87% 198,000

50°C > 87% 184,000

LED Information XTOR1B XTOR1B-W XTOR1B-Y XTOR2B XTOR2B-W XTOR2B-Y XTOR3B XTOR3B-W XTOR3B-Y XTOR4B XTOR4B-W XTOR4B-Y

Delivered Lumens 
(Wall Mount)

1,418 1,396 1,327 2,135 2,103 1,997 2,751 2,710 2,575 4,269 4,205 3,995

Delivered Lumens 
(With Flood  
Accessory Kit) 1

1,005 990 940 1,495 1,472 1,399 2,099 2,068 1,965 3,168 3,121 2,965

B.U.G. Rating 2 B1-U0-G0 B1-U0-G0 B1-U0-G0 B1-U0-G0 B1-U0-G0 B1-U0-G0 B1-U0-G0 B1-U0-G0 B1-U0-G0 B2-U0-G0 B2-U0-G0 B2-U0-G0

CCT (Kelvin) 5,000 4,000 3,000 5,000 4,000 3,000 5,000 4,000 3,000 5,000 4,000 3,000

CRI (Color  
Rendering Index)

70 70 70 70 70 70 70 70 70 70 70 70

Power  
Consumption 
(Watts)

12W 12W 12W 18W 18W 18W 26W 26W 26W 38W 38W 38W

NOTES: 1 Includes shield and visor. 2 B.U.G. Rating does not apply to floodlighting.



Specifications and 
dimensions subject to 
change without notice.

Eaton 
1121 Highway 74 South
Peachtree City, GA 30269
P: 770-486-4800
www.eaton.com/lighting

XTOR  CROSSTOUR LED

STOCK ORDERING INFORMATION

ORDERING INFORMATION

TD514013EN
September 17, 2018 3:02 PM

page 3

Sample Number: XTOR2B-W-WT-PC1

Series 1 LED Kelvin Color Housing Color Options (Add as Suffix) Accessories (Order Separately)

XTOR1B=Small Door, 12W
XTOR2B=Small Door, 18W
XTOR3B=Small Door, 26W
XTOR4B=Medium Door, 
                  38W

[Blank]= Bright White  
(Standard), 5000K

W=Neutral White, 4000K
Y=Warm White, 3000K

[Blank]= Carbon Bronze 
(Standard)

WT=Summit White
BK=Black
BZ=Bronze
AP=Grey
GM=Graphite Metallic
DP=Dark Platinum

PC1=Photocontrol 120V 2

PC2=Photocontrol 208-277V 2, 3

347V=347V 4

HA=50ºC High Ambient 4

WG/XTOR=Wire Guard 5

XTORFLD-KNC=Knuckle Floodlight Kit 6

XTORFLD-TRN=Trunnion Floodlight Kit 6

XTORFLD-KNC-WT=Knuckle Floodlight Kit, Summit White 6

XTORFLD-TRN-WT=Trunnion Floodlight Kit, Summit White 6

EWP/XTOR= Escutcheon Wall Plate, Carbon Bronze
EWP/XTOR-WT= Escutcheon Wall Plate, Summit White

NOTES:
1. DesignLights Consortium® Qualified and classified for both DLC Standard and DLC Premium, refer to www.designlights.org for details.
2. Photocontrols are factory installed. 
3. Order PC2 for 347V models. 
4. Thru-branch wiring not available with HA option or with 347V. XTOR3B not available with HA and 347V or 120V combination. 
5. Wire guard for wall/surface mount. Not for use with floodlight kit accessory. 
6. Floodlight kit accessory supplied with knuckle (KNC) or trunnion (TRN) base, small and large top visors and small and large impact shields.

12W Series 18W Series 26W Series 38W Series

XTOR1B=12W, 5000K, Carbon Bronze XTOR2B=18W, 5000K, Carbon Bronze XTOR3B=26W, 5000K, Carbon Bronze XTOR4B=38W, 5000K, Carbon Bronze

XTOR1B-WT=12W, 5000K, Summit White XTOR2B-W=18W, 4000K, Carbon Bronze XTOR3B-W=26W, 4000K, Carbon Bronze XTOR4B-W=38W, 4000K, Carbon Bronze

XTOR1B-PC1=12W, 5000K, 120V PC, 
Carbon Bronze

XTOR2B-WT=18W, 5000K, Summit White XTOR3B-WT=26W, 5000K, Summit White XTOR4B-WT=38W, 5000K, Summit White

XTOR1B-W=12W, 4000K, Carbon Bronze XTOR2B-PC1= 18W, 5000K, 120V PC, 
Carbon Bronze

XTOR3B-PC1= 26W, 5000K, 120V PC, 
Carbon Bronze

XTOR4B-PC1= 38W, 5000K, 120V PC, Carbon 
Bronze

XTOR2B-W-PC1= 18W, 4000K, 120V PC, 
Carbon Bronze

XTOR3B-W-PC1=26W, 4000K, 120V PC,    
                               Carbon Bronze

XTOR4B-W-PC1= 38W, 4000K, 120V PC,  
Carbon Bronze

XTOR2B-347V= 18W, 5000K, Carbon 
Bronze, 347V

XTOR3B-347V=26W, 5000K, Carbon 
                            Bronze, 347V

XTOR4B-347V=38W, 5000K, Carbon Bronze, 
                            347V

XTOR2B-WT-PC1=18W, 5000K, 120V PC, 
                                 Summit White

XTOR3B-PC2=26W, 5000K, 208-277V PC, 
                          Carbon Bronze

anush.kazarian
Rectangle

anush.kazarian
Rectangle

anush.kazarian
Rectangle



®

EXPAND... 
Your creativity!

See reverse side for specifications.

WIDE LOYAL
M A N U F A C T U R E  A N D  D I S T R I B U T I O N

Wide Loyal Strip-Light PRO is the brightest in the market, you can transform every room 

utilizing marvelous light accents that feel good.  Open-up the possibilities and make your 

furniture seem weightless, make your walls glow, provide stair lighting to make your home 

������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������

your senses.

We also have waterproofed our Strip-Light PRO for your outdoor use. The use of LED strips 

lighting is increasingly popular in residential and commercial applications, you are only lim-

ited by your creative senses!

Wide Loyal Developments Ltd. •   Los Angeles, CA     •  Seattle, WA     •   Vancouver, BC
US & Canada:   1-888-303-0931 (Toll Free) Fax: 1-888-303-0932  www.wideloyal.com   e-mail: sales@wideloyal.com

®

Wide Loyal Developments Ltd. •   Los Angeles, CA     •  Seattle, WA     •   Vancouver, BC
US & Canada:   1-888-303-0931 (Toll Free) Fax: 1-888-303-0932  www.wideloyal.com   e-mail: sales@wideloyal.com

Wide Loyal Premium LED Strip-Light PRO is 30% brighter featuring 100% 
copper wire, lead free plastic and double sided anti-corrosive coating.

������������������������

��������� �64 �� (328 ft**)

����������� ����

Minimum Cut������                          20"


�		���� ���  (TRIAC)

������� ���7 Indoor / Outdoor

��	�������������� �������

��	�������������                             .17"

���������� ���
������������� ������

��	������	������� �� ����������(400 Lm per ft)

��������� �����������

��
��������� 18�����ft

��
����� �����������

���	���	��� LSS������

������ ����

������

��
������ ������

�.5 w/ft

��������� ���� �

��
�������

 ���������������
 �������������������
 ����������������
 � ��������������
 �����
 ��������

 ������
 ������
 �������
 ������
 �������

LS-STRIP-LIGHT-120V-400L

®

Wide Loyal Developments Ltd. •   Los Angeles, CA     •  Seattle, WA     •   Vancouver, BC
US & Canada:   1-888-303-0931 (Toll Free) Fax: 1-888-303-0932  www.wideloyal.com   e-mail: sales@wideloyal.com

Wide Loyal Premium LED Strip-Light PRO is 30% brighter featuring 100% 
copper wire, lead free plastic and double sided anti-corrosive coating.

������������������������

��������� �64 �� (328 ft**)

����������� ����

Minimum Cut������                          20"


�		���� ���  (TRIAC)

������� ���7 Indoor / Outdoor

��	�������������� �������

��	������������� .17"

���������� ���
������������� ������

��	������	�������	�� ����������(400 Lm per ft)

��������� �����������

��
���������                                     18�����ft

��
����� �����������

���	���	���                                      LSS������

������ ����

������

��
������ ������

�.5 w/ft

��������� �����

��
�������

 ���������������
 �������������������
 ����������������
 � ��������������
 �����
 ��������

 ������
 ������
 �������
 ������
 �������

Date: Approved:

Type:    

Fixture:

Project:

© 2017 Solutions For Lighting 3609 Swenson Ave., St. Charles, IL 60174 p. 630-940-2626 f. 630-889-8106 SB Rev. 0717

solutions
     for    Lighting LSSL-5165-N

(For Upper Brown mullion)

steve.demarais
Highlight

steve.demarais
Highlight

steve.demarais
Highlight

steve.demarais
Highlight

JCurran
Text Box
LED12 SSL-LSSL-5165 400 lumens

JCurran
Text Box
OUTDOOR LIGHT FIXTURE USED IN UPPER BROWN SOFFIT

JCurran
Line



Power cord, 15A 
rectifier, (Max run 
length 328 ft) **

** Special Order. 
** 6-8 week delivery.

* Silicone Sealant supplied by others.

All connectors/connections for out-
door use require silocone sealant*

LSLD5601

LSLD5651

LSLD5603

LSLLD5612

LSLD5623

LSLD5618

LSLD5618H

LSIU34

LSS83

LSWL-3DC

LSLD5654

LSLD551

LSLD5610

LSLD5622

LSLD5635

LSLD56181

LSLD5604

LSLD5606

LSLWL-2CC

© 2017 Solutions For Lighting 3609 Swenson Ave., St. Charles, IL 60174 p. 630-940-2626 f. 630-889-8106 SB Rev. 0717

solutions
     for    Lighting

JCurran
Text Box
LED12 



Fixture Type:

Catalog Number:

Project:

Location:

WAC Lighting
www.waclighting.com
Phone (800) 526.2588 • Fax (800) 526.2585

Headquarters/Eastern Distribution Center
44 Harbor Park Drive • Port Washington, NY 11050
Phone (516) 515.5000 • Fax (516) 515.5050

Western Distribution Center  
1750 Archibald Avenue • Ontario, CA 91760
Phone (800) 526.2588 • Fax (800) 526.2585

WAC Lighting retains the right to modify the design of our products at any time as part of the company's continuous improvement program.   Aug 2017

HAWK - model: WP-LED2
Endurance Wallpack

PRODUCT DESCRIPTION
Die cast aluminum factory sealed housings with patent pending design for 
a water and dust proof IP66 rated outdoor luminaire

ACCESSORIES

ORDER NUMBER

Power Comparable Color Temp
Delivered
Lumens CBCP Finish

WP-LED219 19W 39W HID 30
50

3000K
5000K

1345
1435

1022
1056 aBZ

aGH
aWT

Architectural Bronze
Architectural graphite
Architectural WhiteWP-LED227 27W 70W HID 30

50
3000K
5000K

2050
2095

1436
1478

– –
Example: WP-LED219-30-GH

Motion Sensor
(120V)

MS-120-BZ 
MS-120-GY 
MS-120-WT

Bronze 
gray 
White

Photo Sensor
(120V)

PC-120-BZ 
PC-120-GY 
PC-120-WT

Bronze 
gray 
White

FEATURES
• Factory-Sealed LED Light Engine

• Die-Cast Aluminum Construction

• 20° Forward Throw Illumination 

• Photo/Motion Sensor Compatible (Sold Separately)

• Built-in Level For Easy Adjustment

• Suitable to install in all directions

• Multi-Function Dimming: ELV (120V) or 0-10V

• 85 CRI

• 100,000 hour rated life

PHOTOMETRY

Left Plane 

Front Plane

SPECIFICATIONS

Construction: Die-cast aluminum

Power: Integral driver in luminaire. Universal voltage input (120V-277V)

Dimming: 100% - 30% with 0 - 10V dimmer (120V - 277V)

                      100% - 15% with Electronic Low Voltage (ELV) dimmer (120V only)

Finish: Architectural Bronze, Graphite, and White

Standards: IP66, Wet Location, ETL & cETL Listed

Total Harmonic Distortion:  35%

Operating Temperature: -40°C (-40°F) to 40°C (104°F)

8a"

84"

4a"

0

45

90

deanna.mcclanahan
Highlight

deanna.mcclanahan
Highlight

JCurran
Text Box
EWS-1WEP- LED 227-30-BZ

JCurran
Highlight

JCurran
Highlight



DRD2
Recessed LED Downlight

General Remodel
4”, 5”, 6” Aperture

Type:

Date:Project:

Product Code: 

Contact:

1118 E. 223rd St. Carson, CA 90745    T: 1.800.441.4422dmf Lighting®

www.dmflighting.com
Page 1 of 9 | V-08.15.17© 2017 DMF Lighting. All Rights Reserved. Specifications subject to change without notice. See website for U.S. and international patent information.

Frame-in Kit
HOUSING: Die-formed steel with powder coat finish (4” frame-in kit, 4” 
shallow frame-in kit), 20 ga. die-formed aluminum (5” frame-in kit), 22 ga. 
die-formed aluminum (6” frame-in kit, 6” shallow frame-in kit).

JUNCTION BOX: Galvanized steel. Equipped with (6) 1/2” and (1) 3/4” 
knockouts with pryout slots to allow straight conduit runs (4” frame-in kit, 
4” shallow frame-in kit), equipped with (5) 1/2” and (2) 3/4” knockouts with 
pryout slots to allow straight conduit runs (5” frame-in kit, 6” frame-in kit, 
6” shallow frame-in kit). (4) knockouts for non-metallic sheathed cable 
installation. Junction box tension spring allows snap-in installation of plate 
cover for easy access to wiring. Approved for 8 (four-in, four-out) #12 AWG 
90 through wire conductors.

MOUNTING: (4) tempered steel spring clips secure housing to ceiling.

CEILING: 1/2” up to 1”.

CUTOUT: 4 3/16” (4” frame-in kit, 4” shallow frame-in kit), 5 5/8” (5” frame-in 
kit), 6 3/8” (6” frame-in kit, 6” shallow frame-in kit).

Light Engine
LED: Tightly binned, high performing white Cree® LED.

LUMEN OUTPUT (POWER): 750 Im (10.8W), 1000 lm (12.8W).

COLOR QUALITY: 93+ CRI, 2-step SDCM.

CCT OPTIONS: 2700K, 3000K, 3500K, 4000K.

CONNECTOR: PowerPlug® Luminaire Disconnect Model 182 (TRIAC/ELV), 
Model 102 (0-10V, Lutron Hi-lume® 1%).

INPUT VOLTAGE: 120/277V.

DIMMING: Down to less than 5% for TRIAC/ELV at 120V or 0-10V at 
120/277V. Down to less than 1% for Lutron Hi-lume® 1% at 120/277V. 

LIFETIME: 50,000 hours at 70% lumen maintenance.

PHOTOMETRIC TESTING: Tested in accordance to IESNA LM-79-2008.

LISTINGS: IC rated. cULus Listed. ENERGY STAR® qualified. California 
Title 24 JA8 compliant. ASTM E283 certified Air Tight. UL Listed for Wet 
Location. CEC listed.

WARRANTY: 5 year limited warranty.

Trim
CONSTRUCTION: Die-cast aluminum. Twist & Lock mounting allows easy 
tool-free field installation and tight ceiling fit.

• Maximum installation compatibility

•  Easy, tool-free installation, including
Twist & Lock trim feature

• 750 & 1000 lumen outputs

•  2700K, 3000K, 3500K, 4000K CCT

•  Flicker-free TRIAC/ELV, 0-10V or Lutron
Hi-lume 1% dimming

•  50,000 hr lifetime at 70% lumen
maintenance

•  5 year limited warranty

PRODUCT SPECIFICATIONS

4” application shown

Dimmable 

50k

50000 hrs 
lifetime

5yr

Warranty UL listed for 
wet location 

Twist & lock 

Type LED2 - DMF-DRDH-R-4/ DRD2M-10-9-40/ DRD2T-R-4-S-W

DRDH-R-4/ DRD2M-10-9-40/ DRD2T-R-4-S-W LED2

steve.demarais
Highlight

steve.demarais
Highlight



DRD2
Recessed LED Downlight

General Remodel
4”, 5”, 6” Aperture

1118 E. 223rd St. Carson, CA 90745    T: 1.800.441.4422dmf Lighting®

www.dmflighting.com
Page 2 of 9 | V-08.15.17© 2017 DMF Lighting. All Rights Reserved. Specifications subject to change without notice. See website for U.S. and international patent information.

FRAME-IN KIT  ( Product Code Example: DRDHRIC4)

PRODUCT CODE APPLICATION IC/NON-IC APERTURE DRIVER

DRDH Housing R Remodel IC Insulation 
Contact

[Blank] Integrated TRIAC/ELV

7O 0-10V, 750 lm

10O 0-10V, 1000 lm

7C Lutron LDE11, 750 lm

10C Lutron LDE11, 1000 lm

7W Lutron L3DA3W2, 750 lm

10W Lutron L3DA3W2, 1000 lm

PRODUCT SELECTION GUIDE

TRIM  ( Product Code Example: DRD2TR4SWH)

PRODUCT CODE SHAPE APERTURE STYLE FINISH OPTION

DRD2T Trim 4 4” Aperture S Smooth [Blank] None

5 5” Aperture B Baffle DF Dead Front 
Only available in 
round shape, 4" 
aperture, smooth 
style; Compatible 
with 750 lm light 
engine only

6 6” Aperture W Wall Wash 
Only available 
in white finish

LIGHT ENGINE  ( Product Code Example: DRD2M7927)

PRODUCT CODE LUMENS (WATTS) CRI CCT DRIVER

DRD2M Module 7 750 lm (10.8W) 9 93+ CRI 27 2700K [Blank] Integrated TRIAC/ELV

10 1000 lm (12.8W) 30 3000K A Alternate Dimming 
Must be selected if 0-10V, Lutron Hi-Lume 1%  
or EM driver is selected for frame-in kit driver35 3500K

40 4000K

WH White

BK Black

SW Silver Reflector, 
White Flange

AZ Low Iridescent 
Reflector, White 
Flange 
Only available in 
deep shape

CC Custom Color

1 Lutron LDE1 Dimming refers to Lutron Hi-lume 1% EcoSystem LED driver with Soft-on, Fade-to-BlackTM

2 Lutron L3DAE Dimming refers to Lutron Hi-lume 1% 3-wire LED driver

4 4” Aperture

4S 4" Shallow 
Not compatible 
with Lutron  
Hi-Lume 1% 
driver

5 5” Aperture

6 6” Aperture

6S 6” Shallow

R Round

D Deep 
Only available 
in 6” aperture; 
smooth or baffle 
style; white, low 
iridescent or 
custom finish

steve.demarais
Highlight

steve.demarais
Highlight

steve.demarais
Highlight

steve.demarais
Highlight

steve.demarais
Highlight

steve.demarais
Highlight

steve.demarais
Highlight

steve.demarais
Highlight

steve.demarais
Highlight

steve.demarais
Highlight

steve.demarais
Highlight

steve.demarais
Highlight

steve.demarais
Highlight

steve.demarais
Highlight

steve.demarais
Highlight



DRD2
Recessed LED Downlight

General Remodel
4”, 5”, 6” Aperture

1118 E. 223rd St. Carson, CA 90745    T: 1.800.441.4422dmf Lighting®

www.dmflighting.com
Page 3 of 9 | V-08.15.17© 2017 DMF Lighting. All Rights Reserved. Specifications subject to change without notice. See website for U.S. and international patent information.

FR AME- IN  K IT  D IMENSIONS

DRDHRIC4  
4” Remodel IC Frame-in Kit

DRDHRIC4S  
4” Shallow Remodel IC Frame-in Kit

5"
127mm

43
16"

106mm

 61
4 "

159mm
 

 12"
305mm

 

 25
8"

67mm
 

TRIM

CEILING CUT OUT

5"
127mm

43
16"

106mm

 61
4 "

159mm
 

 12"
305mm

 

 25
8"

67mm
 

TRIM

CEILING CUT OUT

 215
16"

75mm
 

 41
4"

107mm
 

43
16"

106mm

 5"
127mm

 
CEILING CUT OUT

TRIM

 215
16"

75mm
 

 41
4"

107mm
 

43
16"

106mm

 5"
127mm

 
CEILING CUT OUT

TRIM



DRD2
Recessed LED Downlight

General Remodel
4”, 5”, 6” Aperture

1118 E. 223rd St. Carson, CA 90745    T: 1.800.441.4422dmf Lighting®

www.dmflighting.com
Page 4 of 9 | V-08.15.17© 2017 DMF Lighting. All Rights Reserved. Specifications subject to change without notice. See website for U.S. and international patent information.

FR AME- IN  K IT  D IMENSIONS

DRDHRIC6 
6” Remodel IC Frame-in Kit

DRDHRIC5  
5” Remodel IC Frame-in Kit

55
8"

143mm

61
2"

165mm

 145
16"

364mm
 

 13
4"

45mm
 

TRIM

CEILING CUT OUT

219mm
8 5

8"

162mm

71
2"

191mm

 87
16"

214mm
 

 153
8"

391mm
 

 13
4"

45mm
 

TRIM

CEILING CUT OUT

63
8"

162mm

71
2"

191mm

 87
16"

214mm
 

 153
8"

391mm
 

 13
4"

45mm
 

TRIM

CEILING CUT OUT

63
8"

55
8"

143mm

61
2"

165mm

 145
16"

364mm
 

 13
4"

45mm
 

TRIM

CEILING CUT OUT

219mm
8 5

8"



DRD2
Recessed LED Downlight

General Remodel
4”, 5”, 6” Aperture

1118 E. 223rd St. Carson, CA 90745    T: 1.800.441.4422dmf Lighting®

www.dmflighting.com
Page 5 of 9 | V-08.15.17© 2017 DMF Lighting. All Rights Reserved. Specifications subject to change without notice. See website for U.S. and international patent information.

FR AME- IN  K IT  D IMENSIONS

TRIM D IMENSIONS

DRD2TR4W 
4” Wall Wash Trim

DRD2TR4 
4” Round Trim

23
4"

70mm

5"
127mm

 1
8"

3mm
 

 
47mm

 17
8"

 11
16"

18mm
  23

4"
69mm

 

 27
16"

61mm
 

39
16"

91mm
5"

127mm

DRDHRIC6S  
6” Shallow Remodel IC Frame-in Kit

 155
16"

390mm
 

 13
4"

45mm
 

71
2"

191mm

 61
2"

165mm
 

TRIM

CEILING CUT OUT
162mm

63
8"

 155
16"

390mm
 

 13
4"

45mm
 

71
2"

191mm

 61
2"

165mm
 

TRIM

CEILING CUT OUT
162mm

63
8"



DRD2
Recessed LED Downlight

General Remodel
4”, 5”, 6” Aperture

1118 E. 223rd St. Carson, CA 90745    T: 1.800.441.4422dmf Lighting®

www.dmflighting.com
Page 6 of 9 | V-08.15.17© 2017 DMF Lighting. All Rights Reserved. Specifications subject to change without notice. See website for U.S. and international patent information.

DRD2TR5W  
5” Wall Wash Trim

DRD2TR5  
5” Round Trim

TRIM D IMENSIONS

 1
8"

3.31mm
 

 19
16"

40.08mm
 

61
2"

165.10mm

23
4"

70mm

 23
8"

60mm
 

 7
8"

23mm
  35

16"
84mm

 

5"
128mm

61
2"

165mm

DRD2TR6W  
6” Wall Wash Trim

DRD2TR6  
6” Round Trim

 1
8"

3mm
 

 19
16"

40mm
 

23
4"

70mm

71
2"

191mm

 23
8"

60mm
 

 7
8"

23mm
  313

16"
96mm

 

6"
153mm

71
2"

191mm



DRD2
Recessed LED Downlight

General Remodel
4”, 5”, 6” Aperture

1118 E. 223rd St. Carson, CA 90745    T: 1.800.441.4422dmf Lighting®

www.dmflighting.com
Page 7 of 9 | V-08.15.17© 2017 DMF Lighting. All Rights Reserved. Specifications subject to change without notice. See website for U.S. and international patent information.

TRIM D IMENSIONS

DRD2TD6  
6” Deep Trim

 1
16"

1mm
 

 35
8"

93mm
 

211
16"

68mm

7"
178mm

 1
16"

1mm
 

 35
8"

93mm
 

211
16"

68mm

7"
178mm

DRD2M 
LED Module

 37
8 "

98mm
 

 17
16"

37mm
 

L IGHT ENGINE OVERVIE W

DRD2M7 DRD2M10

Total Module Lumen Output (lm) 750 1000

Total Rated Power (W) 10.8 12.8

Efficacy (lm/W) 80 85

Color Rendering Index   93+

CCT Options 2700K, 3000K, 3500K, 4000K

Optics Flood

Binning 2-step SDCM

Lifetime (L70) 50,000 hours

Max Ambient Operating Temperature 40°C

Input Voltage (V) 120/277V, 50/60Hz

Input Current at 120V (Max) 0.090 0.107

Input Current at 277V (Max) 0.042 0.050

Power Factor >0.9

Total Harmonic Distortion <20%

Dimming 100% - 5%



DRD2
Recessed LED Downlight

General Remodel
4”, 5”, 6” Aperture

1118 E. 223rd St. Carson, CA 90745    T: 1.800.441.4422dmf Lighting®

www.dmflighting.com
Page 8 of 9 | V-08.15.17© 2017 DMF Lighting. All Rights Reserved. Specifications subject to change without notice. See website for U.S. and international patent information.

PHOTOME TRICS

Light Engine: DRD2M7930 (DRD2 Module, 750 lm, 93 CRI, 3000K)
Trim: DRD2TR6SWH (DRD2 Trim, 6” Aperture, Smooth, White)

C0 - C180 C90 - C270cd 799 lm

90˚

75˚

60˚

45˚

0º                                                15º                               30º

200

300

400

Light Engine: DRD2M10930 (DRD2 Module, 1000 lm, 93 CRI, 3000K)
Trim: DRD2TR6SWH (DRD2 Trim, 6” Aperture, Smooth, White)

C0 - C180 C90 - C270cd 1046 lm

90˚

75˚

60˚

45˚

200

300

400

 

500

0º                                                15º                               30º

Values in candela

Luminous Intensity

Beam Angle: 90°

Gamma C 0º

0.0º 406
5.0º 404

10.0º 400

15.0º 394

20.0º 386

25.0º 373

30.0º 351

35.0º 316

40.0º 265

45.0º 208

50.0º 154

55.0º 100

60.0º 55

65.0º 24

70.0º 8

75.0º 4

80.0º 1

85.0º 0

90.0º 0

Distance 
from LED Foot Candles Diameter

2.5’ 65 5.1’

5.0’ 16 10.1’

7.5’ 7 15.2’

9.0’ 5 18.3’

Zone Lumens Luminaire %
0-30 321 40

0-40 517 65

0-60 768 96

0-90 799 100

0-180 799 100

Zonal Lumen Summary

Illuminance Chart

Values in candela

Luminous Intensity

Beam Angle: 90°

Gamma C 0º

0.0º 540
5.0º 537

10.0º 531

15.0º 523

20.0º 510

25.0º 492

30.0º 461

35.0º 411

40.0º 342

45.0º 256

50.0º 172

55.0º 112

60.0º 74

65.0º 48

70.0º 27

75.0º 12

80.0º 6

85.0º 2

90.0º 0

Distance 
from LED Foot Candles Diameter

2.5’ 86 4.9’

5.0’ 22 9.7’

7.5’ 10 14.6’

9.0’ 7 17.5’

Zone Lumens Luminaire %
0-30 425 41

0-40 679 65

0-60 980 94

0-90 1046 100

0-180 1046 100

Zonal Lumen Summary

Illuminance Chart



DRD2
Recessed LED Downlight

General Remodel
4”, 5”, 6” Aperture

1118 E. 223rd St. Carson, CA 90745    T: 1.800.441.4422dmf Lighting®

www.dmflighting.com
Page 9 of 9 | V-08.15.17© 2017 DMF Lighting. All Rights Reserved. Specifications subject to change without notice. See website for U.S. and international patent information.

DIMMER COMPATIB IL IT Y

Brand Series Model Number Max Load
DRD2M7

Max Load
DRD2M10

Cooper Slide SLC03P, SAL06P 25 20

Legrand Harmony H703PTU, HCL453P 30 25

Leviton
IllumaTech Slide IPE04 25 20

SureSlide 6621, 6674 10 10

Diva DV-600 12 10

Maestro MA-600 12 9

Lutron
Maestro ELV MAELV-600, MSCELV-600 35 30

Maestro Wireless MRF2-6ND 12 10

Power Booster PHPM-PA, PHPM-WBX 25 20

Sunrise SR400RPC120, ZP260QEW 20 15

Watt Stopper
Digital Light Management LMRC-221 160 150

Dimming Sensor PW-100D 14 12

1 Dimmer compatibility reflects performance compatibility only. Please reference your local codes for application.

Brand Series Model Number Max Load
DRD2M7

Max Load
DRD2M10

Control 4 Control 4 C4-APD120 10 9

Cooper Decorator DLC03P, DAL06P 25 20

Legrand Adorne ADTP703TU 35 30

Caseta PD-6WCL 12 10

CL Series AYCL-153, CTCL-153, DVCL-153, LGCL-513, SCL-153, TGCL-513 12 10

CL Series AYCL-253, DVCL-253 20 15

Grafik Eye 3000 QSGR-3P 30 25

Lutron Grafik Sys / Homeworks RPM-4A 25 20

Grafik Sys / Homeworks RPM-4U 30 25

Maestro CL MACL-153M, MSCL-OP153M, MSCL-VP153M 12 10

Maestro Wireless MRF2-6ELV, MRF2-6CL 12 10

Radio RA RRD-6NA, RRD-6CL, RRD-6D 12 10

Recommended Phase-control Dimmers (Dims down to 5% nominal measured light output)

Compatible Phase-control Dimmers1 (Dims down to 20% nominal measured light output)



mschwarz
Received



GENERAL CONTRACTOR:

CLIENT:

SHEET NO.

SHEET TITLE:

PROJECT NUMBER:
DRAWN BY: REVIEWED BY:

REVISIONS:
# DESCRIPTION DATE

Copyright 2023
KORU Group, PLLC

The drawings and the contents herein are the sole property
of Koru Group, PLLC and no portion of any may be printed
or copied without the express permission of this office.

Koru Group, PLLC
2135 CityGate Lane, STE 330

Naperville, IL. 60563

SI
TE

 C
IV

IL 
PL

AN
S:

VI
LL

AG
E 

OF
 F

RA
NK

FO
RT

, IL

CONSULTING  ENGINEER:

23005
DJK SRK

© 

C0.1

COVER SHEET

SITE CIVIL PLANS

SPECIAL LAND USE & SITE PLAN REVIEW
FRANKFORT, IL

AutoCAD SHX Text
COVER SHEET & INDEX

AutoCAD SHX Text
C0.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
C1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWINGS INDEX

AutoCAD SHX Text
SITE PLAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DUNKIN' KRUPA SHAH 9500 179TH STREET TINLEY PARK, IL 60487

AutoCAD SHX Text
1/12/24

AutoCAD SHX Text
1/12/24

AutoCAD SHX Text
1/12/24

AutoCAD SHX Text
1/12/24

AutoCAD SHX Text
1/12/24

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING CONDITIONS & DEMOLITION PLAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
C0.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
1/12/24

AutoCAD SHX Text
1/12/24

AutoCAD SHX Text
1/12/24

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROJECT TEAM

AutoCAD SHX Text
ILLINOIS DOT HOWARD HAMILTON  HOWARD.J.HAMILTON@ILLINOIS.GOV

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPERTY DESCRIPTION

AutoCAD SHX Text
US RT 45

AutoCAD SHX Text
KORU GROUP ERIC CARLSON, AIA ERIC@KORUGROUP.COM STEVE KUDWA, P.E. . STEVE@KORUGROUP.COM DAVE KUDWA, P.E. . DAVE@KORUGROUP.COM

AutoCAD SHX Text
VILLAGE OF FRANKFORT MIKE SCHWARZ MSCHWARZ@FRANKFORTIL.ORG

AutoCAD SHX Text
C2.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRADING PLAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
C2.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
STORMWATER BASIN CALCULATIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text
L1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
LANDSCAPE PLAN - SHEET 2

AutoCAD SHX Text
SITE

AutoCAD SHX Text
BEFORE YOU DIG

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOCATIONS OF FIBEROPTIC CABLES.

AutoCAD SHX Text
J.U.L.I.E. DOES NOT MARK THESE

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOCATIONS.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONTRACTORS SHALL CALL J.U.L.I.E.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BEFORE START OF CONSTRUCTION.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CALL LOCAL AMERITECH OFFICE FOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sat., Sun. &

AutoCAD SHX Text
Call 48 hours

AutoCAD SHX Text
before you dig  

AutoCAD SHX Text
Holidays)

AutoCAD SHX Text
(Excluding

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
9

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
-

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
WARNING CALL

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
U

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
J

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
24 hours a day

AutoCAD SHX Text
365 days a year)

AutoCAD SHX Text
(Operates

AutoCAD SHX Text
I HEREBY CERTIFY THAT THESE PLANS WERE PREPARED UNDER MY SUPERVISION AND TO THE BEST OF MY KNOWLEDGE COMPLY WITH THE CODES AND ORDINANCES OF THE VILLAGE OF FRANKFORT. 

AutoCAD SHX Text
LICENSED ENGINEER # 062-054950

AutoCAD SHX Text
Steven R. Kudwa, P.E.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SS.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATED THIS___________ DAY OF ___________________, 2021

AutoCAD SHX Text
STATE REGISTRATION NUMBER

AutoCAD SHX Text
________________________________

AutoCAD SHX Text
    ILLINOIS REGISTERED PROFESSIONAL ENGINEER

AutoCAD SHX Text
____________________________

AutoCAD SHX Text
COUNTY OF WILL

AutoCAD SHX Text
STATE OF ILLINOIS

AutoCAD SHX Text
I, Steve Kudwa, hereby certify that adequate storm water storage and drainage capacity has been provided for this development, such that surface water from the development will not be diverted onto and cause damage to adjacent property for storms up to and including the one hundred (100) year event, and the design plans are in compliance with all applicable federal, state, county, and village laws and ordinances.

AutoCAD SHX Text
062-054950

AutoCAD SHX Text
AERIAL MAP

AutoCAD SHX Text
US RT 45

AutoCAD SHX Text
SITE

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOCATION MAP

AutoCAD SHX Text
GARY R. WEBER ASSOCIATES DOUG SHANNON DSHANNON@GRWAINC.COM

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAINAGE OVERLAY CERTIFICATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
C3.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
UTILITY PLAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
L1.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
LANDSCAPE PLAN - SHEET 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
C1.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
SITE ACCESS PLAN & TRUCK TURNING

AutoCAD SHX Text
1/12/24

AutoCAD SHX Text
1/12/24

AutoCAD SHX Text
C5.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
PHOTOMETRIC PLAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
1/12/24

AutoCAD SHX Text
SP-1.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
SITE PLAN DETAILS

AutoCAD SHX Text
1/12/24

AutoCAD SHX Text
SP-1.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
SITE PLAN DETAILS

AutoCAD SHX Text
1/12/24

AutoCAD SHX Text
L1.4

AutoCAD SHX Text
LANDSCAPE PLAN - SHEET 4

AutoCAD SHX Text
1/12/24

AutoCAD SHX Text
L1.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
LANDSCAPE PLAN - SHEET 3

mschwarz
Received



31
2 L

.F 
OF

 SA
WC

UT
 AN

D
CU

RB
 AN

D 
GU

TT
ER

RE
MO

VA
L

400 S.F. OF SIDEWALK
REMOVAL

950 L.F. OF SAWCUT AND
6400 S.F. OF MEDIAN REMOVAL

WW

1.  ALL SEWERS WHICH ARE TO BE ABANDONED SHALL BE REMOVED AND REPLACED WITH APPROVED TRENCH BACKFILL (CA-7) AND
COMPACTED TO 95% MODIFIED PROCTOR IF LOCATED IN FUTURE BUILDING AREAS OR 90% IN ANY OTHER LOCATION. PLUGS SHALL
BE ON BOTH ENDS OF PIPE FOR A DISTANCE OF 2' AND BE MADE OF NON-SHRINK CONCRETE CONCRETE OR MORTAR.

2.  CONTRACTOR SHALL FIELD VERIFY ALL EXISTING CONDITIONS PRIOR TO DEMOLITION AND NOTIFY ENGINEER OF ANY
DISCREPANCIES OR POTENTIAL CONFLICTS BETWEEN EXISTING CONDITIONS AND PROPOSED DESIGN.

3.  ALL EXCESS MATERIAL SHALL BE HAULED OFFSITE AND DISPOSED OF PROPERLY.  DEMOLITION DEBRIS SHALL NOT BE BURIED ON
SITE UNLESS SOIL ENGINEER HAS APPROVED AS ALLOWABLE BACKFILL.

4.  DEMOLITION CONTRACTOR SHALL CALL J.U.L.I.E. PRIOR TO ANY DEMOLITION WORK.

5.  ALL UTILITIES TO BE ABANDONED SHALL BE CAPPED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE REQUIREMENTS OF THE APPROPRIATE UTILITY
COMPANIES AND THE GOVERNING MUNICIPALITY.

6.  TRAFFIC CONTROL FOR WORK IN THE RIGHT-OF-WAY SHALL MEET I.D.O.T. STANDARDS PER SECTION 700, STANDARD
SPECIFICATIONS FOR ROAD AND BRIDGE CONSTRUCTION. (AS ADAPTED 2012)

7.  CONTRACTOR MUST BARRICADE (INCLUDING WARNING LIGHTS) ALL OPEN EXCAVATIONS TO PREVENT VEHICULAR AND PEDESTRIAN
TRAFFIC FROM ENTERING THE AREA.

8.  ALL EXCAVATIONS TO BE FILLED IN 9" LIFTS WITH APPROVED ENGINEERED BACKFILL AND COMPACTED TO 95% MODIFIED PROCTOR.

9.  EXCAVATION CONTRACTOR SHALL GRADE SITE IN ORDER TO PROVIDE FULL PAVEMENT SECTION PER PAVEMENT DETAIL.

10.  A CONSTRUCTION SCHEDULE SHALL BE COORDINATED WITH ALL ADJACENT PROPERTY OWNERS TO MAINTAIN CONTINUOUS
ACCESS TO ALL EXISTING DRIVEWAYS.

11.  ALL MUD SHALL BE REMOVED FROM ALL CONSTRUCTION VEHICLES PRIOR TO EXITING THE CONSTRUCTION SITE.  ANY DIRT AND
DEBRIS DEPOSITED ON THE ADJACENT ROADWAYS SHALL BE IMMEDIATELY REMOVED FROM SAID ADJACENT ROADWAYS.

12.  ALL MANHOLES TO BE ABANDONED SHALL HAVE THE CONE REMOVED AND BACKFILLED PER THE REQUIREMENTS OF THE
APPROPRIATE UTILITY COMPANY AND THE GOVERNING MUNICIPALITY.

13.  DEMOLITION OF ALL UTILITIES (INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO GAS, ELECTRIC, TELEPHONE AND CABLE) SHALL BE COORDINATED
WITH THE GOVERNING MUNICIPALITY AND THE UTILITY COMPANIES.

14.  EXCAVATE ALL EXISTING LANDSCAPE AREAS, INCLUDING PARKWAYS, TO FULL PAVEMENT DESIGN DEPTH FOR NEW
CONSTRUCTION.

15.  CONTRACTOR WILL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR REMOVAL OF ALL VISIBLE AND UNDERGROUND IMPROVEMENTS INCLUDING BUT NOT
LIMITED TO ITEMS SHOWN ON THESE PLANS.

16.  GROUND IS TO BE GRADED TO HAVE POSITIVE DRAINAGE AND SEEDED OR IMMEDIATE CONSTRUCTION OF THE NEW BUILDING.

OH-ELECOHL

EE

TT

GG

XX

SHEET NO.

SHEET TITLE:

PROJECT NUMBER:
DRAWN BY: REVIEWED BY:

REVISIONS:
# DESCRIPTION DATE

Copyright 2023
KORU Group, PLLC

The drawings and the contents herein are the sole property
of Koru Group, PLLC and no portion of any may be printed
or copied without the express permission of this office.

Koru Group, PLLC
2135 CityGate Lane, STE 330

Naperville, IL. 60563

REVISIONS PER VILLAGE COMMENTS1-12-24

23022
DJK SRK

© 

REVISIONS PER VILLAGE COMMENTS11-14-23

VILLAGE REVIEW SET 9-1-23

VI
LL

AG
E 

OF
 F

RA
NK

FO
RT

, IL

SI
TE

 C
IV

IL 
PL

AN
S 

FO
R:

C0.2

EXISTING CONDITIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text
Fire Hydrant

AutoCAD SHX Text
TO BE REMOVED

AutoCAD SHX Text
TO REMAIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
>

AutoCAD SHX Text
)

AutoCAD SHX Text
>

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sanitary Manhole

AutoCAD SHX Text
Watermain

AutoCAD SHX Text
Storm Sewer

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sanitary Sewer

AutoCAD SHX Text
Curb & Gutter

AutoCAD SHX Text
Valve Vault/B-Box

AutoCAD SHX Text
Storm Manhole

AutoCAD SHX Text
693

AutoCAD SHX Text
Contour

AutoCAD SHX Text
Utility Pole

AutoCAD SHX Text
Trees

AutoCAD SHX Text
SITE DEMOLITION LEGEND

AutoCAD SHX Text
Concrete

AutoCAD SHX Text
)

AutoCAD SHX Text
Storm Inlet

AutoCAD SHX Text
Street Light

AutoCAD SHX Text
Telephone

AutoCAD SHX Text
SITE DEMOLITION NOTES

AutoCAD SHX Text
Overhead Electric

AutoCAD SHX Text
Electric

AutoCAD SHX Text
Telephone

AutoCAD SHX Text
Gas

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sign

AutoCAD SHX Text
Fence

AutoCAD SHX Text
Vegetation Removal

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
16

AutoCAD SHX Text
32

AutoCAD SHX Text
24

AutoCAD SHX Text
40

AutoCAD SHX Text
60

AutoCAD SHX Text
80

AutoCAD SHX Text
120

AutoCAD SHX Text
Scale 1"=40'

AutoCAD SHX Text
160

AutoCAD SHX Text
>

AutoCAD SHX Text
>

AutoCAD SHX Text
Concrete Removal



32
'

R29.5'

9'

18'

9'9' (TY
P)

9' 4'

103'
27.2'

10
2'

26.3'
18'

26'

5' 11
'

18'
9.5

'

4'

R18.
5'

R5'

9'

26
'

18
'

18
'

7'

5.7
'

22' 15'

9'

45°'

23.3
'

90

45°'

13.7
'

5'

12
'

15
'

9'

3.2
4'

17
'

9'

9'

18'

23.3'

7'

26
'

9'

STOP SIGN
TRUNCATED DOME

STOP BAR

8

10

9

9

6 8

84 4

5

R28.5' R26.
5'

RETAINING WALL W/ HANDRAIL
LENGTH:  105'
MAX. TOP ELEV:  685.00'
MIN. BOTTOM ELEV: 679.00'

14' x 26'
ENCLOSED
DUMPSTER

PROP. GUARD RAIL (TYP.)

"DO NOT ENTER" SIGN

"DO NOT ENTER" SIGN

"ENTERING ONE-WAY
TRAFFIC" SIGN

36" HIGH, BLACK,
ALUMINUM RAILING

36" HIGH, BLACK,
ALUMINUM RAILING

10'

DESIGNATED
10' CLEAR
ZONE

5.5'

7'

12
.5'

6'

RETAINING WALL W/ HANDRAIL
LENGTH:  304'
MAX. TOP ELEV:  693.40'
MIN. BOTTOM ELEV: 686.00'

RETAINING WALL W/ HANDRAIL
LENGTH:  227'
MAX. TOP ELEV:  699.00'
MIN. BOTTOM ELEV: 689.50'

5'

PLANTATION PRESTIGE
SQUARE TABLE AND

SIDE CHAIR

8" SPEAKER
BOLLARD WITH 2-8"
TRAFFIC BOLLARDS

SHEET NO.

SHEET TITLE:

PROJECT NUMBER:
DRAWN BY: REVIEWED BY:

REVISIONS:
# DESCRIPTION DATE

Copyright 2023
KORU Group, PLLC

The drawings and the contents herein are the sole property
of Koru Group, PLLC and no portion of any may be printed
or copied without the express permission of this office.

Koru Group, PLLC
2135 CityGate Lane, STE 330

Naperville, IL. 60563

REVISIONS PER VILLAGE COMMENTS1-12-24

23022
DJK SRK

© 

REVISIONS PER VILLAGE COMMENTS11-14-23

VILLAGE REVIEW SET 9-1-23

VI
LL

AG
E 

OF
 F

RA
NK

FO
RT

, IL

SI
TE

 C
IV

IL 
PL

AN
S 

FO
R:

C1.0

SITE PLAN

1.  ALL DIMENSIONS ARE BACK OF CURB UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED.

2.  ALL CURB RADII ARE BACK OF CURB UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED.

3.  CONTRACTOR TO VERIFY DIMENSIONS PRIOR TO STARTING WORK AND NOTIFY ENGINEER IF ANY
DISCREPANCIES ARE FOUND.

4.  SIDEWALK AROUND PERIMETER OF BUILDING SHALL BE WALK/PAVEMENT UNLESS OTHERWISE
SPECIFIED ON PLANS.

5.  CONTRACTOR WILL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR REPAIRING ALL EXISTING PAVEMENT DAMAGED
DURING CONSTRUCTION.

6.  SEE DETAILS FOR BITUMINOUS AND CONCRETE PAVEMENT SECTIONS.

7.  CONTRACTOR TO PROVIDE TEMPORARY TRAFFIC CONTROL MEASURES DURING CONSTRUCTION
OF ENTRANCE IN ACCORDANCE WITH IDOT STANDARDS.

8.  ADA HANDICAP RAMPS SHALL BE INSTALLED AT ALL LOCATIONS DELINEATED ON PLANS AS WELL
AS AT ALL LOCATIONS WHERE SIDEWALK ABUTS DRIVES OR ROADWAYS.

9. CONTRACTOR SHALL COMPARE ARCHITECTURAL AND ENGINEERING PLANS FOR INTERFACE
COMPATIBILITY.

10. ALL CURB AND GUTTER SHALL BE B6:12 UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED ON PLANS.

11. PAVEMENT STRIPING TO BE WHITE, TWO COATS UNLESS OTHERWISE SPECIFIED ON PLANS.

PROPOSED USE: RESTAURANT WITH DRIVE THRU, RETAIL

ZONING DESIGNATION: B-2 COMMUNITY BUSINESS DISTRICT

PARCEL AREA:  5.93 ACRES

DEVELOPMENT AREA:  2.2 ACRES±

PARKING PROVIDED:  71 SPACES

BUILDING AREA: 8,625 SQ.FT.

FLOOR AREA RATIO:  0.033

EXISTING CURB & GUTTER

PROPOSED CURB & GUTTER

CONCRETE SURFACE

BRICK SURFACE

ASPHALT SURFACE

DETENTION BASINS

PROPOSED RETAINING WALL

BUILDING

LOADING ZONE (12'X50')

UNIVERSAL PARKING SPACE 

DUNKIN' BRAND PAVEMENT MARKINGS 

DUNKIN' BRAND MENU PANEL 

DUNKIN' BRAND HEIGHT BAR 

8PARKING SPACE COUNT

STOP SIGN, STOP BAR, AND SAFETY
SCHOOL CROSSING
PER IDOT STANDARDS

TRUNCATED DOME PANELS

MONUMENT SIGN
LANDSCAPE AREAS

78
1

orange umbrella

OUTDOOR SEATING
LIGHT POLES

AutoCAD SHX Text
STORMWATER BASIN (WETLAND BOTTOM)

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED BUILDING FF: 687.50 (115' x 75') 8,625 sqft  71 SPACES

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
680

AutoCAD SHX Text
675

AutoCAD SHX Text
675

AutoCAD SHX Text
680

AutoCAD SHX Text
680

AutoCAD SHX Text
680

AutoCAD SHX Text
685

AutoCAD SHX Text
685

AutoCAD SHX Text
690

AutoCAD SHX Text
690

AutoCAD SHX Text
690

AutoCAD SHX Text
695

AutoCAD SHX Text
695

AutoCAD SHX Text
700

AutoCAD SHX Text
700

AutoCAD SHX Text
SITE  NOTES

AutoCAD SHX Text
SITE  ANALYSIS

AutoCAD SHX Text
24

AutoCAD SHX Text
18

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
12

AutoCAD SHX Text
45

AutoCAD SHX Text
30

AutoCAD SHX Text
60

AutoCAD SHX Text
90

AutoCAD SHX Text
Scale 1"=30'

AutoCAD SHX Text
120

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEGEND 

http://www.adrus.com/extranet/csxEquipment/EquipmentSpecifications/Specifications/csx_781.pdf
AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
A202

AutoCAD SHX Text
#5 DOWELS @ 24" o.c. MUST EXTEND INTO WALL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
8" THICK CONC. STEM WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text
PAINT INTERIOR FACE OF CMU

AutoCAD SHX Text
B/FND EL: MIN. -3'-6" BELOW GRADE

AutoCAD SHX Text
THIN BRICK VENEER OVER CMU W/ LATICRETE  "MVIS MORTAR" OR EQUAL THIN BRICK MANUF.  APPROVED MORTAR. PAINTED BRICK TO MATCH BUILDING.

AutoCAD SHX Text
T/ MASONRY +6'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARKING LOT  PER CIVIL

AutoCAD SHX Text
T/ FOUNDATION +0'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
#5  @ 16" o.c.- 48" LONG, 24" INTO WALL AND 24" INTO SLAB

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"x8"x16" UNIT PAINTED w/ HORIZ. JOINT REINF. @ 16" o.c. (GROUTED CELLS)

AutoCAD SHX Text
PREFINISHED METAL COPING (COLOR TO MATCH BUILDING) 

AutoCAD SHX Text
#5 BARS @ 24" o.c. VERT IN GROUTED CELLS

AutoCAD SHX Text
(2) #4 BARS CONT. IN BOND AT TOP

AutoCAD SHX Text
B/ THIN BRICK MIN. 2" ABV PAVING PAINT EXPOSED CMU TO MATCH BRICK

AutoCAD SHX Text
(2) #4 BARS CONT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
(2) #5 BARS CONT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SLAB PER FOUNDATION PLAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE:

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRASH ENCLOSURE ELEVATIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text
NTS

AutoCAD SHX Text
PAINT BASE CMU.

AutoCAD SHX Text
T/ MASONRY

AutoCAD SHX Text
+6'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE:

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRASH ENCLOSURE PLAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
1/4" = 1'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE:

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRASH ENCLOSURE SECTION

AutoCAD SHX Text
NTS



SHEET NO.

SHEET TITLE:

PROJECT NUMBER:
DRAWN BY: REVIEWED BY:

REVISIONS:
# DESCRIPTION DATE

Copyright 2023
KORU Group, PLLC

The drawings and the contents herein are the sole property
of Koru Group, PLLC and no portion of any may be printed
or copied without the express permission of this office.

Koru Group, PLLC
2135 CityGate Lane, STE 330

Naperville, IL. 60563

REVISIONS PER VILLAGE COMMENTS11-14-23

REVISIONS PER VILLAGE COMMENTS1-12-24

REVISIONS PER VILLAGE COMMENTS1-18-24

23022
DJK SRK

© 

REVISIONS PER IDOT COMMENTS 9-28-23

VILLAGE REVIEW SET 9-1-23

20
40

0 L
A 

GR
AN

GE
 R

OA
D

FR
AN

KF
OR

T, IL

SI
TE

 C
IV

IL 
PL

AN
S 

FO
R:

C1.1

ACCESS DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED BUILDING FF: 687.50 (115' x 75') 8,625 sqft  71 SPACES

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED BUILDING FF: 687.50 (115' x 75') 8,625 sqft  71 SPACES

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOCATION MAP

AutoCAD SHX Text
VEHICLE TRACKING - S-BUS 40 (MIN. 60' TURNING RADIUS)

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE: 1'=50'

AutoCAD SHX Text
DELIVERY VEHICLE TRACKING - WB-40

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE: 1'=50'

AutoCAD SHX Text
ACCESS DRIVE GEOMETRICS

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE: 1'=50'

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRIVEWAY APRON - ASCENDING APPROACH

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE: NTS

AutoCAD SHX Text
IDOT PEDESTRIAN CROSSING DETAIL

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE: NTS



694
695

696 697 698

701
700

699
695
694

693692

684
683

681

698 696 694

680

681
682

683

680
681

682
683

683
682

681

68
1

68
2

68
3

681
682

683

685
686

687
688

689

685

691
690 689

688

687

68
6

68
7

68
8

68
7

68
8

68
8

68
7

68
5

68
0

67
9

677 678

684
684

680

679

680

679

679

679

695

68
4

EXISTING CURB & GUTTER

PROPOSED CURB & GUTTER

CONCRETE SURFACE

BRICK SURFACE

ASPHALT SURFACE

DETENTION BASINS

PROPOSED RETAINING WALL

BUILDING

LOADING ZONE (12'X50')

UNIVERSAL PARKING SPACE 

690PROPOSED CONTOUR LINE

STOP SIGN, STOP BAR, AND SAFETY
SCHOOL CROSSING
PER IDOT STANDARDS

TRUNCATED DOME PANELS

MONUMENT SIGN

LANDSCAPE AREAS

SHEET NO.

SHEET TITLE:

PROJECT NUMBER:
DRAWN BY: REVIEWED BY:

REVISIONS:
# DESCRIPTION DATE

Copyright 2023
KORU Group, PLLC

The drawings and the contents herein are the sole property
of Koru Group, PLLC and no portion of any may be printed
or copied without the express permission of this office.

Koru Group, PLLC
2135 CityGate Lane, STE 330

Naperville, IL. 60563

REVISIONS PER VILLAGE COMMENTS11-14-23

REVISIONS PER VILLAGE COMMENTS1-12-24

23022
DJK SRK

© 

REVISIONS PER COMMENTS 9-28-23

VILLAGE REVIEW SET 9-1-23

20
40

0 L
A 

GR
AN

GE
 R

OA
D

FR
AN

KF
OR

T, IL

SI
TE

 C
IV

IL 
PL

AN
S 

FO
R:

C2.1

STORMWATER BASIN

PAVEMENT GRADE 475.00

EMERGENCY OVERFLOW

FLOW DIRECTION

RIDGELINE

EXISTING CONTOUR LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED BUILDING FF: 687.50 (115' x 75') 8,625 sqft  71 SPACES

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPERTY LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPERTY LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRIBUTARY AREA #1 TOTAL AREA = 0.06 AC IMPERVIOUS AREA = 0.06 (C=0.95)  PERVIOUS AREA = 0.00 (C=0.45)  COMPOSITE C = 0.95                                                        

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRIBUTARY AREA #4 AREA = 0.35 AC IMPERVIOUS AREA = 0.22 (C=0.95)  PERVIOUS AREA = 0.13 (C=0.45)  COMPOSITE C = 0.76                                                         

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRIBUTARY AREA #5 AREA = 0.49 AC IMPERVIOUS AREA = 0.44 (C=0.95)  PERVIOUS AREA = 0.05 (C=0.45)  COMPOSITE C = 0.90                                                         

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRIBUTARY AREA #6 AREA = 0.26 AC IMPERVIOUS AREA = 0.26 (C=0.95)  PERVIOUS AREA = 0.00 (C=0.45)  COMPOSITE C = 0.95                                                         

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRIBUTARY AREA #2 AREA = 0.08 AC IMPERVIOUS AREA = 0.06 (C=0.95)  PERVIOUS AREA = 0.02 (C=0.45)  COMPOSITE C = 0.83                                                         

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRIBUTARY AREA #3 AREA = 0.32 AC IMPERVIOUS AREA = 0.23 (C=0.95)  PERVIOUS AREA = 0.09 (C=0.45)  COMPOSITE C = 0.81                                                         

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRIBUTARY AREA #7  AREA = 0.63 AC IMPERVIOUS AREA = 0.19 AC (C=0.95)  PERVIOUS AREA = 0.44 AC (C=0.45)  COMPOSITE C = 0.60                                                         

AutoCAD SHX Text
24

AutoCAD SHX Text
18

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
12

AutoCAD SHX Text
45

AutoCAD SHX Text
30

AutoCAD SHX Text
60

AutoCAD SHX Text
90

AutoCAD SHX Text
Scale 1"=30'

AutoCAD SHX Text
120

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEGEND 

AutoCAD SHX Text
690

AutoCAD SHX Text
RUNOFF VOLUME CALCULATIONS TOTAL DEVELOPED SITE AREA = 2.19 AC STORMWATER BASIN TRIBUTARY AREA = 2.19 AC IMPERVIOUS AREA = 1.46 AC (C=0.95)  PERVIOUS AREA = 0.73 AC (C=0.45)  COMPOSITE C = 0.78 2-YR VOLUME FACTOR = 0.18 100-YR VOLUME FACTOR = 0.50 2-YR STORM VOLUME = 0.39 AC-FT = 16,988 CU.FT. 100-YR STORM VOLUME = 1.10 AC-FT = 47,916 CU.FT. PROPOSED 2-YR BASIN STORAGE 0.40 AC-FT= 17,220 CU.FT. (2-YR WL=681.00') PROPOSED 100-YR BASIN STORAGE = 1.10 AC-FT = 47,905 CU.FT. (100-YR WL=683.05') ALLOWABLE 2-YR STORAGE RELEASE RATE = (0.04 CFS/AC)*(2.19 AC) = 0.09 CFS  ALLOWABLE 100-YR STORAGE RELEASE RATE = (0.15 CFS/AC)*(2.19 AC) = 0.33 CFS

AutoCAD SHX Text
STAGE STORAGE TABLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
ELEV

AutoCAD SHX Text
AREA (sq. ft.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
DEPTH (ft)

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONIC INC. VOL. (cu. ft.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONIC TOTAL VOL. (cu. ft.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
679.500

AutoCAD SHX Text
8,272.09

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.00

AutoCAD SHX Text
679.600

AutoCAD SHX Text
8,583.56

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.100

AutoCAD SHX Text
842.73

AutoCAD SHX Text
842.73

AutoCAD SHX Text
679.700

AutoCAD SHX Text
8,903.38

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.100

AutoCAD SHX Text
874.30

AutoCAD SHX Text
1717.03

AutoCAD SHX Text
679.800

AutoCAD SHX Text
9,227.13

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.100

AutoCAD SHX Text
906.48

AutoCAD SHX Text
2623.51

AutoCAD SHX Text
679.900

AutoCAD SHX Text
9,554.77

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.100

AutoCAD SHX Text
939.05

AutoCAD SHX Text
3562.56

AutoCAD SHX Text
680.000

AutoCAD SHX Text
9,888.27

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.100

AutoCAD SHX Text
972.10

AutoCAD SHX Text
4534.66

AutoCAD SHX Text
680.100

AutoCAD SHX Text
10,219.08

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.100

AutoCAD SHX Text
1005.32

AutoCAD SHX Text
5539.98

AutoCAD SHX Text
680.200

AutoCAD SHX Text
10,558.81

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.100

AutoCAD SHX Text
1038.85

AutoCAD SHX Text
6578.83

AutoCAD SHX Text
680.300

AutoCAD SHX Text
10,902.20

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.100

AutoCAD SHX Text
1073.00

AutoCAD SHX Text
7651.84

AutoCAD SHX Text
680.400

AutoCAD SHX Text
11,249.31

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.100

AutoCAD SHX Text
1107.53

AutoCAD SHX Text
8759.37

AutoCAD SHX Text
680.500

AutoCAD SHX Text
11,599.85

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.100

AutoCAD SHX Text
1142.41

AutoCAD SHX Text
9901.78

AutoCAD SHX Text
680.600

AutoCAD SHX Text
11,953.91

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.100

AutoCAD SHX Text
1177.64

AutoCAD SHX Text
11079.42

AutoCAD SHX Text
680.700

AutoCAD SHX Text
12,311.61

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.100

AutoCAD SHX Text
1213.23

AutoCAD SHX Text
12292.66

AutoCAD SHX Text
680.800

AutoCAD SHX Text
12,673.01

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.100

AutoCAD SHX Text
1249.19

AutoCAD SHX Text
13541.84

AutoCAD SHX Text
680.900

AutoCAD SHX Text
13,038.08

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.100

AutoCAD SHX Text
1285.51

AutoCAD SHX Text
14827.36

AutoCAD SHX Text
681.000

AutoCAD SHX Text
13,413.14

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.100

AutoCAD SHX Text
1322.52

AutoCAD SHX Text
16149.87

AutoCAD SHX Text
681.100

AutoCAD SHX Text
13,593.56

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.100

AutoCAD SHX Text
1350.32

AutoCAD SHX Text
17500.20

AutoCAD SHX Text
681.200

AutoCAD SHX Text
13,782.66

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.100

AutoCAD SHX Text
1368.80

AutoCAD SHX Text
18869.00

AutoCAD SHX Text
681.300

AutoCAD SHX Text
13,972.59

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.100

AutoCAD SHX Text
1387.75

AutoCAD SHX Text
20256.75

AutoCAD SHX Text
681.400

AutoCAD SHX Text
14,163.34

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.100

AutoCAD SHX Text
1406.79

AutoCAD SHX Text
21663.53

AutoCAD SHX Text
681.500

AutoCAD SHX Text
14,354.92

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.100

AutoCAD SHX Text
1425.90

AutoCAD SHX Text
23089.44

AutoCAD SHX Text
681.600

AutoCAD SHX Text
14,547.13

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.100

AutoCAD SHX Text
1445.09

AutoCAD SHX Text
24534.53

AutoCAD SHX Text
681.700

AutoCAD SHX Text
14,740.05

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.100

AutoCAD SHX Text
1464.35

AutoCAD SHX Text
25998.88

AutoCAD SHX Text
681.800

AutoCAD SHX Text
14,933.85

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.100

AutoCAD SHX Text
1483.68

AutoCAD SHX Text
27482.56

AutoCAD SHX Text
681.900

AutoCAD SHX Text
15,128.48

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.100

AutoCAD SHX Text
1503.11

AutoCAD SHX Text
28985.67

AutoCAD SHX Text
682.000

AutoCAD SHX Text
15,327.29

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.100

AutoCAD SHX Text
1522.78

AutoCAD SHX Text
30508.44

AutoCAD SHX Text
682.100

AutoCAD SHX Text
15,519.99

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.100

AutoCAD SHX Text
1542.35

AutoCAD SHX Text
32050.80

AutoCAD SHX Text
682.200

AutoCAD SHX Text
15,719.09

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.100

AutoCAD SHX Text
1561.94

AutoCAD SHX Text
33612.74

AutoCAD SHX Text
682.300

AutoCAD SHX Text
15,918.93

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.100

AutoCAD SHX Text
1581.89

AutoCAD SHX Text
35194.63

AutoCAD SHX Text
682.400

AutoCAD SHX Text
16,119.53

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.100

AutoCAD SHX Text
1601.91

AutoCAD SHX Text
36796.54

AutoCAD SHX Text
682.500

AutoCAD SHX Text
16,320.78

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.100

AutoCAD SHX Text
1622.00

AutoCAD SHX Text
38418.55

AutoCAD SHX Text
682.600

AutoCAD SHX Text
16,522.48

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.100

AutoCAD SHX Text
1642.15

AutoCAD SHX Text
40060.70

AutoCAD SHX Text
682.700

AutoCAD SHX Text
16,724.88

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.100

AutoCAD SHX Text
1662.36

AutoCAD SHX Text
41723.06

AutoCAD SHX Text
682.800

AutoCAD SHX Text
16,928.01

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.100

AutoCAD SHX Text
1682.63

AutoCAD SHX Text
43405.69

AutoCAD SHX Text
682.900

AutoCAD SHX Text
17,131.89

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.100

AutoCAD SHX Text
1702.98

AutoCAD SHX Text
45108.68

AutoCAD SHX Text
683.000

AutoCAD SHX Text
17,341.65

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.100

AutoCAD SHX Text
1723.67

AutoCAD SHX Text
46832.35

AutoCAD SHX Text
683.100

AutoCAD SHX Text
17,543.31

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.100

AutoCAD SHX Text
1744.24

AutoCAD SHX Text
48576.58

AutoCAD SHX Text
683.200

AutoCAD SHX Text
17,751.89

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.100

AutoCAD SHX Text
1764.75

AutoCAD SHX Text
50341.33



694
695

696 697 698

701
700

699
695
694

693692

684
683

681

698 696 694

680

681
682

683

680
681

682
683

683
682

681

68
1

68
2

68
3

681
682

683

685
686

687
688

689

685

691
690 689

688

687

68
6

68
7

68
8

68
7

68
8

68
8

68
7

5:1

5:15:1

5:1

5:1

5:1

4:1

4:1

4:1

4:1

4:1

4:1

4:1 4:1

5:1

5:1 NORMAL WATER
LEVEL: 679.50'

2-YR WATER
LEVEL:
680.83'

HIGH WATER
LEVEL: 683.21'

68
5

APPROXIMATE
FLOODPLAIN
ELEVATION:  678.00'

WESTERLY LIMIT OF
PERMANENT
WATER FLOWAGE
EASEMENT

68
0

67
9

ST

ST

ST

ST

ST

ST

S

ST

ST

S

S

W W W W W W W

W

ST

ST
S

PROPOSED LEVEL
SPREADER

S

677 678

WETLAND BOTTOM
STORM WATER
MANAGEMENT BASIN

684
684

680

679

680

679

679

679

695

68
4

EXISTING CURB & GUTTER

PROPOSED CURB & GUTTER

CONCRETE SURFACE

BRICK SURFACE

ASPHALT SURFACE

DETENTION BASINS

PROPOSED RETAINING WALL

BUILDING

LOADING ZONE (12'X50')

UNIVERSAL PARKING SPACE 

690PROPOSED CONTOUR LINE

STOP SIGN, STOP BAR, AND SAFETY
SCHOOL CROSSING
PER IDOT STANDARDS

TRUNCATED DOME PANELS

MONUMENT SIGN

LANDSCAPE AREAS

1.  General contractor shall verify existing contours and notify engineer of any discrepancies.

2.  The general contractor shall spread spoils from utility contractors work to balance the site to
the extent possible.

3.  Erosion control measures include but are not limited to the following:  silt fabric shall be placed
on each sanitary structure until construction is completed.  Fabric shall overlap sanitary manhole
opening a minimum of one (1) foot on each side with the solid grate placed on top of fabric to
prevent silt from entering sanitary system.  Silt fence around perimeter shall remain in place and
be maintained until construction is completed.  All inlet structures shall be protected with inlet
baskets.

4.  The general contractor is responsible for erosion control measures.  Contractor shall install
erosion control measures prior to the start of construction and maintain such measures until
grading is complete, parking lot is paved and vegetation has been established.  If there is no
general contractor, it will then be the responsibility of the grading contractor to install and maintain
erosion control measures.

5.  The contractor responsible for the installation of the erosion control devices shall maintain all
storm water pollution devices throughout construction and until all unframed or non building areas
have a uniform perennial vegetative cover with a density of 70 percent or greater.  Maintenance
includes weekly inspections or an inspection following a rainfall of 1/2 inch in a 24-hour period.
The contractor must submit a copy of the inspection report to the owner and engineer at the end
of each month and keep a copy of the report on the construction site until the required vegetation
cover is in place.

6.  If additional erosion control measures not shown on these drawings are required to stop or
prevent erosion or are required by any authority having jurisdiction, it shall be the general
contractors responsibility to install such devices.  The owner or engineer shall be notified of the
additional work and cost prior to installation.

7.  The general contractor shall be responsible for notifying the owner and engineer, in writing, of
any additional sources of storm water pollution observed during construction and the additional
costs required to prevent additional pollution.

8.  See soils reports for testing requirements.  The final soils reports are dated as follows:
Geotechnical Engineering Report prepared by ----------- dated --------- --, 20--.

All proposed grades are edge of pavement unless otherwise noted.  See below for top of curb
elevation correlation.

T/CURB = (PVMT. GRADE) + 0.42 (NORMAL PITCH CURB)
T/CURB = (PVMT. GRADE) + 0.54 (REVERSE PITCH CURB)

PAVEMENT GRADE 475.00

EMERGENCY OVERFLOW

FLOW DIRECTION

RIDGELINE

EXISTING CONTOUR LINE

SHEET NO.

SHEET TITLE:

PROJECT NUMBER:
DRAWN BY: REVIEWED BY:

REVISIONS:
# DESCRIPTION DATE

Copyright 2023
KORU Group, PLLC

The drawings and the contents herein are the sole property
of Koru Group, PLLC and no portion of any may be printed
or copied without the express permission of this office.

Koru Group, PLLC
2135 CityGate Lane, STE 330

Naperville, IL. 60563

REVISIONS PER VILLAGE COMMENTS11-14-23

REVISIONS PER VILLAGE COMMENTS12-22-23

23022
DJK SRK

© 

REVISIONS PER COMMENTS 9-28-23

VILLAGE REVIEW SET 9-1-23

20
40

0 L
A 

GR
AN

GE
 R

OA
D

FR
AN

KF
OR

T, IL

SI
TE

 C
IV

IL 
PL

AN
S 

FO
R:

C2.0

GRADING PLAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED BUILDING FF: 687.50 (115' x 75') 8,625 sqft  71 SPACES

AutoCAD SHX Text
F/F=697.93

AutoCAD SHX Text
F/F=697.87

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
678

AutoCAD SHX Text
680

AutoCAD SHX Text
680

AutoCAD SHX Text
676

AutoCAD SHX Text
674

AutoCAD SHX Text
670

AutoCAD SHX Text
671

AutoCAD SHX Text
671

AutoCAD SHX Text
673

AutoCAD SHX Text
674

AutoCAD SHX Text
674

AutoCAD SHX Text
674

AutoCAD SHX Text
674

AutoCAD SHX Text
675

AutoCAD SHX Text
675

AutoCAD SHX Text
675

AutoCAD SHX Text
675

AutoCAD SHX Text
676

AutoCAD SHX Text
676

AutoCAD SHX Text
676

AutoCAD SHX Text
676

AutoCAD SHX Text
677

AutoCAD SHX Text
677

AutoCAD SHX Text
677

AutoCAD SHX Text
677

AutoCAD SHX Text
678

AutoCAD SHX Text
678

AutoCAD SHX Text
678

AutoCAD SHX Text
680

AutoCAD SHX Text
680

AutoCAD SHX Text
680

AutoCAD SHX Text
689

AutoCAD SHX Text
689

AutoCAD SHX Text
689

AutoCAD SHX Text
681

AutoCAD SHX Text
681

AutoCAD SHX Text
683

AutoCAD SHX Text
683

AutoCAD SHX Text
683

AutoCAD SHX Text
682

AutoCAD SHX Text
682

AutoCAD SHX Text
682

AutoCAD SHX Text
682

AutoCAD SHX Text
686

AutoCAD SHX Text
686

AutoCAD SHX Text
686

AutoCAD SHX Text
684

AutoCAD SHX Text
687

AutoCAD SHX Text
687

AutoCAD SHX Text
687

AutoCAD SHX Text
681

AutoCAD SHX Text
681

AutoCAD SHX Text
681

AutoCAD SHX Text
682

AutoCAD SHX Text
683

AutoCAD SHX Text
684

AutoCAD SHX Text
684

AutoCAD SHX Text
684

AutoCAD SHX Text
685

AutoCAD SHX Text
685

AutoCAD SHX Text
686

AutoCAD SHX Text
686

AutoCAD SHX Text
687

AutoCAD SHX Text
687

AutoCAD SHX Text
687

AutoCAD SHX Text
688

AutoCAD SHX Text
688

AutoCAD SHX Text
688

AutoCAD SHX Text
688

AutoCAD SHX Text
689

AutoCAD SHX Text
689

AutoCAD SHX Text
689

AutoCAD SHX Text
690

AutoCAD SHX Text
690

AutoCAD SHX Text
690

AutoCAD SHX Text
691

AutoCAD SHX Text
691

AutoCAD SHX Text
691

AutoCAD SHX Text
692

AutoCAD SHX Text
693

AutoCAD SHX Text
694

AutoCAD SHX Text
694

AutoCAD SHX Text
695

AutoCAD SHX Text
695

AutoCAD SHX Text
696

AutoCAD SHX Text
696

AutoCAD SHX Text
697

AutoCAD SHX Text
697

AutoCAD SHX Text
697

AutoCAD SHX Text
698

AutoCAD SHX Text
698

AutoCAD SHX Text
699

AutoCAD SHX Text
699

AutoCAD SHX Text
700

AutoCAD SHX Text
700

AutoCAD SHX Text
701

AutoCAD SHX Text
702

AutoCAD SHX Text
679

AutoCAD SHX Text
679

AutoCAD SHX Text
679

AutoCAD SHX Text
679

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
24

AutoCAD SHX Text
18

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
12

AutoCAD SHX Text
45

AutoCAD SHX Text
30

AutoCAD SHX Text
60

AutoCAD SHX Text
90

AutoCAD SHX Text
Scale 1"=30'

AutoCAD SHX Text
120

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEGEND 

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRADING NOTES

AutoCAD SHX Text
690



ST

ST

ST

ST

ST

ST

S

ST

ST

S

S

W W W W W W W

W

ST

ST
S

311 LF OF 6" SDR
26 SEWER LEAD

@ 1.0%

91 LF OF 18" RCP

156 LF OF 18" RCP 142 LF OF 24" RCP

110 LF OF 10"
SDR-26

35 LF OF 24"
RCP

128 LF OF 18"
RCP

BASIN CONTROL
STRUCTURE W/
WEIR WALL

26 LF OF 24" RCP

24 LF OF 24" RCP

90 LF OF 18"
RCP

228 LF OF C900  DOMESTIC
WATER SERVICE

10
'

10'

13'

SAN MH B
RIM: 686.95'

6" W:  678.80'
6" E:  678.90'

SAN MH C
RIM: 686.50'
6" W:  679.80'
6" S:  679.90'

SAN MH D
RIM: 686.80'
6" N:  680.36'
6" S:  680.46'

SAN MH E
RIM: 686.80'
6" N:  681.20'

BUILDING FIRE
DEPARTMENT
CONNECTION

PROPOSED LEVEL
SPREADER

 4
5
  
H

IG
H

W
A

Y

S

PUBLIC SEWER CONNECTION
AT PROP. SAN MH A

31 LF OF 12" RCP

PUBLIC WATER CONNECTION

EX. FIRE  HYDRANT LOCATION

PROP. FIRE
HYDRANT

EX. 12" WATERMAIN

93 LF OF C900  WATER
SERVICE

EX. WATER VALVE

EX. WATER VALVE

EX. WATER MAIN

SAN MH A
RIM: 686.20'

6" W:  677.82'
EX. FLOW LINE:  677.72'±

EX. SAN MH
RIM: 693.69'

EX. FLOW LINE:  680.59'

EX. SANITARY SEWER
FORCEMAIN

EX. 12" DIAMETER
WATERMAIN

EX. SAN MH
RIM: 681.85'
EX. FLOW LINE:  674.85'

SHEET NO.

SHEET TITLE:

PROJECT NUMBER:
DRAWN BY: REVIEWED BY:

REVISIONS:
# DESCRIPTION DATE

Copyright 2023
KORU Group, PLLC

The drawings and the contents herein are the sole property
of Koru Group, PLLC and no portion of any may be printed
or copied without the express permission of this office.

Koru Group, PLLC
2135 CityGate Lane, STE 330

Naperville, IL. 60563

REVISIONS PER VILLAGE COMMENTS11-14-23

REVISIONS PER VILLAGE COMMENTS1-12-24

23022
DJK SRK

© 

REVISIONS PER VILLAGE 9-28-23

VILLAGE REVIEW SET 9-1-23

20
40

0 L
A 

GR
AN

GE
 R

OA
D

FR
AN

KF
OR

T, IL

CLIENT: 

SI
TE

 C
IV

IL 
PL

AN
S 

FO
R:

MEP ENGINEER: 

STRUCTURAL ENGINEER: 

ARCHITECT: 

C3.0

UTILITY PLAN

EXISTING CURB & GUTTER

PROPOSED CURB & GUTTER

CONCRETE SURFACE

BRICK SURFACE

ASPHALT SURFACE

DETENTION BASINS

PROPOSED RETAINING WALL

BUILDING

LOADING ZONE (12'X50')

UNIVERSAL PARKING SPACE 

690PROPOSED CONTOUR LINE

STOP SIGN, STOP BAR, AND SAFETY
SCHOOL CROSSING
PER IDOT STANDARDS

TRUNCATED DOME PANELS

MONUMENT SIGN

LANDSCAPE AREAS

PAVEMENT GRADE 475.00

EMERGENCY OVERFLOW

FLOW DIRECTION

RIDGELINE

EXISTING CONTOUR LINE

1.  PRECAST CONCRETE SECTIONS FOR MANHOLES, CATCH BASINS, INLETS  AND VAULTS SHALL MEET ASTM C478.
SANITARY MANHOLES SHALL BE IN COMPLIANCE WITH THE VILLAGE OF FRANKFORT MUNICIPAL CODE.

2.  EXISTING UTILITIES SHOWN ARE FOR INFORMATION ONLY AND ARE NOT  NECESSARILY EXCLUSIVE.  CONTRACTOR
SHALL VERIFY UTILITIES WHERE  POSSIBLE AND NOTIFY ENGINEER OF DISCREPANCIES, EXCEPTIONS, OR
OMISSIONS AS SOON AS POSSIBLE.

3. NO FILTER FABRIC ALLOWED UNDER FRAMES OR GRATES. ALL STRUCTURES SHALL HAVE INLET FILTERS
INSTALLED.  ALL INLET PROTECTION SHOULD BE IN  ACCORDANCE WITH THE APPROVED STORMWATER POLLUTION
PREVENTION PLAN.

4. GENERAL CONTRACTOR SHALL VERIFY SPECIFIC SIZE AND LOCATION OF CONDUIT FOR GAS, ELECTRIC AND
TELEPHONE PRIOR TO INSTALLATION.

5. ALL EXISTING DRAIN TILE LOCATED WITHIN THE SITE BOUNDARY SHALL BE REMOVED OR ABANDONED AS
NECESSARY.  ALL DRAIN TILE ENTERING SITE SHALL BE TIED INTO PROPOSED STORM LINE OR REROUTED TO
MAINTAIN EXISTING DRAINAGE PATTERNS.  IN PLACES WHEREBY THE PROPOSED WATERMAIN AND EXISTING ACTIVE
DRAINTILE CROSS, THE WATERMAIN SHALL BE INSTALLED WITH CASING 10 FEET ON EITHER SIDE OF CROSSING.

6.  SANITARY PLUGS WILL BE REQUIRED DURING CONSTRUCTION AT ALL EXISTING MANHOLES WHERE PROPOSED
CONNECTIONS ARE MADE AND AT THE FIRST MANHOLE OF EACH PROPOSED SANITARY LINE.

7. CONTRACTOR TO SEE LANDSCAPE AND IRRIGATION SPECIFICATIONS IN ARCHITECTURAL PLANS AND CONTRACT
DOCUMENTS FOR ADDITIONAL REQUIREMENTS.

8.  ALL ROOF DOWNSPOUTS MUST TIE DIRECTLY INTO THE STORM SEWER SYSTEM.  NO OVERLAND DRAINAGE WILL
BE PERMITTED FOR THE ROOF DRAINS.

9.  FRAME AND GRATE REQUIREMENTS:
      STORM STRUCTURE (PAVEMENT)  -  NEENAH R-1557 FRAME, R-2557 TYPE G GRATE
      STORM STRUCTURE (CURB)  -  NEENAH R-3281-A TYPE C GRATE
      STORM STRUCTURE (GRASS)  -  NEENAH R-4341-A
      SANITARY STRUCTURE  -  NEENAH R-1713 WITH SOLID LID
      EXCEPTIONS TO ABOVE ARE NOTED ON PLANS.

FIRE HYDRANT

LIGHT POLES

VALVE VAULT / B-BOX

FLARED END SECTION

SANITARY MANHOLE

STORM MANHOLE

TELEPHONE

SANITARY SEWER

ELECTRIC

WATERMAIN

STORM SEWER
GAS

TRANSFORMERST

S

AutoCAD SHX Text
STORMWATER BASIN (WETLAND BOTTOM)

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED BUILDING FF: 687.50 (115' x 75') 8,625 sqft  71 SPACES

AutoCAD SHX Text
F/F=697.93

AutoCAD SHX Text
F/F=697.87

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
680

AutoCAD SHX Text
680

AutoCAD SHX Text
670

AutoCAD SHX Text
675

AutoCAD SHX Text
675

AutoCAD SHX Text
675

AutoCAD SHX Text
675

AutoCAD SHX Text
680

AutoCAD SHX Text
680

AutoCAD SHX Text
680

AutoCAD SHX Text
685

AutoCAD SHX Text
685

AutoCAD SHX Text
690

AutoCAD SHX Text
690

AutoCAD SHX Text
690

AutoCAD SHX Text
695

AutoCAD SHX Text
695

AutoCAD SHX Text
700

AutoCAD SHX Text
700

AutoCAD SHX Text
24

AutoCAD SHX Text
18

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
12

AutoCAD SHX Text
45

AutoCAD SHX Text
30

AutoCAD SHX Text
60

AutoCAD SHX Text
90

AutoCAD SHX Text
Scale 1"=30'

AutoCAD SHX Text
120

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEGEND 

AutoCAD SHX Text
690

AutoCAD SHX Text
UTILITY NOTES

AutoCAD SHX Text
>

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
T



SO
U

TH
 L

A
 G

R
A

N
G

E 
R

O
A

D
 - 

R
O

U
TE

 4
5

68
6

694
695

696 697 698

701
700

699
695
694

693692

684
683

681

68
6

68
6

698
696 694

68
7

68
8

69
0

687

680

681
682

683

684

680
681

682
683

684
684

683
682

681
680

679
678

677
676

67
8

67
9

68
0

68
1

68
2

68
3

68
4

678

679

680

681
682

683
684

685
686

687
688

689

68
5

68
5

685

20
40

0 
S.

 L
A 

GR
AN

GE
 R

D.
FR

AN
KF

O
R

T,
 IL

LI
N

O
IS

12.20.2023

KOR2301

MNW

DHS

CIVIL ENGINEER

KORU GROUP, PLLC
2135 CITY GATE LANE, SUITE 330

NAPERVILLE, IL 60563

Know what's below.
before you dig.Call

R

0 15' 20' 40' 60'
SCALE:  1"=30' NORTH

GENERAL LANDSCAPE NOTES

SHEET NO.

REVISIONS

DRAWN
CHECKED

DATE
PROJECT NO.

PL
O

T 
C

O
N

FI
G

:
XR

EF
S:

402 W. LIBERTY DRIVE
WHEATON, ILLINOIS 60187

PHONE: 630-668-7197
www.grwainc.com

GARY R. WEBER
ASSOCIATES, INC.

LAND PLANNING
ECOLOGICAL CONSULTING
LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE

LA
N

D
SC

A
PE

 P
LA

N

L1.1

PLANT LIST

NATIVE LEGEND

TRANSITION YARD: 274 LF

PLANT UNITS:

DRIVE THRU ISLAND LANDSCAPING: 191 LF

PARKING ISLANDS:  71 PARKING STALLS



20
40

0 
S.

 L
A 

GR
AN

GE
 R

D.
FR

AN
KF

O
R

T,
 IL

LI
N

O
IS

12.20.2023

KOR2301

MNW

DHS

CIVIL ENGINEER

KORU GROUP, PLLC
2135 CITY GATE LANE, SUITE 330

NAPERVILLE, IL 60563

Know what's below.
before you dig.Call

R

PLANTING DETAILS

DECIDUOUS TREES
NOT TO SCALE

EVERGREEN TREES
NOT TO SCALE

PERENNIALS AND GROUNDCOVERS
NOT TO SCALE

NOT TO SCALE
DECIDUOUS AND EVERGREEN SHRUBS

SHEET NO.

REVISIONS

DRAWN
CHECKED

DATE
PROJECT NO.

PL
O

T 
C

O
N

FI
G

:
XR

EF
S:

402 W. LIBERTY DRIVE
WHEATON, ILLINOIS 60187

PHONE: 630-668-7197
www.grwainc.com

GARY R. WEBER
ASSOCIATES, INC.

LAND PLANNING
ECOLOGICAL CONSULTING
LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE

LA
N

D
SC

A
PE

 D
ET

A
IL

S

L1.2

PLANT COMMUNITY SECTION
NOT TO SCALE



SO
U

TH
 L

A
 G

R
A

N
G

E 
R

O
A

D
 - 

R
O

U
TE

 4
5

2001
2002

2003
2004

2005
2006

2007 2008
2009
2010

2011
2012

2013
2014

2015
2016

2017
2018 2019

2020 2021

2022
2023

2024

2025
2026

2027

2028

2029

2030

2031

2032

2033

2034
2035

2036

2037

2038 2039

2040
2041

2042
2043

2044

2045

2046
2047 2048

2049

2050
2051

2052
2053

2054
2055

2056

2057

2058

2059
2060

2061
2062

2063

2064

2065

20662067
2068
2069

2070
2071

2072
2073
2074

2075 2076
2077 2078

2079
2080

2081
2082

2083
2084

2085
2086

2087
2088

2089
2090

2091

2092
2093 2094

2095 2096
2097

2098

2099
2100

2101
2102

2103

2104

2105

2106
2107

2108

2109
2110
2111

2112
2113

2114

2115

2116

2117

2118

2119

2120
2121

2122

2123
2124

2125

2126
2127

2128

2129

2130

2131

2132

2133
2134

2135
2136

2137

21382139

21402141
2142

2143

2144

2145

2146

2147

2148

2149

2150

2151
2152

21532154
2155

2156

2157

2158
2159

2160

2161

2162

2163

2164 2165
2166

2167 2168

2169
2170

2176

2195
2196

2197

2198

2199

2200

2201
2202

2203

2204

2205

2206

2207

2208
2209

2210
2211

2212

2213
2214

2215

2279
2280

2281

2282

2283

2284

2285
2286

2287
2288

2289
2290

2291

2292

2293

2294
2295
2296

2297
2298

2299
2300
2301
2302

2303
2304

2305

2306

2307
2308
2309

2310

2311
2312

2313
2314

2315
2316

2317

2318
2319

2320
2321

2322

2323

2324

68
6

694
695

696 697 698

701
700

699
695
694

693692

684
683

681

68
6

68
6

698
696 694

68
7

68
8

69
0

687

680

681
682

683

684

680
681

682
683

684
684

683
682

681
680

679
678

677
676

67
8

67
9

68
0

68
1

68
2

68
3

68
4

678

679

680

681
682

683
684

685
686

687
688

689

68
5

68
5

685

20
40

0 
S.

 L
A 

GR
AN

GE
 R

D.
FR

AN
KF

O
R

T,
 IL

LI
N

O
IS

12.20.2023

KOR2301

MNW

DHS

CIVIL ENGINEER

KORU GROUP, PLLC
2135 CITY GATE LANE, SUITE 330

NAPERVILLE, IL 60563

Know what's below.
before you dig.Call

R

0 20' 40' 80' 120'
SCALE:  1"=40' NORTH

SHEET NO.

REVISIONS

DRAWN
CHECKED

DATE
PROJECT NO.

PL
O

T 
C

O
N

FI
G

:
XR

EF
S:

402 W. LIBERTY DRIVE
WHEATON, ILLINOIS 60187

PHONE: 630-668-7197
www.grwainc.com

GARY R. WEBER
ASSOCIATES, INC.

LAND PLANNING
ECOLOGICAL CONSULTING
LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE

TR
EE

 P
R

ES
ER

VA
TI

O
N

 P
LA

N

L1.3

TREE PRESERVATION NOTES

TREE PRESERVATION DETAIL
(NOT TO SCALE)
SEE NOTES

LEGEND
EXISTING TREE

EXISTING TREE
TO BE REMOVED



20
40

0 
S.

 L
A 

GR
AN

GE
 R

D.
FR

AN
KF

O
R

T,
 IL

LI
N

O
IS

12.20.2023

KOR2301

MNW

DHS

CIVIL ENGINEER

KORU GROUP, PLLC
2135 CITY GATE LANE, SUITE 330

NAPERVILLE, IL 60563

Know what's below.
before you dig.Call

R

SHEET NO.

REVISIONS

DRAWN
CHECKED

DATE
PROJECT NO.

PL
O

T 
C

O
N

FI
G

:
XR

EF
S:

402 W. LIBERTY DRIVE
WHEATON, ILLINOIS 60187

PHONE: 630-668-7197
www.grwainc.com

GARY R. WEBER
ASSOCIATES, INC.

LAND PLANNING
ECOLOGICAL CONSULTING
LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE

LA
N

D
SC

A
PE

 S
PE

C
IF

IC
A

TI
O

N
S

L1.4

”



STORMWATER
BASIN

(WETLAND
BOTTOM)

PROPOSED BUILDING
FF: 687.50
(115' x 75')
8,625 sqft

 71 SPACES

R
O

U
TE

 4
5

PROPERTY LINE

PROPERTY LINE

1
A

2
A

3
Ar

4
LED-2

5
LED-2

6
LED-2

7
LED-2

8
LED-29

LED-2

10
LED-2

11
LED-2

12
LED-2

13
LED-2

14
LED-2

15
LED-2

16
LED-2

17
LED-2

18
LED-2

19
B

20
LED-2

21
EWS-1

22
LED-2

23
LED-2

25
LED-2

26
LED-2

28
EWS-1

29
G

30
EWS-1

31
G

32
EWS-1

33
G

34
G

35
G

36
EWS-1

37
B

38
A

27
EWS-1

24
A

39
A

0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.1 0.2 0.3 0.2 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.2 0.3 0.3 0.2 0.1 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.4 0.8 0.9 1.3 2.0 1.5 1.5 1.4 0.8 1.2 1.7 2.0 3.1 3.0 2.0 1.8 1.0 0.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.3 0.9 2.0 2.2 2.8 3.1 2.8 2.1 1.9 1.2 1.5 2.2 2.4 2.9 2.8 2.3 2.1 1.1 0.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.2 0.4 0.5 0.5 0.6 0.8 1.3 1.9 1.8 1.8 1.8 1.7 1.5 1.7 1.4 1.5 1.7 1.6 1.7 1.7 1.5 1.7 1.2 0.4 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0

0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.1 0.3 0.8 1.2 1.3 1.2 1.2 1.5 1.8 1.5 1.5 1.6 1.5 1.3 1.4 1.6 1.6 1.4 1.5 1.6 1.6 1.4 1.4 1.2 0.6 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0

0.0 0.0 0.1 0.1 0.2 0.4 1.3 2.3 2.3 1.6 1.3 1.5 1.5 1.2 1.2 1.1 1.1 1.0 1.0 1.2 1.2 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 0.9 0.8 0.5 0.2 0.0 0.0 0.0

0.0 0.1 0.1 0.2 0.3 0.5 1.3 3.0 2.8 1.8 1.4 1.4 1.1 0.8 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.6 0.6 0.7 0.7 0.6 0.6 0.6 0.6 0.6 0.5 0.4 0.3 0.2 0.1 0.1 0.1

0.0 0.1 0.1 0.2 0.3 0.9 2.0 4.2 3.5 2.1 1.5 1.2 0.7 0.4 0.4 0.6 0.6 0.4 0.3 0.4 0.7 1.0 0.7 0.4 0.4 0.5 0.6 0.5 0.5 0.4 0.3 0.2 0.1

0.1 0.1 0.1 0.2 0.3 0.9 2.1 4.3 3.5 2.1 1.4 1.1 0.6 0.4 2.1 5.5 5.5 1.9 0.3 0.4 1.9 5.2 3.5 1.5 0.6 0.6 0.9 1.1 1.1 1.1 0.9 0.5 0.2

0.0 0.1 0.1 0.2 0.3 0.5 1.3 3.1 2.9 1.8 1.2 1.1 0.7 1.0 7.1 4.8 0.9 0.7 0.9 1.3 1.9 2.3 1.6 0.6 0.2

0.0 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.2 0.4 1.3 2.4 2.4 1.6 1.1 1.0 0.8 1.3 8.1 4.3 1.0 0.9 1.1 1.4 2.2 3.1 1.9 0.9 0.3

0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.1 0.4 1.0 1.5 1.6 1.6 1.4 1.2 0.9 1.1 4.9 3.5 1.0 0.9 1.3 1.7 2.7 4.1 3.1 1.0 0.4

0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.1 0.4 0.8 1.1 1.3 1.4 1.5 1.2 0.8 0.9 4.5 5.2 1.0 0.9 1.4 1.7 2.7 4.3 3.6 1.4 0.5

0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.1 0.3 0.9 1.6 1.8 1.5 1.2 0.9 0.8 1.1 6.7 4.3 1.1 0.9 1.2 1.5 2.5 3.6 2.3 0.9 0.4

0.0 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.2 0.3 1.0 2.3 2.5 1.6 1.0 0.8 0.7 0.8 3.2 4.7 1.1 0.8 1.0 1.3 2.1 2.7 1.9 0.7 0.2

0.1 0.1 0.1 0.2 0.3 0.5 1.3 2.9 3.2 2.0 1.2 0.9 0.8 0.9 4.9 5.0 0.9 0.7 0.9 1.2 1.5 1.7 1.2 0.5 0.2

0.0 0.1 0.1 0.2 0.3 0.8 1.9 4.3 3.7 2.1 1.3 1.0 0.8 1.0 5.9 3.3 0.8 0.6 0.7 0.8 0.8 0.7 0.5 0.3 0.1

0.0 0.1 0.1 0.2 0.3 0.6 1.5 3.3 3.4 2.0 1.3 0.9 0.8 0.8 3.4 8.4 1.0 0.4 0.4 0.4 0.4 0.2 0.2 0.1 0.1

0.0 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.2 0.4 1.0 2.3 2.7 1.7 1.0 0.8 0.7 1.0 6.2 5.5 0.9 0.3 0.4 0.5 0.6 0.3 0.1 0.1 0.0

0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.1 0.3 0.9 1.8 2.0 1.5 1.0 0.7 0.7 0.9 5.9 4.2 0.8 0.4 0.6 0.8 0.9 0.7 0.3 0.1 0.1

0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.1 0.3 0.6 0.9 1.1 1.1 1.0 0.9 0.8 0.7 2.1 3.5 0.8 0.6 0.9 1.0 1.3 1.3 0.8 0.4 0.1

0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.1 0.2 0.5 0.8 1.0 1.1 1.2 1.2 1.0 0.6 0.8 2.5 4.9 3.7 3.9 1.0 1.6 4.1 2.5 1.1 0.7 0.9 1.3 1.3 1.6 2.1 1.7 0.8 0.4

0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.1 0.2 0.6 1.2 1.6 1.6 1.4 1.2 1.0 0.8 0.8 1.1 1.4 1.2 1.0 0.9 1.0 1.1 0.9 0.8 0.9 1.2 1.6 1.9 2.5 3.0 2.2 1.0 0.4

0.0 0.0 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.2 0.7 1.8 2.7 2.2 1.4 1.1 0.9 0.9 1.0 1.0 1.2 1.4 1.4 1.3 1.1 1.0 1.0 0.9 1.0 1.3 1.7 2.6 3.9 3.5 1.6 0.7 0.2

0.0 0.0 0.1 0.1 0.2 0.4 0.9 2.2 3.6 2.6 1.6 1.3 0.9 0.7 1.0 1.3 1.3 1.6 1.7 1.5 1.3 1.3 1.2 0.9 1.0 1.3 1.9 3.2 4.5 3.6 1.3 0.4 0.2

0.0 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.2 0.5 1.2 3.3 4.4 2.9 1.8 1.5 0.9 0.6 1.0 1.7 1.9 2.3 2.5 2.3 1.9 1.8 1.2 0.9 1.1 1.5 2.3 3.2 2.9 1.7 1.1 0.4 0.2

0.0 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.2 0.4 1.0 2.9 4.2 2.8 1.8 1.4 0.9 0.6 1.0 2.0 2.9 3.7 4.2 3.6 2.9 2.0 1.0 0.6 0.8 1.1 1.8 2.2 1.4 0.7 0.4 0.2 0.2

0.0 0.0 0.1 0.1 0.2 0.3 0.9 1.8 3.3 2.4 1.5 1.2 0.9 0.6 0.8 1.7 2.3 3.2 4.4 3.0 2.2 1.6 0.7 0.3 0.2 0.5 0.9 1.1 0.6 0.3 0.2 0.2 0.1

0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.1 0.2 0.6 1.6 2.4 2.0 1.4 1.0 0.7 0.6 0.6 0.8 0.9 1.3 1.8 1.2 0.9 0.7 0.5 0.2 0.1 0.1 0.3 0.4 0.3 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1

0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.1 0.4 0.9 1.2 1.2 1.1 0.9 0.6 0.4 0.2 0.2 0.3 0.5 0.7 0.5 0.3 0.2 0.2 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.2 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1

0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.2 0.4 0.4 0.4 0.5 0.5 0.4 0.2 0.1 0.1 0.2 0.2 0.3 0.2 0.2 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

LUMINAIRE SCHEDULE
SYMBOL QTY LABEL LLF DESCRIPTION LUM WATTS LUM LUMENS BUG RATING

5 A 0.900 AREA FIXT 104W LED T4 20'-0 MTG HT (4000K) NLS LIGHTING NV-1-T4-48L-7-40K-UNV 104 12168 B2-U0-G2

1 Ar 0.900 AREA FIXT 104W LED T4 ROT 90 CCW 20'-0 MTG HT (4000K) NLS LIGHTING NV-1-T4-48L-7-40K-UNV 104 12168 B2-U0-G2

2 B 0.900 AREA FIXT 104W LED T4 HSS 20'-0 MTG HT (4000K) NV-1-T4-48L-7-40K7-HSS 104 8238 B1-U0-G2

6 EWS-1 0.900 WALL PACK FIXT 28W LED T2 (3000K) WAC LIGHTING WP-LED227-30 28 2049 B1-U1-G0

5 G 0.900 WALL PACK FIXT 26W LED 8'-0 MTG HT (5000K) LUMARK XTOR3B 25.5 2751 B1-U0-G0

20 LED-2 0.900 ROUND RECESSED UNDER CANOPY FIXT 12W LED 9'-6 MTG HT (4000K) dmf LIGHTING DRD2M10940GA-M4TRSWH 12.5 941 B1-U1-G0

CALCULATION SUMMARY
LABEL AVG MAX MIN AVG/MIN MAX/MIN # PTS

ALL CALC PTS SHOWN 10' GRID 1.02 8.4 0.0 N.A. N.A. 960

SOUTH PROP LINE 10' SPACING 0.00 0.0 0.0 N.A. N.A. 45

WEST PROP LINE 10' SPACING 0.14 0.4 0.0 N.A. N.A. 47

DRIVE ENRTY 1.23 4.4 0.1 12.30 44.00 19

PARKING AREA 1.65 8.4 0.2 8.25 42.00 410

EN
G

IN
EE

R
 S

EA
L

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S

C
A

D
A

G
I

SH
EE

T 
D

ES
C

R
IP

TI
O

N
EN

G
IN

EE
R

 IN
FO

SH
EE

T#
:

R
EV

 #
:

1111 HIGHWAY 25 NORTH
SUITE 201

BUFFALO  MN  55313

PH:763.684.1548
FAX:763.682.9048

DATE INIT DESCRIPTION#

PROPOSED
PHOTOMETRIC

PLAN

NA

SL3.0 3

W.R.TOKKESDAL

C.D.HEANER

PR
O

JE
C

T 
IN

FO
PR

O
JE

C
T 

#
IS

SU
E 

D
A

TE
D

ES
IG

N
 L

EV
EL

BASED ON THE INFORMATION PROVIDED, ALL DIMENSIONS AND LUMINAIRE LOCATIONS
SHOWN REPRESENT RECOMMENDED POSITIONS. THE ENGINEER AND/OR ARCHITECT

MUST DETERMINE APPLICABILITY OF THE LAYOUT TO EXISTING OR FUTURE FIELD
CONDITIONS.

THE LIGHTING PATTERN REPRESENTS ILLUMINATION LEVELS CALCULATED FROM
LABORATORY DATA TAKEN UNDER THE CONTROLLED CONDITIONS UTILIZING

CURRENT INDUSTRY STANDARD LAMP RATINGS IN ACCORDANCE WITH ILLUMINATING
ENGINEERING SOCIETY APPROVED METHODS. ACTUAL PERFORMANCE OF ANY

MANUFACTURER'S LUMINAIRE MAY VARY DUE TO VARIATION IN ELECTRICAL VOLTAGE,
TOLERANCE IN LAMPS, AND OTHER VARIABLE FIELD CONDITIONS.

FOR ADDITIONAL LIGHTING INFORMATION CONTACT:

PH: 763.684.1548

0' 20' 40'
1 PROPOSED PHOTOMETRIC PLAN

SCALE: 1" = 20'-0"

DUNKIN DONUTS

FRANKFORT, IL

KG2308221

08.22.2023

KORU GROUP
PLLC

2 POLE MOUNT FIXTURE TYPE A, Ar
SPECIFICATION SHEET

2135 CITY GATE LANE
NAPERVILLE, IL 60563

PH:630.845.1270

DESIGN NOTES:

§ 159.22 LIGHTING.
Outdoor lighting, where provided, should enhance the building design and the adjoining
landscape. Lighting standards, fixtures and all exposed accessories shall comply with the village's
requirements, and design and signs should be harmonious with the design of the surrounding
areas. Excessive brightness, flashing lights, and brilliant colors shall not be permitted

3 LIGHT POLE TYPE A & B
SPECIFICATION SHEET

ROUTE 45

N

3 POLE MOUNT FIXTURE TYPE B
SPECIFICATION SHEET

11.07.2023 CDH NEW SITE PLAN1

12.18.2023 CDH
NEW SITE PLAN,  P.L.

PHOTOMETRIC POINTS ,
25'-0 MTG HT

2

01.12.2024 DMW 20'-0 MTG HT PER CITY
FEEDBACK3



3 BOLLARD DETAIL
1/4"=1'-0" NOTE:

4 DRIVE-THRU MENU SECTION  ("STATIC OPTION")
N.T.S. NOTE:

2 SECTION @ CONC. PAD
3/4"=1'-0" NOTE:

1 SINGLE VEHICLE CLEARANCE BAR DETAIL
1/2"=1'-0" NOTE:

7 MONUMENT SIGN DETAIL
1/2"=1'-0" NOTE:

5 OPTION A: PYLON SIGN DETAIL
1/4"=1'-0" NOTE:

6 OPTION B: PYLON SIGN DETAIL
1/4"=1'-0" NOTE:

SHEET NO.

SHEET TITLE:

PROJECT NUMBER:
DRAWN BY: REVIEWED BY:

REVISIONS:
# DESCRIPTION DATE

23022_Frankfort Development
LB / RD SD / EC

INTERIOR BUILDOUT TBD

20
40

0 S
 La

 G
ra

ng
e R

d
Fr

an
kfo

rt, I
L 6

04
23

PC
# 3

64
98

0

Koru Group, PLLC
2135 CityGate Lane, STE 330

Naperville, IL. 60563

PROFESSIONAL DESIGN FIRM
NO.  184.008901-0012

Copyright 2023
KORU Group, PLLC

The drawings and the contents herein are the sole property
of Koru Group, PLLC and no portion of any may be printed
or copied without the express permission of this office.

© 

SP-1.1

SITE PLAN
DETAILS

NOT USED

NOT USED

NOT USED

FORMED CONCRETE TOP

MIN 4"  CONCRETE FILLED
STEEL PIPE WITH
BOLLARD COVER; REFER
TO NATIONAL ACCOUNTS.
TO MATCH SW7019
GAUNTLET GRAY

3'
-6

"

LINE OF PAVING -
SEE SPECIFICATIONS

PAVEMENT THICKNESS

NOTES:
1) SEE SITE PLAN FOR
LOCATIONS
2) SEE EXTERIOR FINISH
SCH. FOR BOLLARD
COVER SPEC.

POURED CONCRETE
FOOTING

REFER TO LOCAL
CODE FOR REQ.
DEPTH OF FOOTING

1'
-6

"

ALL CONDUIT SHALL BE PVC

SURFACE OF VEHICLE
CONCRETE CURB

CONDUIT w/ C PULL
STRING (TYP.)

ORDER
CANOPY INDEPENDENT

GROUND LOOPS
FOR COMMUNICATIONS

CONCRETE PAD

REFER TO
SITE PLAN

CONCRETE FOOTING SIZE &
CONFIG. BY MANUFACTURER

NOTE:
REFER TO ELECTRICAL DRAWINGS
FOR ALL LOOP & CONDUIT
REQUIREMENTS (TYP.)

COORD ALL ELECT
REQUIREMENTS w/
MANUF PRIOR TO
START OF WORK

DIGITAL
MENU
BOARDS

ASPHALT PAVEMENT CONC PAD MIN 4000 PSI w/ #4
BARS @ 12" OC EACH WAY

CONC PAD TO BE FLUSH w/ PAVEMENT

12" GRANULAR FILL

VIRGIN SOIL OR COMPACTED FILL

6"
1'-

0"

SIDE VIEWFRONT VIEW (SINGLE LANE)

1"

101
2"

6"
C

U
R

B

3 1/2" SQ.
STL. TUBE

6"
4"

2"

1"

101
2"

6"
C

U
R

B

4'-6" (54")

DRIVE THRU SURFACE

8'-0" (96") CLEARANCE BAR

MOUNTING PLATE SET BACK
18" FROM FACE OF 6" CURB, TYP.

9'
-0

"
(1

08
")

 C
LE

AR
AN

C
E 

H
EI

G
H

T
4"

10
'-1

1"
13

1-
1/

8"

12
'-0

"
(1

44
")

 O
VE

R
AL

L 
H

EI
G

H
T

8"

PIVOT MECHANISM:
ARMS WILL ROTATE IF HIT
AND WILL NEED TO MANUALLY RESET
W/ NEW SHEAR PIN
(3 REPLACEMENT PINS INCLUDED)

3-1/2" x 3-1/2" x 3/16"
SQUARE STEEL TUBE TO MATCH
SW7019 GAUNTLET GRAY

.90 ALUM. LETTERS,
8"H IN DUNKIN SANS
MEDIUM FONT PTD.
TO MATCH
SW7063 NEBULOUS
WHITE

3 1/2" 11'- 0" HORIZONTAL CROSS ARM

1 
3/

8"
11

-1
/8

"

IN DUNKIN SANS

PMS 7635C PINK

Nebulous White
SW 7063

GENERAL SPECIFICATIONS:
POLE & ARM: Ptd. SW 7063 Nebulous White

DRIVE THRU LETTERS:  .090 aluminum letters,
8"H ptd. to match PMS 7635C Pink , Pink gloss
finish
CLEARANCE BARS: Covered with 3M #280-10
White Reflective vinyl; Copy and striping to match
PMS 7635C Pink
CHEVRON ARROWS: .090 alum. mounted to
horizontal arm and painted to match PMS 7635C
Pink
MEDALLION: Optional 24" round medallion with
"Speedy Car Icon" and removeable/adjustable
mounting brackets; Painted white; Car icon to
match PMS 7635C Pink

ADDITIONAL NOTES: Font is Dunkin' Sans
Medium Clearance may vary per site
requirements
PIVOT T-BAR:Arms will rotate if struck by vehicle
and will need to be manually reset w/ new shear
pin (3 replacement pins included)
MAXIMUM DESIGN WIND LOAD:
35PSF WIND SPEED 3-SECOND
GUST-EXPOSURE C

101
2"

8"

3 5/8" SQ.CUT

10
1 2"

8"

INSTALL Ø3/4" ANCHOR BOLT

10 1/2" X 10 1/2" X 1"
BASE PLATE

1 34 "

Ø7/8"

Gauntlet Gray
SW 7019

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
7

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
7

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
9

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
IF PRINTED TO SCALE, BOTH THESE BARS WILL MEASURE "1"

AutoCAD SHX Text
 



7 DIRECTIONAL SIGN DETAILS
3/8"=1'-0" NOTE:

6 DECORATIVE FENCE AT OUTDOOR SEATING
NTS NOTE: COLOR TO BE BLACK

5 ORDER CANOPY DETAIL
1/2"=1'-0" NOTE:

8 SPEAKER POST DET.
1/2"=1'-0" NOTE:

9 ORDER CONFIRMATION POST DET.
1/2"=1'-0" NOTE:

4 DIGITAL MENU BOARDS DETAIL
1/2"=1'-0" NOTE:

1 NOT USED
N/A NOTE:

2 DIGITAL PREVIEW BOARD DETAIL
N.T.S. NOTE:

3 NOT USED
N/A NOTE:

NOT U
SED

NOT USED

SHEET NO.

SHEET TITLE:

PROJECT NUMBER:
DRAWN BY: REVIEWED BY:

REVISIONS:
# DESCRIPTION DATE

23022_Frankfort Development
LB / RD SD / EC

INTERIOR BUILDOUT TBD

20
40

0 S
 La

 G
ra

ng
e R

d
Fr

an
kfo

rt, I
L 6

04
23

PC
# 3

64
98

0

Koru Group, PLLC
2135 CityGate Lane, STE 330

Naperville, IL. 60563

PROFESSIONAL DESIGN FIRM
NO.  184.008901-0012

Copyright 2023
KORU Group, PLLC

The drawings and the contents herein are the sole property
of Koru Group, PLLC and no portion of any may be printed
or copied without the express permission of this office.

© 

SP-1.2

SITE PLAN
DETAILS (CONT.)

NOT USED

FRONTAPPROACH SIDE REAR

A

GENERAL NOTES:

3'
-1

11 4"

A

Gauntlet Gray
SW 7019

9'
-3

3 4"

5'-7"

9'
-2

"
11

1 4"

10"

6"

1'
-6

"
2'

-1
"

3'
-7

"
7'-01

4"

4"

2 12 "

2"

6"

8"
1'

-0
"

8"

1'
-6

3 4"

SQ
. B

AS
E 

PL
AT

E

1'-0"
1'

-0
"

1'-71
4"

PAINT TO MATCH SW7019
GAUNTLET GRAY

WHITE REFLECTIVE
VINYL COPY IN DUNKIN'
SANS MEDIUM FONT

5.5" VINYL COPY IN
DUNKIN' SANS MEDIUM
FONT IS 3M 3630-3202
WHITE

PAINT SW7019
GAUNTLET GRAY

EL00832P
DISCONNECT
SWITCH

PAINT TO MATCH
SW7019 GAUNTLET GRAY

9 WATT LED DOWN
LIGHTS

CANOPY TOP

SPEAKER/
MICROPHONE
TO BE
SUPPLIED BY
OTHERS

PAINT SW7019
GAUNTLET GRAY

BLACK VINYL
COPY IN
DUNKIN

SANS
MEDIUM

FONT
Ø 4.000"

ACCESS TO
PIVOT BOLT,
PIVOT BEARING
AND ELECTRICAL
FROM CANOPY
TOP

PAINT SW7019
GAUNTLET GRAY

PAINT TO MATCH
SW7019 GAUNTLET GRAY

SPKR/MIC
ACCESS

POWER SUPPLY
& ELECTRICAL
ACCESS

SPKR/MIC
ACCESS

EL00832P
DISCONNECT
SWITCH

B B

(4) Ø .75X30"
ANCHOR BOLTS

11 2"

6"

8"

51
2"

APPROX. WEIGHT:  715 LBS.
ELECTRICAL SPECS:

QTY. (1) 12 VDC 60 WATT POWER
SUPPLY

TOTAL CONNECTED LOAD: 0.9 AMPS @
120VAC 50/60HZ

LIGHTING:
QTY. (2) 12VDC 9W DOWNLIGHTS (3000K
WARM WHITE)

MATERIALS:
3003-H14 ALUMINUM SHEET
ASATM A36 STEEL SHAPES

FINISH:
EXPOSED SURFACES OF CANOPY TOP
POWDER COATED TO MATCH PMS165C
EXPOSED SURFACES OF COLUMN 
POWDER COATED 303-00293 PWDRCT,
NEB WHITE AAMA 2604 APPROVED

LOGOS AND COLORS
SERVICE:

REMOVE ACCESS COVERS ON BACK OF
UNIT

SECTION A-A SECTION B-B

1'-71
4"

1'-71
2"

1'-4"

Nebulous White
SW 7063

6'
-1

0"
O

VE
R

AL
L 

H
EI

G
H

T

2'-0"

8" 6'
-1

0"POST AND BOX
PAINTED TO MATCH
PMS 7540C DD GRAY

4'
-5

"

1'-4"

4'
-5

"

1'-4"

1'-01
2"

A

2'
-3

"
4'

-7
"

1

2

2'
-0

"

1

2
MULTIPLE PANEL
DIGITAL MENU BOARDS

NOTE:
SEE DUNKIN' WEBSITE,
http://extranet.dunkinbrands.com,
FOR COMPLETE
INFORMATION AND DETAILS

NOTES:
1. MENUBOARD IS

POWDER COATED
TO MATCH PMS
7540C (CABINET,
BASE CLADDING,
DOOR FRAMES &
EXTENDER
FRAMES).

2. SAMSUNG OHF
SERIES DISPLAY
MENUBOARDS,
OHF55F - 55".

ADDITIONAL NOTES:
· ARTWORK FONT:

DUNKIN SANS
DISPLAYRUN CONDUIT FOR ELEC. &

DATA TO BLDG., VERIFY
SIZE w/ MANUFACTURER

G.C. TO PROVIDE
FOUNDATION, ANCHOR
BOLTS, CAGE, AND ALL
RELATED ACCESSORIES
PRIOR TO INSTALLATION.
SIGN VENDOR TO SUPPLY

5'-0" 4"

SIDE VIEW

2'-0" 2'-0"

FRONT VIEW

NOTE:
DRAWINGS REPRESENT
DUNKIN' STANDARD SIZES.
SIGN DIMENSIONS WILL BE
CUSTOMIZED TO COMPLY
WITH THE 20 SF (10 SF
PREVIEW BD.) REQUIRED BY
THE ORDINANCE.

6'
-3

"
O

VE
R

AL
L 

H
EI

G
H

T

2'-6"

1'-4"

4"

8"

6'
-3

"

FRONT VIEW SIDE VIEW
4'

-5
"

2'-0"

1'-4"

4'
-5

"

2'-0"

1'-4"

1'-01
2"

A

1

2

DIGITAL PREVIEW BOARD

NOTES:
1. PREVIEW BOARD IS

POWDER COATED
TO MATCH PMS
7540C  (CABINET,
BASE CLADDING,
DOOR FRAMES &
EXTENDER
FRAMES).

2. ACCESS COVER TO
MEDIA PLAYER(S),
ROUTER AND
ELECTRICAL
RECEPTACLES
SECURED BY
SECURITY
HARDWARE.

ADDITIONAL NOTES:
· ARTWORK FONT:

DUNKIN SANS
DISPLAY

· MATERIALS:
22GA.
GALVANNEL
STEEL,
ALUMINUM
EXTRUSION

· ACCESS: HINGED
REAR DOOR
FASTENED BY
SECURITY
HARDWARE

4'
-1

 3
/4

"

RUN CONDUIT FOR ELEC. &
DATA TO BLDG., VERIFY
SIZE w/ MANUFACTURER

G.C. TO PROVIDE
FOUNDATION, ANCHOR
BOLTS, CAGE, AND ALL
RELATED ACCESSORIES
PRIOR TO INSTALLATION.
SIGN VENDOR TO SUPPLY

NOTE:
SEE DUNKIN' WEBSITE,
http://extranet.dunkinbrands.com,
FOR COMPLETE
INFORMATION AND DETAILS

(5
5"

) NOTE:
DRAWINGS REPRESENT
DUNKIN' STANDARD SIZES.
SIGN DIMENSIONS WILL BE
CUSTOMIZED TO COMPLY
WITH THE 20 SF (10 SF
PREVIEW BD.) REQUIRED BY
THE ORDINANCE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
7

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
7

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
9

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
IF PRINTED TO SCALE, BOTH THESE BARS WILL MEASURE "1"

AutoCAD SHX Text
ORDER HERE



mschwarz
Received



Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 10/12/23 | Page 4 
 

Approved: (7-0)  

Motion (#5): Recommend to the Village Board to approve the Special Use Permit for 
outdoor recreation greater than 1 acre on Lot 1 of the Roma 2 Resubdivision for the outdoor 
playing fields, in accordance with the reviewed plans, findings of fact, and public 
testimony, conditioned on final engineering approval.  
 
Motion by: James                    Seconded by: Morris  

Approved: (7-0)  

Motion (#6): Recommend to the Village Board to approve the Variation to permit at 15.2’ 
front landscape setback whereas 20’ is required per Article 6, Section C, Part 1, in 
accordance with the reviewed plans, findings of fact, and public testimony, conditioned on 
final engineering approval.  
 
Motion by: James                    Seconded by: Hogan  

Approved: (7-0)  

Motion (#7): Recommend to the Village Board to approve the Variation to permit three 
points of vehicular access to Roma Court, whereas a maximum of two are permitted per 
Article 6, Section C, Part 2 (n)(3), in accordance with the reviewed plans, findings of fact, 
and public testimony, conditioned on final engineering approval.  
 
Motion by: Markunas                    Seconded by: Jakubowski  

Approved: (7-0)  

Motion (#8): Recommend approval of a Plat of Resubdivision to consolidate Lot 1 of 
Roma Resubdivision with Lots 16-18 of East Point Park Subdivision, to create a single Lot 
1 of Roma 2 Resubdivision, subject to staff approval of any technical revisions prior to 
recording.  
 
Motion by: Morris                    Seconded by: Markunas  

Approved: (7-0)  

D. Workshop: Dunkin’ Donuts  
 
Mike Schwarz presented the staff report and noted that the presentation slides show newly 
submitted plans.  

mschwarz
Highlight



Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 10/12/23 | Page 5 
 

The applicant, Krupa Shah, and the applicant’s architect, Eric Carlson, approached the 
podium. Eric Carlson added the following points for discussion: 

o The grade difference between the north and south sides of the property is very 
significant. 

o The engineers working on the project tried to minimize the amount of retaining 
walls, so they put them in places that are least visible from the public right-of-way; 
there is a berm from Route 45 to the parking lot. 

o The proposed CMU color for the wainscot of the building will closely match the 
Vineyards development. 

o The applicant, Ms. Shah, had to buy 6 acres and ended up only with 3 acres of 
buildable land for this project. 

o Dunkin has a need for visibility along Route 45. The applicant would like to have 
space on the monument sign for all four  proposed tenant spaces. 

o As suggested by staff, the applicant is willing to add a horizontal banding feature 
on the elevations of the building. 

o The applicant would like feedback on the proposed orange, white and pink colors 
for the Dunkin’ signage since it relates to branding.  

Chair Schaeffer stated that there may be an error in the staff report pertaining to the hours 
of operation and asked the applicant for clarification. 

The applicant responded that business would open from 4:00 a.m. to 8:00 p.m. Monday 
through Saturday and 5:00 a.m. to 8:00 p.m. on Sunday. These are the same hours of 
operation as the existing location. 

Chair Schaeffer stated that all the special use requests seem reasonable and asked 
Commissioners if they have any initial questions on the special use requests. 

Commissioner Markunas asked if the furnishings and fencing for the proposed outdoor 
seating will be submitted to staff. 

Eric Carlson responded that they will submit those details after the workshop and that they 
usually try to keep the fence away from vehicular traffic. 

Commissioner Markunas asked staff to assist in guiding the applicant to match other 
approved outdoor seating locations in the Village of Frankfort. 



Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 10/12/23 | Page 6 
 

Mike Schwarz responded that the applicant is not at the point of submitting such details, 
but he will guide them to be consistent with other locations and that he will ensure that 
staff receives the details. 

 Commissioner Morris asked about the Dunkin’ Green program. 

Eric Carlson responded that the program has not been discussed for a while since the 
Covid-19 Pandemic. 

Commissioner Hogan asked about the proposed retaining wall and if there are any other 
alternatives that can be discussed by the engineers. 

Eric Carlson responded that the project engineers tried a lot of options and had concluded 
on still having retaining walls but minimizing the amount of retaining wall as much as 
possible.  The entrance along Route 45 becomes steep, so the only people who will see the 
wall will be the people who visit the subject site. 

 Commissioner Hogan asked how well the wall will hold up over time. 

Eric Carlson responded that the retaining wall is proposed outside of the flood zone so that 
there won’t be any water pushing up against that wall. 

Chair Schaeffer stated that there is not much to do with the existing slope on the subject 
site and it is almost a necessity to have retaining walls to have a flat parking lot. She advised 
staff and the applicant to make sure there is a structural engineer to ensure the wall will 
have structural integrity over time. 

Commissioner Jakubowski stated that she is fine with the proposed retaining wall because 
it is not very visible from adjacent properties. 

Commissioner James stated that the proposed retaining wall is not a variation request, and 
the intent of the Code may be more for residential property. 

Commissioner Markunas asked if there is any way to have the retaining wall color blend 
in with the landscaping on the subject site. 

Commissioner Jakubowski added that the proposed Abbey Woods North retaining wall has 
a stone look which may be a good comparison material. 

Eric Carlson responded that they could provide more landscaping to make the wall less 
visible. 

Chair Schaeffer asked if there are any native plantings proposed for the wet bottom 
detention basin. 



Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 10/12/23 | Page 7 
 

Eric Carlson responded that they don’t know the answer right now on what type of 
detention will be required, so they are not sure if landscaping will be at the bottom. 

 Chair Schaeffer asked if the parking lot island will have landscaping. 

Mike Schwarz responded that the parking lot islands are required to have landscaping.  He 
also notes that the applicant provided foundation landscaping even though it is not required. 

Commissioner Markunas stated that the applicant will need to provide details on the drive- 
through overhead bars. 

Chair Schaeffer asked if there will be any signage to identify where the one-way circulation 
in the parking lot starts. 

 Eric Carlson responded that the newly submitted plans point out such signage. 

Commissioner Markunas asked if the applicant knows who the other tenants will be and 
what their respective hours of operations will be. 

The applicant responded that she has started conversations  but wanted to hear the feedback 
from the workshop meeting first. 

Commissioner Morris stated that he likes the second drive-through lane being dedicated 
for mobile orders only. He asked if any parking spaces will be specifically dedicated for 
carry outs. He asked if there is any data as it relates to parking demand. 

The applicant responded that a dedicated carry out space will not be provided on the subject 
site. She did not have information on parking demand but stated that the business is not 
really sought as a destination; rather it is more sought after for its drive-through service 
where it typically takes 88 seconds to get through the drive-through lane. 

There was some discussion about the proposed access point along Route 45. 
Commissioners agreed to discuss the access point after IDOT approval and 
recommendations are received.  

Chair Schaeffer asked about how the transition between two-way and one-way provides 
circulation.  

Eric Carlson responded that the intent is to keep the circulation aligned with the flow of 
the drive-through lanes to avoid conflicts. Additionally, customers of the other tenants have 
a choice to get out via the two-way circulation. The parking spaces at the south end of the 
property will be mostly employee parking. 



Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 10/12/23 | Page 8 
 

There was general agreement from Commissioners that the flow around the building was 
okay with them. 

Commissioner Markunas stated that the applicant should move the pavement signage 
further east and that there should be a one-way sign placed on the south end of the site prior 
to drivers getting behind the building. 

 Chair Schaeffer stated that the applicant will need to provide trash enclosure details. 

Commissioner Markunas stated that there is not a current need for a multi-use path along 
La Grange Road because a path is nowhere near the subject site and there are already 
sidewalks  constructed along Lagrange Road. 

Commissioner Morris asked staff if the transportation plan speaks to improvements 
planned for Route 45.  

Mike Schwarz responded that the Comprehensive Plan calls for a future path along Route 
45 but there is no such path located in the immediate area. 

Eric Carlson asked the Commissioners how they would feel if the applicant were to remove 
the outer landscape island proposed by the drive-through lane on the east side of the 
property for better circulation. 

Commissioner Jakubowski stated that she does not have an issue with removing that 
landscape island because it helps customers who want to get out of the drivethrough lane 
sooner. 

Commissioner Markunas asked staff if removing the landscape island would add a 
variation request. 

 Mike Schwarz responded yes. 

Commissioner Markunas advised the applicant not to add a variance request. The landscape 
island prevents people from backing out of a parking space and hitting a person in the drive 
through lane. 

Chair Schaeffer added that the applicant should keep the landscape island in the plans 
unless it is a necessity to remove it. 

Commissioner Knieriem asked if the calculations done for tree preservation were done 
before or after the property owners cleared the site. 

 Mike Schwarz stated that the tagging was done after the site was cleared. 

 The applicant added that the site was cleared before she purchased the land.  



Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 10/12/23 | Page 9 
 

 Commissioner Knieriem asked if the applicant had already purchased the site. 

The applicant responded that she purchased the site June 2023 and plans to continue 
operation of Dunkin’ in one of the tenant spaces and lease the other tenant spaces. 

 Commissioner Jakubowski stated that she prefers all tenant spaces to have a similar roof
 pediment type. 

Commissioner Hogan added that he is fine with the shape of the roof pediment but would 
like the Dunkin’ sign to be centered over the door. 

Eric Carlson responded that he could not center the Dunkin’ sign due to the structure of the 
roof behind the sign. 

Commissioner Markunas stated that the submitted plans show a brick veneer instead of full 
brick. He suggests putting natural stone on the building. 

 Eric Carlson passed around samples of the proposed material. 

Commissioner James added that there are other restaurant buildings along Lagrange Road 
that have similar architecture and material to what the applicant is proposing. 

Eric Carlson stated that visibility of Dunkin’ wall sign is a concern. He asked if they can 
continue with the square look for the Dunkin’ sign since newer built Dunkin’s are aiming 
toward that style. 

Chair Schaeffer stated that buildings around the property have gables and that a uniform 
gable look is preferred.  

There was some discussion about adding a band on the elevation to be consistent with other 
commercial buildings in the Village of Frankfort. 

Commissioner James stated that the Dunkin’ located at Wolf and 187th is a good 
comparable for architectural purposes. 

The applicant asked the Commissioners how Dunkin’, as the anchor of the proposed multi-
tenant building, could stand out more. 

Commissioner Markunas stated that a taller roof at the corner unit is typically a way that 
anchor tenants in the Village of Frankfort stand out. 

There was some discussion about comparable anchor tenants that provided a prominent 
architectural feature such as Dollar Tree or Senso Sushi. 



Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes: 10/12/23 | Page 10 
 

Commissioner Jakubowski stated that she prefers the monument sign to be full brick with 
the letters for the tenant names attached right onto the brick. 

Commissioner Knieriem stated that since the applicant may be willing to change the 
signage on the building that was specific to their branding, Dunkin’ could potentially have 
their branding colors on the monument sign while all other tenants have white lettering on 
the monument sign.  

Commissioner Knieriem stated that he would be open to compromise on the size of the 
sign if the applicant agrees  to not propose a backlit sign. 

Eric Carlson stated that with a larger sign, there is flexibility for the number of tenant signs 
which was originally a concern of the applicant. He added that Dunkin’ appreciates a white 
background for their signs. He asked how they could implement a white background. 

Commissioner Knieriem responded that they could put cultured stone as the light 
background to put the Dunkin’ sign on.  

There was a consensus among the Commissioners that the request to vary from the 30-foot 
required landscaped front yard setback is reasonable because it will help with the concern 
for visibility and the applicant is willing to make accommodations.   

Commissioner Knieriem asked why the applicant is planning on moving from the existing 
location. 

The applicant responded that she is seeking to relocate the business because she would like 
to own the tenant space rather than lease it. Additionally, the flow of traffic at the existing 
location is not great and there is no space at the existing location for amenities like outdoor 
seating. 

 There was some discussion about lighting around the monument sign. 

The applicant asked if another drivethrough or pick-up window would be allowed at the 
subject site. 

Commissioner Knieriem asked how a pick-up window is different from a drive-through 
window. 

The applicant stated that a pick-up window would provide service to people who place an 
order online and walk to the window to pick-up their online order. 

There was consensus among the Commissioners that an additional drivethrough or pick-
up window service would negatively impact the operation of the anchor tenant, Dunkin’. 



 
 

Findings of Fact Commissioner Evaluation Form – Special Use Permit 
 

Article 3, Section E, Part 6 of the Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance lists “findings” or “standards” that the Plan Commission must use to evaluate 
every special use permit request. No special use shall be recommended by the Plan Commission unless all the following findings are made. 
 

 STANDARD NOTES MEETS 
a. That the establishment, maintenance or 

operation of the special use will not be 
detrimental to, or endanger, the public health, 
safety, morals, comfort or general welfare. 

  
YES              NO 
 

b. That the special use will not be injurious to the 
use and enjoyment of other property in the 
immediate vicinity for the purposes already 
permitted, nor substantially diminish and impair 
property values within the neighborhood. 

  
YES              NO 
 

c. That the establishment of the special use will not 
impede the normal and orderly development and 
improvement of the surrounding property for 
uses permitted in the district. 

  
 
YES              NO 
 

d. That the exterior architectural appeal and 
functional plan of any proposed structure will not 
be so at variance with either the exterior 
architectural appeal and functional plan of the 
structures already constructed, or in the course of 
construction in the immediate neighborhood or 
the character of the applicable district, as to 
cause a substantial depreciation in the property 
values within the neighborhood. 

  
 
 
 
YES              NO 
 



e. That the adequate utilities, access roads, drainage 
and/or necessary facilities have been or are being 
provided. 

  
YES              NO 
 

f. That adequate measures have been or will be 
taken to provide ingress and egress so designed 
as to minimize traffic congestion in the public 
streets. 

  
YES              NO 
 

g. That the special use shall, in all other respects, 
conform to the applicable regulations of the 
district in which it is located, except as such 
regulations may, in each instance, be modified by 
the Village Board, pursuant to the 
recommendations of the Plan Commission. 

  
 
YES              NO 
 

 



 
 

Standards of Variation Commissioner Evaluation Form 
 

Article 3, Section B, Part 3 of the Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance lists “findings” or “standards” that the Zoning Board of Appeals must use 
to evaluate every variation request. The Zoning Board of Appeals must answer the following three findings favorable to the applicant based upon 
the evidence provided.  
 

 STANDARD NOTES MEETS 
1. That the property in question cannot yield a 

reasonable return if permitted to be used only 
under the conditions allowed by the regulations 
in that zone;  

  
YES              NO 
 

2. That the plight of the owner is due to unique 
circumstances; 

  
YES              NO 
 

3. That the variation, if granted, will not alter the 
essential character of the locality. 

  
YES              NO 
 

 
For the purpose of supplementing the above standards, the Zoning Board of Appeals also determines if the following seven facts, favorable to the 
applicant, have been established by the evidence.  
 

 STANDARD NOTES MEETS 
1. That the particular physical surroundings, shape 

or topographical conditions of the specific 
property involved will bring a particular 
hardship upon the owner, as distinguished from 
a mere inconvenience, if the strict letter of the 
regulations was carried out;  

  
 
YES              NO 
 



2. That the conditions upon which the petition for 
variation is based would not be applicable, 
generally, to other property within the same 
zoning classification;  

  
YES              NO 
 

3. That the purpose of the variation is not based 
exclusively upon a desire to make more money 
out of the property;  

  
YES              NO 
 

4. That the alleged difficulty or hardship has not 
been created by any person presently having an 
interest in the property;  

  
YES              NO 
 

5. That the granting of the variation will not be 
detrimental to the public welfare or unduly 
injurious to other property or improvements in 
the neighborhood in which the property is 
located;  

  
 
YES              NO 
 

6. That the exterior architectural appeal and 
functional plan of any proposed structure will 
not be so at variance with either the exterior 
architectural appeal and functional plan of the 
structures already constructed, or in the course 
of construction in the immediate neighborhood 
or the character of the applicable district, as to 
cause a substantial depreciation in the property 
values within the neighborhood; or  

  
 
 
 
YES              NO 
 

7. That the proposed variation will not impair an 
adequate supply of air to adjacent property, 
substantially increase the danger of fire, 
otherwise endanger the public safety or 
substantially diminish or impair property values 
within the neighborhood.  

  
 
YES              NO 
 

 

 

 



1 

                                          

Planning Commission / ZBA                                                                                                                       January 25, 2024 

 
Project: 39 and 49 E. Bowen Street Variance 
Meeting Type:  Public Hearing 
Request(s): Variation from Article 6, Section B, Part 4(e) to exceed the allowable wall massing. 
Location: 39 and 49 E. Bowen Street 
Applicant:  Jarrett Lecas (Gander Builders) 
Prop. Owner:  Chicago Land Trust Company Trust No.8002380636 
Representative: Jarrett Lecas (Gander Builders) 
Report By:  Amanda Martinez, Planner 
 

Site Details 
 

Existing Lot Size: ±1.51 acres (39 E. Bowen Street)                                    Figure 1: Location Map  

  ±1.02 acres (49 E. Bowen Street) 
Proposed Lot Size: ±1.76 acres (Lot 2) 
PIN(s):  1909223040120000 and 1909223040130000 
Existing Zoning:  R-2 Single-Family Residential District   
Building(s) / Lot(s): 2 existing tax parcels and 2 proposed lots 
Adjacent Land Use Summary:  
        

 Land Use Comp. Plan Zoning 

Subject 
Property 

Single-family Residential    Single-Family 
Detached Residential 

R-2 

North  Single-family Residential 
 

Single-Family 
Detached Residential 

R-2 

South Single-family Residential     Single-Family 
Detached Residential 

R-2 

East Unincorporated    Single-Family 
Detached Residential 

N/A 

West Single-family Residential    Single-Family 
Detached Residential 

R-2 

 
Project Summary  
 

The applicant, Jarrett Lecas, consultant from Gander Builders, representing Chicago Title Land Trust Company Trust 
No. 8002380636, property owner, requesting a variation from Article 6, Section B, Part 4(e) to allow more than two 
(2) uninterrupted wall lengths of  thirty-five (35) feet or greater along any façade of a primary structure, and to 
exceed the required maximum thirty-five (35) foot length of an uninterrupted wall facing a public right-of-way, for 
the property located in the R-2, Single Family Residential District at 39 and 49 E. Bowen Street, Frankfort, Illinois 
(PIN: 1909223040120000 and 1909223040130000). The applicant intends to accommodate construction of a 10,679 
square foot (1st floor, 2nd floor, and basement) home on the 1.76-acre Lot 2 of the proposed Preliminary and Final 
Plat of the Voorn Lawndale Subdivision. Per the submitted site plan, the home would have three (3) walls that exceed 
thirty-five (35) feet in length which include the wall facing north (front façade facing Lawndale Court), south (rear 
façade), and west (garage façade facing west). 

Per the proposed Preliminary and Final Plat of the Voorn Lawndale Subdivision, Lot 2 would measure 165 ft. wide by 
324.87 ft. deep on the eastern 165 ft. and would measure 49.71 ft. wide by 471.39 ft. deep on the western 49.71 ft. 
(±1.76 acres). The Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals recommended approval of the plat at its January 11, 
2024 meeting, subject to staff approval of any necessary technical revisions prior to recording.   

Attachments 



2 

• Aerial Photograph from Will County GIS 
• 39 E. Bowen Street Plat of Survey dated 5.16.22 
• 49 E. Bowen Street Plat of Survey dated 5.16.22 
• 39 and 49 E. Bowen Street Plat of Survey dated 5.16.22 
• Site Visit Photographs taken on 12.28.23 
• Preliminary and Final Plat of the Voorn Lawndale Subdivision dated 7.14.23  
• Architectural Plans dated 8.24.23 
• Site Plan received 1.8.24 
• Colored Rendering received 1.19.24 
• Variation Findings of Fact Responses by Applicant  
• Variation Findings of Fact Form for PC/ZBA Commissioners 

 
Analysis 
 

In consideration of the requests, staff offers the following points of discussion: 
 

• The subject parcels were annexed into the Village of Frankfort in 1912 by Ordinance No. 295. The parcels 
are zoned R-2 Single-Family Residential District. 
 

• The proposed Preliminary and Final Plat of the Voorn Lawndale Subdivision as well as the proposed site 
plan for the house construction are under review by the Village Engineer.  
 

• A sidewalk is required along the frontage along Lot 2 (along Lawndale Court) to provide the necessary public 
improvements per the Village’s Subdivision Regulations. A right-of-way dedication will be required to 
accommodate the required sidewalk. The right-of-way dedication will be reviewed as part of the Village 
Engineer’s review of the Preliminary and Final Plat of the Voorn Lawndale Subdivision. 

 
• The proposed site plan depicts the existing trees on the lot which are intended to remain on site. Staff 

anticipates that the sidewalk configuration may necessitate the trees fronting Lawndale Court to be 
removed. The applicant is required by the Building Department to provide 6-7 parkway trees on the final 
development plans. 

 
• The proposed Preliminary and Final Plat of the Voorn Lawndale Subdivision, site plan, and architectural 

plans conform with the Zoning Ordinance’s residential development requirements, except for the subject 
request. 
 

• The applicant indicated that full dimensional bricks will be used for the home, so staff requested that the 
applicant revise the architectural plans to reflect the full dimension brick and stone rather than stating 
“veneer”.  

 
• The intent of Article 6, Section B, Part 4(e) is to ensure that lengthy walls are avoided by requiring multiple 

wall planes on a facade and to ensure that lengthy walls are not visible from public right-of-way. Article 6, 
Section B, Part 4(e) allows sideload garage homes to have a maximum of 2 and in this case the applicant 
proposes a sideload garage. 
 

• Per the submitted site plan, the home would have three (3) wall planes that exceed thirty-five (35) feet in 
length. The subject walls are proposed facing north (front façade facing Lawndale Court), south (rear 
façade), and west (west facade). 
 

• North Wall: The length of the subject wall plane on the front façade of the home (which faces public right-
of-way) is 38.6 linear feet, exceeding the maximum 35-foot threshold. The subject wall plane is 
approximately 19.5 feet in height. The subject wall plane consists of the following architectural treatments: 
 



3 

o Stone accent 
o Stone lintels 
o 10” limestone header 
o Covered front porch 
o Cedar columns 
o Light fixtures 
o Two 36”x120” French doors 
o Eight 36”x74” windows 
o Eight 36”x24” transom windows 

 
• South Wall: The length of the subject wall plane on the south facade is 38.6 linear feet, exceeding the 

maximum 35-foot threshold. The subject wall plane is approximately 17.17 feet in height. The subject wall 
plane consists of the following architectural treatments: 
 

o Stone accent 
o Stone lintel 
o 10” limestone header 
o Covered back porch 
o Cedar columns 
o Five 84”x120” windows 

 
• West Wall: The length of the subject wall plane on the west façade (garage façade) is 48.63 linear feet, 

exceeding the maximum 35-foot threshold. The subject wall plane is approximately 25.25 feet in height. 
The subject wall plane consists of the following architectural treatments: 
 

o Side load garage 
o Stone accent  
o 10” limestone header 
o Light fixtures 
o Copper metal roofs above windows  
o One door with a copper metal roof above  
o Two 16’x8’ garage doors 
o Seven 36”x72” windows 
o Six 36”x36” windows 
o Eight 48”x24” transom windows 

 
• The current tax parcel located at 39 E. Bowen Street (1909223040120000) measures 138.80 ft. wide by 

473.64 ft. deep (±1.51 acres). The current tax parcel located at 49 E. Bowen Street (1909223040130000) 
measures 90.39 ft. wide by 475.11 ft. deep (±1.02 acres). 
 

• Lot 2 is proposed as a double frontage lot that measures 165 ft. wide by 324.87 ft. deep on the eastern 165 
ft. and measures 49.71 ft. wide by 471.39 ft. deep on the western 49.71 ft. (±1.76 acres). Lot 2 is configured 
as a double frontage lot to allow for a private pedestrian, tree-lined path/connection to Bowen Street; the 
property owner indicated that there is no plan to pave the tree-lined path/connection, or to provide any 
vehicular access to Bowen Street. 
 

• The following table is provided to compare the subject property with the R-2 District dimensional and bulk 
standards (since the site plan will be revised, staff identifies the dimensions that may change with an 
asterisk symbol): 

            



4 

  

Standards for Variations  
 

R-2 
District Requirements 
  

Existing Tax 
Parcel 
Conditions at  
39 E. Bowen 
Street 

Existing Tax 
Parcel 
Conditions at  
49 E. Bowen 
Street 

Proposed Lot 2 Comments 

Minimum Lot Size  
(acres)  

  
0.34 acres (15,000 sq. 
ft.) 
  

  
±1.51 acres  

  
±1.02 acres  

  
±1.76 acres   

  
Complies 

Minimum  
Lot Width  
(feet) 

  
100 feet 

  
138.80 feet  

  
90.39 feet  

  
 214.71 feet 
  

 
Complies 

Minimum  
Lot Depth  
(feet) 

  
150 feet 
  

  
473.64 feet 

  
475.11 feet 

  
324.87 ft. deep on the 
eastern 165 ft.; and 
471.39 ft. deep on the 
western 49.71 ft.. 

  
Complies 

Minimum Required 
Setbacks (feet) 
  

• Front 
• Side 

(East) 
• Side 
• (West) 
• Rear 

  
• 30 feet 
• Total 25 feet 

(not less than 
10 on each 
side) 

• 30 feet  

  
N/A (vacant) 
 
 

 
N/A (vacant) 
  

 
• *80.7 feet  
• *36.8 feet 
• *12.6 feet 
• *Approx. 165 

feet 
  

  
 Complies   

Maximum Height 35 feet N/A (vacant) N/A (vacant) 34 feet 4 inches Complies 

Minimum Basement 
Size 

80% of 1st floor GFA N/A (vacant) N/A (vacant) 100% (both the basement 
and 1st floor are 4,562 
square feet)  

Complies 

Minimum Gross Floor 
Area 

2,600 square feet (for 
a 2-story home) 

N/A (vacant) N/A (vacant) 10,679 square feet (2-
story home) 

Complies 

Maximum Impervious 
Surface Coverage 

40% N/A (vacant) N/A (vacant) *Approx. 13.89% (current 
plan indicates 10.5% 
based on different 
acreage; staff requested 
the applicant revise the 
lot coverage table) 

Complies 

Maximum Lot Coverage 20% N/A (vacant) N/A (vacant) 
 

*Approx. 8% (current plan 
indicates 6% based on 
different acreage; staff 
requested the applicant 
revise the lot coverage 
table) 

Complies 

Maximum Rear Yard 
Coverage 

30% N/A (vacant) N/A (vacant) 
 

0% (no structure is 
proposed in the required 
rear yard) 

Complies 



5 

For reference during the Public Hearing, Article 3, Section B, Part 3 of the Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance lists 
“findings” or “standards” that the Zoning Board of Appeals must use to evaluate every variation request.  
 

a. The Zoning Board of Appeals shall not vary the provisions of this Ordinance as authorized in this Article 3, 
Section B, unless they have made findings based upon the evidence presented to it in the following cases:  

 
1. That the property in question cannot yield a reasonable return if permitted to be used only under the 

conditions allowed by the regulations in that zone;  
 

2. That the plight of the owner is due to unique circumstances;  
 

3. That the variation, if granted, will not alter the essential character of the locality.  
 

b. For the purpose of supplementing the above standards, the Zoning Board of Appeals, in making this 
determination, whenever there are practical difficulties or hardships, shall also take into consideration the 
extent to which the following facts, favorable to the applicant, have been established by the evidence:  

 
1. That the particular physical surroundings, shape or topographical conditions of the specific property 

involved will bring a particular hardship upon the owner, as distinguished from a mere inconvenience, 
if the strict letter of the regulations was carried out;  

 
2. That the conditions upon which the petition for variation is based would not be applicable, generally, 

to other property within the same zoning classification;  
 

3. That the purpose of the variation is not based exclusively upon a desire to make more money out of 
the property;  
 

4. That the alleged difficulty or hardship has not been created by any person presently having an interest 
in the property;  
 

5. That the granting of the variation will not be detrimental to the public welfare or unduly injurious to 
other property or improvements in the neighborhood in which the property is located;  
 

6. That the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of any proposed structure will not be so at 
variance with either the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of the structures already 
constructed, or in the course of construction in the immediate neighborhood or the character of the 
applicable district, as to cause a substantial depreciation in the property values within the 
neighborhood;  
 

7. That the proposed variation will not impair an adequate supply of air to adjacent property, substantially 
increase the danger of fire, otherwise endanger the public safety or substantially diminish or impair 
property values within the neighborhood. 

 
Affirmative Motion  
    

 For the Commission’s consideration, staff provides the following potential affirmative motions: 

1. Recommend that the Village Board approve the request for a variation to allow more than two (2) 
uninterrupted wall lengths of  thirty-five (35) feet or greater along any façade of a primary structure, and 
to exceed the required maximum thirty-five (35) foot length of an uninterrupted wall facing a public right-
of-way, for the property located in the R-2, Single Family Residential District at 39 and 49 E. Bowen Street, 
Frankfort, Illinois (PIN: 1909223040120000 and PIN: 1909223040130000), in accordance with the 
submitted plans, public testimony, and Findings of Fact, and additionally, subject to engineering and 
Building Permit review. 
 



Disclaimer of Warranties and Accuracy of Data: Although the data developed by Will County for its maps, websites, and Geographic 
Information System has been produced and processed from sources believed to be reliable, no warranty, expressed or implied, is made 
regarding accuracy, adequacy, completeness, legality, reliability or usefulness of any information. This disclaimer applies to both isolated and 
aggregate uses of the information. The County and elected officials provide this information on an "as is" basis. All warranties of any kind, 
express or implied, including but not limited to the implied warranties of merchantability, fitness for a particular purpose, freedom from 
contamination by computer viruses or hackers and non-infringement of proprietary rights are disclaimed. Changes may be periodically made 
to the information herein; these changes may or may not be incorporated in any new version of the publication. If you have obtained 
information from any of the County web pages from a source other than the County pages, be aware that electronic data can be altered 
subsequent to original distribution. Data can also quickly become out of date. It is recommended that careful attention be paid to the contents 
of any data, and that the originator of the data or information be contacted with any questions regarding appropriate use. Please direct any 
questions or issues via email to gis@willcountyillinois.com.

Notes

Legend

0.07

1: 2,257

0 Miles

39 and 49 Bowen Street

WGS_1984_Web_Mercator_Auxiliary_Sphere

Projection

1/5/2024 Date:

0.04

Address Points
Parcels
Townships











mschwarz
Received





















 







 
 

Standards of Variation Commissioner Evaluation Form 
 

Article 3, Section B, Part 3 of the Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance lists “findings” or “standards” that the Zoning Board of Appeals must use 
to evaluate every variation request. The Zoning Board of Appeals must answer the following three findings favorable to the applicant based upon 
the evidence provided.  
 

 STANDARD NOTES MEETS 
1. That the property in question cannot yield a 

reasonable return if permitted to be used only 
under the conditions allowed by the regulations 
in that zone;  

  
YES              NO 
 

2. That the plight of the owner is due to unique 
circumstances; 

  
YES              NO 
 

3. That the variation, if granted, will not alter the 
essential character of the locality. 

  
YES              NO 
 

 
For the purpose of supplementing the above standards, the Zoning Board of Appeals also determines if the following seven facts, favorable to the 
applicant, have been established by the evidence.  
 

 STANDARD NOTES MEETS 
1. That the particular physical surroundings, shape 

or topographical conditions of the specific 
property involved will bring a particular 
hardship upon the owner, as distinguished from 
a mere inconvenience, if the strict letter of the 
regulations was carried out;  

  
 
YES              NO 
 



2. That the conditions upon which the petition for 
variation is based would not be applicable, 
generally, to other property within the same 
zoning classification;  

  
YES              NO 
 

3. That the purpose of the variation is not based 
exclusively upon a desire to make more money 
out of the property;  

  
YES              NO 
 

4. That the alleged difficulty or hardship has not 
been created by any person presently having an 
interest in the property;  

  
YES              NO 
 

5. That the granting of the variation will not be 
detrimental to the public welfare or unduly 
injurious to other property or improvements in 
the neighborhood in which the property is 
located;  

  
 
YES              NO 
 

6. That the exterior architectural appeal and 
functional plan of any proposed structure will 
not be so at variance with either the exterior 
architectural appeal and functional plan of the 
structures already constructed, or in the course 
of construction in the immediate neighborhood 
or the character of the applicable district, as to 
cause a substantial depreciation in the property 
values within the neighborhood; or  

  
 
 
 
YES              NO 
 

7. That the proposed variation will not impair an 
adequate supply of air to adjacent property, 
substantially increase the danger of fire, 
otherwise endanger the public safety or 
substantially diminish or impair property values 
within the neighborhood.  

  
 
YES              NO 
 

 

 

 



Planning Commission / ZBA                                                     S      January 25, 2023 

Project: Abbey Woods North    
Meeting Type:  Workshop #2 
Requests: Rezoning (upon annexation), Preliminary Plat of Subdivision 
Location: South side of St. Francis Road, just east of La Grange Road  
Applicant: O’Malley Builders Inc.  
Prop. Owner: Steven Beemsterboer  
Representative: Shawn O’Malley 
Staff Reviewer:  Christopher Gruba 

Site Details 

Gross Area: 797,583 sq. ft. (18.31 acres)             Figure 1. Location Map    

Net Area 574,120 sq. ft. (13.18 acres) 
PIN(s): 19-09-15-300-019-0000
Existing Zoning: A-1 (County)
Proposed Zoning: R-2 (Single-Family Residential)
Future Land Use:  Single Family Detached Residential 
Lots: 26 

Adjacent Land Use Summary: 

Project Summary 

The applicant, O’Malley Builders, Inc., is proposing a 25-lot single-family detached residential subdivision for 
“Abbey Woods North” (the plans at the first workshop included 26 lots).  The subject property is located in 
unincorporated Will County and zoned A-1, Agricultural.  The Village’s 2019 Comprehensive Plan recommends that 
the property be developed for Single-Family detached homes.  The applicant is proposing to rezone the property to 
R-2, Single-Family Residential, upon annexation into the Village.  The current single parcel would be subdivided
into buildable lots and common area lots through a Plat of Subdivision.  To serve the proposed 25 lots, Waterview
Trail would be extended south of St. Francis Road and would be dedicated public right-of-way.  This road extension
would terminate in a cul-de-sac.  The proposed subdivision would follow a “traditional” development process and
would not be a PUD (the reasons for which explained later in this report).  As proposed, the development would
require several code exceptions, which could be permitted as part of a future annexation agreement.

Attachments 
1. Aerial Photographs, Village of Frankfort GIS (scales of 1:6,000 and 1:3,000)
2. FEMA floodplain and floodway maps
3. National Wetland Inventory Map

Land Use Comp. Plan Zoning 

Subject Property Undeveloped Single-Family A-1
(County) 

North Single-Family Single-Family R-2 

South       Floodway Conservation R-1 

East Religious/ 
Institutional 

Institutional/ 
Utility  

E-R 

West Single Family Single-Family A-1
(County) 

1



4. 2019 Bike Path Diagram
5. Table of Lot Size, Width and Depth, prepared by staff
6. 2008 Design Standards excerpt, Street Geometric Criteria
7. Subdivision Ordinance (Ord-921) excerpt, Section 9.2-10 Cul-de-sacs
8. Draft Covenants and Restrictions, received 6.21.23
9. Tree Survey and list of existing trees, received 1.16.24
10. Plat of Survey, received 1.16.24
11. Plat of Annexation, received 1.16.24
12. Preliminary Plat, received 1.16.24
13. Preliminary Plat, retaining walls bolded in red, property lines in blue (staff)
14. Landscape Plan, received 1.16.24
15. Lighting Plan, received 1.16.24
16. Truck Turning Plan, received 1.18.24

Analysis 

2019 Comprehensive Plan: 

The Comprehensive Plan designates the subject property as “Single-Family Detached Residential”.  The proposed 
use of the property for 25 single-family homes is consistent with the plan.  

Zoning: 

The subject property is currently zoned A-1, Agricultural, as per the zoning designation of Will County.  The 
applicant is proposing rezoning the property to R-2 (Single-Family Residential), upon annexation into the Village. 
The R-2 zone district permits single-family homes by-right.   

Dimensional Table: 

R-2 Standard Notes 

Minimum Lot Size 15,000 SF 
Largest: Lot 23: 19,445 SF, Smallest: 
Lots 18 & 19: 15,000 SF, Avg: 16,110 SF 

Minimum Lot Width* 100’ typical lot, 120’ corner lot Average: 108’ 

Minimum Lot Depth 
150’ typical lot, 130’ if abuts 

permanent open space Average: 146’ 

Maximum Density 2.25 d.u./net ac. Proposed: 1.89 d.u./net ac. 
Front Yard Setback 30’ min TBD (custom homes) 
Corner Side Yard Setback 30’ min TBD (custom homes) 

Side Yard Setback 
10’ min ea. side, total 25’ both 

sides TBD (custom homes) 

Rear Yard Setback 30’ min TBD (custom homes) 
Lot Coverage 20% max TBD (custom homes) 
Impervious Lot Coverage 40% max TBD (custom homes) 

*Min lot depth: The minimum lot depth may be decreased by 20’ if the rear lot line abuts permanent open space.
In this case, those lots that abut the detention ponds may be as little as 130’ deep.

Site Plan:  

General Comments: 

1. The site slopes down noticeably from a high point along St. Francis Drive to the low point of Hickory
Creek.  A significant portion of the southern end of the site is located in the floodway and cannot be
developed.

2



 
2. The R-2 zone district allows a maximum residential density of up to 2.25 dwelling units/acre.  The 

applicant is proposing a density of 1.89 dwelling units/acre, complying with this requirement.   
 

3. All 25 lots meet the minimum lot size requirement of 15,000 square feet for the R-2 zone district.  
 

4. Most of the 25 lots meet the minimum lot width requirement of 100’ for a typical lot and 120’ for a corner 
lot.  Lots 8, 9, and 25 are the only corner lots in the subdivision and all of them do not meet the required 
120’ lot width.  These substandard lots widths would require variations, which could be granted as part of 
the annexation agreement, and not as traditional variations.  
 

5. Most of the 25 lots meet the minimum lot depth requirement of 150’ for a typical lot and 130’ when the 
rear lot line of a lot abuts permanent open space (such as either detention pond).  Lots 10, 14, 15 and 16 
do not meet the minimum lot depth requirement. These substandard lots depths would require 
variations, which could be granted as part of the annexation agreement, and not as traditional variations. 
 

6. The Preliminary Plat illustrates the building setback lines on the lots as well as the proposed building 
footprint for each house (rectangle).  The building footprint should be located behind the building setback 
line.  However, the pie-shaped lots adjacent to the cul-de-sacs are much narrower at the front.  Since the 
R-2 zone district requires a minimum lot width of 100’ for non-corner lots, the building footprint 
(rectangle) was shifted back behind where the 100’ width is achieved on these lots.  The building setback 
line should be shifted back for Lots 12, 13, 23 and 24.  The building setback line on these lots is incorrectly 
illustrated and should be corrected with any future plan submittal.   

 
7. The applicant is proposing retaining walls on both the east and west sides of the subdivision development.  

Although the retaining walls are noted on the Plat, staff highlighted them in red on a separate exhibit so 
they can be seen more clearly.  There are 3 separate sections of retaining walls.  At the last workshop, the 
plans illustrated a double-tiered wall, but these have been changed to single walls for each section.  The 
longest wall section is approximately 333’.  The tallest of any retaining wall is 5.6’.  The 2008 Design 
Standards (page 70) notes that the use of retaining walls is “strongly discouraged” and that any retaining 
walls over 50’ long or 2.5’ tall require review and approval by the Plan Commission.  The Design Standards 
do not note this as a variation, but rather as an approval granted the Plan Commission.  If the Plan 
Commission decides to accept the use of the retaining walls as proposed, this acceptance would be noted 
in the meeting minutes as part of the written record.  

 
8. The applicant is proposing five light poles along the extension of Waterview Trail, south of St. Francis 

Road.  In discussions with Public Works, the streetlights may be the acorn-style fixtures to match those 
north of St. Francis Road, but the lighting element must be LED.  Staff also recommends installing 
reflectors at the top of the acorn fixture to help minimize light pollution, although this is not a 
requirement in the Zoning Ordinance.  Streetlights without cut-off fixtures, as in this case, cannot exceed 
12’ tall within the R-2 zone district. The proposed light poles would be 12’ measured to the top of the light 
fixture, meeting this requirement.  The light poles must not be spaced more than 300’ apart, per page 33 
of the Land Subdivision Regulations (Ord-921).  The first two lights from St. Francis Road are spaced 323’ 
and 315’ apart, not meeting this requirement.  Relief may be granted as part of the annexation 
agreement.  
 

9. 50’ of the north end of the property must be dedicated to the St. Francis Road right-of-way.  This 
dedication is illustrated on the Preliminary Plat.   

 
10. The applicant is requesting several variations for this project, including but not limited to providing less 

than the minimum required lot widths and depth.  In response, staff recommended to the applicant to 
investigate whether either of the adjacent property owners would consider conveying (selling) a portion 

3



of their land to provide greater flexibility of site design, such as meeting the minimum lot depth 
requirement.  The applicant has informed staff that neither neighboring property is interested.    
 

Parking & Loading:  
 

1. Each dwelling unit is required to provide a two-car garage. It’s anticipated that each unit will have a 2-car 
garage, meeting this requirement.  
 

2. The extension of Waterview Trail would be dedicated as a public road, complying with the 2008 Design 
Standards, including the required 66’ right-of-way width.  On-street parking would be permitted on this 
new public road.  
 

Vehicular & Pedestrian Circulation:  
 

1. The Waterview Trail extension would be approximately 1,200’ long, measured from the proposed public 
sidewalk along St. Francis Road to the end of the cul-de-sac.  The 2008 Design Standards (page 97) 
requires that any dead-end local street shall not exceed 750’.  The Subdivision Ordinance (Ord-921, page 
50) requires that any dead-end street serving 25 or more homes shall not exceed 500’.  The proposed 
road extension would therefore require relief from both these requirements, which may be provided as 
part of the annexation agreement.  
 

2. The Subdivision Ordinance (page 46) notes that proposed streets shall extend to the boundary lines of the 
tract to be subdivided.  For this reason, and due to the long length of the proposed road extension 
terminating in a cul-de-sac, staff requested a stub street connection to the undeveloped 18-acre property 
to the west, commonly known as the Fleck Property.  This stub street connection meets the minimum 
right-of-way width of 66’, complete with curbing and 5’ sidewalks on either side.  However, the street 
pavement and sidewalks stop short of the Fleck property by about 30’.  Staff recommends that all 
pavement extend to the property line as is required per code.  The stub street, with sidewalks, would be 
required to be installed at the same time as the rest of the right-of-way improvements for the Waterview 
Trail extension.  The plans should be amended prior to the public hearing and staff recommends that this 
be added as a condition of approval at that time.  
 

3. The Subdivision Ordinance notes that the length of a residential block shall not exceed 2,000’ (page 52).  
At approximately 1,200’, the proposed Waterview Trail extension complies with this requirement.  
 

4. A 6’ wide sidewalk is required along the south side St. Francis Road and 5’ wide sidewalks along each side 
of the Waterview Trail extension.  Both of the required sidewalks are illustrated on the Preliminary Plat.  
 

5. In 2019, the Village drafted preliminary planning documents for a future bike path along the north side of 
Hickory Creek from La Grange Road near Dollar Tree to an older pedestrian bridge near Lighthouse Pointe 
Park (see attached exhibit).  The bike path crosses through the subject property at the south end, close to 
Hickory Creek, and would be the first segment of the path to be completed.  At staff’s request, the 
applicant has provided a 10’ wide bike path connection, closely matching the preliminary plans for the 
route of the bike path and would allow a future connection to properties on either side.  The bike path 
would be located in a common area within part of Outlot A, to be owned and maintained by the HOA.  
The bike path would also connect to the cul-de-sac right-of-way, making it accessible to residents of the 
subdivision.  The general public could also access the bike path via St. Francis to the Waterview Trail 
extension.  The proposed retaining walls would not interfere with the bike path.  

 
 

4



Stormwater & Drainage:  
 
There is significant floodway over the south 1/5 of the subject property adjacent to Hickory Creek (see attached 
FEMA exhibits).  The proposed development maximizes the number of lots on the site and the applicant has been 
working closely with Robinson Engineering for preliminary engineering approval.  At this time, some of Robinson’s 
preliminary engineering comments have been addressed, although some comments still remain.  On-site detention 
has been provided in two detention ponds: one adjacent to Hickory Creek and one along the western side of the 
development.   
 
The most significant engineering change since the first workshop is that the double-tiered retaining walls on the 
east and west sides of the project have been replaced with single-tier walls.  This seems to have been achieved by 
creating a shared drainage swale that straddles the west property line, encroaching slightly onto the Fleck 
property.  The shared drainage swale will require that a 15’ wide public utility & drainage easement be placed on 
the Fleck property.  As such, a Plat of Easement will be required on the Fleck property.  The Fleck property is 
currently unincorporated in Will County and any such Plat of Easement would need to be reviewed and approved 
by Will County.  The applicant has been in discussions with Mrs. Fleck regarding the shared drainage swale, but a 
draft agreement between the two property owners was not available at the time of this report.  If desired, the 
PC/ZBA could add a condition of approval to the Plat of Subdivision that a copy of the recorded 15’ public utility 
and drainage easement on the Fleck property be provided to staff.  
 
Landscaping:  

Most of the Village’s landscaping requirements are listed in the Landscape Ordinance, although some 
requirements are listed in the Zoning Ordinance.  For the proposed residential subdivision, four (4) basic types of 
landscaping are required:  

1. Landscaping adjacent to an Arterial Road (St. Francis): A 25’ wide, 3’ tall, landscaped berm is required 
along the length of St. Francis Road.  This berm must contain “125 plant units” per 100’ of lineal frontage 
and at least 40% of the plant units must be evergreen.  A 3’ tall berm is provided along the entire length of 
St. Francis Road, although there are two gaps east of the proposed Waterview Trail extension, but these 
have been provided for drainage.  The Landscape Ordinance does permit exceptions when the berm 
would conflict with drainage, as in this case.  This 25’ landscape berm is located in a 25’ wide “no fence, 
no access” easement, to ensure no fences or vehicular (driveway) connections to St. Francis Road.  

2. Street Trees (Parkway Plantings) along the Waterview Trail extension:  One (1) overstory tree is required 
for every 35’ lineal feet of road frontage.  The Landscape Plan notes that three (3) different tree species 
will be provided for the street trees.  The total number of street trees provided complies with this code 
requirement.  

3. Landscaping around the perimeter of stormwater detention facilities:  Twenty (20) plant units are 
required for every 100’ lineal feet of perimeter around each pond, measured at the high-water level 
(HWL).  It appears that the proposed pond landscaping has been placed above the high-water level.   

4. Preservation Tree mitigation: The Tree Survey lists all of the existing trees on the property, with 158 
existing trees in total.  As listed on the Tree Survey itself, 72 of the 158 trees would be removed.  Of the 
72 trees to be removed, 47 of these are classified as “preservation trees” in the Landscape Ordinance and 
are “fair” or “good” condition.  Preservation trees, due to their desirability for ecological and aesthetic 
reasons, must be mitigated on-site site with other new trees at least 2.5” in caliper.  Preservation trees 
must be mitigated at a 1:1 ratio of caliper inch removed.  The 47 preservation trees to be removed, in fair 
or good condition, add up to a total of 588”.  The minimum size of a mitigation tree must be at least 2.5” 
caliper.  As such, at least 235 mitigation trees must be planted on-site, in addition to the trees and shrubs 

5



required for the St. Francis berm, detention ponds and street trees.  It’s unclear whether there is physically 
enough space in the development to plant all of the mitigation trees on-site.  Mitigation trees can’t be 
planted on private lots, below the high-water line of the detention ponds or in the floodway or floodplain.  
As allowed per the Landscape Ordinance, staff is not requiring the mitigation of preservation trees that 
are in “poor” or “dead” condition.  If space is not available to plant all of the mitigation trees on-site, the 
developer is required to pay into a Village cash-in-lieu fund.  

In summary, the landscaping requirements appear to have been met for the landscape berm, parkway plantings 
and around the detention pond.  However, it’s uncertain whether enough mitigation trees have been placed on 
site to offset the removal of preservation trees.  Further work is required between staff and the applicant to 
determine whether there is a deficiency, and if so, by how much.  

Traditional Development vs. PUD:  

Staff is recommending that the subdivision be developed in a “traditional” sense and not as a PUD.  To support this 
decision, staff offers the following:  

The purpose of PUD’s is described in the Zoning Ordinance on page 22: This section is intended to provide the 
means and guidelines through which tracts of land may be developed through a comprehensive approach, rather 
than the traditional lot-by-lot treatment afforded by other districts in this ordinance. It is intended to provide a 
maximum of design freedom by permitting the developer an opportunity to more fully utilize the physical 
characteristics of the site through the reduction of lot sizes, yards, height and bulk restrictions and mixing of uses. 
Through the requirement of a development plan, it is the intent that property under this section will be developed 
through a unified design, providing contiguity between the various elements, and ultimately leading to a better 
environment. Increased densities may be permitted under this section if such increases can be substantiated on the 
basis that the superior site design makes greater densities possible, with no reduction of amenities; and keeping 
with the Village desire to provide a wide range of open space opportunities to serve local park and recreation 
facilities for active and passive use. This section is not intended to be a device for making increased densities more 
acceptable, or as a means of circumventing the Village’s bulk regulations or standards. This section should only be 
employed in instances where a benefit for the community can truly be derived from its use.  

Staff offers the following:  

1. Per the definition above, a PUD “…should only be employed in instances where a benefits for the 
community can truly be derived from its use”.  It’s not clear what benefits are offered or could be offered 
as proposed.  The development does not provide any usable, common open space, community structures 
such as a gazebo or dog park or preserve any mature trees not located in the floodplain.  The only benefit 
offered is a bike path, which is required pursuant to Section 8.4-1 of the Land Subdivision Regulations 
which pertains to specific requirements for recreational sites that are included in the Comprehensive 
Plan.  The proposed shared use path is reflected as a “Priority Gap” on Figure 3.2 Frankfort Trail Inventory 
Map on Page 25 in the Comprehensive Plan.  

2. The illustration on page 30 of the Zoning Ordinance is intended to provide an example of a typical 
residential PUD.  It illustrates smaller (typically undersized) lots, provides usable common open space, 
preserves existing wooded areas and provides a larger buffer from a river.  The proposed Preliminary Plat 
for Abbey Woods North maximizes lot sizes, provides no usable open space, removes a large number of 
existing trees on the site (most of which are located in the floodplain and floodway of Hickory Creek) and 
the development extends as close as possible to Hickory Creek itself.  In short, the proposed plan does not 
look like the picture.  

3. The applicant is required to provide “tangible benefits” for PUD developments.  These tangible benefits 
are intended to offset the “exceptions” (variations) requested.  These tangible benefits should go above 
and beyond what is already required by code.  Again, the only possible tangible benefit as proposed is a 

6



10’ wide bike path, which would have been required for this property anyway.  Tangible benefits also 
sometimes involve additional landscaping above and beyond what is required by code.  In addition to the 
required landscaping around the ponds, the berm along St. Francis Road and the street trees along 
Waterview Trail, the applicant will be required to plant 235 2.5” caliper trees to mitigate the preservation 
trees lost.  It’s quite possible that there isn’t enough space to plant these 235 mitigation trees on-site, and 
therefore there wouldn’t be any space beyond that to add additional plantings to reach the level of a 
tangible benefit.  

Other:  
 

1. The Fire District has reviewed the proposed site plan and does not have any additional comments at this 
time.  
 

2. A draft of the Covenants and Restrictions have been provided and included with this report.   
 

3. The applicant is expected to provide a SHPO clearance letter, which would determine if there are any 
significant cultural resources that would be impacted by the proposed development.  
 

4. On November 8, 2022, the applicant was asked by staff to transmit a copy of the proposed Plat to the 
School District and Frankfort Park District in accordance with Section 1B of Ordinance No. 2265, 
commonly referred to as the School and Park Donation Ordinance.  On January 19, 2023, the applicant 
forwarded an email from the Park District, noting that they will be requesting a cash-in-lieu payment from 
the developer.  The payment is a function of the size of each home, which is not known at this time.  
However, the Park District estimates a cash donation between $134,559 and $174,987.  To-date, staff has 
not received a response from the School District but we anticipate that a cash donation based on the 
bedroom formula, and payable at the time of building permit application will be acceptable.  
 

Code Relief Requested 
 
The applicant is requesting the following code relief for the project.  These requests may be memorialized as part 
of the Annexation Agreement and its attachments, which may eventually be approved by the Village Board.  To 
“offset” the requested relief, the PC/ZBA may recommend additional amenities for the development, which would 
be conditions of approval that may also make their way into the future annexation agreement.  Conversely, the 
PC/ZBA may choose to state for the record during the workshop that they are not in favor of granting some or all 
of the relief requests.   
 
The code relief requests, thus far, are as follows:  
 

1. The minimum lot depth for the R-2 zone district is 150’ for a typical lot, but this lot depth may be 
decreased to 130’ when the rear lot line abuts permanent, common open space.  Lots 10, 14, 15 and 16 
do not meet the minimum 150’ depth requirement.  Please see attached Lot Size, Width and Depth 
exhibit prepared by staff.  

2. The minimum lot width for the R-2 zone district is 100’ for typical lots and 120’ for corner lots.  There are 
three (3) corner lots proposed (Lots 8, 9 and 25) that do not meet the 120’ minimum width.  Please see 
attached Lot Size, Width and Depth exhibit prepared by staff. 

3. The 2008 Design Standards note that local access roads that terminate in a cul-de-sac may not exceed 
750’ long (page 97).  The proposed road extension of Waterview Trail, including the cul-de-sac, measures 
approximately 1,200’.  

7



4. The Subdivision Ordinance (Ord-921), notes that cul-de-sacs or dead-end streets serving 25 or more 
dwelling units may not exceed 500’ in length.  The proposed road extension of Waterview Trail, including 
the cul-de-sac, measures approximately 1,200’.  

 

Rezoning, Findings of Fact 
 
The Plan Commission shall make written findings of fact and shall submit same, together with its 
recommendations to the Village Board, for action.  Where the purpose and effect of the proposed amendment is 
to change the zoning classification of particular property, the Plan Commission shall make findings based upon all 
the evidence presented to it and shall consider among other pertinent matters, the following:   
 

1. Existing uses of property within the general area of the property in question; 
2. The zoning classification of property within the general area of the property in question; 
3. The suitability of the property in question to the uses permitted under the existing zoning classification; 
4. The trend of development, if any, in the general area of the property in question, including changes, if 

any, which have taken place in its present zoning classification; and 
5. The change in zoning is in conformance with the comprehensive plan of the Village and its official map. 

 
The proposed R-2 zoning of the subdivision would match the existing R-2 zoning to the north in the Candle Creek 
Subdivision.  The E-R zone district to the east and the R-1 zone district to the south are generally compatible with 
the proposed R-2 zoning.  The property to the west remains unincorporated but has a County zone district of A-1 
(agricultural).  
 
Anticipated Review Process 
 
The anticipated review process is as follows:  

1. PC/ZBA workshop #2 (January 25, 2024) 
2. Applicant and Robinson Engineering work together to obtain Preliminary/Final Engineering approval 
3. PC/ZBA public hearing: Recommendations made for Rezoning, Preliminary Plat of Subdivision and any code 

relief requests that would be memorialized as part of the Annexation Agreement.  Also, review Plat of 
Easement for 15’ public utility & drainage easement on the Fleck property to the west.  

4. Staff sends Annexation Agreement to Village Attorney for legal review and comment 
5. Committee of the Whole review of the Annexation Agreement, including several attachments 
6. Village Board review and action for Preliminary Plat of Subdivision, Ordinance for Annexation Agreement 

(Public Hearing and legal notices required), Ordinance for Annexing Certain Land into Village (Plat of 
Annexation) and Ordinance for Rezoning from E-R (default zoning) to R-2.  Also, review of Plat of Easement 
for Fleck property.  

7. Return to Plan Commission for review and recommendation of Final Plat of Subdivision 
8. Return to Village Board for review and action for Final Plat of Subdivision  

 

8



S 
LA

 G
R

A
N

G
E 

R
D

ABBEY DR

W ST FRANCIS RD

B
R

EN
D

A
N

 S
T

W
A

TERVIEW

TRL

PO
RT

 D
R

W
OO

DS
DR

AINE DR

FR
A

NC
IS

LN

FR
ANC

IS
CA

W
AY

STAR CT

MAURA CT

C
RYSTA

L LA
K

E W
AY

LINCOLNWAY LN

LILAC CT

ABBO
T CT

AB
BE

Y 
W

O
O

DS
 C

T 
N

CONVENT CT

SHIMMERING VIEW CT
C

A
R

D
IN

A
L 

C
T

SHIMMERING VIEW DR

H
O

LL
A

N
D

 H
A

R
B

O
R

 D
R

0 500 1,000250
Feet

µ
Abbey Woods North - 26-lot subdivision

9



W ST FRANCIS RD

PO
RT

 D
R

B
R

EN
D

A
N

 S
T

FR
A

N
C

IS LN

W
AT

ER
VI

EW
TR

L

MAURA CT

C
RY

ST
A

L 
LA

K
E 

W
AY

0 250 500125
Feet

µ
Abbey Woods North - 26-lot subdivision

10



11

cgruba
Polygonal Line

cgruba
Callout
continued



12

cgruba
Polygonal Line

cgruba
Callout
continued



Abbey Woods North

U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, National Standards and Support Team,
wetlands_team@fws.gov

Wetlands

Estuarine and Marine Deepwater

Estuarine and Marine Wetland

Freshwater Emergent Wetland

Freshwater Forested/Shrub Wetland

Freshwater Pond

Lake

Other

Riverine

October 13, 2022

0 0.2 0.40.1 mi

0 0.35 0.70.175 km

1:13,856

This page was produced by the NWI mapper
National Wetlands Inventory (NWI)

This map is for general reference only. The US Fish and Wildlife 
Service is not responsible for the accuracy or currentness of the 
base data shown on this map. All wetlands related data should 
be used in accordance with the layer metadata found on the 
Wetlands Mapper web site.

13



14



Lot Summary Table

Red text indicates exception required
Area Width Depth

Lot 1 19,029 138.5 131.2
Lot 2 17,169 120 130.1
Lot 3 15,530 119.7 132.5
Lot 4 15,791 121.1 134.9
Lot 5 15,463 125 130.8
Lot 6 15,219 115 132.4
Lot 7 15,547 100 157.8
Lot 8 18,294 106.8 151.1 120' required
Lot 9 15,926 106.2 150 120' required
Lot 10 15,072 108.5 123.1 150' required 
Lot 11 16,096 100 150.2
Lot 12 15,021 100 135.3
Lot 13 17,046 100 169.1
Lot 14 15,023 110.2 122.5 150' required 
Lot 15 15,020 102.6 146.4 150' required 
Lot 16 15,018 102.7 146.2 150' required 
Lot 17 15,046 116.1 152.1
Lot 18 15,000 100 150
Lot 19 15,000 100 150
Lot 20 15,006 100 150
Lot 21 16,401 100 162.5
Lot 22 15,652 100 151
Lot 23 19,445 100 162.1
Lot 24 17,135 100 157.4
Lot 25 17,800 106.6 171.6 120' required

AVG: 16,110 107.96 146.012

15



  V
illage of Frankfort 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

D
esign Standards  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

             June 2007
 

 

97 

 LOCAL ACCESS 

66’ 

32’ 

5’  

M-3.12 

2 

12’ 

One Side Permitted 

45’ 

750’ 

8% 

0.5% 

30 mph 
25 mph 

20’ 

2% 

NEIGHBORHOOD 
COLLECTOR 

66’ 

36’ 

5’ 

M-3.129 

2 

12’ 

OneSidePermitted 

N/A 

N/A 

6% 

0.5% 

30 mph 
25 mph 

30’ 

2% 

MAJOR 
COLLECTOR 

80’ 

36’-51’ 

5’ 

B-6.12 

2-4 

12’ 

Prohibited 

55’ 

1000’ 

6% 

0.5% 

30-45 mph 
* 

40’ 

2% 

COMMUNITY 
ARTERIAL 

80-100’ 

36-53’ 

6’ 

B-6.24 

2-4 

12’ 

Prohibited 

N/A 

N/A 

6% 

0.5% 

30-55 mph 
* 

40’ 

2% 

REGIONAL 
ARTERIAL 

120’ 

53-77’ 

6’ 

B-6.24 

4-6 

12’ 

Prohibited 

N/A 

N/A 

6% 

0.5% 

65 mph 
* 

40’ 

2% 

STREET GEOMETRIC CRITERIA  
 

 

Right-of Way width 

Roadway width1 

Sidewalk width2, 3 

Curb type 

Number of traffic lanes4 

Minimum Lane width 

On Street Parking 

Minimum cul-de-sac pavement radius5 

Maximum cul-de-sac length6 

Maximum grade 

Minimum gutter grade 

Design Speed  
Posted Speed7 

Minimum Return radius8 

Crown 

1. Dimensions are measured back to back of curb 
2. Sidewalk shall be placed in public right-of-way, 1-foot from the property line unless otherwise approved by the Village Engineer 
3. Sidewalk designated as bike path shall be a minimum width of 10’ or as designated on the Bicycle Trail Master Plan. 
4. Four (4) lanes required for traffic volumes over 15,000 ADT.  Six (6) lanes required for traffic volumes over 25,000 ADT. 
5. Cul-de-sac right-of-way radius shall be 75-feet for commercial and industrial streets and 65-feet for all others 
6. The combined length of the street and diameter of the cul-de-sac 
7. *Village streets with curb and gutter shall have 45 mph maximum posted speed.  Design and posted speeds shall be determined by sight distance 

and approved by the Village Engineer. 
8. Return radii should meet turning requirements of appropriate design vehicle designated in Section 6.05B. 
9. Install B-6.12 if no driveway access is required by the Plan Commission. 

 NOTE: These are guidelines.  Actual design subject to Village review and approval. 16

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight



17



18

cgruba
Received



19



20



21



22



23



24



25



26



27



28



29



30



31



32



33



34



ST.   
 FRANCIS    

ROAD

H
IC

K
O

R
Y

C
R

E
E

K

W
A

T
E

R
V

IE
W

T
R

A
IL

0+00

1+00

2+00

3+00

4+00

5+00

6+00

7+00

8+00

9+00

9+85

CR

BFE = 678.3

EX
IS

TI
NG T

REE
 LO

CAT
IO

N

W
IT

H T
AG

 N
UMBE

R (T
YP

)

TR
EE

S
 R

EM
OVE

D

TR
EE

S
 R

EM
OVE

D

TR
EE

S
PR

ES
ER

VE
D

TR
EE

S
PR

ES
ER

VE
D

09
/2

6/
22

R
FV

SU
BM

IT
 T

O
 C

LI
EN

T
04

/0
5/

23
R

FV
TR

EE
S 

PR
ES

ER
VE

D
04

/2
0/

23
R

FV
PE

R
 V

IL
LA

G
E

01
/1

0/
24

BP
H

IS
SU

E 
FO

R
 P

C
 W

O
R

KS
H

O
P

© 2020 M.GINGERICH, GEREAUX & ASSOCIATES

SHEET NO.

OF

D
ES

IG
N

:

D
R

AW
IN

G
:

C
H

EC
KE

D
:

AP
PR

O
VE

D
:

PL
AN

 E
DI

TI
O

N 
M

IL
ES

TO
NE

S
D

A
T

E
B

Y
D

E
S

C
R

IP
T

IO
N

C
IV

IL
 E

N
G

IN
E

E
R

IN
G

S
U

R
V

E
Y

IN
G

M
 G

IN
G

ER
IC

H
 G

ER
EA

U
X 

&
 A

SS
O

C
IA

TE
S

2
M

G
A

P
ro

fe
ss

io
na

l D
es

ig
n 

F
irm

 L
ic

en
se

 #
 1

84
.0

05
00

3
w

w
w

.m
g2

a.
co

m
 

25
62

0 
S

. G
O

U
G

A
R

 R
D

.  
  |

   
 M

A
N

H
A

TT
A

N
, I

L.
 6

04
42

P
. 8

15
-4

78
-9

68
0

  F
. 8

15
-4

78
-9

68
5

T
R

E
E

 S
U

R
V

E
Y

A
B

B
E

Y
 W

O
O

D
S

 N
O

R
T

H
S

T
E

V
E

N
 B

E
E

M
S

T
E

R
B

O
E

R
S

T
. F

R
A

N
C

IS
 R

O
A

D
 F

R
A

N
K

F
O

R
T

, I
LL

IN
O

IS

1 1
NOTE:

TREE SIZE & CONDITION INFORMATION

PER HOMER TREE SERVICE

X   (TREE REMOVED)
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X

X   (TREE REMOVED)
X

X   (TREE REMOVED)
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X

X   (TREE REMOVED)
X
X
X
X
X
X

X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X

35

AutoCAD SHX Text
SANITARY MH RIM=690.56 12" RCP NE=678.66 12"RCP SE-NW=678.61

AutoCAD SHX Text
SANITARY MH RIM=694.57 12"RCP SE=677.82 12"RCP NW=677.77

AutoCAD SHX Text
FLOODPLAIN LIMIT (SCALED FROM FEMA MAP)

AutoCAD SHX Text
APPROX. FLOODPLAIN LIMIT (SCALED FROM FEMA MAP)

AutoCAD SHX Text
LIMITS OF FLOODWAY (SCALED FROM FEMA MAP)

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING FLOODPLAIN LIMIT PER 2022 MG2A TOPOGRAPHY & FEMA BASE FLOOD ELEVATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
ESTIMATED FLOODPLAIN LIMIT  PER BASE FLOOD ELEVATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
ESTIMATED FLOODPLAIN LIMIT  PER BASE FLOOD ELEVATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAINAGEWAY 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAINAGEWAY 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
WETLAND 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
WETLAND FRINGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAINAGEWAY 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAINAGEWAY 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAINAGEWAY 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAINAGEWAY 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAINAGEWAY 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAINAGEWAY 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
APPROX. FLOODWAY LIMITS (SCALED FROM FEMA MAP)

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING FLOODPLAIN LIMIT PER MG2A TOPOGRAPHY & FEMA BASE FLOOD ELEVATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
ESTIMATED FLOOD PLAIN LIMIT PER MG2A TOPO & BFE

AutoCAD SHX Text
NIB

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOB NO. 21-697

AutoCAD SHX Text
RFV

AutoCAD SHX Text
RFV

AutoCAD SHX Text
RFV

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
60'

AutoCAD SHX Text
120'

cgruba
Received



36

cgruba
Received



ST.  FRANCIS  ROAD

18.313 AC.

PIN  19-09-15-300-019

EX
. C

O
R

PO
R

AT
E 

LI
M

IT
S 

O
F 

TH
E 

VI
LL

AG
E 

O
F 

FR
AN

KF
O

R
T

EX. CORPORATE LIMITS OF
THE VILLAGE OF FRANKFORT

EX. CORPORATE LIMITS OF THE VILLAGE OF FRANKFORT

W
A

T
E

R
V

IE
W

 

T
R

A
IL

H
IC

K
O
R
Y

CREEK

94
33

 S
T 

FR
AN

CI
S 

RO
AD

FR
AN

KF
OR

T,
 IL

 6
04

23
PI

N 
19

-0
9-

15
-3

00
-0

15
-0

00
0

VACANT ABBEY DRIVE
FRANKFORT, IL 60423

PIN 19-09-15-303-002-0000

92
23

 S
T 

FR
AN

CI
S 

RO
AD

FR
AN

KF
OR

T,
 IL

 6
04

23
PI

N 
19

-0
9-

15
-3

00
-0

02
-0

02
0

20228 WATERVIEW TRAIL

FRANKFORT, IL 60423

PIN 19-09-15-102-078-0000
20257 WATERVIEW TRAIL

FRANKFORT, IL 60423

PIN 19-09-15-105-029-0000

HEREBY ANNEXED

92
79

 M
AU

RA
 C

OU
RT

FR
AN

KF
OR

T,
 IL

 6
04

23

PI
N 

19
-0

9-
15

-1
05

-0
50

-0
00

0

9265 MAURA COURT
FRANKFORT, IL 60423

PIN 19-09-15-105-051-0000

P.O.B.

P.O.C.

NOTE:  EFFECTIVE JANUARY 1, 2023, PUBLIC ACT
102-969 REVISES, AND MAKES IT MANDATORY,
TO REPORT ANY ANNEXATION,
DISCONNECTION AND ANNEXATION, OR
DISCONNECTION TO THE ILLINOIS
DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION WITHIN
30 DAYS OF THE ACTION.

STATE OF ILLINOIS
COUNTY OF KANKAKEE SS

I, _____________________________, AN ILLINOIS PROFESSIONAL LAND SURVEYOR, DO
HEREBY CERTIFY THAT THE PLAT AS HEREON DRAWN IS A CORRECT REPRESENTATION
OF THE PROPERTY DESCRIBED IN THE FOREGOING CAPTION.

FURTHERMORE, I DESIGNATE THE VILLAGE OF FRANKFORT TO ACT AS MY AGENT FOR
THE PURPOSES OF RECORDING THIS DOCUMENT.

DATED THIS 26th DAY OF JANUARY, 2022.

BY: ________________________________________________________
MARK J. SCHIERHOLZ
ILLINOIS PROFESSIONAL LAND SURVEYOR

LICENSE NO. ________________________________________________

SURVEYOR'S CERTIFICATE

 035-003105

MARK J. SCHIERHOLZ

TO

PLAT OF ANNEXATION
THE VILLAGE OF FRANKFORT, ILLINOIS

STATE OF ILLINOIS
COUNTY OF WILL

APPROVED AND ACCEPTED BY THE PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF
FRANKFORT, WILL COUNTY, ILLINOIS AT A PUBLIC MEETING HELD:

THIS _______ DAY OF ___________________,  20______ .

BY:___________________________________________________
VILLAGE PRESIDENT

   

ATTEST:______________________________________________
VILLAGE CLERK

PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF TRUSTEES CERTIFICATE
SS)

)

LICENSE EXPIRES NOVEMBER 30, 2024

ORDINANCE NO.:___________________________________________________

   

______________________________________________
DATE

DATE BY DESCRIPTION
4/26/23 RFV ISSUE FOR REVIEW

06/21/23 BPH PER REVIEW COMMENTS
01/10/24 BPH GENERAL REVISIONS

CK. BY: FILE:DR. BY:DATE ISSUED:

ORDERED BY:

JOB NO.: PG:

CIVIL ENGINEERING

SURVEYING

M GINGERICH GEREAUX & ASSOCIATES
MG2A WEST
Professional Design Firm License # 184.005003
P. 815-478-9680   www.mg2a.com   F. 815-478-9685
25620 S. GOUGAR RD    |    MANHATTAN, IL. 60442

2MGA

STEVE BEEMSTERBOER
NIB RFS04-26-2023

1 of 121-697

LEGAL DESCRIPTION:

THAT PART OF THE WEST HALF OF SECTION 15, TOWNSHIP 35 NORTH, RANGE
12 EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, LYING SOUTH OF THE

CENTERLINE OF ST. FRANCIS ROAD, AS MONUMENTED, LYING NORTH OF THE
CENTERLINE OF HICKORY CREEK, AND LYING WEST OF THE EAST LINE OF

THE PARCEL OF LAND DESCRIBED IN DOCUMENT NO. R2013-125406, AS
MONUMENTED AND OCCUPIED, AND LYING EAST OF THE FOLLOWING

DESCRIBED LINE: COMMENCING AT THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF HICKORY
CREEK NORTHWOODS SUBDIVISION, BEING A SUBDIVISION OF PART OF SAID
SECTION 15, ACCORDING TO THE PLAT THEREOF RECORDED JULY 3, 2001 AS

DOCUMENT NO. R2001-083477, SAID NORTHEAST CORNER BEING THE
CENTERLINE OF ST. FRANCIS ROAD, AS MONUMENTED; THENCE SOUTH 84

DEGREES 36 MINUTES 00 SECONDS EAST, ON SAID CENTERLINE OF ST.
FRANCIS ROAD, 190.69 FEET TO AN ANGLE POINT; THENCE SOUTH 65

DEGREES 05 MINUTES 49 SECONDS EAST, ON SAID CENTERLINE, 331.22 FEET
TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE SOUTH 24 DEGREES 54 MINUTES 08
SECONDS WEST, 89.05 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 00 DEGREES 42 MINUTES 46
SECONDS WEST, 962.24 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 01 DEGREE 48 MINUTES 26
SECONDS EAST, 622.00 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 05 DEGREES 12 MINUTES 43

SECONDS EAST, 380.27 FEET TO THE CENTERLINE OF SAID HICKORY CREEK,
AND TO THE TERMINUS OF SAID LINE, ALL IN WILL COUNTY, ILLINOIS.

OWNER: STEVE BEEMSTEBOER
20676 FRANCISCA WAY
FRANKFORT, ILLINOIS 60423

   
PRO
FES

SIONA
L LAND SURVEYOR      STATE  OF  I LL I

NO
I S
  
 

MARK J.
SCHIERHOLZ

035-003105

BRADLEY,
ILLINOIS

37

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
100'

AutoCAD SHX Text
200'

AutoCAD SHX Text
)

AutoCAD SHX Text
)

AutoCAD SHX Text
REVISIONS

cgruba
Received



ST.   
 FRANCIS    

ROAD

H
IC

K
O

R
Y

C
R

E
E

K

W
A

T
E

R
V

IE
W

T
R

A
IL

CR

BFE = 678.3

LOT 1
19,029 SQ.FT.

LOT 2
17,169 SQ.FT.

LOT 3
15,530 SQ.FT.

LOT 4
15,791 SQ.FT.

LOT 5
15,463 SQ.FT.

LOT 6
15,219 SQ.FT.

LOT 7
15,547 SQ.FT.

LOT 8
18,294 SQ.FT.

LOT 9
15,926 SQ.FT.

LOT 10

15,072 SQ.FT.

LOT 14
15,023 SQ.FT.

LOT 15

15,020 SQ.FT.

LOT 16

15,018 SQ.FT.

LOT 18

15,000 SQ.FT.

LOT 17

15,046 SQ.FT.

LOT 19

15,000 SQ.FT.

LOT 20

15,006 SQ.FT.

LOT 21

16,401 SQ.FT.

LOT 22

15,652 SQ.FT.

LOT 23

19,445 SQ.FT.
LOT 24

17,135 SQ.FT.

LOT 25

17,800 SQ.FT.

30' B.S.L.

30' B.S.L.

30' B.S.L.

30' B.S.L.

30' B.S.L.

LO
T 

11

16
,09

6 S
Q.F

T.

LO
T 

12

15
,02

1 S
Q.F

T.
LO

T 
13

17
,04

6 S
Q.F

T.

100+00

101+00

102+00

103+00

104+00

105+00

106+00

107+00

108+00

109+00

110+00

111+00

112+00112+18

    W
A

T
E
R
V
IE

W
    T

R
A

IL

T/F=694.5

T/F=694.5

GF=693.5

T/F=693.5

T/F=693.8

T/F=694.0

T/F=694.0

T/F=694.0

T/F=694.0

T/F=694.0

T/F=693.5

T/F=693.0

T/
F=

69
3.0

T/
F=

69
3.

0

T/F=694.0

L/O=691.0

FBF=685.3

L/O=690.0

FBF=685.3

L/O=688.5
FBF=685.3

T/F=694.0

L/O=688.5
FBF=685.3

T/F=694.0

L/O=687.0
FBF=685.3

FBF=685.5

L/O
=690.0

FBF=685.7

L/O=689.0
T/F=693.7

T/F=693.7

T/F=694.5

T/F=694.5

T/F=694.5

T/F=694.0

T/F=694.2FBF=685.5

L/O=688.0

T/F=694.0FBF=685.3

L/O=687.0

W/O=684.8

W
/O

=6
84

.8

W
/O

=6
84

.8

W/O=685.7

W/O=685.7

W
/O=686.3

FBF=685.8

L/O=689.0

FBF=685.8

L/O=689.5

FBF=685.3

L/O=688.0

FBF=685.8

FBF=685.8

FBF=685.8

FBF=685.3

FBF=684.8

FBF=685.3

FBF=685.3

19-09-15-300-015-0000

ZONING A1 (WILL COUNTY)

USE: AGRICULTURE

19-09-15-300-002-0000

ZONING: RE - ESTATE RESIDENTIAL

USE: RELIGIOUS FACILITIES

19-09-15-102-078-0000

ZONING: R2 S/F RESIDENTIAL

USE: VACANT/DETENTION

19-09-15-105-029-0000

ZONING: R2 S/F RESIDENTIAL

USE: VACANT

35' PU&DE

40' PU&DE

15' PU&DE

30' PU&DE

30' PU&DE

43' PU&DE

25
' P

U&D
E

15
' P

U&D
E

OUTL
OT 

B

DRAI
NAG

E 
&

CONSE
RVA

TI
ON E

AS
EM

EN
T

10
2,8

36
 sq

.ft.

OUTL
OT 

A

DRAI
NAG

E,
 D

ET
EN

TI
ON, B

IK
E 

PA
TH

 &

PU
BL

IC
 U

TI
LIT

Y 
EA

SE
MEN

T

62
,25

3 s
q.f

t.

10' PU&DE &

DETN. ACCESS E.

15
' P

U&DE

30' PU&DE

10' PU&DE

15
' P

U&D
E

10' PU&DE

10' PU&DE

OUTLOT C

DRAINAGE, DETENTION &

PUBLIC UTILITY EASEMENT

77,169 SQ.FT.

10
0.0

'

100.0'

100.0'

10
0.

0'

PR
OP.

 10
' M

ULT
I-U

SE
 P

AT
H

COORDINATE M/U PATH

TIE-IN W/ ADJACENT OWNER

PROP. 6' SIDEWALK

OUTLOT E

1,066 SQ.FT.

OUTLOT D2,641 SQ.FT.

10' PU&DE

R65.0'

R
45

.0
'

R2
0.

0'

R65.0'

R
45

.0
'R20.0'

SIGN ESM'T

SIGN ESM'T

PROP. 25' LANDSCAPE, NO

FENCE, NO ACCESS EASEMENT

25
'

PROP. 25' LANDSCAPE, NO

FENCE, NO ACCESS EASEMENT

25
'

75.0'

AP
PR

OX.
 B

IK
E 

PA
TH

 LO
CAT

IO
N

SC
AL

ED
 F

ROM V
ILL

AG
E 

EX
HIB

IT

AP
PR

OX.
 B

IK
E 

PA
TH

 LO
CAT

IO
N

SC
AL

ED
 F

ROM V
ILL

AG
E 

EX
HIB

IT

10
0.

0'

PROP. 50' ROW DEDICATION

T/F=694.5

GF=692.7

30' B.S.L.

10' M-USE PATH IN 15' OUTLOT

10' M-USE PATH, MIN. 115' INT. RADIUS

10' PU&DE

50
.0

'

50
.0

'

17
1.

6'

15
7.

4'

16
2.

1'

151.0'

162.5'

150.0'

150.0'

150.0'

15
2.1

'

14
6.2

'

14
6.4

'

122.5'

169.1'

135.3'

12
3.

1'

15
0.

2'

15
0.0

'

151.1'

157.8'

132.4'

130.8'

13
4.9

'

13
2.

5'

13
0.1

'

131.2'

10
0.

0'

10
0.

0'

10
0.

0'

10
0.

0'

11
6.1

'

102.7'

102.6'

110.2'

108.5'

106.2'

106.8'

11
5.

0'

121.1'

119.7'

120.0'

13
8.

5'

12
5.

0'

10
0.

0'

10
6.

6'

10
0.

0'

BFE = 675.9 (10-YR)

(100-YR)

30' PU&DE

10
' P

U&D
E

25.0'

GF=692.8

15' PERMANENT PU&DE

(TO BE GRANTED

FROM ADJ. PROPERTY OWNER)

10' TEMPORARY CONSTRUCTION EASEMENT

(TO BE GRANTED

FROM ADJ. PROPERTY OWNER)

35' PU&DE

153.60'

N73°00'33"W
 137.53'

114.48'

46.00'

72.53'

55.31'

35.49'

53.26'

107.51'

115.08'

84
.0

9'

25.00'

N89
°1

7'1
6"

W
 13

5.4
4'

N89
°1

7'1
6"

W
 14

0.4
9'

N80
°32

'40
"W

 13
1.9

7'

N70°38'05"W
 130.19'

N70°38'05"W
 134.50'

N70°38'05"W
 162.83'

S8
8°

11
'32

"W
 15

0.0
3'

S8
8°

11
'28

"W
 15

0.0
3'

S8
8°

11
'29

"W
 15

0.0
4'

N
70

°3
8'

18
"E

 1
26

.9
8'

106.15'

135.82'

107.54'

S8
8°

11
'32

"W
 98

.18
'

121.07'

141.40'

S65°05'49"E 131.01'

89.71'

L=45.28'

L=112.37'

L=17.81'
102.34'

11.71'

L=107.16'

9.20'

130.22'

115.00'

79.28'
L=20.75'

L=59.07'

33.30'

106.15'

21.91'

L=87.42'

L=48.12'

L=15.04'

L=
43

.9
1'

L=
45

.0
9'

L=99.60'

3.00'

102.60'

102.70'

19.06'

L=55.43'

53.86'

100.00'

100.00'

79.85'

L=20.18'

L=107.23'

L=10.93'43
.9

7'
L=

68
.9

2'

L=41.20'
L=59.25'

L=
34

.8
4'

43
.3

8'

L=121.85'

89.79'

148.05'

11.04'

N88
°0

7'3
1"

E 
16

3.0
0'

N27°06'23"W 154.56'

S8
8°

07
'31

"W
 89

.50
'

S63°30'37"E 139.14'

103.14'

155.79'

102.60'

102.70'

9.10'

64.54'

N88
°1

1'2
9"

E 
14

6.4
8'

N88
°1

1'2
9"

E 
14

6.3
2'

N88
°1

1'2
9"

E 
14

6.1
6'

S70°38'05"E 150.00'

S70°38'05"E 150.00'

S70°38'05"E 150.00'

S70°38'05"E 150.94'

S70°38'05"E 186.50'

S70°38'05"E 138.52'

N
59

°1
1'

16
"E

 1
93

.3
8'

N24°58'36"E 149.49'

N65°05'49"W 106.12'

165.02'

35.00'

180.28'

100.00'

100.00'

100.00'

100.00'

100.00'

47.59'

N88
°0

7'1
8"

E 
75

.12
'

N1°52'42"W 147.56'
N73°14'03"W

 135.00'

S8
8°

06
'00

"W
 16

0.0
0'

206.44'

380.27'

149.71'

136.43'

07
/0

8/
22

R
FV

SU
BM

IT
 T

O
 V

IL
LA

G
E

07
/2

8/
22

R
FV

PE
R

 V
IL

LA
G

E 
R

EV
IE

W
08

/2
2/

22
R

FV
PE

R
 L

IG
H

TI
N

G
 L

O
C

AT
IO

N
S

11
/0

3/
22

R
FV

PE
R

 V
IL

LA
G

E 
R

EV
IE

W
03

/1
5/

23
R

FV
BI

KE
 P

AT
H

 &
 V

IL
LA

G
E 

R
EV

IE
W

04
/2

6/
23

R
FV

PE
R

 V
IL

LA
G

E 
R

EV
IE

W
06

/2
1/

23
BP

H
PE

R
 V

IL
LA

G
E 

R
EV

IE
W

07
/2

1/
23

BP
H

PE
R

 V
IL

LA
G

E 
R

EV
IE

W
08

/1
6/

23
BP

H
PE

R
 V

IL
LA

G
E 

R
EV

IE
W

09
/1

8/
23

BP
H

R
EV

IS
ED

 L
O

TS
 1

-8
 &

 G
R

AD
IN

G
10

/1
7/

23
BP

H
PE

R
 V

IL
LA

G
E 

R
EV

IE
W

11
/3

0/
23

BP
H

PE
R

 V
IL

LA
G

E 
R

EV
IE

W

P
R

E
LI

M
IN

A
R

Y
 P

LA
T

A
B

B
E

Y
 W

O
O

D
S

 N
O

R
T

H
S

T
E

V
E

N
 B

E
E

M
S

T
E

R
B

O
E

R
94

33
 S

T
 F

R
A

N
C

IS
 R

O
A

D
 F

R
A

N
K

F
O

R
T

, I
LL

IN
O

IS

1 3

SITE DATA SUMMARY

GROSS SITE AREA 18.31 ACRES

ST. FRANCIS ROAD ROW 0.73 ACRES
ON-SITE ROAD ROW 2.40 ACRES
NORTH DETENTION HWL 1.14 ACRES
SOUTH DETENTION HWL 0.81 ACRES

NET SITE AREA 18.31 - 5.08 = 13.23 ACRES

PROPOSED ZONING R-2 SINGLE-FAMILY

TOTAL NUMBER OF UNITS 25 UNITS

GROSS DENSITY 25/18.31 = 1.37 UNITS/ACRE (GROSS)

NET DENSITY 25/13.23 = 1.89 UNITS/ACRE (NET)

MINIMUM LOT WIDTH 100-FT

MINIMUM LOT DEPTH 150-FT (130-FT ADJ. TO OPEN SPACE)

MINIMUM LOT AREA 15,000 SQ FT

MINIMUM CORNER LOT WIDTH 120-FT (106-FT LOTS 8, 9, 25 REQUESTED)

MAXIMUM BUILDING HEIGHT       35-FT

REQUIRED FRONT YARD SETBACK     30-FT

REQUIRED REAR YARD SETBACK     30-FT

REQUIRED SIDE YARD SETBACK             25-FT TOTAL (10-FT MIN.)

© 2020 M.GINGERICH, GEREAUX & ASSOCIATES

SHEET NO.

OF

D
ES

IG
N

:

D
R

AW
IN

G
:

C
H

EC
KE

D
:

AP
PR

O
VE

D
:

PL
AN

 E
DI

TI
O

N 
M

IL
ES

TO
NE

S
D

A
T

E
B

Y
D

E
S

C
R

IP
T

IO
N

C
IV

IL
 E

N
G

IN
E

E
R

IN
G

S
U

R
V

E
Y

IN
G

M
 G

IN
G

ER
IC

H
 G

ER
EA

U
X 

&
 A

SS
O

C
IA

TE
S

2
M

G
A

P
ro

fe
ss

io
na

l D
es

ig
n 

F
irm

 L
ic

en
se

 #
 1

84
.0

05
00

3
w

w
w

.m
g2

a.
co

m
 

25
62

0 
S

. G
O

U
G

A
R

 R
D

.  
  |

   
 M

A
N

H
A

TT
A

N
, I

L.
 6

04
42

P
. 8

15
-4

78
-9

68
0

  F
. 8

15
-4

78
-9

68
5

PROPOSED TYPICAL STREET CROSS SECTION

12.5' B.S.L.

12.5' B.S.L.

30
' B

.S
.L

.

30
' B

.S
.L

.

TYPICAL LOT SETBACK DETAIL

OR 10' MIN. TOTAL
OF 25' PER R-2

FR
O

N
T

R
EA

R

SIDE

PIN: 19-09-15-300-019-0000

LOT AREA TABLE
LOT 1 19,029 S.F.
LOT 2 17,169 S.F.
LOT 3 15,530 S.F.
LOT 4 15,791 S.F.
LOT 5 15,463 S.F.
LOT 6 15,219 S.F.
LOT 7 15,547 S.F.
LOT 8 18,294 S.F.
LOT 9 15,926 S.F.
LOT 10 15,072 S.F.
LOT 11 16,096 S.F.
LOT 12 15,021 S.F.
LOT 13 17,046 S.F.
LOT 14 15,023 S.F.
LOT 15 15,020 S.F.
LOT 16 15,018 S.F.
LOT 17 15,046 S.F.
LOT 18 15,000 S.F.
LOT 19 15,000 S.F.
LOT 20 15,006 S.F.
LOT 21 16,401 S.F.
LOT 22 15,652 S.F.
LOT 23 19,445 S.F.
LOT 24 17,135 S.F.
LOT 25 17,800 S.F.

OUTLOT A 62,253 S.F.
OUTLOT B 115,270 S.F.
OUTLOT C 77,169 S.F.
OUTLOT D 2,641 S.F.
OUTLOT E 1,066 S.F.

NOTES:

1.  OUTLOTS A, B & C, THE DETENTION, BIKE PATH & CONSERVATION AREAS, SHALL BE   
MAINTAINED BY THE HOA.  THIS SHOULD BE ADDED TO THE COVENANTS AND RESTRICTIONS.

2. OUTLOTS D AND E, THE CUL-DE-SAC ISLANDS, SHALL BE MAINTAINED BY THE HOA.
THIS SHOULD BE ADDED TO THE COVENANTS AND RESTRICTIONS.

3. THE CUL-DE-SACS HAVE A DIAMETER OF 130 FEET (SHOWN AS A 65-FOOT RADIUS).

4. THE CUL-DE-SAC ISLANDS HAVE A DIAMETER OF 40 FEET (SHOWN AS A 20-FOOT RADIUS).

5. ALL SIDEWALKS SHALL BE 5 FEET WIDE, EXCEPT THE SIDEWALK ALONG ST FRANCIS ROAD
SHALL BE 6 FEET WIDE.

6. MAINTENANCE OF ALL LANDSCAPE WALLS WILL BE THE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE
HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION. 

L E G A L   D E S C R I P T I O N:

THAT PART OF THE WEST HALF OF SECTION 15, TOWNSHIP 35 NORTH, RANGE 12
EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, LYING SOUTH OF THE CENTERLINE OF
ST. FRANCIS ROAD, AS MONUMENTED, LYING NORTH OF THE CENTERLINE OF
HICKORY CREEK, AND LYING WEST OF THE EAST LINE OF THE PARCEL OF LAND
DESCRIBED IN DOCUMENT NO. R2013-125406, AS MONUMENTED AND OCCUPIED,
AND LYING EAST OF THE FOLLOWING DESCRIBED LINE: COMMENCING AT THE
NORTHEAST CORNER OF HICKORY CREEK NORTHWOODS SUBDIVISION, BEING A
SUBDIVISION OF PART OF SAID SECTION 15, ACCORDING TO THE PLAT THEREOF
RECORDED JULY 2, 2001 AS DOCUMENT NO. R2001-083477, SAID NORTHEAST
CORNER BEING THE CENTERLINE OF ST. FRANCIS ROAD, AS MONUMENTED;
THENCE SOUTH 84 DEGREES 36 MINUTES 00 SECONDS EAST, ON SAID CENTERLINE
OF ST. FRANCIS ROAD, 190.69 FEET TO AN ANGLE POINT; THENCE SOUTH 65
DEGREES 05 MINUTES 49 SECONDS EAST, ON SAID CENTERLINE, 331.22 FEET TO
THE POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE SOUTH 24 DEGREES 54 MINUTES 08 SECONDS
WEST, 89.05 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 00 DEGREES 42 MINUTES 46 SECONDS WEST,
962.24 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 01 DEGREE 48 MINUTES 26 SECONDS EAST, 622.00
FEET; THENCE SOUTH 05 DEGREES 12 MINUTES 43 SECONDS EAST, 380.27 FEET TO
THE CENTERLINE OF SAID HICKORY CREEK, AND TO THE TERMINUS OF SAID LINE,
ALL IN WILL COUNTY, ILLINOIS.

SAID PARCEL CONTAINING 18.313 ACRES, MORE OR LESS.

01
/1

0/
24

BP
H

PE
R

 V
IL

LA
G

E 
R

EV
IE

W

X:
\P

ro
je

ct
s\

20
21

\2
1-

69
7 

- 1
8 

ac
 S

t F
ra

nc
is 

Rd
 F

ra
nk

fo
rt 

- S
te

ve
 B

ee
m

st
er

bo
er

\D
W

G\
7-

Pr
ep

la
t\

21
-6

97
 P

re
lim

in
ar

y 
En

gi
ne

er
in

g_
v5

-A
D

J-
fo

r R
ev

ie
w

_r
ec

ov
er

.d
w

g,
 1

/1
0/

20
24

 2
:5

0:
16

 P
M

, r
ra

ab

38

AutoCAD SHX Text
FLOODPLAIN LIMIT (SCALED FROM FEMA MAP)

AutoCAD SHX Text
APPROX. FLOODPLAIN LIMIT (SCALED FROM FEMA MAP)

AutoCAD SHX Text
LIMITS OF FLOODWAY (SCALED FROM FEMA MAP)

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING FLOODPLAIN LIMIT PER 2022 MG2A TOPOGRAPHY & FEMA BASE FLOOD ELEVATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
ESTIMATED FLOODPLAIN LIMIT  PER BASE FLOOD ELEVATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
ESTIMATED FLOODPLAIN LIMIT  PER BASE FLOOD ELEVATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAINAGEWAY 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAINAGEWAY 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
WETLAND 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
WETLAND FRINGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAINAGEWAY 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAINAGEWAY 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAINAGEWAY 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAINAGEWAY 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAINAGEWAY 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAINAGEWAY 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
APPROX. FLOODWAY LIMITS (SCALED FROM FEMA MAP)

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING FLOODPLAIN LIMIT PER MG2A TOPOGRAPHY & FEMA BASE FLOOD ELEVATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
ESTIMATED FLOOD PLAIN LIMIT PER MG2A TOPO & BFE

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOUND IRON ROD 123.0' N & ON-LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOUND IRON ROD 32.3' N & ON-LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. WETLAND BOTTOM DETENTION BASIN 3.27 AC-FT HWL=681.1 NWL=676.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP.WETLAND BOTTOM DETENTION BASIN 3.35 AC-FT HWL=683.70 NWL=679.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
676

AutoCAD SHX Text
681

AutoCAD SHX Text
676

AutoCAD SHX Text
681

AutoCAD SHX Text
679.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
683.7

AutoCAD SHX Text
679.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
60'

AutoCAD SHX Text
120'

AutoCAD SHX Text
NIB

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOB NO. 21-697

AutoCAD SHX Text
RFV

AutoCAD SHX Text
RFV

AutoCAD SHX Text
RFV

AutoCAD SHX Text
CURB & GUTTER TY. M3.12

AutoCAD SHX Text
COMBINATION CONCRETE

AutoCAD SHX Text
5'

AutoCAD SHX Text
1.58'

AutoCAD SHX Text
32' B-B

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED 66' STREET RIGHT-OF-WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
1/4" PER FOOT SLOPE

AutoCAD SHX Text
1.58'

AutoCAD SHX Text
11'

AutoCAD SHX Text
5'

AutoCAD SHX Text
W/ SUB-BASE GRANULAR

AutoCAD SHX Text
P.C.C SIDEWALK - 5"

AutoCAD SHX Text
MATERIAL TY B - 3" MIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
BY INDIVIDUAL LOT OWNER

AutoCAD SHX Text
BITUMINOUS MATERIALS (PRIME COAT) MC-30 @ 0.35 GAL./SQ. YD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BITUMINOUS CONCRETE BINDER COURSE (MIXTURE B) - 2 1/4"

AutoCAD SHX Text
BITUMINOUS CONCRETE SURFACE COURSE, MIXTURE D, CL.I - 1 1/2"

AutoCAD SHX Text
AGGREGATE BASE COURSE TY. B - 12" CA #6

AutoCAD SHX Text
1'

AutoCAD SHX Text
& 6" THROUGH DRIVEWAYS

cgruba
Received



H
IC

K
O

R
Y

C
R

E
E

K

CR

BFE = 678.3

LOT 6
15,219 SQ.FT.

LOT 7
15,547 SQ.FT.

LOT 8
18,294 SQ.FT.

LOT 9
15,926 SQ.FT.

LOT 10

15,072 SQ.FT.

LOT 14
15,023 SQ.FT.

LOT 15

15,020 SQ.FT.

LOT 16

15,018 SQ.FT.

LOT 17

15,046 SQ.FT.

LO
T 

11

16
,09

6 S
Q.F

T.

LO
T 

12

15
,02

1 S
Q.F

T.
LO

T 
13

17
,04

6 S
Q.F

T.

T/F=694.0

T/F=694.0

T/F=693.0

T/
F=

69
3.0

T/
F=

69
3.

0

8"
 P

VC
 S

AN
 36

3 L
.F

.@
 0.

5%

8" P
VC IN

V. S
=683.46

8"
 P

VC
 IN

V.
 S

=6
85

.28

T/
W

=6
83

.8

B/
W

=6
80

.5

EN
D T

/W
=6

82
.9

B/
W

=6
82

.4

T/
W

=6
83

.8

B/
W

=6
78

.5

T/
W

=6
83

.5 
BE

GIN

B/
W

=6
83

.0

T/
W

=6
84

.0

B/
W

=6
82

.7

T/
W

=6
83

.5

B/
W

=6
82

.7

L/O=690.0

FBF=685.3

L/O=688.5
FBF=685.3

T/F=694.0

L/O=688.5
FBF=685.3

T/F=694.0

L/O=687.0
FBF=685.3

T/F=694.5

T/F=694.5

T/F=694.0

T/F=694.2FBF=685.5

L/O=688.0

T/F=694.0FBF=685.3

L/O=687.0

W/O=684.8

W
/O

=6
84

.8

W
/O

=6
84

.8

FBF=685.8

L/O=689.0

FBF=685.8

L/O=689.5

FBF=685.3

L/O=688.0

19-09-15-300-015-0000

ZONING A1 (WILL COUNTY)

USE: AGRICULTURE

43' PU&DE

25
' P

U&D
E

15
' P

U&D
E

OUTL
OT 

B

DRAI
NAG

E 
&

CONSE
RVA

TI
ON E

AS
EM

EN
T

10
2,8

36
 sq

.ft.

OUTL
OT 

A

DRAI
NAG

E,
 D

ET
EN

TI
ON, B

IK
E 

PA
TH

 &

PU
BL

IC
 U

TI
LIT

Y 
EA

SE
MEN

T

62
,25

3 s
q.f

t.

10' PU&DE &

DETN. ACCESS E.

30' PU&DE

10' PU&DE

15
' P

U&D
E

PR
OP.

 10
' M

ULT
I-U

SE
 P

AT
H

COORDINATE M/U PATH

TIE-IN W/ ADJACENT OWNER

OUTLOT E

1,066 SQ.FT.
R65.0'

R
45

.0
'R20.0'

LP
-4

LP
-5

75.0'

AP
PR

OX.
 B

IK
E 

PA
TH

 LO
CAT

IO
N

SC
AL

ED
 F

ROM V
ILL

AG
E 

EX
HIB

IT

AP
PR

OX.
 B

IK
E 

PA
TH

 LO
CAT

IO
N

SC
AL

ED
 F

ROM V
ILL

AG
E 

EX
HIB

IT

GRAD
E 

TR
AN

SI
TI

ON

TO
 E

X.
 IN

 P
ROP.

 R
.O

.W
.

@0.5
%

@4.7
%

@1.5
%

@4.5
%

@5.0%

@0.5
%

@0.5
%

@5
.0%

T/
W

=6
83

.2

B/
W

=6
77

.6

@0.5
%

T/
W

=6
82

.5 
EN

D

B/
W

=6
82

.0

@6.7
%

@3.5
%

@4.2
%

@6.5%

@4.5%

@3.0%

L.P.

H.P
.

@0.6%

@0.5%

@5.9
%

L.P
.

@1.6%
@0.5

%

T/
W

=6
83

.1

B/
W

=6
80

.3 10' M-USE PATH IN 15' OUTLOT

10' M-USE PATH, MIN. 115' INT. RADIUS

@4:1

@8:1

10' ACCESS

10' ACCESS

5' WIDE T/BERM 682.1

20'WIDE OVERFLOW

WEIR EL. 682.10

BE
GIN

 T
/W

=6
82

.5

B/
W

=6
82

.0
T/

W
=6

83
.8

B/
W

=6
79

.7

BFE = 675.9 (10-YR)

30' PU&DE

10
' P

U&D
E

25.0' E1

E1

T/
W

=6
84

.0

B/
W

=6
82

.7
E2

E2

@1.0%

W
2

W
2

@1.0%

EN
D T

/W
=6

83
.2

B/
W

=6
82

.7

PR
. S

TO
RM S

EW
ER

SI
ZE

D F
OR 10

0-
YR

FL
OW

@0.5%

W
3

W
3

@1.8%
@2.1%

@0.5%

@1.0%

@0.7%

@1.0%

@1.0%

@1.0%

@0.5%

@0.5%

P6
91
.5
0

P6
92
.1
0

P6
91
.4
0

P681.1

P692
.40

P6
91
.0
0

P6
91
.00

P6
91
.2
0

P6
82.

60

P6
91
.7

P6
91
.8

P692.1

P69
2.2

P692.1

P6
91
.4 P690.2

P6
91
.1

P6
91
.3

P
69

1.
5

P
69
2.
0

P
69
2.
5

P6
92
.4

P
69
2.
5

P6
91
.8

P6
91
.5

P
69

2.
3

P690.5

P6
83
.2

P68
2.1

P682.2

P682.5

P685
.5

P685.3

P68
4.0

P
69
2.
9

P
69
3.
1

P
69
2.
6

P687.0

P
68
7.
0

P
68
7.
0

P6
92
.0

P
69

2.
1

P
68
8.
0

P692.5

P6
92.

4

P
68
8.
0

P
68
8.
0

P6
90
.5

P68
2.5

P
68

2.
8

P6
82
.5

P
68

2.
9

P
682.4

P
682.8

P
68
2.
2

P685
.2

P
683.5

P683.6

P
68

3.
3

P68
2.5

P
68
7.
7

P
69
2.
0

P692.8

P677.0

P675.7

P674
.5

P68
5.8

P682
.7

P682.7

P676.5

P6
82
.9

P683.4

P67
8.7

P6
91
.5

P68
4.3

P682
.4

P
682.3

P
68

1.
5

P
68
5.
0

P68
1.3

P68
2.0

P
68
3.
4

P
68
3.
3

P681
.9

P6
81.

5
P681.4

P681.2

P682.3

P6
81
.4

P67
8.6

P
68
2.
8

P68
9.5

P6
90
.2

P68
1.3

P681.2

P681.7
P681.8

P67
9.2

P679.1

P682.1

P
68
2.
5

P681.3
P68

1.4

P
690.9

P
68
2.
7

P
68

2.
3

P
68

2.
1

P690.9

P6
92
.0

P68
1.5

P681.4

P6
82
.8

P682.
7

P683.0

P6
85
.0

P
68
3.
0

P685.0

P687.0

P688.0

P68
4.3

P688.5

P685.8

P686.7

P689.5

P684.1

P685.4

P679
.2

P679.8

P682.7

P683.0

P676.8

P677.6

P679.7

P678.5

P680.5

P
68
3.
8

P676.0

P675.0

P680.0

P679.1

P677.4

P680.5

P
68

3.
1

P
68

4.
0

P
68

4.
0

P679.6

P678.1

P
682.8

P685.1

P682.1

P686.3 E2
A

35' PU&DE

3+
00

@5.0%

18.1'

18.1'

10.0'

47
.5

9'

N88°07'18"E 75.12'

07
/0

8/
22

R
FV

SU
BM

IT
 T

O
 V

IL
LA

G
E

07
/2

8/
22

R
FV

PE
R

 V
IL

LA
G

E 
R

EV
IE

W
08

/2
2/

22
R

FV
PE

R
 L

IG
H

TI
N

G
 L

O
C

AT
IO

N
S

11
/0

3/
22

R
FV

PE
R

 V
IL

LA
G

E 
R

EV
IE

W
03

/1
5/

23
R

FV
BI

KE
 P

AT
H

 &
 V

IL
LA

G
E 

R
EV

IE
W

04
/2

6/
23

R
FV

PE
R

 V
IL

LA
G

E 
R

EV
IE

W
06

/2
1/

23
BP

H
PE

R
 V

IL
LA

G
E 

R
EV

IE
W

07
/2

1/
23

BP
H

PE
R

 V
IL

LA
G

E 
R

EV
IE

W
08

/1
6/

23
BP

H
PE

R
 V

IL
LA

G
E 

R
EV

IE
W

09
/1

8/
23

BP
H

R
EV

IS
ED

 L
O

TS
 1

-8
 &

 G
R

AD
IN

G
10

/1
7/

23
BP

H
PE

R
 V

IL
LA

G
E 

R
EV

IE
W

11
/3

0/
23

BP
H

PE
R

 V
IL

LA
G

E 
R

EV
IE

W

P
R

E
LI

M
IN

A
R

Y
 P

LA
T

A
B

B
E

Y
 W

O
O

D
S

 N
O

R
T

H
S

T
E

V
E

N
 B

E
E

M
S

T
E

R
B

O
E

R
S

T
. F

R
A

N
C

IS
 R

O
A

D
 F

R
A

N
K

F
O

R
T

, I
LL

IN
O

IS

2a 3

© 2020 M.GINGERICH, GEREAUX & ASSOCIATES

SHEET NO.

OF

D
ES

IG
N

:

D
R

AW
IN

G
:

C
H

EC
KE

D
:

AP
PR

O
VE

D
:

PL
AN

 E
DI

TI
O

N 
M

IL
ES

TO
NE

S
D

A
T

E
B

Y
D

E
S

C
R

IP
T

IO
N

C
IV

IL
 E

N
G

IN
E

E
R

IN
G

S
U

R
V

E
Y

IN
G

M
 G

IN
G

ER
IC

H
 G

ER
EA

U
X 

&
 A

SS
O

C
IA

TE
S

2
M

G
A

P
ro

fe
ss

io
na

l D
es

ig
n 

F
irm

 L
ic

en
se

 #
 1

84
.0

05
00

3
w

w
w

.m
g2

a.
co

m
 

25
62

0 
S

. G
O

U
G

A
R

 R
D

.  
  |

   
 M

A
N

H
A

TT
A

N
, I

L.
 6

04
42

P
. 8

15
-4

78
-9

68
0

  F
. 8

15
-4

78
-9

68
5

LEGEND:           
- PR. STORM SEWER

- PR. STORM SEWER CURB INLET

- PR. STORM SEWER MANHOLE

- PR. SANITARY SEWER

- PR. SANITARY SEWER MANHOLE

- PR. WATER MAIN

- PR. FIRE HYDRANT

- PR. STREET LIGHT

- PR. FLOW DIRECTION

- PR. OVERLAND FLOW ROUTE

-PR. STORM SEWER TO BE SIZED FOR 100-YR. FLOW

DETENTION BASINS

Note: Garage Floor is 6" below T/F, unless noted otherwise.

Continued on 2b

Note: Multi-Use Path shall have 2' wide flat space (6:1 max)
each side per AASHTO criteria.

Note: Lot grading shall not exceed 5:1 slopes on grassed areas.

PATH DETAIL
SCALE: 1"=20'

RETAINING WALL 

RETAINING
WALL  T/W-684.0

5:1

6'

SWALE SECTION - E1

⅊
43' PU & DE

679.2

100yr-682.0

W/O-684.8

3:1

682.7

684.3
RETAINING
WALL  T/W-683.8

5:1

0.3'

SWALE SECTION - W2 

⅊
30' PU & DE

683.0

L/0-687.0

685.0

STORM SEWER TO BE
SIZED FOR 100-YR FLOW Q (100-yr) - 13.1 cfs

3:
1

RETAINING
WALL  T/W-684.0

5:1

SWALE SECTION - E2

43' PU & DE

L/O-687.0
685.0

Q (100-yr) - 11.8 cfs

3:
1

0.7'

682.8

3'

100yr-683.5
5:1

5:1

678.5

4:1

4'
675.7

Q (100-yr) - 174 cfs

100yr-678.0

Q (100-yr) - 2.8 cfs

3'

5:1
100yr-683.3

9:1

10% max.

10% max.

10% max. (Rear Yd)
5:1 max. (Side Yd)

679.8

6'

Q (100-yr) - 197.5 cfs

100yr-683.4

0.7'
3'

RETAINING
WALL  T/W-683.8

5:1

0.3'

SWALE SECTION - W3 

⅊
30' PU & DE

682.9

L/0-688.0

687.0

STORM SEWER TO BE
SIZED FOR 100-YR FLOW

680.5

4:14:1

4'
677.4

100yr-680.0

Q (100-yr) - 2.1 cfs

3'

5:1

100yr-683.2

10% max.

Q (100-yr) - 174 cfs

15' PU & DE

15' PU & DE

Q (100-yr) - 197.5 cfs

⅊

100yr-682.0

26' 13'

4:1

682.7

30' 13'

682.7

m
ax

.
m

ax
.m

ax.

01
/1

0/
24

BP
H

PE
R

 V
IL

LA
G

E 
R

EV
IE

W

SWALE SECTION - E2A

⅊
35' PU & DE

T/F-694.0

0.8'

685.0
5:1

10% max.

4'

5:1 685.3
5:1

686.3 5:1

Q (100-yr) - 24.8 cfs Q (100-yr) -11.8 cfs
0.6'

3'

685.8

X:
\P

ro
je

ct
s\

20
21

\2
1-

69
7 

- 1
8 

ac
 S

t F
ra

nc
is 

Rd
 F

ra
nk

fo
rt 

- S
te

ve
 B

ee
m

st
er

bo
er

\D
W

G\
7-

Pr
ep

la
t\

21
-6

97
 P

re
lim

in
ar

y 
En

gi
ne

er
in

g_
v5

-A
D

J-
fo

r R
ev

ie
w

_r
ec

ov
er

.d
w

g,
 1

/1
0/

20
24

 2
:5

0:
24

 P
M

, r
ra

ab

39

AutoCAD SHX Text
FLOODPLAIN LIMIT (SCALED FROM FEMA MAP)

AutoCAD SHX Text
APPROX. FLOODPLAIN LIMIT (SCALED FROM FEMA MAP)

AutoCAD SHX Text
LIMITS OF FLOODWAY (SCALED FROM FEMA MAP)

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAINAGEWAY 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
WETLAND 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
WETLAND FRINGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAINAGEWAY 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAINAGEWAY 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAINAGEWAY 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
APPROX. FLOODWAY LIMITS (SCALED FROM FEMA MAP)

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOUND IRON ROD 123.0' N & ON-LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOUND IRON ROD 32.3' N & ON-LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. WETLAND BOTTOM DETENTION BASIN 3.27 AC-FT HWL=681.1 NWL=676.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
676

AutoCAD SHX Text
681

AutoCAD SHX Text
676

AutoCAD SHX Text
681

AutoCAD SHX Text
679

AutoCAD SHX Text
680

AutoCAD SHX Text
678

AutoCAD SHX Text
682.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
680

AutoCAD SHX Text
680

AutoCAD SHX Text
680

AutoCAD SHX Text
677

AutoCAD SHX Text
680

AutoCAD SHX Text
683

AutoCAD SHX Text
685

AutoCAD SHX Text
686

AutoCAD SHX Text
687

AutoCAD SHX Text
688

AutoCAD SHX Text
679

AutoCAD SHX Text
690

AutoCAD SHX Text
689

AutoCAD SHX Text
684

AutoCAD SHX Text
679

AutoCAD SHX Text
684

AutoCAD SHX Text
678

AutoCAD SHX Text
677

AutoCAD SHX Text
676.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
677

AutoCAD SHX Text
678

AutoCAD SHX Text
679

AutoCAD SHX Text
676

AutoCAD SHX Text
678

AutoCAD SHX Text
682.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
680

AutoCAD SHX Text
678

AutoCAD SHX Text
676.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
676.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
681

AutoCAD SHX Text
682

AutoCAD SHX Text
682.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
676

AutoCAD SHX Text
675

AutoCAD SHX Text
680

AutoCAD SHX Text
681

AutoCAD SHX Text
682.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
677

AutoCAD SHX Text
680

AutoCAD SHX Text
678

AutoCAD SHX Text
677

AutoCAD SHX Text
679

AutoCAD SHX Text
678

AutoCAD SHX Text
680

AutoCAD SHX Text
681

AutoCAD SHX Text
678

AutoCAD SHX Text
678

AutoCAD SHX Text
677

AutoCAD SHX Text
678

AutoCAD SHX Text
686

AutoCAD SHX Text
686

AutoCAD SHX Text
686

AutoCAD SHX Text
685

AutoCAD SHX Text
683

AutoCAD SHX Text
684

AutoCAD SHX Text
683

AutoCAD SHX Text
682

AutoCAD SHX Text
680

AutoCAD SHX Text
682

AutoCAD SHX Text
681

AutoCAD SHX Text
678

AutoCAD SHX Text
676

AutoCAD SHX Text
677

AutoCAD SHX Text
677

AutoCAD SHX Text
676

AutoCAD SHX Text
676

AutoCAD SHX Text
678

AutoCAD SHX Text
677

AutoCAD SHX Text
678

AutoCAD SHX Text
680

AutoCAD SHX Text
682

AutoCAD SHX Text
678

AutoCAD SHX Text
679

AutoCAD SHX Text
675

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
30'

AutoCAD SHX Text
60'

AutoCAD SHX Text
NIB

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOB NO. 21-697

AutoCAD SHX Text
RFV

AutoCAD SHX Text
RFV

AutoCAD SHX Text
RFV

AutoCAD SHX Text
APPROX. BIKE PATH LOCATION  SCALED FROM VILLAGE EXHIBIT

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING GRADE

AutoCAD SHX Text
679.7

AutoCAD SHX Text
683.4

AutoCAD SHX Text
680.9

AutoCAD SHX Text
680.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
686.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
686.0



ST.   
 FRANCIS    

ROAD

W
A

T
E

R
V

IE
W

T
R

A
IL

2+00

3+00

4+00

5+00

6+00

7+00

8+00

LOT 1
19,029 SQ.FT.

LOT 2
17,169 SQ.FT.

LOT 3
15,530 SQ.FT.

LOT 4
15,791 SQ.FT.

LOT 5
15,463 SQ.FT.

LOT 6
15,219 SQ.FT.

LOT 7
15,547 SQ.FT.

LOT 8
18,294 SQ.FT.

LOT 16

15,018 SQ.FT.

LOT 18

15,000 SQ.FT.

LOT 17

15,046 SQ.FT.

LOT 19

15,000 SQ.FT.

LOT 20

15,006 SQ.FT.

LOT 21

16,401 SQ.FT.

LOT 22

15,652 SQ.FT.

LOT 23

19,445 SQ.FT.
LOT 24

17,135 SQ.FT.

LOT 25

17,800 SQ.FT.

30' B.S.L.

30' B.S.L.

30' B.S.L.

30' B.S.L.

30' B.S.L.

100+00

101+00

102+00

103+00

104+00

105+00

106+00

107+00

108+00

109+00

110+00

    W
A

T
E
R
V
IE

W
    T

R
A

IL

T/F=694.5

T/F=694.5

GF=693.5

T/F=693.5

T/F=693.8

T/F=694.0

T/F=694.0

T/F=694.0

T/F=694.0

T/F=694.0

T/F=693.5

8" PVC SAN 250 L.F.@ 0.5%

8"
 P

VC
 S

AN
 31

7 L
.F

.@
 0.

5%

8" P
VC SAN

380 L.F.@
 0.5%

8" PVC INV. S=678.70

8" PVC INV. S=679.97

8" P
VC IN

V. S=681.56

8" P
VC IN

V. S
=683.46

BE
GIN

T/
W

=6
84

.5

B/
W

=6
84

.0

T/F=694.0

L/O=691.0

FBF=685.3

L/O=690.0

FBF=685.3

L/O=688.5
FBF=685.3

FBF=685.5

L/O
=690.0

FBF=685.7

L/O=689.0
T/F=693.7

T/F=693.7

T/F=694.5

T/F=694.5

T/F=694.5

T/F=694.0

3+
00

4+
00

W/O=685.7

W/O=685.7

W
/O=686.3

FBF=685.8

L/O=689.0

FBF=685.8

L/O=689.5

FBF=685.3

L/O=688.0

FBF=685.8

FBF=685.8

FBF=685.8

FBF=685.3

FBF=684.8

FBF=685.3

FBF=685.3

PROP. HOT TAPS (2)

W/ VALVE IN VAULT

EX. HYDRANT

19-09-15-102-078-0000

ZONING: R2 S/F RESIDENTIAL

USE: VACANT/DETENTION

35' PU&DE

40' PU&DE

15' PU&DE

30' PU&DE

30' PU&DE

PROP. STREETLIGHT, TYP.

10' PU&DE &

DETN. ACCESS E.

15
' P

U&DE

ADJACENT PROPERTY GRADING

SUBJECT TO OWNER APPROVAL

10' PU&DE

10' PU&DE

10' PU&DE

OUTLOT C

DRAINAGE, DETENTION &

PUBLIC UTILITY EASEMENT

77,169 SQ.FT.

PROP. 6' SIDEWALK

T/
W

=6
84

.0

B/
W

=6
81

.5

OUTLOT D2,641 SQ.FT.

10' PU&DE

R65.0'

R
45

.0
'

R2
0.

0'

SIGN ESM'T

SIGN ESM'TLP-1

LP-2

LP-3

LP
-4

CONNECT TO EX. SAN. MH

PR
OP.

 O
UTL

ET

CONTR
OL S

TR
UCT.

PROP. 25' LANDSCAPE, NO

FENCE, NO ACCESS EASEMENT

25
'

PROP. 25' LANDSCAPE, NO

FENCE, NO ACCESS EASEMENT
25

'

INSTALL 2-8" W
ATER LINES IN ONE AUGER CASING

@3.5
%

@6.5%

@4.5%

@6.4%

@5
.4%

@6%

@4.5%

@5.8%

@6
.5%

@7.1%

H.P.

L.P.

@0.53%

@1.0%

L.
P.

@1.7%

@0.97%

H.P
.

H.P
.

@0.6%

@0.5%

@5.9
%

AUGER PROP. SAN. UNDER PAV'T

PROP. 50' ROW DEDICATION

T/F=694.5

GF=692.7

30' B.S.L.

10' PU&DE

@4:1
@8:1

10' ACCESS5' WIDE T/BERM 684.7

30' PU&DE

EX. UTILITY POLE TO BE RELOCATED

COORDINATE W/ UTILITY COMPANY

20
' W

ID
E 

OVE
RFL

OW

W
EI

R E
L. 

68
3.7

0
3:

1 M
AX

3:
1 M
AX

3:
1 M
AX

3:
1

M
AX

694 3' WIDE T/BERM TYP. 

@1.8%

@1.6%

@1.0%

@1.0%

@0.7%

@0.6%

N1
N1

N2

N2

N3

N3

EX
. D

RIV
EW

AY
  T

O B
E

REL
OCAT

ED
 A

S 
NEE

DED

MAX
. 7

-F
T 

W
ES

T 
OF 

CURREN
T

BERM 3' HIGH TYP.
693

693

692

691

690

696

693

697

694

690

@1.0%

@0.9%

GF=692.8

15' PERMANENT PU&DE

(TO BE GRANTED

FROM ADJ. PROPERTY OWNER)

10' TEMPORARY CONSTRUCTION EASEMENT

(TO BE GRANTED

FROM ADJ. PROPERTY OWNER)
W

3

E3

E3

@1.0%

@1.0%

@1.0%

@5.1%

@6.2%

@1.0%

@1.0%

@8.8%

@1.0%

@1.0%

@1.0%

@1.0%

@1.7%

@1.7%

@1.0%

@2.7%

@1.0%

W
4

W
4

5' WIDE T/BERM 684.7

@1.0%

@0.5%

@0.5%

P
69

1.
50

P689.50

P6
92
.0
0

P6
91
.5
0

P6
92
.1
0

P6
89
.2
0

P692
.40

P6
91
.2
0

P6
88
.9
0

P6
90
.0
4

P
68
9.
3

P6
91
.0

P6
91
.1

P68
9.9

P690.9

P6
92
.3

P6
91
.7

P6
91
.8

P692.1

P69
2.2

P
69
2.
5

P
69
2.
5

P6
91
.8

P6
91
.5

P6
92
.0

P6
92
.1

P6
90
.8

P6
89
.9

P6
91
.2

P6
91
.6

P6
92
.0

P6
91
.1

P6
90
.6

P6
89
.6

P6
90
.6

P6
92
.4

P6
83
.2

P6
91
.0

P6
91
.7

P693.0

P
69
4.
0

P
69
1.
0

P692.2

P
69
3.
4

P
69
4.
5

P691.8

P
68
9.
7

P
69
0.
2

P693.5

P6
90
.0

P689.7

P
69
0.
4

P689.8

P
68
7.
5

P
69

2.
5

P6
92
.6

P6
92
.4

P6
91
.8

P685
.5

P685.3

P686.3

P
68
6.
9

P687.4

P
69
2.
9

P
69
3.
1

P6
90
.0

P6
91
.3

P6
90
.0

P6
90
.0

P6
90
.0

P687.0

P69
1.5

P691.3

P692.7

P
69

2.
1

P
69
1.
4

P687.1

P
68
8.
0

P
68
6.
0

P
68
7.
5

P
68
6.
5

P
68
8.
1

P
68
8.
0

P692.5

P
68
8.
0

P683.6

P692.8

P678.5

P679.5

P
69
3.
5

P
69
5.
0

P
69
0.
3

P68
5.8

P
68
3.
2

P678.0

P6
94
.1

P6
93
.0

P6
82
.9

P6
91
.5

P6
93
.0

P
68
4.
7

P
68
4.
7

P
68
4.
7

P
68
4.
7

P
68
4.
7

P
68
4.
7

P
68
5.
0

P
68
9.
4

P
68
8.
8P
68
9.
4

P68
5.4

P68
9.5

P679.0

P682.0

P687.0

P688.0

P685
.3

P688.5

P690.5

P6
89
.0

P690.6

P
68
8.
0

P
69
0.
8

P
68
8.
4

P
68
7.
9

P685.8

P686.7

P693.0

P689.5

P
68
7.
8

P
69
0.
9

P
69

0.
5

P
69

1.
1

P
69

0.
6

P
69

1.
8

P
69

2.
5

P
68
3.
8

P680.0

P681.0

P682.7

P684.9

P683.5

P681.7

P680.7

P684.7
P684.7

P681.2

P682.2

@2.0
%

P685.3
P687.7

P687.0

07
/0

8/
22

R
FV

SU
BM

IT
 T

O
 V

IL
LA

G
E

07
/2

8/
22

R
FV

PE
R

 V
IL

LA
G

E 
R

EV
IE

W
08

/2
2/

22
R

FV
PE

R
 L

IG
H

TI
N

G
 L

O
C

AT
IO

N
S

11
/0

3/
22

R
FV

PE
R

 V
IL

LA
G

E 
R

EV
IE

W
03

/1
5/

23
R

FV
BI

KE
 P

AT
H

 &
 V

IL
LA

G
E 

R
EV

IE
W

04
/2

6/
23

R
FV

PE
R

 V
IL

LA
G

E 
R

EV
IE

W
06

/2
1/

23
BP

H
PE

R
 V

IL
LA

G
E 

R
EV

IE
W

07
/2

1/
23

BP
H

PE
R

 V
IL

LA
G

E 
R

EV
IE

W
08

/1
6/

23
BP

H
PE

R
 V

IL
LA

G
E 

R
EV

IE
W

09
/1

8/
23

BP
H

R
EV

IS
ED

 L
O

TS
 1

-8
 &

 G
R

AD
IN

G
10

/1
7/

23
BP

H
PE

R
 V

IL
LA

G
E 

R
EV

IE
W

11
/3

0/
23

BP
H

PE
R

 V
IL

LA
G

E 
R

EV
IE

W

P
R

E
LI

M
IN

A
R

Y
 P

LA
T

A
B

B
E

Y
 W

O
O

D
S

 N
O

R
T

H
S

T
E

V
E

N
 B

E
E

M
S

T
E

R
B

O
E

R
S

T
. F

R
A

N
C

IS
 R

O
A

D
 F

R
A

N
K

F
O

R
T

, I
LL

IN
O

IS

2b 3

© 2020 M.GINGERICH, GEREAUX & ASSOCIATES

SHEET NO.

OF

D
ES

IG
N

:

D
R

AW
IN

G
:

C
H

EC
KE

D
:

AP
PR

O
VE

D
:

PL
AN

 E
DI

TI
O

N 
M

IL
ES

TO
NE

S
D

A
T

E
B

Y
D

E
S

C
R

IP
T

IO
N

C
IV

IL
 E

N
G

IN
E

E
R

IN
G

S
U

R
V

E
Y

IN
G

M
 G

IN
G

ER
IC

H
 G

ER
EA

U
X 

&
 A

SS
O

C
IA

TE
S

2
M

G
A

P
ro

fe
ss

io
na

l D
es

ig
n 

F
irm

 L
ic

en
se

 #
 1

84
.0

05
00

3
w

w
w

.m
g2

a.
co

m
 

25
62

0 
S

. G
O

U
G

A
R

 R
D

.  
  |

   
 M

A
N

H
A

TT
A

N
, I

L.
 6

04
42

P
. 8

15
-4

78
-9

68
0

  F
. 8

15
-4

78
-9

68
5

LEGEND:           
- PR. STORM SEWER

- PR. STORM SEWER CURB INLET

- PR. STORM SEWER MANHOLE

- PR. SANITARY SEWER

- PR. SANITARY SEWER MANHOLE

- PR. WATER MAIN

- PR. FIRE HYDRANT

- PR. STREET LIGHT

- PR. FLOW DIRECTION

- PR. OVERLAND FLOW ROUTE

Continued on 2a

L.P.
H.P. - PR. HIGH POINT

- PR.LOW POINT

BENCHMARK:  PER SURVEY REGIONAL VRSNOW RTK
GNSS NETWORK SET CUT CROSS IN
CURB NEAR THE NORTHEAST CORNER
OF PROPERTY ELEV.=693.45 (NAVD 88)

BENCHMARK

NOTES:
MAINTENANCE OF ALL WALLS WILL BE THE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE
HOMEOWNERS OR ASSOCIATION.

IT IS THE OWNER AND OWNER’S CONSULTANT AND CONTRACTORS’
RESPONSIBILITY TO VERIFY THAT ALL EXISTING AND PROPOSED
UTILITIES (ELECTRIC, GAS, TELEPHONE, UNDERGROUND CABLE,
ETC.) AND RELATED EASEMENTS ARE SHOWN ON THE PLANS AND
PLAT AND THAT THEY WILL BE RELOCATED/REMOVED
ACCORDINGLY WITH ANY AND ALL REQUIRED APPROVALS. SHOW
THE EXISTING UTILITY POLE LOCATION NEAR THE PROPOSED
ENTRANCE AND LABEL FOR RELOCATION.

THE OWNER AND/OR CONTRACTOR ARE RESPONSIBLE FOR
VERIFYING SOIL CONDITIONS AND SUBGRADE CONDITIONS FOR THE
PROPOSED
ROADWAY, FOUNDATIONS, ETC.

STORMWATER BASINS WILL BE OWNED AND MAINTAINED BY THE
PROPERTY OWNER.

Note: Garage Floor is 6" below T/F, unless
noted otherwise
Note: Lot grading shall not exceed 5:1
slopes on grassed areas.

5:1 5:1

4'
1.0'

SWALE SECTION - N1 

N.⅊
40' PU & DE

3:
1 3:1

5:1 5:1

4'
0.7'

 SWALE SECTION - N2 

⅊
15' PU & DE

5:1 5:1

4'
0.4'

SWALE SECTION - N3

⅊
15' PU & DE

690.2

690.6

T/F-693.5

686.0

686.7

687.7

688.7

L/0-690.0

LANDSCAPE
BERM

SWALE SECTION - E3

⅊
30' PU & DE

T/F-694.0

0.8'

688.0
5:1

10% max.

4'

5:1
689.8

5:1
690.8 5:1

Q (100-yr) - 17.3 cfs
Q (100-yr) - 4.8 cfs0.5'

2'

Q (100-yr) - 4.8 cfs

Q (100-yr) - 20.7 cfs

Q (100-yr) - 37.7 cfs

SWALE SECTION - W4 

⅊

684.7

4:14:1

4'
682.0

684.9

100yr-684.2

Q (100-yr) - 150 cfs

15' PU & DE

4:1

688.8

2.2'

01
/1

0/
24

BP
H

PE
R

 V
IL

LA
G

E 
R

EV
IE

W

T/F-693.7
F/G-687.7

X:
\P

ro
je

ct
s\

20
21

\2
1-

69
7 

- 1
8 

ac
 S

t F
ra

nc
is 

Rd
 F

ra
nk

fo
rt 

- S
te

ve
 B

ee
m

st
er

bo
er

\D
W

G\
7-

Pr
ep

la
t\

21
-6

97
 P

re
lim

in
ar

y 
En

gi
ne

er
in

g_
v5

-A
D

J-
fo

r R
ev

ie
w

_r
ec

ov
er

.d
w

g,
 1

/1
0/

20
24

 2
:5

0:
33

 P
M

, r
ra

ab

40

AutoCAD SHX Text
SANITARY MH RIM=690.56 12" RCP NE=678.66 12"RCP SE-NW=678.61

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAINAGEWAY 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAINAGEWAY 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAINAGEWAY 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAINAGEWAY 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
ESTIMATED FLOOD PLAIN LIMIT PER MG2A TOPO & BFE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PREVIOUS CORNER

AutoCAD SHX Text
684

AutoCAD SHX Text
690

AutoCAD SHX Text
682

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP.WETLAND BOTTOM DETENTION BASIN 3.35 AC-FT HWL=683.70 NWL=679.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
679.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
683.7

AutoCAD SHX Text
679.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
684

AutoCAD SHX Text
684

AutoCAD SHX Text
683

AutoCAD SHX Text
682

AutoCAD SHX Text
681

AutoCAD SHX Text
684

AutoCAD SHX Text
682

AutoCAD SHX Text
685

AutoCAD SHX Text
683

AutoCAD SHX Text
683

AutoCAD SHX Text
683

AutoCAD SHX Text
680

AutoCAD SHX Text
683

AutoCAD SHX Text
684

AutoCAD SHX Text
684

AutoCAD SHX Text
684

AutoCAD SHX Text
682

AutoCAD SHX Text
681

AutoCAD SHX Text
680

AutoCAD SHX Text
686

AutoCAD SHX Text
688

AutoCAD SHX Text
686

AutoCAD SHX Text
689

AutoCAD SHX Text
682

AutoCAD SHX Text
684

AutoCAD SHX Text
682

AutoCAD SHX Text
680

AutoCAD SHX Text
678

AutoCAD SHX Text
680

AutoCAD SHX Text
681

AutoCAD SHX Text
684

AutoCAD SHX Text
689

AutoCAD SHX Text
689

AutoCAD SHX Text
688

AutoCAD SHX Text
688

AutoCAD SHX Text
690

AutoCAD SHX Text
687

AutoCAD SHX Text
687

AutoCAD SHX Text
686

AutoCAD SHX Text
686

AutoCAD SHX Text
686

AutoCAD SHX Text
690

AutoCAD SHX Text
691

AutoCAD SHX Text
683

AutoCAD SHX Text
685

AutoCAD SHX Text
684

AutoCAD SHX Text
684

AutoCAD SHX Text
684

AutoCAD SHX Text
681

AutoCAD SHX Text
680

AutoCAD SHX Text
678

AutoCAD SHX Text
679

AutoCAD SHX Text
679

AutoCAD SHX Text
680

AutoCAD SHX Text
680

AutoCAD SHX Text
682

AutoCAD SHX Text
680

AutoCAD SHX Text
680

AutoCAD SHX Text
681

AutoCAD SHX Text
681

AutoCAD SHX Text
683

AutoCAD SHX Text
682

AutoCAD SHX Text
683

AutoCAD SHX Text
682

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
30'

AutoCAD SHX Text
60'

AutoCAD SHX Text
NIB

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOB NO. 21-697

AutoCAD SHX Text
RFV

AutoCAD SHX Text
RFV

AutoCAD SHX Text
RFV

AutoCAD SHX Text
689.3



ST.   
 FRANCIS    

ROAD

H
IC

K
O

R
Y

C
R

E
E

K

W
A

T
E

R
V

IE
W

T
R

A
IL

CR

BFE = 678.3

LOT 1
19,029 SQ.FT.

LOT 2
17,169 SQ.FT.

LOT 3
15,530 SQ.FT.

LOT 4
15,791 SQ.FT.

LOT 5
15,463 SQ.FT.

LOT 6
15,219 SQ.FT.

LOT 7
15,547 SQ.FT.

LOT 8
18,294 SQ.FT.

LOT 9
15,926 SQ.FT.

LOT 10

15,072 SQ.FT.

LOT 14
15,023 SQ.FT.

LOT 15

15,020 SQ.FT.

LOT 16

15,018 SQ.FT.

LOT 18

15,000 SQ.FT.

LOT 17

15,046 SQ.FT.

LOT 19

15,000 SQ.FT.

LOT 20

15,006 SQ.FT.

LOT 21

16,401 SQ.FT.

LOT 22

15,652 SQ.FT.

LOT 23

19,445 SQ.FT.
LOT 24

17,135 SQ.FT.

LOT 25

17,800 SQ.FT.

30' B.S.L.

30' B.S.L.

30' B.S.L.

30' B.S.L.

30' B.S.L.

LO
T 

11

16
,09

6 S
Q.F

T.

LO
T 

12

15
,02

1 S
Q.F

T.
LO

T 
13

17
,04

6 S
Q.F

T.

100+00

101+00

102+00

103+00

104+00

105+00

106+00

107+00

108+00

109+00

110+00

111+00

112+00112+18

    W
A

T
E
R
V
IE

W
    T

R
A

IL

T/F=694.5

T/F=694.5

GF=693.5

T/F=693.5

T/F=693.8

T/F=694.0

T/F=694.0

T/F=694.0

T/F=694.0

T/F=694.0

T/F=693.5

T/F=693.0

T/
F=

69
3.0

T/
F=

69
3.

0

T/F=694.0

L/O=691.0

FBF=685.3

L/O=690.0

FBF=685.3

L/O=688.5
FBF=685.3

T/F=694.0

L/O=688.5
FBF=685.3

T/F=694.0

L/O=687.0
FBF=685.3

FBF=685.5

L/O
=690.0

FBF=685.7

L/O=689.0
T/F=693.7

T/F=693.7

T/F=694.5

T/F=694.5

T/F=694.5

T/F=694.0

T/F=694.2FBF=685.5

L/O=688.0

T/F=694.0FBF=685.3

L/O=687.0

W/O=684.8

W
/O

=6
84

.8

W
/O

=6
84

.8

W/O=685.7

W/O=685.7

W
/O=686.3

FBF=685.8

L/O=689.0

FBF=685.8

L/O=689.5

FBF=685.3

L/O=688.0

FBF=685.8

FBF=685.8

FBF=685.8

FBF=685.3

FBF=684.8

FBF=685.3

FBF=685.3

19-09-15-300-015-0000

ZONING A1 (WILL COUNTY)

USE: AGRICULTURE

19-09-15-300-002-0000

ZONING: RE - ESTATE RESIDENTIAL

USE: RELIGIOUS FACILITIES

19-09-15-102-078-0000

ZONING: R2 S/F RESIDENTIAL

USE: VACANT/DETENTION

19-09-15-105-029-0000

ZONING: R2 S/F RESIDENTIAL

USE: VACANT

35' PU&DE

40' PU&DE

15' PU&DE

30' PU&DE

30' PU&DE

43' PU&DE

25
' P

U&D
E

15
' P

U&D
E

OUTL
OT 

B

DRAI
NAG

E 
&

CONSE
RVA

TI
ON E

AS
EM

EN
T

10
2,8

36
 sq

.ft.

OUTL
OT 

A

DRAI
NAG

E,
 D

ET
EN

TI
ON, B

IK
E 

PA
TH

 &

PU
BL

IC
 U

TI
LIT

Y 
EA

SE
MEN

T

62
,25

3 s
q.f

t.

10' PU&DE &

DETN. ACCESS E.

15
' P

U&DE

30' PU&DE

10' PU&DE

15
' P

U&D
E

10' PU&DE

10' PU&DE

OUTLOT C

DRAINAGE, DETENTION &

PUBLIC UTILITY EASEMENT

77,169 SQ.FT.

10
0.0

'

100.0'

100.0'

10
0.

0'

PR
OP.

 10
' M

ULT
I-U

SE
 P

AT
H

COORDINATE M/U PATH

TIE-IN W/ ADJACENT OWNER

PROP. 6' SIDEWALK

OUTLOT E

1,066 SQ.FT.

OUTLOT D2,641 SQ.FT.

10' PU&DE

R65.0'

R
45

.0
'

R2
0.

0'

R65.0'

R
45

.0
'R20.0'

SIGN ESM'T

SIGN ESM'T

PROP. 25' LANDSCAPE, NO

FENCE, NO ACCESS EASEMENT

25
'

PROP. 25' LANDSCAPE, NO

FENCE, NO ACCESS EASEMENT

25
'

75.0'

AP
PR

OX.
 B

IK
E 

PA
TH

 LO
CAT

IO
N

SC
AL

ED
 F

ROM V
ILL

AG
E 

EX
HIB

IT

AP
PR

OX.
 B

IK
E 

PA
TH

 LO
CAT

IO
N

SC
AL

ED
 F

ROM V
ILL

AG
E 

EX
HIB

IT

10
0.

0'

PROP. 50' ROW DEDICATION

T/F=694.5

GF=692.7

30' B.S.L.

10' M-USE PATH IN 15' OUTLOT

10' M-USE PATH, MIN. 115' INT. RADIUS

10' PU&DE

50
.0

'

50
.0

'

17
1.

6'

15
7.

4'

16
2.

1'

151.0'

162.5'

150.0'

150.0'

150.0'

15
2.1

'

14
6.2

'

14
6.4

'

122.5'

169.1'

135.3'

12
3.

1'

15
0.

2'

15
0.0

'

151.1'

157.8'

132.4'

130.8'

13
4.9

'

13
2.

5'

13
0.1

'

131.2'

10
0.

0'

10
0.

0'

10
0.

0'

10
0.

0'

11
6.1

'

102.7'

102.6'

110.2'

108.5'

106.2'

106.8'

11
5.

0'

121.1'

119.7'

120.0'

13
8.

5'

12
5.

0'

10
0.

0'

10
6.

6'

10
0.

0'

BFE = 675.9 (10-YR)

(100-YR)

30' PU&DE

10
' P

U&D
E

25.0'

GF=692.8

15' PERMANENT PU&DE

(TO BE GRANTED

FROM ADJ. PROPERTY OWNER)

10' TEMPORARY CONSTRUCTION EASEMENT

(TO BE GRANTED

FROM ADJ. PROPERTY OWNER)

35' PU&DE

153.60'

N73°00'33"W
 137.53'

114.48'

46.00'

72.53'

55.31'

35.49'

53.26'

107.51'

115.08'

84
.0

9'

25.00'

N89
°1

7'1
6"

W
 13

5.4
4'

N89
°1

7'1
6"

W
 14

0.4
9'

N80
°32

'40
"W

 13
1.9

7'

N70°38'05"W
 130.19'

N70°38'05"W
 134.50'

N70°38'05"W
 162.83'

S8
8°

11
'32

"W
 15

0.0
3'

S8
8°

11
'28

"W
 15

0.0
3'

S8
8°

11
'29

"W
 15

0.0
4'

N
70

°3
8'

18
"E

 1
26

.9
8'

106.15'

135.82'

107.54'

S8
8°

11
'32

"W
 98

.18
'

121.07'

141.40'

S65°05'49"E 131.01'

89.71'

L=45.28'

L=112.37'

L=17.81'
102.34'

11.71'

L=107.16'

9.20'

130.22'

115.00'

79.28'
L=20.75'

L=59.07'

33.30'

106.15'

21.91'

L=87.42'

L=48.12'

L=15.04'

L=
43

.9
1'

L=
45

.0
9'

L=99.60'

3.00'

102.60'

102.70'

19.06'

L=55.43'

53.86'

100.00'

100.00'

79.85'

L=20.18'

L=107.23'

L=10.93'43
.9

7'
L=

68
.9

2'

L=41.20'
L=59.25'

L=
34

.8
4'

43
.3

8'

L=121.85'

89.79'

148.05'

11.04'

N88
°0

7'3
1"

E 
16

3.0
0'

N27°06'23"W 154.56'

S8
8°

07
'31

"W
 89

.50
'

S63°30'37"E 139.14'

103.14'

155.79'

102.60'

102.70'

9.10'

64.54'

N88
°1

1'2
9"

E 
14

6.4
8'

N88
°1

1'2
9"

E 
14

6.3
2'

N88
°1

1'2
9"

E 
14

6.1
6'

S70°38'05"E 150.00'

S70°38'05"E 150.00'

S70°38'05"E 150.00'

S70°38'05"E 150.94'

S70°38'05"E 186.50'

S70°38'05"E 138.52'

N
59

°1
1'

16
"E

 1
93

.3
8'

N24°58'36"E 149.49'

N65°05'49"W 106.12'

165.02'

35.00'

180.28'

100.00'

100.00'

100.00'

100.00'

100.00'

47.59'

N88
°0

7'1
8"

E 
75

.12
'

N1°52'42"W 147.56'
N73°14'03"W

 135.00'

S8
8°

06
'00

"W
 16

0.0
0'

206.44'

380.27'

149.71'

136.43'

07
/0

8/
22

R
FV

SU
BM

IT
 T

O
 V

IL
LA

G
E

07
/2

8/
22

R
FV

PE
R

 V
IL

LA
G

E 
R

EV
IE

W
08

/2
2/

22
R

FV
PE

R
 L

IG
H

TI
N

G
 L

O
C

AT
IO

N
S

11
/0

3/
22

R
FV

PE
R

 V
IL

LA
G

E 
R

EV
IE

W
03

/1
5/

23
R

FV
BI

KE
 P

AT
H

 &
 V

IL
LA

G
E 

R
EV

IE
W

04
/2

6/
23

R
FV

PE
R

 V
IL

LA
G

E 
R

EV
IE

W
06

/2
1/

23
BP

H
PE

R
 V

IL
LA

G
E 

R
EV

IE
W

07
/2

1/
23

BP
H

PE
R

 V
IL

LA
G

E 
R

EV
IE

W
08

/1
6/

23
BP

H
PE

R
 V

IL
LA

G
E 

R
EV

IE
W

09
/1

8/
23

BP
H

R
EV

IS
ED

 L
O

TS
 1

-8
 &

 G
R

AD
IN

G
10

/1
7/

23
BP

H
PE

R
 V

IL
LA

G
E 

R
EV

IE
W

11
/3

0/
23

BP
H

PE
R

 V
IL

LA
G

E 
R

EV
IE

W

P
R

E
LI

M
IN

A
R

Y
 P

LA
T

A
B

B
E

Y
 W

O
O

D
S

 N
O

R
T

H
S

T
E

V
E

N
 B

E
E

M
S

T
E

R
B

O
E

R
94

33
 S

T
 F

R
A

N
C

IS
 R

O
A

D
 F

R
A

N
K

F
O

R
T

, I
LL

IN
O

IS

1 3

SITE DATA SUMMARY

GROSS SITE AREA 18.31 ACRES

ST. FRANCIS ROAD ROW 0.73 ACRES
ON-SITE ROAD ROW 2.40 ACRES
NORTH DETENTION HWL 1.14 ACRES
SOUTH DETENTION HWL 0.81 ACRES

NET SITE AREA 18.31 - 5.08 = 13.23 ACRES

PROPOSED ZONING R-2 SINGLE-FAMILY

TOTAL NUMBER OF UNITS 25 UNITS

GROSS DENSITY 25/18.31 = 1.37 UNITS/ACRE (GROSS)

NET DENSITY 25/13.23 = 1.89 UNITS/ACRE (NET)

MINIMUM LOT WIDTH 100-FT

MINIMUM LOT DEPTH 150-FT (130-FT ADJ. TO OPEN SPACE)

MINIMUM LOT AREA 15,000 SQ FT

MINIMUM CORNER LOT WIDTH 120-FT (106-FT LOTS 8, 9, 25 REQUESTED)

MAXIMUM BUILDING HEIGHT       35-FT

REQUIRED FRONT YARD SETBACK     30-FT

REQUIRED REAR YARD SETBACK     30-FT

REQUIRED SIDE YARD SETBACK             25-FT TOTAL (10-FT MIN.)

© 2020 M.GINGERICH, GEREAUX & ASSOCIATES

SHEET NO.

OF

D
ES

IG
N

:

D
R

AW
IN

G
:

C
H

EC
KE

D
:

AP
PR

O
VE

D
:

PL
AN

 E
DI

TI
O

N 
M

IL
ES

TO
NE

S
D

A
T

E
B

Y
D

E
S

C
R

IP
T

IO
N

C
IV

IL
 E

N
G

IN
E

E
R

IN
G

S
U

R
V

E
Y

IN
G

M
 G

IN
G

ER
IC

H
 G

ER
EA

U
X 

&
 A

SS
O

C
IA

TE
S

2
M

G
A

P
ro

fe
ss

io
na

l D
es

ig
n 

F
irm

 L
ic

en
se

 #
 1

84
.0

05
00

3
w

w
w

.m
g2

a.
co

m
 

25
62

0 
S

. G
O

U
G

A
R

 R
D

.  
  |

   
 M

A
N

H
A

TT
A

N
, I

L.
 6

04
42

P
. 8

15
-4

78
-9

68
0

  F
. 8

15
-4

78
-9

68
5

PROPOSED TYPICAL STREET CROSS SECTION

12.5' B.S.L.

12.5' B.S.L.

30
' B

.S
.L

.

30
' B

.S
.L

.

TYPICAL LOT SETBACK DETAIL

OR 10' MIN. TOTAL
OF 25' PER R-2

FR
O

N
T

R
EA

R

SIDE

PIN: 19-09-15-300-019-0000

LOT AREA TABLE
LOT 1 19,029 S.F.
LOT 2 17,169 S.F.
LOT 3 15,530 S.F.
LOT 4 15,791 S.F.
LOT 5 15,463 S.F.
LOT 6 15,219 S.F.
LOT 7 15,547 S.F.
LOT 8 18,294 S.F.
LOT 9 15,926 S.F.
LOT 10 15,072 S.F.
LOT 11 16,096 S.F.
LOT 12 15,021 S.F.
LOT 13 17,046 S.F.
LOT 14 15,023 S.F.
LOT 15 15,020 S.F.
LOT 16 15,018 S.F.
LOT 17 15,046 S.F.
LOT 18 15,000 S.F.
LOT 19 15,000 S.F.
LOT 20 15,006 S.F.
LOT 21 16,401 S.F.
LOT 22 15,652 S.F.
LOT 23 19,445 S.F.
LOT 24 17,135 S.F.
LOT 25 17,800 S.F.

OUTLOT A 62,253 S.F.
OUTLOT B 115,270 S.F.
OUTLOT C 77,169 S.F.
OUTLOT D 2,641 S.F.
OUTLOT E 1,066 S.F.

NOTES:

1.  OUTLOTS A, B & C, THE DETENTION, BIKE PATH & CONSERVATION AREAS, SHALL BE   
MAINTAINED BY THE HOA.  THIS SHOULD BE ADDED TO THE COVENANTS AND RESTRICTIONS.

2. OUTLOTS D AND E, THE CUL-DE-SAC ISLANDS, SHALL BE MAINTAINED BY THE HOA.
THIS SHOULD BE ADDED TO THE COVENANTS AND RESTRICTIONS.

3. THE CUL-DE-SACS HAVE A DIAMETER OF 130 FEET (SHOWN AS A 65-FOOT RADIUS).

4. THE CUL-DE-SAC ISLANDS HAVE A DIAMETER OF 40 FEET (SHOWN AS A 20-FOOT RADIUS).

5. ALL SIDEWALKS SHALL BE 5 FEET WIDE, EXCEPT THE SIDEWALK ALONG ST FRANCIS ROAD
SHALL BE 6 FEET WIDE.

6. MAINTENANCE OF ALL LANDSCAPE WALLS WILL BE THE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE
HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION. 

L E G A L   D E S C R I P T I O N:

THAT PART OF THE WEST HALF OF SECTION 15, TOWNSHIP 35 NORTH, RANGE 12
EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, LYING SOUTH OF THE CENTERLINE OF
ST. FRANCIS ROAD, AS MONUMENTED, LYING NORTH OF THE CENTERLINE OF
HICKORY CREEK, AND LYING WEST OF THE EAST LINE OF THE PARCEL OF LAND
DESCRIBED IN DOCUMENT NO. R2013-125406, AS MONUMENTED AND OCCUPIED,
AND LYING EAST OF THE FOLLOWING DESCRIBED LINE: COMMENCING AT THE
NORTHEAST CORNER OF HICKORY CREEK NORTHWOODS SUBDIVISION, BEING A
SUBDIVISION OF PART OF SAID SECTION 15, ACCORDING TO THE PLAT THEREOF
RECORDED JULY 2, 2001 AS DOCUMENT NO. R2001-083477, SAID NORTHEAST
CORNER BEING THE CENTERLINE OF ST. FRANCIS ROAD, AS MONUMENTED;
THENCE SOUTH 84 DEGREES 36 MINUTES 00 SECONDS EAST, ON SAID CENTERLINE
OF ST. FRANCIS ROAD, 190.69 FEET TO AN ANGLE POINT; THENCE SOUTH 65
DEGREES 05 MINUTES 49 SECONDS EAST, ON SAID CENTERLINE, 331.22 FEET TO
THE POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE SOUTH 24 DEGREES 54 MINUTES 08 SECONDS
WEST, 89.05 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 00 DEGREES 42 MINUTES 46 SECONDS WEST,
962.24 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 01 DEGREE 48 MINUTES 26 SECONDS EAST, 622.00
FEET; THENCE SOUTH 05 DEGREES 12 MINUTES 43 SECONDS EAST, 380.27 FEET TO
THE CENTERLINE OF SAID HICKORY CREEK, AND TO THE TERMINUS OF SAID LINE,
ALL IN WILL COUNTY, ILLINOIS.

SAID PARCEL CONTAINING 18.313 ACRES, MORE OR LESS.

01
/1

0/
24

BP
H

PE
R

 V
IL

LA
G

E 
R

EV
IE

W

X:
\P

ro
je

ct
s\

20
21

\2
1-

69
7 

- 1
8 

ac
 S

t F
ra

nc
is 

Rd
 F

ra
nk

fo
rt 

- S
te

ve
 B

ee
m

st
er

bo
er

\D
W

G\
7-

Pr
ep

la
t\

21
-6

97
 P

re
lim

in
ar

y 
En

gi
ne

er
in

g_
v5

-A
D

J-
fo

r R
ev

ie
w

_r
ec

ov
er

.d
w

g,
 1

/1
0/

20
24

 2
:5

0:
16

 P
M

, r
ra

ab

RETAINING WALLS IN RED

PROPERTY LINE IN BLUE
DETENTION POND HIGH-WATER LEVEL

41

AutoCAD SHX Text
FLOODPLAIN LIMIT (SCALED FROM FEMA MAP)

AutoCAD SHX Text
APPROX. FLOODPLAIN LIMIT (SCALED FROM FEMA MAP)

AutoCAD SHX Text
LIMITS OF FLOODWAY (SCALED FROM FEMA MAP)

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING FLOODPLAIN LIMIT PER 2022 MG2A TOPOGRAPHY & FEMA BASE FLOOD ELEVATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
ESTIMATED FLOODPLAIN LIMIT  PER BASE FLOOD ELEVATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
ESTIMATED FLOODPLAIN LIMIT  PER BASE FLOOD ELEVATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAINAGEWAY 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAINAGEWAY 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
WETLAND 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
WETLAND FRINGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAINAGEWAY 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAINAGEWAY 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAINAGEWAY 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAINAGEWAY 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAINAGEWAY 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAINAGEWAY 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
APPROX. FLOODWAY LIMITS (SCALED FROM FEMA MAP)

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING FLOODPLAIN LIMIT PER MG2A TOPOGRAPHY & FEMA BASE FLOOD ELEVATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
ESTIMATED FLOOD PLAIN LIMIT PER MG2A TOPO & BFE

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOUND IRON ROD 123.0' N & ON-LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOUND IRON ROD 32.3' N & ON-LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. WETLAND BOTTOM DETENTION BASIN 3.27 AC-FT HWL=681.1 NWL=676.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP.WETLAND BOTTOM DETENTION BASIN 3.35 AC-FT HWL=683.70 NWL=679.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
676

AutoCAD SHX Text
681

AutoCAD SHX Text
676

AutoCAD SHX Text
681

AutoCAD SHX Text
679.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
683.7

AutoCAD SHX Text
679.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
60'

AutoCAD SHX Text
120'

AutoCAD SHX Text
NIB

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOB NO. 21-697

AutoCAD SHX Text
RFV

AutoCAD SHX Text
RFV

AutoCAD SHX Text
RFV

AutoCAD SHX Text
CURB & GUTTER TY. M3.12

AutoCAD SHX Text
COMBINATION CONCRETE

AutoCAD SHX Text
5'

AutoCAD SHX Text
1.58'

AutoCAD SHX Text
32' B-B

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED 66' STREET RIGHT-OF-WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
1/4" PER FOOT SLOPE

AutoCAD SHX Text
1.58'

AutoCAD SHX Text
11'

AutoCAD SHX Text
5'

AutoCAD SHX Text
W/ SUB-BASE GRANULAR

AutoCAD SHX Text
P.C.C SIDEWALK - 5"

AutoCAD SHX Text
MATERIAL TY B - 3" MIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
BY INDIVIDUAL LOT OWNER

AutoCAD SHX Text
BITUMINOUS MATERIALS (PRIME COAT) MC-30 @ 0.35 GAL./SQ. YD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BITUMINOUS CONCRETE BINDER COURSE (MIXTURE B) - 2 1/4"

AutoCAD SHX Text
BITUMINOUS CONCRETE SURFACE COURSE, MIXTURE D, CL.I - 1 1/2"

AutoCAD SHX Text
AGGREGATE BASE COURSE TY. B - 12" CA #6

AutoCAD SHX Text
1'

AutoCAD SHX Text
& 6" THROUGH DRIVEWAYS

cgruba
Received

cgruba
Line

cgruba
Line

cgruba
Line

cgruba
Line

cgruba
Line

cgruba
Line

cgruba
Line

cgruba
Line

cgruba
Line

cgruba
Line

cgruba
Line

cgruba
Line

cgruba
Line

cgruba
Line

cgruba
Polygon

cgruba
Polygon



H
IC

K
O

R
Y

C
R

E
E

K

CR

BFE = 678.3

LOT 6
15,219 SQ.FT.

LOT 7
15,547 SQ.FT.

LOT 8
18,294 SQ.FT.

LOT 9
15,926 SQ.FT.

LOT 10

15,072 SQ.FT.

LOT 14
15,023 SQ.FT.

LOT 15

15,020 SQ.FT.

LOT 16

15,018 SQ.FT.

LOT 17

15,046 SQ.FT.

LO
T 

11

16
,09

6 S
Q.F

T.

LO
T 

12

15
,02

1 S
Q.F

T.
LO

T 
13

17
,04

6 S
Q.F

T.

T/F=694.0

T/F=694.0

T/F=693.0

T/
F=

69
3.0

T/
F=

69
3.

0

8"
 P

VC
 S

AN
 36

3 L
.F

.@
 0.

5%

8" P
VC IN

V. S
=683.46

8"
 P

VC
 IN

V.
 S

=6
85

.28

T/
W

=6
83

.8

B/
W

=6
80

.5

EN
D T

/W
=6

82
.9

B/
W

=6
82

.4

T/
W

=6
83

.8

B/
W

=6
78

.5

T/
W

=6
83

.5 
BE

GIN

B/
W

=6
83

.0

T/
W

=6
84

.0

B/
W

=6
82

.7

T/
W

=6
83

.5

B/
W

=6
82

.7

L/O=690.0

FBF=685.3

L/O=688.5
FBF=685.3

T/F=694.0

L/O=688.5
FBF=685.3

T/F=694.0

L/O=687.0
FBF=685.3

T/F=694.5

T/F=694.5

T/F=694.0

T/F=694.2FBF=685.5

L/O=688.0

T/F=694.0FBF=685.3

L/O=687.0

W/O=684.8

W
/O

=6
84

.8

W
/O

=6
84

.8

FBF=685.8

L/O=689.0

FBF=685.8

L/O=689.5

FBF=685.3

L/O=688.0

19-09-15-300-015-0000

ZONING A1 (WILL COUNTY)

USE: AGRICULTURE

43' PU&DE

25
' P

U&D
E

15
' P

U&D
E

OUTL
OT 

B

DRAI
NAG

E 
&

CONSE
RVA

TI
ON E

AS
EM

EN
T

10
2,8

36
 sq

.ft.

OUTL
OT 

A

DRAI
NAG

E,
 D

ET
EN

TI
ON, B

IK
E 

PA
TH

 &

PU
BL

IC
 U

TI
LIT

Y 
EA

SE
MEN

T

62
,25

3 s
q.f

t.

10' PU&DE &

DETN. ACCESS E.

30' PU&DE

10' PU&DE

15
' P

U&D
E

PR
OP.

 10
' M

ULT
I-U

SE
 P

AT
H

COORDINATE M/U PATH

TIE-IN W/ ADJACENT OWNER

OUTLOT E

1,066 SQ.FT.
R65.0'

R
45

.0
'R20.0'

LP
-4

LP
-5

75.0'

AP
PR

OX.
 B

IK
E 

PA
TH

 LO
CAT

IO
N

SC
AL

ED
 F

ROM V
ILL

AG
E 

EX
HIB

IT

AP
PR

OX.
 B

IK
E 

PA
TH

 LO
CAT

IO
N

SC
AL

ED
 F

ROM V
ILL

AG
E 

EX
HIB

IT

GRAD
E 

TR
AN

SI
TI

ON

TO
 E

X.
 IN

 P
ROP.

 R
.O

.W
.

@0.5
%

@4.7
%

@1.5
%

@4.5
%

@5.0%

@0.5
%

@0.5
%

@5
.0%

T/
W

=6
83

.2

B/
W

=6
77

.6

@0.5
%

T/
W

=6
82

.5 
EN

D

B/
W

=6
82

.0

@6.7
%

@3.5
%

@4.2
%

@6.5%

@4.5%

@3.0%

L.P.

H.P
.

@0.6%

@0.5%

@5.9
%

L.P
.

@1.6%
@0.5

%

T/
W

=6
83

.1

B/
W

=6
80

.3 10' M-USE PATH IN 15' OUTLOT

10' M-USE PATH, MIN. 115' INT. RADIUS

@4:1

@8:1

10' ACCESS

10' ACCESS

5' WIDE T/BERM 682.1

20'WIDE OVERFLOW

WEIR EL. 682.10

BE
GIN

 T
/W

=6
82

.5

B/
W

=6
82

.0
T/

W
=6

83
.8

B/
W

=6
79

.7

BFE = 675.9 (10-YR)

30' PU&DE

10
' P

U&D
E

25.0' E1

E1

T/
W

=6
84

.0

B/
W

=6
82

.7
E2

E2

@1.0%

W
2

W
2

@1.0%

EN
D T

/W
=6

83
.2

B/
W

=6
82

.7

PR
. S

TO
RM S

EW
ER

SI
ZE

D F
OR 10

0-
YR

FL
OW

@0.5%

W
3

W
3

@1.8%
@2.1%

@0.5%

@1.0%

@0.7%

@1.0%

@1.0%

@1.0%

@0.5%

@0.5%

P6
91
.5
0

P6
92
.1
0

P6
91
.4
0

P681.1

P692
.40

P6
91
.0
0

P6
91
.00

P6
91
.2
0

P6
82.

60

P6
91
.7

P6
91
.8

P692.1

P69
2.2

P692.1

P6
91
.4 P690.2

P6
91
.1

P6
91
.3

P
69

1.
5

P
69
2.
0

P
69
2.
5

P6
92
.4

P
69
2.
5

P6
91
.8

P6
91
.5

P
69

2.
3

P690.5

P6
83
.2

P68
2.1

P682.2

P682.5

P685
.5

P685.3

P68
4.0

P
69
2.
9

P
69
3.
1

P
69
2.
6

P687.0

P
68
7.
0

P
68
7.
0

P6
92
.0

P
69

2.
1

P
68
8.
0

P692.5

P6
92.

4

P
68
8.
0

P
68
8.
0

P6
90
.5

P68
2.5

P
68

2.
8

P6
82
.5

P
68

2.
9

P
682.4

P
682.8

P
68
2.
2

P685
.2

P
683.5

P683.6

P
68

3.
3

P68
2.5

P
68
7.
7

P
69
2.
0

P692.8

P677.0

P675.7

P674
.5

P68
5.8

P682
.7

P682.7

P676.5

P6
82
.9

P683.4

P67
8.7

P6
91
.5

P68
4.3

P682
.4

P
682.3

P
68

1.
5

P
68
5.
0

P68
1.3

P68
2.0

P
68
3.
4

P
68
3.
3

P681
.9

P6
81.

5
P681.4

P681.2

P682.3

P6
81
.4

P67
8.6

P
68
2.
8

P68
9.5

P6
90
.2

P68
1.3

P681.2

P681.7
P681.8

P67
9.2

P679.1

P682.1

P
68
2.
5

P681.3
P68

1.4

P
690.9

P
68
2.
7

P
68

2.
3

P
68

2.
1

P690.9

P6
92
.0

P68
1.5

P681.4

P6
82
.8

P682.
7

P683.0

P6
85
.0

P
68
3.
0

P685.0

P687.0

P688.0

P68
4.3

P688.5

P685.8

P686.7

P689.5

P684.1

P685.4

P679
.2

P679.8

P682.7

P683.0

P676.8

P677.6

P679.7

P678.5

P680.5

P
68
3.
8

P676.0

P675.0

P680.0

P679.1

P677.4

P680.5

P
68

3.
1

P
68

4.
0

P
68

4.
0

P679.6

P678.1

P
682.8

P685.1

P682.1

P686.3 E2
A

35' PU&DE

3+
00

@5.0%

18.1'

18.1'

10.0'

47
.5

9'

N88°07'18"E 75.12'

07
/0

8/
22

R
FV

SU
BM

IT
 T

O
 V

IL
LA

G
E

07
/2

8/
22

R
FV

PE
R

 V
IL

LA
G

E 
R

EV
IE

W
08

/2
2/

22
R

FV
PE

R
 L

IG
H

TI
N

G
 L

O
C

AT
IO

N
S

11
/0

3/
22

R
FV

PE
R

 V
IL

LA
G

E 
R

EV
IE

W
03

/1
5/

23
R

FV
BI

KE
 P

AT
H

 &
 V

IL
LA

G
E 

R
EV

IE
W

04
/2

6/
23

R
FV

PE
R

 V
IL

LA
G

E 
R

EV
IE

W
06

/2
1/

23
BP

H
PE

R
 V

IL
LA

G
E 

R
EV

IE
W

07
/2

1/
23

BP
H

PE
R

 V
IL

LA
G

E 
R

EV
IE

W
08

/1
6/

23
BP

H
PE

R
 V

IL
LA

G
E 

R
EV

IE
W

09
/1

8/
23

BP
H

R
EV

IS
ED

 L
O

TS
 1

-8
 &

 G
R

AD
IN

G
10

/1
7/

23
BP

H
PE

R
 V

IL
LA

G
E 

R
EV

IE
W

11
/3

0/
23

BP
H

PE
R

 V
IL

LA
G

E 
R

EV
IE

W

P
R

E
LI

M
IN

A
R

Y
 P

LA
T

A
B

B
E

Y
 W

O
O

D
S

 N
O

R
T

H
S

T
E

V
E

N
 B

E
E

M
S

T
E

R
B

O
E

R
S

T
. F

R
A

N
C

IS
 R

O
A

D
 F

R
A

N
K

F
O

R
T

, I
LL

IN
O

IS

2a 3

© 2020 M.GINGERICH, GEREAUX & ASSOCIATES

SHEET NO.

OF

D
ES

IG
N

:

D
R

AW
IN

G
:

C
H

EC
KE

D
:

AP
PR

O
VE

D
:

PL
AN

 E
DI

TI
O

N 
M

IL
ES

TO
NE

S
D

A
T

E
B

Y
D

E
S

C
R

IP
T

IO
N

C
IV

IL
 E

N
G

IN
E

E
R

IN
G

S
U

R
V

E
Y

IN
G

M
 G

IN
G

ER
IC

H
 G

ER
EA

U
X 

&
 A

SS
O

C
IA

TE
S

2
M

G
A

P
ro

fe
ss

io
na

l D
es

ig
n 

F
irm

 L
ic

en
se

 #
 1

84
.0

05
00

3
w

w
w

.m
g2

a.
co

m
 

25
62

0 
S

. G
O

U
G

A
R

 R
D

.  
  |

   
 M

A
N

H
A

TT
A

N
, I

L.
 6

04
42

P
. 8

15
-4

78
-9

68
0

  F
. 8

15
-4

78
-9

68
5

LEGEND:           
- PR. STORM SEWER

- PR. STORM SEWER CURB INLET

- PR. STORM SEWER MANHOLE

- PR. SANITARY SEWER

- PR. SANITARY SEWER MANHOLE

- PR. WATER MAIN

- PR. FIRE HYDRANT

- PR. STREET LIGHT

- PR. FLOW DIRECTION

- PR. OVERLAND FLOW ROUTE

-PR. STORM SEWER TO BE SIZED FOR 100-YR. FLOW

DETENTION BASINS

Note: Garage Floor is 6" below T/F, unless noted otherwise.

Continued on 2b

Note: Multi-Use Path shall have 2' wide flat space (6:1 max)
each side per AASHTO criteria.

Note: Lot grading shall not exceed 5:1 slopes on grassed areas.

PATH DETAIL
SCALE: 1"=20'

RETAINING WALL 

RETAINING
WALL  T/W-684.0

5:1

6'

SWALE SECTION - E1

⅊
43' PU & DE

679.2

100yr-682.0

W/O-684.8

3:1

682.7

684.3
RETAINING
WALL  T/W-683.8

5:1

0.3'

SWALE SECTION - W2 

⅊
30' PU & DE

683.0

L/0-687.0

685.0

STORM SEWER TO BE
SIZED FOR 100-YR FLOW Q (100-yr) - 13.1 cfs

3:
1

RETAINING
WALL  T/W-684.0

5:1

SWALE SECTION - E2

43' PU & DE

L/O-687.0
685.0

Q (100-yr) - 11.8 cfs

3:
1

0.7'

682.8

3'

100yr-683.5
5:1

5:1

678.5

4:1

4'
675.7

Q (100-yr) - 174 cfs

100yr-678.0

Q (100-yr) - 2.8 cfs

3'

5:1
100yr-683.3

9:1

10% max.

10% max.

10% max. (Rear Yd)
5:1 max. (Side Yd)

679.8

6'

Q (100-yr) - 197.5 cfs

100yr-683.4

0.7'
3'

RETAINING
WALL  T/W-683.8

5:1

0.3'

SWALE SECTION - W3 

⅊
30' PU & DE

682.9

L/0-688.0

687.0

STORM SEWER TO BE
SIZED FOR 100-YR FLOW

680.5

4:14:1

4'
677.4

100yr-680.0

Q (100-yr) - 2.1 cfs

3'

5:1

100yr-683.2

10% max.

Q (100-yr) - 174 cfs

15' PU & DE

15' PU & DE

Q (100-yr) - 197.5 cfs

⅊

100yr-682.0

26' 13'

4:1

682.7

30' 13'

682.7

m
ax

.
m

ax
.m

ax.

01
/1

0/
24

BP
H

PE
R

 V
IL

LA
G

E 
R

EV
IE

W

SWALE SECTION - E2A

⅊
35' PU & DE

T/F-694.0

0.8'

685.0
5:1

10% max.

4'

5:1 685.3
5:1

686.3 5:1

Q (100-yr) - 24.8 cfs Q (100-yr) -11.8 cfs
0.6'

3'

685.8

X:
\P

ro
je

ct
s\

20
21

\2
1-

69
7 

- 1
8 

ac
 S

t F
ra

nc
is 

Rd
 F

ra
nk

fo
rt 

- S
te

ve
 B

ee
m

st
er

bo
er

\D
W

G\
7-

Pr
ep

la
t\

21
-6

97
 P

re
lim

in
ar

y 
En

gi
ne

er
in

g_
v5

-A
D

J-
fo

r R
ev

ie
w

_r
ec

ov
er

.d
w

g,
 1

/1
0/

20
24

 2
:5

0:
24

 P
M

, r
ra

ab

RETAINING WALLS IN RED

PROPERTY LINE IN BLUE

DETENTION POND HIGH-WATER LEVEL

42

AutoCAD SHX Text
FLOODPLAIN LIMIT (SCALED FROM FEMA MAP)

AutoCAD SHX Text
APPROX. FLOODPLAIN LIMIT (SCALED FROM FEMA MAP)

AutoCAD SHX Text
LIMITS OF FLOODWAY (SCALED FROM FEMA MAP)

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAINAGEWAY 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
WETLAND 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
WETLAND FRINGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAINAGEWAY 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAINAGEWAY 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAINAGEWAY 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
APPROX. FLOODWAY LIMITS (SCALED FROM FEMA MAP)

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOUND IRON ROD 123.0' N & ON-LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOUND IRON ROD 32.3' N & ON-LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. WETLAND BOTTOM DETENTION BASIN 3.27 AC-FT HWL=681.1 NWL=676.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
676

AutoCAD SHX Text
681

AutoCAD SHX Text
676

AutoCAD SHX Text
681

AutoCAD SHX Text
679

AutoCAD SHX Text
680

AutoCAD SHX Text
678

AutoCAD SHX Text
682.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
680

AutoCAD SHX Text
680

AutoCAD SHX Text
680

AutoCAD SHX Text
677

AutoCAD SHX Text
680

AutoCAD SHX Text
683

AutoCAD SHX Text
685

AutoCAD SHX Text
686

AutoCAD SHX Text
687

AutoCAD SHX Text
688

AutoCAD SHX Text
679

AutoCAD SHX Text
690

AutoCAD SHX Text
689

AutoCAD SHX Text
684

AutoCAD SHX Text
679

AutoCAD SHX Text
684

AutoCAD SHX Text
678

AutoCAD SHX Text
677

AutoCAD SHX Text
676.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
677

AutoCAD SHX Text
678

AutoCAD SHX Text
679

AutoCAD SHX Text
676

AutoCAD SHX Text
678

AutoCAD SHX Text
682.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
680

AutoCAD SHX Text
678

AutoCAD SHX Text
676.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
676.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
681

AutoCAD SHX Text
682

AutoCAD SHX Text
682.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
676

AutoCAD SHX Text
675

AutoCAD SHX Text
680

AutoCAD SHX Text
681

AutoCAD SHX Text
682.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
677

AutoCAD SHX Text
680

AutoCAD SHX Text
678

AutoCAD SHX Text
677

AutoCAD SHX Text
679

AutoCAD SHX Text
678

AutoCAD SHX Text
680

AutoCAD SHX Text
681

AutoCAD SHX Text
678

AutoCAD SHX Text
678

AutoCAD SHX Text
677

AutoCAD SHX Text
678

AutoCAD SHX Text
686

AutoCAD SHX Text
686

AutoCAD SHX Text
686

AutoCAD SHX Text
685

AutoCAD SHX Text
683

AutoCAD SHX Text
684

AutoCAD SHX Text
683

AutoCAD SHX Text
682

AutoCAD SHX Text
680

AutoCAD SHX Text
682

AutoCAD SHX Text
681

AutoCAD SHX Text
678

AutoCAD SHX Text
676

AutoCAD SHX Text
677

AutoCAD SHX Text
677

AutoCAD SHX Text
676

AutoCAD SHX Text
676

AutoCAD SHX Text
678

AutoCAD SHX Text
677

AutoCAD SHX Text
678

AutoCAD SHX Text
680

AutoCAD SHX Text
682

AutoCAD SHX Text
678

AutoCAD SHX Text
679

AutoCAD SHX Text
675

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
30'

AutoCAD SHX Text
60'

AutoCAD SHX Text
NIB

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOB NO. 21-697

AutoCAD SHX Text
RFV

AutoCAD SHX Text
RFV

AutoCAD SHX Text
RFV

AutoCAD SHX Text
APPROX. BIKE PATH LOCATION  SCALED FROM VILLAGE EXHIBIT

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING GRADE

AutoCAD SHX Text
679.7

AutoCAD SHX Text
683.4

AutoCAD SHX Text
680.9

AutoCAD SHX Text
680.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
686.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
686.0

cgruba
Line

cgruba
Line

cgruba
Line

cgruba
Line

cgruba
Line

cgruba
Line

cgruba
Line

cgruba
Line

cgruba
Line

cgruba
Line

cgruba
Line

cgruba
Line

cgruba
Line

cgruba
Line

cgruba
Polygon



ST.   
 FRANCIS    

ROAD

W
A

T
E

R
V

IE
W

T
R

A
IL

2+00

3+00

4+00

5+00

6+00

7+00

8+00

LOT 1
19,029 SQ.FT.

LOT 2
17,169 SQ.FT.

LOT 3
15,530 SQ.FT.

LOT 4
15,791 SQ.FT.

LOT 5
15,463 SQ.FT.

LOT 6
15,219 SQ.FT.

LOT 7
15,547 SQ.FT.

LOT 8
18,294 SQ.FT.

LOT 16

15,018 SQ.FT.

LOT 18

15,000 SQ.FT.

LOT 17

15,046 SQ.FT.

LOT 19

15,000 SQ.FT.

LOT 20

15,006 SQ.FT.

LOT 21

16,401 SQ.FT.

LOT 22

15,652 SQ.FT.

LOT 23

19,445 SQ.FT.
LOT 24

17,135 SQ.FT.

LOT 25

17,800 SQ.FT.

30' B.S.L.

30' B.S.L.

30' B.S.L.

30' B.S.L.

30' B.S.L.

100+00

101+00

102+00

103+00

104+00

105+00

106+00

107+00

108+00

109+00

110+00

    W
A

T
E
R
V
IE

W
    T

R
A

IL

T/F=694.5

T/F=694.5

GF=693.5

T/F=693.5

T/F=693.8

T/F=694.0

T/F=694.0

T/F=694.0

T/F=694.0

T/F=694.0

T/F=693.5

8" PVC SAN 250 L.F.@ 0.5%

8"
 P

VC
 S

AN
 31

7 L
.F

.@
 0.

5%

8" P
VC SAN

380 L.F.@
 0.5%

8" PVC INV. S=678.70

8" PVC INV. S=679.97

8" P
VC IN

V. S=681.56

8" P
VC IN

V. S
=683.46

BE
GIN

T/
W

=6
84

.5

B/
W

=6
84

.0

T/F=694.0

L/O=691.0

FBF=685.3

L/O=690.0

FBF=685.3

L/O=688.5
FBF=685.3

FBF=685.5

L/O
=690.0

FBF=685.7

L/O=689.0
T/F=693.7

T/F=693.7

T/F=694.5

T/F=694.5

T/F=694.5

T/F=694.0

3+
00

4+
00

W/O=685.7

W/O=685.7

W
/O=686.3

FBF=685.8

L/O=689.0

FBF=685.8

L/O=689.5

FBF=685.3

L/O=688.0

FBF=685.8

FBF=685.8

FBF=685.8

FBF=685.3

FBF=684.8

FBF=685.3

FBF=685.3

PROP. HOT TAPS (2)

W/ VALVE IN VAULT

EX. HYDRANT

19-09-15-102-078-0000

ZONING: R2 S/F RESIDENTIAL

USE: VACANT/DETENTION

35' PU&DE

40' PU&DE

15' PU&DE

30' PU&DE

30' PU&DE

PROP. STREETLIGHT, TYP.

10' PU&DE &

DETN. ACCESS E.

15
' P

U&DE

ADJACENT PROPERTY GRADING

SUBJECT TO OWNER APPROVAL

10' PU&DE

10' PU&DE

10' PU&DE

OUTLOT C

DRAINAGE, DETENTION &

PUBLIC UTILITY EASEMENT

77,169 SQ.FT.

PROP. 6' SIDEWALK

T/
W

=6
84

.0

B/
W

=6
81

.5

OUTLOT D2,641 SQ.FT.

10' PU&DE

R65.0'

R
45

.0
'

R2
0.

0'

SIGN ESM'T

SIGN ESM'TLP-1

LP-2

LP-3

LP
-4

CONNECT TO EX. SAN. MH

PR
OP.

 O
UTL

ET

CONTR
OL S

TR
UCT.

PROP. 25' LANDSCAPE, NO

FENCE, NO ACCESS EASEMENT

25
'

PROP. 25' LANDSCAPE, NO

FENCE, NO ACCESS EASEMENT
25

'

INSTALL 2-8" W
ATER LINES IN ONE AUGER CASING

@3.5
%

@6.5%

@4.5%

@6.4%

@5
.4%

@6%

@4.5%

@5.8%

@6
.5%

@7.1%

H.P.

L.P.

@0.53%

@1.0%

L.
P.

@1.7%

@0.97%

H.P
.

H.P
.

@0.6%

@0.5%

@5.9
%

AUGER PROP. SAN. UNDER PAV'T

PROP. 50' ROW DEDICATION

T/F=694.5

GF=692.7

30' B.S.L.

10' PU&DE

@4:1
@8:1

10' ACCESS5' WIDE T/BERM 684.7

30' PU&DE

EX. UTILITY POLE TO BE RELOCATED

COORDINATE W/ UTILITY COMPANY

20
' W

ID
E 

OVE
RFL

OW

W
EI

R E
L. 

68
3.7

0
3:

1 M
AX

3:
1 M
AX

3:
1 M
AX

3:
1

M
AX

694 3' WIDE T/BERM TYP. 

@1.8%

@1.6%

@1.0%

@1.0%

@0.7%

@0.6%

N1
N1

N2

N2

N3

N3

EX
. D

RIV
EW

AY
  T

O B
E

REL
OCAT

ED
 A

S 
NEE

DED

MAX
. 7

-F
T 

W
ES

T 
OF 

CURREN
T

BERM 3' HIGH TYP.
693

693

692

691

690

696

693

697

694

690

@1.0%

@0.9%

GF=692.8

15' PERMANENT PU&DE

(TO BE GRANTED

FROM ADJ. PROPERTY OWNER)

10' TEMPORARY CONSTRUCTION EASEMENT

(TO BE GRANTED

FROM ADJ. PROPERTY OWNER)
W

3

E3

E3

@1.0%

@1.0%

@1.0%

@5.1%

@6.2%

@1.0%

@1.0%

@8.8%

@1.0%

@1.0%

@1.0%

@1.0%

@1.7%

@1.7%

@1.0%

@2.7%

@1.0%

W
4

W
4

5' WIDE T/BERM 684.7

@1.0%

@0.5%

@0.5%

P
69

1.
50

P689.50

P6
92
.0
0

P6
91
.5
0

P6
92
.1
0

P6
89
.2
0

P692
.40

P6
91
.2
0

P6
88
.9
0

P6
90
.0
4

P
68
9.
3

P6
91
.0

P6
91
.1

P68
9.9

P690.9

P6
92
.3

P6
91
.7

P6
91
.8

P692.1

P69
2.2

P
69
2.
5

P
69
2.
5

P6
91
.8

P6
91
.5

P6
92
.0

P6
92
.1

P6
90
.8

P6
89
.9

P6
91
.2

P6
91
.6

P6
92
.0

P6
91
.1

P6
90
.6

P6
89
.6

P6
90
.6

P6
92
.4

P6
83
.2

P6
91
.0

P6
91
.7

P693.0

P
69
4.
0

P
69
1.
0

P692.2

P
69
3.
4

P
69
4.
5

P691.8

P
68
9.
7

P
69
0.
2

P693.5

P6
90
.0

P689.7

P
69
0.
4

P689.8

P
68
7.
5

P
69

2.
5

P6
92
.6

P6
92
.4

P6
91
.8

P685
.5

P685.3

P686.3

P
68
6.
9

P687.4

P
69
2.
9

P
69
3.
1

P6
90
.0

P6
91
.3

P6
90
.0

P6
90
.0

P6
90
.0

P687.0

P69
1.5

P691.3

P692.7

P
69

2.
1

P
69
1.
4

P687.1

P
68
8.
0

P
68
6.
0

P
68
7.
5

P
68
6.
5

P
68
8.
1

P
68
8.
0

P692.5

P
68
8.
0

P683.6

P692.8

P678.5

P679.5

P
69
3.
5

P
69
5.
0

P
69
0.
3

P68
5.8

P
68
3.
2

P678.0

P6
94
.1

P6
93
.0

P6
82
.9

P6
91
.5

P6
93
.0

P
68
4.
7

P
68
4.
7

P
68
4.
7

P
68
4.
7

P
68
4.
7

P
68
4.
7

P
68
5.
0

P
68
9.
4

P
68
8.
8P
68
9.
4

P68
5.4

P68
9.5

P679.0

P682.0

P687.0

P688.0

P685
.3

P688.5

P690.5

P6
89
.0

P690.6

P
68
8.
0

P
69
0.
8

P
68
8.
4

P
68
7.
9

P685.8

P686.7

P693.0

P689.5

P
68
7.
8

P
69
0.
9

P
69

0.
5

P
69

1.
1

P
69

0.
6

P
69

1.
8

P
69

2.
5

P
68
3.
8

P680.0

P681.0

P682.7

P684.9

P683.5

P681.7

P680.7

P684.7
P684.7

P681.2

P682.2

@2.0
%

P685.3
P687.7

P687.0

07
/0

8/
22

R
FV

SU
BM

IT
 T

O
 V

IL
LA

G
E

07
/2

8/
22

R
FV

PE
R

 V
IL

LA
G

E 
R

EV
IE

W
08

/2
2/

22
R

FV
PE

R
 L

IG
H

TI
N

G
 L

O
C

AT
IO

N
S

11
/0

3/
22

R
FV

PE
R

 V
IL

LA
G

E 
R

EV
IE

W
03

/1
5/

23
R

FV
BI

KE
 P

AT
H

 &
 V

IL
LA

G
E 

R
EV

IE
W

04
/2

6/
23

R
FV

PE
R

 V
IL

LA
G

E 
R

EV
IE

W
06

/2
1/

23
BP

H
PE

R
 V

IL
LA

G
E 

R
EV

IE
W

07
/2

1/
23

BP
H

PE
R

 V
IL

LA
G

E 
R

EV
IE

W
08

/1
6/

23
BP

H
PE

R
 V

IL
LA

G
E 

R
EV

IE
W

09
/1

8/
23

BP
H

R
EV

IS
ED

 L
O

TS
 1

-8
 &

 G
R

AD
IN

G
10

/1
7/

23
BP

H
PE

R
 V

IL
LA

G
E 

R
EV

IE
W

11
/3

0/
23

BP
H

PE
R

 V
IL

LA
G

E 
R

EV
IE

W

P
R

E
LI

M
IN

A
R

Y
 P

LA
T

A
B

B
E

Y
 W

O
O

D
S

 N
O

R
T

H
S

T
E

V
E

N
 B

E
E

M
S

T
E

R
B

O
E

R
S

T
. F

R
A

N
C

IS
 R

O
A

D
 F

R
A

N
K

F
O

R
T

, I
LL

IN
O

IS

2b 3

© 2020 M.GINGERICH, GEREAUX & ASSOCIATES

SHEET NO.

OF

D
ES

IG
N

:

D
R

AW
IN

G
:

C
H

EC
KE

D
:

AP
PR

O
VE

D
:

PL
AN

 E
DI

TI
O

N 
M

IL
ES

TO
NE

S
D

A
T

E
B

Y
D

E
S

C
R

IP
T

IO
N

C
IV

IL
 E

N
G

IN
E

E
R

IN
G

S
U

R
V

E
Y

IN
G

M
 G

IN
G

ER
IC

H
 G

ER
EA

U
X 

&
 A

SS
O

C
IA

TE
S

2
M

G
A

P
ro

fe
ss

io
na

l D
es

ig
n 

F
irm

 L
ic

en
se

 #
 1

84
.0

05
00

3
w

w
w

.m
g2

a.
co

m
 

25
62

0 
S

. G
O

U
G

A
R

 R
D

.  
  |

   
 M

A
N

H
A

TT
A

N
, I

L.
 6

04
42

P
. 8

15
-4

78
-9

68
0

  F
. 8

15
-4

78
-9

68
5

LEGEND:           
- PR. STORM SEWER

- PR. STORM SEWER CURB INLET

- PR. STORM SEWER MANHOLE

- PR. SANITARY SEWER

- PR. SANITARY SEWER MANHOLE

- PR. WATER MAIN

- PR. FIRE HYDRANT

- PR. STREET LIGHT

- PR. FLOW DIRECTION

- PR. OVERLAND FLOW ROUTE

Continued on 2a

L.P.
H.P. - PR. HIGH POINT

- PR.LOW POINT

BENCHMARK:  PER SURVEY REGIONAL VRSNOW RTK
GNSS NETWORK SET CUT CROSS IN
CURB NEAR THE NORTHEAST CORNER
OF PROPERTY ELEV.=693.45 (NAVD 88)

BENCHMARK

NOTES:
MAINTENANCE OF ALL WALLS WILL BE THE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE
HOMEOWNERS OR ASSOCIATION.

IT IS THE OWNER AND OWNER’S CONSULTANT AND CONTRACTORS’
RESPONSIBILITY TO VERIFY THAT ALL EXISTING AND PROPOSED
UTILITIES (ELECTRIC, GAS, TELEPHONE, UNDERGROUND CABLE,
ETC.) AND RELATED EASEMENTS ARE SHOWN ON THE PLANS AND
PLAT AND THAT THEY WILL BE RELOCATED/REMOVED
ACCORDINGLY WITH ANY AND ALL REQUIRED APPROVALS. SHOW
THE EXISTING UTILITY POLE LOCATION NEAR THE PROPOSED
ENTRANCE AND LABEL FOR RELOCATION.

THE OWNER AND/OR CONTRACTOR ARE RESPONSIBLE FOR
VERIFYING SOIL CONDITIONS AND SUBGRADE CONDITIONS FOR THE
PROPOSED
ROADWAY, FOUNDATIONS, ETC.

STORMWATER BASINS WILL BE OWNED AND MAINTAINED BY THE
PROPERTY OWNER.

Note: Garage Floor is 6" below T/F, unless
noted otherwise
Note: Lot grading shall not exceed 5:1
slopes on grassed areas.

5:1 5:1

4'
1.0'

SWALE SECTION - N1 

N.⅊
40' PU & DE

3:
1 3:1

5:1 5:1

4'
0.7'

 SWALE SECTION - N2 

⅊
15' PU & DE

5:1 5:1

4'
0.4'

SWALE SECTION - N3

⅊
15' PU & DE

690.2

690.6

T/F-693.5

686.0

686.7

687.7

688.7

L/0-690.0

LANDSCAPE
BERM

SWALE SECTION - E3

⅊
30' PU & DE

T/F-694.0

0.8'

688.0
5:1

10% max.

4'

5:1
689.8

5:1
690.8 5:1

Q (100-yr) - 17.3 cfs
Q (100-yr) - 4.8 cfs0.5'

2'

Q (100-yr) - 4.8 cfs

Q (100-yr) - 20.7 cfs

Q (100-yr) - 37.7 cfs

SWALE SECTION - W4 

⅊

684.7

4:14:1

4'
682.0

684.9

100yr-684.2

Q (100-yr) - 150 cfs

15' PU & DE

4:1

688.8

2.2'

01
/1

0/
24

BP
H

PE
R

 V
IL

LA
G

E 
R

EV
IE

W

T/F-693.7
F/G-687.7

X:
\P

ro
je

ct
s\

20
21

\2
1-

69
7 

- 1
8 

ac
 S

t F
ra

nc
is 

Rd
 F

ra
nk

fo
rt 

- S
te

ve
 B

ee
m

st
er

bo
er

\D
W

G\
7-

Pr
ep

la
t\

21
-6

97
 P

re
lim

in
ar

y 
En

gi
ne

er
in

g_
v5

-A
D

J-
fo

r R
ev

ie
w

_r
ec

ov
er

.d
w

g,
 1

/1
0/

20
24

 2
:5

0:
33

 P
M

, r
ra

ab

43

AutoCAD SHX Text
SANITARY MH RIM=690.56 12" RCP NE=678.66 12"RCP SE-NW=678.61

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAINAGEWAY 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAINAGEWAY 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAINAGEWAY 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAINAGEWAY 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
ESTIMATED FLOOD PLAIN LIMIT PER MG2A TOPO & BFE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PREVIOUS CORNER

AutoCAD SHX Text
684

AutoCAD SHX Text
690

AutoCAD SHX Text
682

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP.WETLAND BOTTOM DETENTION BASIN 3.35 AC-FT HWL=683.70 NWL=679.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
679.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
683.7

AutoCAD SHX Text
679.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
684

AutoCAD SHX Text
684

AutoCAD SHX Text
683

AutoCAD SHX Text
682

AutoCAD SHX Text
681

AutoCAD SHX Text
684

AutoCAD SHX Text
682

AutoCAD SHX Text
685

AutoCAD SHX Text
683

AutoCAD SHX Text
683

AutoCAD SHX Text
683

AutoCAD SHX Text
680

AutoCAD SHX Text
683

AutoCAD SHX Text
684

AutoCAD SHX Text
684

AutoCAD SHX Text
684

AutoCAD SHX Text
682

AutoCAD SHX Text
681

AutoCAD SHX Text
680

AutoCAD SHX Text
686

AutoCAD SHX Text
688

AutoCAD SHX Text
686

AutoCAD SHX Text
689

AutoCAD SHX Text
682

AutoCAD SHX Text
684

AutoCAD SHX Text
682

AutoCAD SHX Text
680

AutoCAD SHX Text
678

AutoCAD SHX Text
680

AutoCAD SHX Text
681

AutoCAD SHX Text
684

AutoCAD SHX Text
689

AutoCAD SHX Text
689

AutoCAD SHX Text
688

AutoCAD SHX Text
688

AutoCAD SHX Text
690

AutoCAD SHX Text
687

AutoCAD SHX Text
687

AutoCAD SHX Text
686

AutoCAD SHX Text
686

AutoCAD SHX Text
686

AutoCAD SHX Text
690

AutoCAD SHX Text
691

AutoCAD SHX Text
683

AutoCAD SHX Text
685

AutoCAD SHX Text
684

AutoCAD SHX Text
684

AutoCAD SHX Text
684

AutoCAD SHX Text
681

AutoCAD SHX Text
680

AutoCAD SHX Text
678

AutoCAD SHX Text
679

AutoCAD SHX Text
679

AutoCAD SHX Text
680

AutoCAD SHX Text
680

AutoCAD SHX Text
682

AutoCAD SHX Text
680

AutoCAD SHX Text
680

AutoCAD SHX Text
681

AutoCAD SHX Text
681

AutoCAD SHX Text
683

AutoCAD SHX Text
682

AutoCAD SHX Text
683

AutoCAD SHX Text
682

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
30'

AutoCAD SHX Text
60'

AutoCAD SHX Text
NIB

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOB NO. 21-697

AutoCAD SHX Text
RFV

AutoCAD SHX Text
RFV

AutoCAD SHX Text
RFV

AutoCAD SHX Text
689.3

cgruba
Line

cgruba
Line

cgruba
Line

cgruba
Line

cgruba
Line

cgruba
Line

cgruba
Line

cgruba
Line

cgruba
Polygon



44

cgruba
Received



45



46



47



ST.   
 FRANCIS

    
ROAD

W
A

T
E
R
V
IE

W

T
R
A

IL
0+00

1+00

2+00

3+00

4+00

5+00

6+00

7+00

8+00

9+00

9+85

LOT 1
19,029 SQ.FT.

LOT 2
17,169 SQ.FT.

LOT 3
15,530 SQ.FT.

LOT 4
15,791 SQ.FT.

LOT 5
15,463 SQ.FT.

LOT 6
15,219 SQ.FT.

LOT 7
15,547 SQ.FT.

LOT 8
18,294 SQ.FT.

LOT 9
15,926 SQ.FT.

LOT 10
15,072 SQ.FT.

LOT 14
15,023 SQ.FT.

LOT 15
15,020 SQ.FT.

LOT 16
15,018 SQ.FT.

LOT 18

15,000 SQ.FT.

LOT 17

15,046 SQ.FT.

LOT 19

15,000 SQ.FT.

LOT 20

15,006 SQ.FT.

LOT 21

16,401 SQ.FT.

LOT 22

15,652 SQ.FT.

LOT 23

19,445 SQ.FT.

LOT 24

17,135 SQ.FT.

LOT 25

17,800 SQ.FT.

30' B.S.L.

30' B.S.L.

30' B.S.L.

30' B.S.L.

30' B.S.L.

LO
T 

11
16

,0
96

 S
Q.F

T.

LO
T 

12
15

,0
21

 S
Q.F

T.
LO

T 
13

17
,0

46
 S

Q.F
T.

100+00

101+00

102+00

103+00

104+00

105+00

106+00

107+00

108+00

109+00

110+00

111+00

112+00112+18

    W
A
T
E
R
V
IE

W
    T

R
A
IL

19-09-15-300-015-0000

ZONING A1 (WILL COUNTY)

USE: AGRICULTURE

19-09-15-300-002-0000

ZONING: RE - ESTATE RESIDENTIAL

USE: RELIGIOUS FACILITIES

19-09-15-102-078-0000

ZONING: R2 S/F RESIDENTIAL

USE: VACANT/DETENTION

19-09-15-105-029-0000

ZONING: R2 S/F RESIDENTIAL

USE: VACANT

35' PU&DE

40' PU&DE

15' PU&DE

30' PU&DE

30' PU&DE

43' PU&DE

25
' P

U&
DE

15
' P

U&
DE

PROP. STREETLIGHT, TYP.

OUT
LO

T 
B

DR
AI

NA
GE 

&

CO
NS

ER
VA

TI
ON 

EA
SE

M
EN

T

10
2,

83
6 

sq
.ft

.

OUT
LO

T 
A

DR
AI

NA
GE,

 D
ET

EN
TI

ON,
 B

IK
E 

PA
TH

 &

PU
BL

IC
 U

TI
LI

TY
 E

AS
EM

EN
T

62
,2

53
 sq

.ft
.

10' PU&DE &

DETN. ACCESS E.

15
' P

U&
DE

30' PU&DE

10' PU&DE

15
' P

U&
DE

10' PU&DE

10' PU&DE

OUTLOT C

DRAINAGE, DETENTION &

PUBLIC UTILITY EASEMENT

77,169 SQ.FT.

PR
OP.

 1
0' 

M
UL

TI
-U

SE
 P

AT
H

COORDINATE M/U PATH

TIE-IN W/ ADJACENT OWNER

PROP. 6' SIDEWALK

OUTLOT E

1,066 SQ.FT.

OUTLOT D2,641 SQ.FT.

10' PU&DE

R65.0'

R
45

.0
'

R2
0.

0'

R65.0'

R
45

.0
'R20.0'

SIGN ESM'T

SIGN ESM'TLP-1

LP-2

LP-3

LP
-4

LP
-5

PROP. 25' LANDSCAPE, NO

FENCE, NO ACCESS EASEMENT

25
'

PROP. 25' LANDSCAPE, NO

FENCE, NO ACCESS EASEMENT

25
'

75.0'

AP
PR

OX.
 B

IK
E 

PA
TH

 L
OCA

TI
ON

SC
AL

ED
 F

RO
M

 V
IL

LA
GE 

EX
HI

BI
T

AP
PR

OX.
 B

IK
E 

PA
TH

 L
OCA

TI
ON

SC
AL

ED
 F

RO
M

 V
IL

LA
GE 

EX
HI

BI
T

PROP. 50' ROW DEDICATION

30' B.S.L.

10' M-USE PATH IN 15' OUTLOT

10' M-USE PATH, MIN. 115' INT. RADIUS

10' PU&DE

30' PU&DE

10
' P

U&
DE

25.0'

15' PERMANENT PU&DE

(TO BE GRANTED

FROM ADJ. PROPERTY OWNER)

10' TEMPORARY CONSTRUCTION EASEMENT

(TO BE GRANTED

FROM ADJ. PROPERTY OWNER)

35' PU&DE

8/
22

/2
02

2
R

FV
IS

SU
E 

FO
R

 R
EV

IE
W

11
/3

/2
02

2
R

FV
PE

R
 V

IL
LA

G
E 

R
EV

IE
W

4/
20

/2
02

3
R

FV
PE

R
 V

IL
LA

G
E 

R
EV

IE
W

01
/1

0/
20

24
BP

H
IS

SU
ED

 F
O

R
 P

C
 W

O
R

KS
H

O
P

© 2020 M.GINGERICH, GEREAUX & ASSOCIATES

SHEET NO.

OF

D
ES

IG
N

:

D
R

AW
IN

G
:

C
H

EC
KE

D
:

AP
PR

O
VE

D
:

PL
AN

 E
DI

TI
O

N 
M

IL
ES

TO
NE

S
D

A
T

E
B

Y
D

E
S

C
R

IP
T

IO
N

C
IV

IL
 E

N
G

IN
E

E
R

IN
G

S
U

R
V

E
Y

IN
G

M
 G

IN
G

ER
IC

H
 G

ER
EA

U
X 

&
 A

SS
O

C
IA

TE
S

2
M

G
A

P
ro

fe
ss

io
na

l D
es

ig
n 

F
irm

 L
ic

en
se

 #
 1

84
.0

05
00

3

w
w

w
.m

g2
a.

co
m

 
25

62
0 

S
. G

O
U

G
A

R
 R

D
.  

  |
   

 M
A

N
H

A
TT

A
N

, I
L.

 6
04

42
P

. 8
15

-4
78

-9
68

0
  F

. 8
15

-4
78

-9
68

5

M
G

2A
 W

ES
T

P
R

E
LI

M
IN

A
R

Y
 L

IG
H

T
IN

G
 P

LA
N

A
B

B
E

Y
 W

O
O

D
S

 N
O

R
T

H
S

T
E

V
E

N
 B

E
E

M
S

T
E

R
B

O
E

R
S

T
. F

R
A

N
C

IS
 R

O
A

D
 F

R
A

N
K

F
O

R
T

, I
LL

IN
O

IS

1 1

STREETLIGHTING NOTES:

1. THE EXISTING STREETLIGHT AT WATERVIEW TRAIL IS AN ORNAMENTAL
LIGHT FIXTURE.

2. THE EXISTING STREETLIGHTS ON THE NORTH SIDE OF ST. FRANCIS
ROAD NEAR THE EAST AND WEST LINES OF THE SITE ARE MAST ARM
LIGHT FIXTURES.

3. THE LIGHT FIXTURES PROPOSED FOR THE SITE ARE VILLAGE OF
FRANKFORT STANDARD ORNAMENTAL LIGHT FIXTURES, EXCEPT THE
HEIGHT IS REDUCED TO 12' MAXIMUM (PER ZONING ORDINANCE).

4. NUMBER OF LIGHT FIXTURES PROPOSED IS FIVE (5)

REDUCE HEIGHT TO 9'-4" TO
COMPLY WITH VILLAGE 12' MAX.
 HEIGHT REQUIREMENT

48

AutoCAD SHX Text
NIB

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOB NO. 21-697

AutoCAD SHX Text
RFV

AutoCAD SHX Text
RFV

AutoCAD SHX Text
RFV

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
60'

AutoCAD SHX Text
120'

cgruba
Received



49

cgruba
Received



Planning Commission / ZBA                                                     S      January 25, 2024 

Project: Lanigan Residence  
Meeting Type:  Workshop  
Request: 7 Variations related to new single-family home 
Location: 219 Pacific Street 
Applicant: Linden Group Architects 
Prop. Owner: William & Donna Lanigan 
Representative: Grant Currier 
Staff Reviewer:  Christopher Gruba, Senior Planner 
Site Details 

Lot Size: 15,526 sq. ft.            Figure 1. Location Map    

PIN(s): 19-09-28-223-023-0000
Existing Zoning: R-2
Proposed Zoning: N/A 
Buildings / Lots: 1 house w/ attached garage 
Proposed house: 4,375 sq. ft. (gross living area) 
Proposed garage: 894 sq. ft. (attached) 

Adjacent Land Use Summary: 

Project Summary 

William and Donna Lanigan purchased the vacant corner property at 219 Pacific Street to construct a new single-
family home with a gross living area of 4,375 square feet.  There was a former house on this property that was 
demolished in July 2022 but unfortunately, no plan or survey exists of the former house.  The proposed house 
would require 7 variations.  A Plat of Subdivision will also be required, since the parcel was never platted as a lot (it 
is currently metes & bounds).  The architect has described the style of the proposed house as “Midwestern 
Colonial with farmhouse and craftsman influence”.  The house would have a full basement.  Even though the 
property has the address of 219 Pacific Street, the side adjacent to Maple Street is shorter which technically makes 
it the front property line.  The seven (7) variations requested are:    

1. 1st Floor Building Materials (masonry required, mostly non-masonry proposed)
2. Front Yard Setback (Maple Street)
3. Corner Side Yard Setback (Pacific Street Street)
4. Maximum Lot Coverage
5. Insufficient Lot Width (Zoning Ordinance)
6. Insufficient Lot Depth (Zoning Ordinance)
7. Insufficient Lot Width and Depth (Land Subdivision Regulations, Ord-921)

Land Use Comp. Plan Zoning 

Subject Property     Residential Single-Family 
Detached 

R-2 

North Residential  Single-Family 
Detached 

R-2 

South  Residential Single-Family 
Detached 

R-2 

East Residential Single-Family 
Detached 

R-2 

West Residential Single-Family 
Attached 

R-4 

1



Attachments 
1. Location Map, prepared by staff (VOF GIS) scale 1:1,000 
2. Downtown Boundary Map (excerpt from 2019 Comprehensive Plan) with subject property noted 
3. Downtown Residential Guidelines (Quick Checklist excerpt) 
4. Variation Findings of Fact, received 1.19.24 
5. Survey, received December 28, 2023 
6. Plat of Subdivision, received 1.19.24 
7. Submittal prepared by Ideal Designs, received 12.28.23, containing the following: 

a. Site Plan 
b. Building Elevations 
c. Floor Plans 

8. 3D architectural rendering of house, received 1.19.24 
    
Analysis 
 

Summary of Variation Requests 

The seven variations requests can be summarized in the chart below:  

Variation Request Code Requirement Proposed House/Property 
1st Floor Building Materials Masonry Cement Board, some masonry 
Front Yard Setback (Maple) 30’ 22.6’ 
Corner Side Yard Setback (Pacific) 30’ 24.9’ 
Maximum Lot Coverage 20% maximum (3,105 SF) 28.9% (4,487 SF) 
Lot Width 120’ (corner lot) 101.28’ 

Lot Depth 150’ 147.31’ 

Lot Width & Depth (Sub Ord-921) 120’ & 150’ Same as above 
 

Existing, Non-Conformities  

The existing parcel has several existing non-conforming features:   

1. The R-2 zone district requires a minimum lot width of 120’ for a corner property.  The lot width is 
measured along the front property line, which in this case is Maple Street.  The existing width of the 
property is 101.28’, requiring a variation.  

2. The R-2 zone district requires a minimum lot depth of 150’ for any property.  The lot width is measured 
along the corner side yard property line, which in this case is Pacific Street.  The existing width of the 
property is 147.31’, requiring a variation. 

3. The existing property does not have a 5’ wide sidewalk along Pacific Street.  As residential properties are 
developed, either new lots or existing lots, sidewalks are required to be installed within the right-of-way 
along street frontages.  The Village typically requires that a sidewalk be installed, or a cash-in-lieu 
payment be made to the Village.   

Variation requests, enumerated  

First Floor Building Materials:  
 
The Zoning Ordinance requires that all homes in the R-2 zone district be wrapped in masonry on all sides of the 1st 
floor.  The code official may permit up to 15% non-masonry materials for architectural accent features but certain 
materials are prohibited outright (plywood, vinyl, steel, aluminum).   
 

1. The proposed house mostly contains a mix of cement board siding, stone masonry and face brick.  
 

2



2. There are existing one-story homes to both the east and north of the subject property and both of them 
are full masonry (brick).  
 

3. There are a total of 23 houses that have frontage along Maple Street between Pacific Street and Kansas 
Street.  Of the 14 homes on the east side of Maple Street, 6 of them are full masonry (43%).  Of the 9 
homes on the west side of Maple Street, 3 are full masonry (33%).  
 

4. There are a total of 18 houses that have frontage along Pacific Street and are visible from Pacific Street 
between Maple Street and the dead-end.  Of the 8 homes on the north side of Pacific Street, 4 are full 
masonry (50%).  Of the 18 homes on the south side of Pacific Street, 8 are full masonry (44%).  

 
Front Yard Setback (Maple Street):   

The applicant is proposing a 22.6’ front yard setback for the new house, whereas 30’ is required.  The front 
yard setback is measured from the front property line along Maple Street to the unenclosed front porch.  Staff 
calculated the approximate setback for all homes along the east side of Maple Street, between Pacific Street 
and Nebraska Street (1,400’ +/-).  As per the chart below, the average setback of homes on the east side of 
Maple Street is approximately 28.3’, which is further from the street than the requested 22.6’ setback.   

E. Side Maple Street (south to north) 
Address Street Approximate Setback 

235 Maple 28 
227 Maple 25 
221 Maple 30 
217 Maple 24 
215 Maple 27 
203 Maple 28 
230 Utah 37 
145 Maple 44 
133 Maple 26 
119 Maple 22 
117 Maple 26 
220 Nebraska 23 

      
Average   28.3 

 
Corner Side Yard Setback (Pacific Street): 
 

The applicant is proposing a 24.9’ corner side yard setback for the new house, whereas 30’ is required.  The 
corner side yard setback is measured from the front property line along Pacific Street to the attached garage.  
Staff calculated the approximate setback for all homes along the north side of Pacific Street, between Maple 
Street and where it dead-ends (1,400’ +/-).  As per the chart below, the average setback of homes on the 
north side of Pacific Street is approximately 21.6’, which is closer to the street than the requested 24.9’ 
setback.   

N. Side Pacific Street (west to east) 
Address Street Approximate Setback 

256 Walnut 30 
255 Walnut 26 

3



131 Pacific 4 
255 Hickory 12 
252 Oak 22 
255 Oak 13 
21 Pacific 30 
17 Pacific 36 
      

Average   21.6 
 
Maximum Lot Coverage:  
 
The proposed lot coverage for the new house would be 28.9% (4,487 SF), whereas 20% (3,105 SF) is the maximum 
allowed.  
 

1. There are no known surveys or site plans from the former house, which was demolished in 2022, making  
comparison impossible between the former house and the proposed house.  
 

2. Although lot coverage is a separate issue from impervious lot coverage, storm sewers exist along both 
Maple Street and Pacific Street.  Public Works will require that the basement sump pump be connected to 
the storm sewer.  Other drainage connections, such as roof gutters, are not required by Public Works.  
 

Minimum Lot Width:  
 
The existing parcel is not a subdivided lot and will require a Plat of Subdivision.  The resulting lot will be 
substandard for lot width for a corner lot in the R-2 zone district, requiring a variation.  The Zoning Ordinance 
requires that a corner lot be at least 120’ wide, whereas the proposed lot would be 101.28’ wide.   
 
Minimum Lot Depth: 
 
The resulting lot will be substandard for lot depth for a lot in the R-2 zone district, requiring a variation.  The 
Zoning Ordinance requires that a lot be at least 150’ deep, whereas the proposed lot would be 147.31’ deep.   

 
Land Subdivision Regulations (Ord-921):  
 
The Land Subdivision Regulations, section 9.5-1, notes that lot width and depth must conform to the Zoning 
Ordinance requirements.  The proposed lot would be deficient in both width and depth as noted above, but a 
separate variation is required from Ord-921, similar to the new home variation project for 99 N. White Street.  
 
Trees & Landscaping 

There are currently 2 trees on the existing property and 4 trees within the rights-of-way of Pacific and Maple.  The 
2 trees on the property would be removed.  The applicant is proposing to preserve all 4 parkway trees, as they are 
very mature and in fairly good condition.   
 
Downtown Residential Design Guidelines (2019 Comp Plan) 
 
The site is located within the boundary of downtown, as illustrated in the Downtown Residential Design Guidelines 
(see attached map).    
 
The proposed site improvements employ some desirable elements as listed in the Downtown Frankfort Residential 
Design Guidelines of the 2019 Comprehensive Plan.  There are also proposed elements that do not meet the 
guidelines.  The “Quick Checklist” from these guidelines has been included with this report.  The identifier in the 
parenthesis signifies the page number within the guidelines.  

4



 
 
Meets Guidelines: 
 

• The house has multiple-pane windows. (B-2) 
• There is a well-defined entryway, with a covered front porch and columns. (B-2) 
• The primary entryway faces the public street. (B-8) 
• The proposed front setback would be about the same as those along Walnut Street. (B-4) 
• A variety of materials are used to create texture. (B-11) 
• The second floor is smaller than the first floor, softening the appearance (B-16) 

 
Does not meet Guidelines: 
 

• The garage is attached, not detached. (page B-1) 
• There are no roof dormers. (page B-2) 
• The driveway is not narrow. (B-2, B-13) 
• The house may be oversized for the lot at 4,375 SF (total living area, not including the porch).  The house 

to the north is 1,234 SF and the house to the east is 2,044 SF, both notably smaller. (B-2) 
• The house would be notably larger than other homes along both Pacific and Maple streets. (B-4) 
• The house does not adhere to a single, historical style from the late 1800s to early 1900s (Victorian, 

Colonial, Revival, Craftsman, American Foursquare).  (B-5 through B-7) 
• Predominantly non-masonry homes are preferable.  (B-11) 

 
Partial history of variations for downtown homes 
 
The subject property, as well as most of all single-family homes within the downtown, are zoned R-2, single-family 
residential.  There are a few homes in the downtown zoned H-1, R-3 and R-4.  The R-2 zone requirements are as 
follows:  
 

Standard (R-2) Requirement 
Lot Size  15,000 square feet 
Lot Width  100’ 
Lot Depth  150’ 
Front Yard Setback  30’ 
Side Yard Setback  At least 25’ total, not less than 10’ each side 
Rear Yard Setback  30’ 
Building Height  35’ 
Lot Coverage Max (%) 20% (25% for a one-story house) 
Impervious Coverage Max (%) 40% 

Driveway setback 5' (4' side loaded) 
Accessory structure setback 10’ from side or rear lot lines 

 
The following is a partial list of recent variations granted for homes in the downtown:  
 
213 Kansas (Kirsch) (PC review 1.24.19) 
Lot Size: 6,183 square feet 
Lot Width: 61.83’ 
Lot Depth: 100’ 
 
Variations granted:  
 

5



1. Front yard setback: 13.4' 
2. Side yard setbacks: of 10' and 10' 
3. Rear yard setback: 15.1' 
4. Lot coverage: 30% 
5. Driveway setback: 0.5' 
6. First floor building materials (masonry required) 

 
215 Kansas (Gallagher) (PC review 8.14.08) 
Lot Size: 4,950 square feet 
Lot Width: 50’ 
Lot Depth: 100’ 
 
Variations granted:  
 

1. Lot Coverage: 38.3% (20% max permitted) 
2. First floor building materials for accessory structure (masonry required) 
3. Detached garage side yard setback: 0’ (10’ required) 

 
140 Walnut (McLean) (PC review 1.25.18) 
Lot Size: 6,275 square feet 
Lot Width: 50’ 
Lot Depth: 125.5’ 
 
Variations granted:  
 

1. Front yard setback: 15.67’ (30’ required) 
2. Side yard setback: 5’ (10’ required) 
3. Lot coverage: 33.5% (20% max permitted) 
4. First floor building materials (masonry required) 

 
200 W. Nebraska (Leonard) (PC review 11.8.12) 
 
Lot Size: 7,000 square feet 
Lot Width: 70’ 
Lot Depth: 100’ 
 
Variations granted:  
 

1. Lot Coverage: 34% (20% max permitted) 
2. Driveway setback: 0’ (5’ required) 
3. Detached garage setback: 0’ from south lot line, 4.1’ from west lot line (10’ required) 
4. Detached garage height: 21’ 4” (15’ max permitted) 

 
210 Walnut (Winters) (PC review 3.10.11) 
 
Lot Size: 11,044 square feet 
Lot Width: 90’ 
Lot Depth: 130’ 
 
Variations granted:  
 

1. Front yard setback: 19’ (30’ required) 
2. Building height: 36’ (35’ max permitted) 
3. Lot Coverage: 29% (20% max permitted) 
4. Driveway setback: 2’ (5’ required) 
5. First floor building materials (masonry required) 

6



6. Accessory structure setback: 2’ to both north and west property lines (10’ required)  
 
23 W. Bowen Street (Gander) (PC review 8.22.13) 
 
Lot Size: 8,270 square feet 
Lot Width: 52’ 
Lot Depth: 172’ 
 
Variations granted:  
 

1. Side yard setback: 6.4’ (10’ required) 
2. Lot Coverage: 26% (20% max permitted) 
3. Driveway setback: 2’ (5’ required) 
4. First floor building materials (masonry required) 
5. Accessory structure setback from side property line: 5’ (10’ required) 

 
147 White Street (Lalley) (PC review 7.8.10) 
 
Lot Size: 21,484 square feet 
Lot Width: 130’ 
Lot Depth: 165’ 
 
Variation granted:  
 

1. Detached garage setback 6.5’ from side property line (10’ required) 
 
44 W. Bowen Street (Carroll/Watson) (PC review 8.12.10) 
 
Lot Size: 16,175 square feet 
Lot Width: 100’ 
Lot Depth: 160’ 
 
Variation granted:  
 

1. Accessory structure (shed) 0’ setback from rear property line (10’ required) 
 
140 Maple (Triezenberg) (PC review 9.8.16) 
 
Lot Size: 6,250 square feet 
Lot Width: 50’ 
Lot Depth: 130’ 
 
Variation granted:  
 

1. Driveway setback 0’ (5’ required) 
 
143 Kansas Street (Brown) (PC review 3.25.21) 
 
Lot Size: 5,000 square feet 
Lot Width: 50’ 
Lot Depth: 100’ 
 
Variations granted:  
 

1. Front yard setback: 10’ (30’ required) 
2. Side yard setback: 5’ (13’ required)  

7



3. Detached garage setback from rear property line: 0.5’ (10’ required) 
4. Detached garage setback from side property line: 2’ (10 required) 
5. Driveway setback: 2’ (5’ required) 
6. Lot coverage: 41% (20% max permitted) 
7. Impervious lot coverage: 46% (40% max permitted) 
8. First floor building materials (masonry required) 

 
213 Nebraska Street (Plantz) (PC review 10.27.22) 
 
Lot Size: 6,687 square feet 
Lot Width: 67.5’ 
Lot Depth: 99’ 
 
Variations granted:  
 

1. Front Yard Setback: 12’ 7” (30’ required) 
2. 1st Floor Building Materials (masonry required)  
3. Detached Garage Setback: 5’ 7” (10’ required) 
4. Rear Yard Coverage: 32% (30% maximum) 
5. Lot Coverage: 32.8% (20% maximum) 
6. Impervious Lot Coverage: 41.9% (40% maximum) 
7. Garage Height: 20’ 5 ½” (15’ maximum) 

 
108 Walnut Street (Sleeman) (PC review 9.14.23) 
 
Lot Size: 6.376 square feet 
Lot Width: 50’ 
Lot Depth: 130’ 
 
Variations granted:  
 

1. Front Yard Setback: 21.8’ (30’ required) 
2. Side Yard Setback (N): 8.5’ (10’ required) 
3. Side Yard Setback (S): 4.9’ (10’ required) 
4. Lot Coverage: 36.7% (20% max) 
5. Impervious Lot Coverage: 45.2% (40% max) 
6. 1st Floor Building Materials: Masonry required, wood composite proposed 

 
Affirmative Motions (for future public hearing only) 
 

1. Recommend the Village Board approve the variation request for 1st floor building materials to allow 
non-masonry siding on the property located at 219 Pacific Street, in accordance with the reviewed 
plans, public testimony and findings of fact.    
 

2. Recommend the Village Board approve the variation request to reduce the required front yard 
setback for the primary structure from 30’ to 22.6’, on the property located at 219 Pacific Street, in 
accordance with the reviewed plans, public testimony and findings of fact.   
  

3. Recommend the Village Board approve the variation request to reduce the required corner side yard 
setback for the primary structure from 30’ to 24.9’, on the property located at 219 Pacific Street, in 
accordance with the reviewed plans, public testimony and findings of fact.    

 
4. Recommend the Village Board approve the variation request to exceed the maximum lot coverage to 

allow 28.9% instead of 20%, on the property located at 219 Pacific Street, in accordance with the 
reviewed plans, public testimony and findings of fact.    

8



 
5. Recommend the Village Board approve the variation request to reduce the minimum lot width to 

101.28’ instead of 120’ for a corner property, on the property located at 219 Pacific Street, in 
accordance with the reviewed plans, public testimony and findings of fact.  

 
6. Recommend the Village Board approve the variation request to reduce the minimum lot depth to 

147.31’ instead of 150’, on the property located at 219 Pacific Street, in accordance with the 
reviewed plans, public testimony and findings of fact.  

 
7. Recommend the Village Board approve the variation from Section  9.5-1 of the Village of Frankfort 

Land Subdivision Regulations to approve a Plat of Subdivision for a lot width and depth which do not 
conform to the requirements of the Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance, in accordance with the 
reviewed plans, public testimony and findings of fact. 
 

 
 

9



UTAH ST

W
A

LN
U

T 
ST

S 
M

A
PL

E 
ST H

IC
K

O
RY

 S
T

PACIFIC ST

UTAH ST

0 200 400100
Feet

µ

219 Pacific Street (variation requests)

10



Downtown Frankfort Boundary Map 

11

cgruba
Rectangle

cgruba
Callout
219 Kansas



B-4
YOUR FUTURE YOUR FRANKFORT

The Village of Frankfort | 2040 Comprehensive Plan

B | downtown residential design guidelines

QUICK CHECKLIST

The set of questions listed below are framed in such a way that if 
your answer is “yes” - it is likely that the design is on the right track 
towards contributing to the type of character and quality Frankfort 
seeks to maintain. The photos shown to the right are examples of 
residences that fulfill these design ideals. If the answer is not clear, 
or is questionable, you should look for ways to improve upon this 
design element.

Note: All new residential construction, building additions, and 
development in general must comply with the Zoning Ordi-
nance regulations including but not limited to setbacks, height, 
lot coverage, and building materials.

1.  Does the building architecture complement and fit the character of 
surrounding  structures - consider scale, setback, building height?

  Yes 
  No
  Maybe

2   Does the structure’s architecture delineate and highlight the 
primary entrance? 

  Yes 
  No
  Maybe

3.   Are the proposed building materials consistent with the intended 
architectural style of the home and complementary to the 
materials utilized on the homes in the surrounding area?

  Yes 
  No
  Maybe

4.  Are simplified roof forms provided that are consistent with both 
the intended architectural style and roof forms of homes in the 
surrounding area? 

  Yes 
  No
  Maybe

5.  Are there step-backs to the facade and / or architectural details that 
add depth and dimension, i.e. porches, bay windows?

  Yes 
  No
  Maybe

6.   Are there interesting architectural details and landscape 
treatments integrated on site that complement the residence?

  Yes 
  No
  Maybe

7.  Are the predominate facade colors / building materials of a 
natural color palette that is complementary to the homes in the 
surrounding area.

  Yes 
  No
  Maybe

12



 
 

Application for Plan Commission / Zoning Board of Appeals Review 
Standards of Variation 

 
Article 3, Section B, Part 3 of the Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance lists “findings” or “standards” that 
the Zoning Board of Appeals must use to evaluate every variation request. The Zoning Board of Appeals 
must answer the following three findings favorable to the applicant based upon the evidence provided. 
To assist the Zoning Board of Appeals in their review of the variation request(s), please provide responses 
to the following “Standards of Variation.” Please attach additional pages as necessary.  
 
1. That the property in question cannot yield a reasonable return if permitted to be used only under 

the conditions allowed by the regulations in that zone;  
 
 
 
 
 
2. That the plight of the owner is due to unique circumstances; and  
 
 
 
 
 
3. That the variation, if granted, will not alter the essential character of the locality. 
 
  
 
 
 
For the purpose of supplementing the above standards, the Zoning Board of Appeals also determines if 
the following seven facts, favorable to the applicant, have been established by the evidence. Please 
provide responses to the following additional “Standards of Variation.”  
 
1. That the particular physical surroundings, shape or topographical conditions of the specific property 

involved will bring a particular hardship upon the owner, as distinguished from a mere 
inconvenience, if the strict letter of the regulations was carried out;  

 
 
 
 
 

This lot as platted is undersized lot by +- 14% compared to minimum lot dimensions 
per code.  The property in question was purchased by William and Donna Lanigan 
for the sole purpose of designing and building their own single family residence, to be 
occupied by themselves.  In order to meet their needs, reasonable minor variations 
to the adopted zoning code are hereby requested.

The Owner's desire to build a two story (4) Bedroom residence with unfinished 
Basement and attached Garage and hereby request reasonable minor variances to 
the adopted zoning code given the size of their corner lot as platted does not meet 
minimum Village size standards.

The variations if granted will not alter the essential character of this residential block. 
The architectural design and home's scale endeavor to compliment the neighborhood 
and follow the design intent of the Village's Residential Design Guidelines.  

This lot as platted is undersized lot by +- 14% compared to minimum R-2 corner lot 
dimensions per code.  The property was purchased for the sole purpose of designing 
and building a single family residence.  In order to meet Owners' needs and position 
the structure on the site, reasonable minor variations to the adopted zoning code are 
hereby requested.

2023-0196 
PROPOSED NEW 
RESIDENCE FOR 
WILLIAM AND DONNA 
LANIGAN  
LINDENGROUP 
ARCHITECTS 
2024-01-09

13

cgruba
Received



2. That the conditions upon which the petition for variation is based would not be applicable, 
generally, to other property within the same zoning classification;  

 
 
 
 
 
3. That the purpose of the variation is not based exclusively upon a desire to make more money out of 

the property;  
 
 
 
 
 
4. That the alleged difficulty or hardship has not been created by any person presently having an 

interest in the property;  
 
 
 
 
 
5. That the granting of the variation will not be detrimental to the public welfare or unduly injurious to 

other property or improvements in the neighborhood in which the property is located;  
 
 
 
 
 
6. That the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of any proposed structure will not be so at 

variance with either the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of the structures already 
constructed, or in the course of construction in the immediate neighborhood or the character of the 
applicable district, as to cause a substantial depreciation in the property values within the 
neighborhood; or  

 
 
 
 
 
7. That the proposed variation will not impair an adequate supply of air to adjacent property, 

substantially increase the danger of fire, otherwise endanger the public safety or substantially 
diminish or impair property values within the neighborhood.  

 

 

 

 

The conditions upon which this petition for variations apply would not specifically be 
applicable to other properties within the same zoning classification as this is a unique 
corner lot with site and Owner specific design considerations.

The Owner's have purchased this vacant property to build their dream home together 
and enjoy living in Frankfort for many years to come.  The size and layout of their 
proposed home is based on their needs and their needs alone.

The variances requested have not been created by any person or entity presently 
having an "interest" in the property.

The variations if granted will not be detrimental to the public's welfare or unduly 
injurious to other property or improvements in the neighborhood. The design 
endeavors to compliment the neighborhood and follow the design intent of the 
Village's Residential Design Guidelines.  

The variations if granted will not alter the essential character of this residential block. 
The design intent is to compliment the neighborhood.  As presented, this is a quality 
design with significant architectural detailing and design sensitivity.

The variations if granted will not impair an adequate supply of air to adjacent property 
or increase the danger of fire, or endanger the public safety or substantially diminish 
or impair property values within the neighborhood.

14



15

cgruba
Received



16

cgruba
Received



17

cgruba
Received



RECEIVED 12.28.23

18



19



20



21



22



23

cgruba
Received



24



25



26



27


	Binder1- Abbey Woods North workshop 2.pdf
	0. Staff Report WORKSHOP 1.25.24 (Abbey Woods North)
	1. GIS aerial 1-6000
	1. GIS aerial 1-3000
	2. FEMA map - west side
	2. FEMA map - east side
	3. NWI map
	5. Bike path diagram 2019
	6. Lot area table 1.16.24
	Sheet1

	7. Design_Standards 2008 excerpt (cul-de-sac length)
	8. SUBDIVISION ORDINANCE excerpt (cul-de-sac length)
	9. CC&R's 6.21.23
	10. Tree Survey 1.16.24
	11. Survey 1.16.24
	12. Plat of Annexation 1.16.24
	13. Preliminary Plat 1.16.24
	Sheets and Views
	21-697 Preliminary Engineering_v5-ADJ-for Review_recover-Sheet 1of3
	21-697 Preliminary Engineering_v5-ADJ-for Review_recover-Sheet 2aof3
	21-697 Preliminary Engineering_v5-ADJ-for Review_recover-Sheet 2bof3


	14. Preliminary Plat 1.16.24 (color-coded)
	Sheets and Views
	21-697 Preliminary Engineering_v5-ADJ-for Review_recover-Sheet 1of3
	21-697 Preliminary Engineering_v5-ADJ-for Review_recover-Sheet 2aof3
	21-697 Preliminary Engineering_v5-ADJ-for Review_recover-Sheet 2bof3


	15. Landscape Plan 1.18.24
	16. Lighting Plan 1.16.24
	17. Truck Turning Plan 1.18.24

	Binder1-219 Pacific-compressed.pdf
	0. Staff Report WORKSHOP 1.25.24
	1. GIS aerial 1-1000
	2. Downtown Frankfort Boundary Map
	3. Quick Checklist excerpt Comp Plan
	4. Findings of Fact (variation) 1.19.24
	5. Survey 12.28.23
	6. Plat of Subdivision 1.19.24
	7. Site Plan-Floorplan-Elevations 12.28.23
	8. 3D rendering 1.19.24

	Staff Report for PC-ZBA PUBLIC HEARING 1-25-24 - reduced file size.pdf
	Exterior Lighting Plan - building - 12-22-23.pdf
	Sheets
	A1 - EXTERIOR LIGHTING PLAN



	Staff Report for PC-ZBA PUBLIC HEARING 1-25-24 - reduced file size.pdf
	Exterior Lighting Plan - building - 12-22-23.pdf
	Sheets
	A1 - EXTERIOR LIGHTING PLAN


	23-022 Village submittal set 1-18-24.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	C0.1



	Staff Report for PC-ZBA PUBLIC HEARING 1-25-24 - corrected and reduced file size.pdf
	Exterior Lighting Plan - building - 12-22-23.pdf
	Sheets
	A1 - EXTERIOR LIGHTING PLAN


	23-022 Village submittal set 1-18-24.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	C0.1




	TD514013EN-1: 
	TD514013EN-5: 
	TD514013EN-6: 
	TD514013EN-2: 
	TD514013EN-3: 
	TD514013EN-4: 


